Public Document Pack

&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Agenda

Environmental Services and Climate Change Committee
Meeting

Date: Thursday, 10 July 2025

Time 7.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT
Membership:

Councillors Shelley Cheesman, Alex Eyre, Carole Jackson, Elliott Jayes (Vice-Chair),

Rich Lehmann, Peter Marchington, Claire Martin, Charlie Miller, Pete Neal, Chris Palmer,

Ashley Shiel, Julien Speed, Paul Stephen, Sarah Stephen and Dolley Wooster (Chair).

Quorum =5

Pages
Recording and Privacy Notice
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation.

This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording
being published.

When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting.

If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or
your rights under the legislation, please email
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.

1. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building
and procedures are advised that:

(@) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this.

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room,
one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the
lifts.


mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk

10.

11.

12.

(c) Inthe event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the
nearest safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of
the car park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the
building until advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known
during this agenda item.

Apologies for Absence
Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 March 2025 (Minute
Nos. 749 — 755) and the Meeting held on 14 May 2025 (Minute Nos. 24
— 25) as correct records.

Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary
interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIS) to
declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an
item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the
debate or vote.

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed
observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be
biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this
and leave the room while that item is considered.

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination
should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting.

Waste and Street Cleansing Service Annual Report 2024-25 5-60
Swale Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan 61 - 246
Revocation of Air Quality Management Areas in East Street (AQMA 3) 247 -
and Teynham (AQMA 5) due to air quality improvements and 320
recommendations from Defra
Open Spaces Strategy Update Report 321 -
328
Grounds Maintenance Savings Report 329 -
334
Public Conveniences Review - Business Case and Consultation Launch 335 -
398

Items for Noting

Forward Decisions Plan 399 -
400


https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=356&MId=4146&Ver=4
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=356&MId=4368&Ver=4

13. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To decide whether to pass the resolution set out below in respect of the
following items:

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business o
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as d
in Paragraph 3.

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any partic
person (including the authority holding that information).

14. Grounds Maintenance Contract Savings - Exempt Appendix 1 401 -
Implications - Financial, Resources and Property 402
15. Public Conveniences Review - Business Case and Consultation Launch 403 -
- Exempt Appendix | & Appendix IV 424

Issued on Wednesday, 2 July 2025

The reports included in Part | of this agenda can be made available
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please

contact democraticservices@swale.qgov.uk. To find out more
about the work of this meeting, please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT


mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Environmental Services and Climate
Change Committee Meeting

Meeting Date 10/07/25

Report Title Annual performance report for waste collection and street
cleansing service 2024/25

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and
Neighbourhoods

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment & Leisure

Lead Officer Alister Andrews, Environment Services Manager

Classification Open

Recommendations 1. To discuss the contents and approve publication of the

report on the council website.

2. Itis recommended that the Waste Member Working
Group set up for mobilisation of the new service is
ended.

11

2.1

2.2

2.3

Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

This is the first Swale Borough Council annual waste collection and street
cleansing report. It covers the service performance from April 2024 to March 2025
and delivers against one of the recent Waste and Street Cleansing Scrutiny
review recommendations (an annual report). A further mid-year report will be
submitted for discussion at Environmental Services and Climate Change
Committee later in the year. This will be a Yighter touch’ update on service
performance.

Background

Suez were awarded the contract for Mid Kent in 2023. The Mid Kent Waste
Partnership includes Ashford Borough Council, Maidstone Borough Council and
Swale Borough Council. Suez undertake bin collections for all councils and street
cleansing for Ashford and Swale only.

The mobilisation of a contract of this size was complex and various changes were
required to meet the corporate priorities set by Members. Amongst other
changes, a new fleet of vehicles was procured by the council; a full re-route of
collections was undertaken; and new software and hardware was introduced to
meet environmental and financial requirements.

The changes impacted service significantly and poor performance led to the
creation of a cross-party Member working group to investigate and review the

Page 5




2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.1

3.2

4.1

5.1

reasons behind the performance. This group discussed their report and published
their findings in January 2025.

The contract is an eight-year contract that started in March 2024.

Suez have recently produced their own annual report for the Mid Kent contract
(see appendix II).

The Council’s report does not only cover the contract with Suez, it details related
activity undertaken by the Council’'s own Contracts team and Environmental
enforcement team.

As it is the first report of its kind, officer’s welcome input from Members on what
they would like to see in future iterations.

During the tender and mobilisation periods of the new service, a cross-party
Member working group was created to oversee project - streamlining officer
updates, giving a forum to seek informal Member viewpoints and to help inform
reports for formal decision at Committee. The working group also oversaw
recovery from the period of disruption. With the final strands of mobilisation
virtually complete, Members are asked to consider the future of the working

group.
This coincides with changes to the administration structures, where new
committee briefings will be implemented. As a result, one of the
recommendations in this report is to end the Waste Member Working Group that
was set up for mobilisation of the new service. It is intended that as part of the

new committee reporting process, there will be more opportunities for members to
comment on the service.

Proposals

To discuss the contents of the annual report and approve publication on the
council’s website.

To discuss ending the Waste Member Working Group meetings that were
originally set up for contract mobilisation.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

Do nothing - The council are not statutorily obliged to produce an annual report.

Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

As part of the 2024/25 Member Scrutiny review, the cross-party Member working
group carried out a range of workshops and interviews with staff from both the

Page 6



council and Suez, and reviewed feedback from more than 2,000 responses to the
public survey. This work led to 23 recommendations from the group, which were
discussed and agreed by the Environment and Climate Change Committee at a
meeting on Wednesday 15 January 2025.

Implications

Issue

Implications

Corporate Plan

The waste collection and street cleansing contract is the council’s
largest contract and it impacts every resident in the borough.
Therefore, it is relevant to many of the corporate priorities.

Financial,
Resource and
Property

The costs of this contract will be reported in the end of year
financial reports. The new fleet cost just over £7M for Swale
(excluding annual fleet financing costs). The streets element of the
contract is circa £2.2M and the waste collection element is circa
£5.7M. There are also some services which are payable by
residents. In 24/25 garden waste subscriptions generated
£1,184,169 and bulky waste services generated £108,138 to offset
costs against the overall service price.

Legal, Statutory
and Procurement

The council are legally required to provide waste collection and
street cleansing services. The contract procurement process was
compliant with the relevant legislation.

Crime and
Disorder

The swift removal of litter and fly tipping assists in reducing the
‘broken window’ effect and keeps the borough clean.

Environment and
Climate/Ecological

This was fully discussed throughout the contract award as it was a
key priority for Members. The new fleet have electric bin lifts and

Emergency are Euro VI compliant which reduces emissions. The full round re-
routes for collections reduced mileage of vehicles, thus reducing
vehicle emissions.

Health and Adequate street cleansing reduces litter, detritus and dusts

Wellbeing building up on roads and becoming airborne.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

The re-routes have been developed to avoid busy areas like
schools at the busiest times of the day. The impact of disrupted
services can affect vulnerable residents more, so specific attention
is paid to assisted and clinical collections.

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

The delivery of the new waste service was a key risk in the
Council’s corporate risk register in the run up to the change.
Service was unsatisfactory at the start of the contract. However,
improvements were consistently made as the year went on and
service ended in a much better position — which can be seen in the
report.

Page 7




Equality and The service provides for every resident in the borough. Additional
Diversity measures have been implemented to ensure all residents have
access to the waste collection service. For example, residents can
request ‘assisted collections’ if they are unable to put bins out
themselves. The contractor also collects clinical waste and sharps
from residents on prescribed medication.

Privacy and Data | None.
Protection

Appendices
7.1  The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the
report:

Appendix I: Swale Annual Performance Report for the Waste Collection &
Street Cleansing Service 2024/25

Appendix Il: Suez Mid Kent Annual Report
Background Papers
The full waste scrutiny report by the cross party member group can be found here
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-

review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20t0%?2
O0the%20public%20survey.

Page 8



https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey

BOROUGH COUNCIL

&) Swale

Annual Performance Report for the Waste
Collection & Street Cleansing Service

2024/25




Comment from Chair of Environmental Services and Climate Change
Committee

The aim of this report is to summarise the waste collection and street cleansing
service and provide details of performance for the first year of the new contract and
related activities undertaken by Council teams.

Reporting is an important part of our accountability. The transparency given by
regular and consistent reporting should help Council Members and the public gain a
better understanding of the overall service.

The service has many different parts and is complicated. Reviews and monitoring
provide the Council with management information for performance evaluation and
help to identify where improvements are needed. In addition, it also provides a
framework for performance comparisons between other local authorities. This report
will complement the Suez (our main contractor) annual report and also the waste
scrutiny review undertaken by Members in 2024/25 and published in January 2025.

| hope that you will find the contents of this report helpful and informative.

Clir Dolley Wooster — Chair of Committee

Abbreviations

DRS - Deposit Return Scheme

KRP — Kent Resource Partnership (a collaboration of local Kent local
authorities)

MKWP — Mid Kent Waste Partnership

POPs - Persistent Organic Pollutants

RIDDOR — The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases, and Dangerous Occurrences

regulations.
WCA — Waste Collection Authority (Swale Borough Council)
WDA - Waste Disposal Authority (Kent County Council)
WUDS - Waste Upholstered Domestic Seating

Page 10



Introduction

This is the first of a new cycle of annual performance reports to be presented at
Swale Environment Committee. The reporting cycle will include two reports each
year. One will be an annual update on the previous full year’s performance. This will
be reported to Environmental Services and Climate Change Committee at a suitable
time soon after Suez submit their annual report at the end of April each year. The
second report will be a ‘lighter touch’, mid-year update, which will be presented
towards the end of each calendar year.

As this is the first of these reports under the new service, some data comparisons
with the previous service provider become less relevant as new ways of working
have been introduced. However, other data sets still remain very relevant. A large
quantity of data has been provided to stimulate discussion with Members to
determine which parameters will be key for measuring current and future
performance.

Swale Borough Council are part of the Mid Kent Waste Partnership along with
Ashford BC and Maidstone BC. The contract includes waste collection for all three
authorities and for street cleansing in Swale and Ashford. The contract lasts for 8
years from March 2024.

As the ‘Waste Collection Authority’ (WCA), Swale Council are responsible for
collecting ‘waste’ and taking it to the specified locations as stipulated by the Waste
Disposal Authority (WDA). Kent County Council (KCC) are the WDA. Although we
often refer to the items that residents put out as ‘waste’, it is fundamental that we
stop thinking of many of the materials that we collect as ‘waste’. Many of these items
are valuable commodities that can remain for many years within the circular
economy if re-used or if collected and recycled appropriately.

The main service delivery specifications include the collection of all domestic refuse
streams in Swale including recycling, refuse, food, garden, clinical and bulky items. It
is also a requirement to keep the borough at a suitable level of cleanliness. This
includes street cleansing as required and emptying all of the litter bins and ensuring
that they do not become overfull.

The contract and supporting activities are overseen by the Environmental Services
team at the Council. This can be broken down into two teams — Contract &
Resources and Environmental Response.

Please note that this report will focus on street cleansing and refuse collection
performance. It will not review the end destinations for materials collected.

Page 11



The Contract in Numbers

Waste collection in Swale for 2024/25

Collections Over 140,000 scheduled collections
every week
Households serviced each week in 66,810

Swale

Number of collection operatives and
drivers in Swale

79 (31 drivers and 48 loaders)

Number of SBC owned vehicles for
waste collection in Swale

28 (some additional vehicles are on
hire)

Tonnes of dry recycling collected and
recycled in 24/25

8,394 (9,962 tonnes collected in
total).

Tonnes of residual refuse collected
in 24/25

34,859

Tonnes of compostable (food &

9,190 tonnes (2,663 = food; 6,527 =

garden) in 24/25 garden)
No of residents on assisted 1220
collections in 24/25

Total bulky collections undertaken in | 3183

2025

Garden subscribers at end of 24/25

Circa 20,700 subscribers

Number of ad hoc clinical collections
in 24/25

7010

% of staff for Suez that live locally

Approx 85% of staff live locally
(within Swale borough)

Estimated recycling rate (tbc later in
year)

35% (latest figures suggest the
national average in England is 42%)

Street Cleansing

Number of litter and dog bins in
Swale which are serviced by Suez

1209 (plus approx. 120 litter bins on
the beach fronts which are serviced
by local teams)

Length of roads in Swale to be kept
clean (including High Speed Roads)

1,095,404 metres (plus over 30,000
metres of footpaths and bridleways,
and 69,000 square metres of car
parks).

Number of vehicles for street
cleansing (with some being fully
electric)

13 (including 3 mechanical
sweepers)

Number of street cleansing
operatives and drivers

31 (12 drivers and 19 operatives)

Fly tips removed in 2024/25

1800

Offensive graffiti items removed in
24/25

19

Streets litter arisings

2,056.5 (883 tonnes of street litter
arisings and 1173 tonnes highway
mechanical sweepings).

Page 12




Transition to the new contract and the waste scrutiny review.

The early stages of the contract mobilisation were shaped by a complex mix of
challenges, some anticipated and others less easily foreseen. A few of the
challenges included:

e The requirement for an entirely new vehicle fleet with enhanced
environmental performance. This was impacted by the ability of
manufacturers to provide vehicles due to global influences such as the war in
Ukraine.

e Provision of a depot and workshop — as the Council does not own its own
depot, contractors were asked to source a suitable location during the tender.
Suez did this but it needed substantial improvements works, which resulted in
a temporary depot being used for 6 months whilst a more permanent solution
was prepared. Suez invested in the new depot with improvements such as re-
surfacing the yard, new offices and a refurbished vehicle repair workshop.

e An entire re-route of waste collections in order to deliver the efficiencies
required to meet environmental and financial objectives.

e The re-deployment and re-training of staff from the previous contractor to the
current service provider without a break in service delivery.

e The provision of new software and hardware.

e Limited waste disposal infrastructure resulted in food waste needing to be
tipped at a different site to refuse and recycling.

e Recruitment pressures, higher-than-anticipated staff turnover, and sickness.

e Uncertainties regarding the future of waste collections due to the most
significant legislative changes for a generation that had been announced as
part of the new waste strategy [now known as ‘Simpler Recycling’].

Although disruption was to be expected due to the scale of changes that were being
implemented, the unsatisfactory service lasted longer than expected. Consequently,
public apologies were made to residents from the council and Suez. A cross-party

member working group carried out a full scrutiny review on the contract mobilisation.

From the start of the contract and throughout the review period, council staff worked
on solutions with Suez and developed a recovery plan. Service performance steadily
improved. By October 2024 Suez reported to be consistently achieving 99 percent or
higher for collections. The Member review worked to identify the root causes of the
problems and identified lessons to be learnt.

The Member group carried out a range of workshops and interviews with staff from
both the council and Suez, and reviewed feedback from more than 2,000 responses
to the public survey. This work led to 23 recommendations from the group, which
were discussed and agreed by the Environment and Climate Change Committee at a
meeting on Wednesday 15 January.

The council will continue working with Suez to bring about the additional benefits of
the new contract.

Page 13



The full waste scrutiny report can be found here
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-
review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20t0%20identify,responses%20t0%20th
€%20public%20survey.

Due to the disruption across collections, the paid for garden waste service was
reviewed by the Member Waste working group. In consultation with this group and to
recognise the impact the disruption made, all residents who reported two or more
missed collections during the period 23 March to 315t October 2025 had their
subscriptions manually extended for the exact number of reports they made (ranging
from 2 to 7 reported missed collections). We also automatically extended a number
of customers when they called us via the call centre during the disruption. The
impact of the disruption of last year will be monitored through the amount of re-
subscriptions in 25/26.

As part of the new service, a decision was taken for Mid Kent partners to procure
their own fleet for waste collection and street cleansing. The cost of procuring the
Swale fleet was over £7M. This was a decision made by members prior to contract
award as it would enhance resilience and future flexibility as well as reduce finance
costs for the council. All fleet vehicles are fitted with in cab technology, CCTV and
trackers. This enables better monitoring of performance and investigations.

Performance

Collections

The start of the new service commenced with a smooth TUPE transfer of staff from
the previous contractor. However, it was quickly established that the new collection
rounds were not as efficient or as balanced as they should be. Consequently, several
further adjustments and day changes were required to ensure the rounds were
efficient and effective. Suez took this opportunity to adjust their delivery model to
balance recycling and refuse services, effectively ‘mirroring’ collections for different
streams on alternative weeks. This required the deployment of another round of
recycling collections for the two streams to balance. The changes were
implemented in stages, with each stage delivering better results. Consequently, the
collections towards the end of the year were far improved. The most recent
adjustment took place in March 2025 and it was focussed around the communal
properties.

Despite the early disruptions, officers commented that the Christmas collections
were some of the smoothest in recent years.

Page 14


https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey
https://news.swale.gov.uk/news/waste-scrutiny-review#:~:text=The%20review%20worked%20to%20identify,responses%20to%20the%20public%20survey

Figure 1.1 — tonnages collected in Swale

SWALE — TOMNAGES BY SERVICE AND MONTH M Refuse Recycling Garden [ Streets
&,000 -

Apr24 May24 Jun2é Jul2é Aug24 Sep24 Oct24 MNov24 Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar2b

Collection performance in 24/25 has been steadily improving as the year progressed.
Further controls and mechanisms continue to be implemented to drive performance
improvements.

Figure 1.2 - Refuse — total reported missed bins

1,600

1,200 \:‘\__‘ /' \

1,000 \
800 ‘
\ X
600 : / \
400 ! \/ \

200
May 2024 Jul 2024 Sep 2024 Nov 2024 Jan 2025 Mar 2025

B <mn

Page 15



Figure 1.3 - Food — total reported missed bins

200 N

May 2024 Jul 2024 Sep 2024 Nov 2024 Jan 2025 Mar 2025

Figure 1.4 - Recycling - total reported missed bins

1,800

1,400

1,208

1.000

aoo

400

00
BAay 2024 Bl 2024 S&p 1024 How 2034 Jan JO2% Mar 2030

Page 16



Figure 1.5 - Garden - total reported missed bins

Figure 1.6 - Clinical - total reported missed bins

20

May 2024 Jul 2024 Sep 2024 Hov 2024 Jan 2025 Mar 2025

N.B - Figures 1.2 - 1.6 include all reports made to the council of bins being missed. This
includes unjustified missed bins which may later be cancelled.

Page 17



Figure 1.7 — Number of properties with 3 reported missed collections (all waste streams)

1800
16X
1400
1200
1000
800 A
600
100
200
0 ¢ ¢
FY24 Q1 FY24 Q2 FY24 Q3 FY24 Q4
o [\ [0 895 117 55 /1
MB( 1566 575 303 200
. S B3 849 751 345 166

Figure 1.8 - complaints, comments and compliments

Compliments
Comments

Complaints

NOTE: not all contact was allocated as complaints/ comments/ compliments for Qtrs 1 & 2.

Page 18



Figure 1.9 - Complaints - Refuse and Food

Figure 1.10 - Complaints - Recycling

Page 19

® Failed delivery/repeated failed delivery
® Repeated missed collection
® Attitude/ Crew Conduct
® Failure to collect missed bin
Non return of bins
Non return assisted
® Damage to Property
® Poor Driving
® Not fully empty
® Wrong compartment / wrong vehicle
® Decanting
Health and Safety

® Repeated missed collection
® Failed delivery/repeated failed delivery
® Failure to collect missed bin
Non return of bins
Non return assisted
@ Attitude/ Crew Conduct

@ Wrong compartment / wrong vehicle



Figure 1.11 - Contamination in recycling bins

Dog Waste
Non Recyclable Plastics — \

Soil or Hardcore —

Polystyrene —.

Textiles or Small Electricals —

" Refuse Sacks or Refuse
Food waste —

/

Hidden Contamination —

Figure 1.12 - This heat map is created from data inputted by the crews. It shows where bins
have been ‘locked out’ for contamination. The data will become more reliable as more crews
lock contaminated bins out on their handheld devices (all crews are expected to take a
photograph to show the contaminants).




Figure 1.13 — table to show recycling lost to contamination in 2024/25

Number of lorry loads rejected at the waste 723
transfer station for contamination in the
recycling
Tonnes of recycling rejected for

o 1,592
contamination

Figure 1.14 - the contaminants that caused the rejected loads at the waste transfer station

Black plastic waste/sacks Textiles Green waste

Food waste

Sanitary waste/nappies

Wet Paper

Sampling of recycling at the recycling plant has identified elevated levels of
objectionable and prohibited materials in Swale recycling bins. Consequently, over
the past two years this has resulted in an increase of whole loads being rejected at
the waste transfer station in Swale. A range of measures and projects are being
implemented to combat contamination such as better public awareness through
social media campaigns and more thorough checks for contaminants at the point of
collection. Recycling bins with contaminants will have a hanger placed on them and
the bin will not be accepted until the contaminants have been removed by the
resident.

Bulky items - Legislation came into force in 2024 that required certain waste
upholstered domestic seating (WUDS) to be collected, transported and disposed off
in a different way (and at a different location) to the other bulky items that are
collected. This was due to these items containing persistent organic pollutants
(POPs) which are used in manufacturing, often as a fire retardant. A partnership

Page 21



approach across the service resulted in this new requirement being implemented on
time and with little impact on customers.

Figure 1.15 - Top 10 Bulky Iltems Collected

Number of Iltems requested (Completed Events Only)

Type of ltem Swale

MATTRESS (SINGLE/DOUBLE/KING) 1344
SETTEE (2 SEATER) 469
SETTEE (3 SEATER) ET
CHAIR (ARM/RECLINER) 73
BED BASE (CAMP/SOFRASZ/FUTON) 638
FRIDGE/FREEZER 33
CHAIR (DECK/GARDEN/SWIVEL/OFFICE) 225
CHAIR (DINING) 172
SETTEE (4 SEATER) 169
FREEZER 162

Recycling — Recycling figures across the UK have plateaued in recent years which
is why new legislative measures have been introduced to enhance performance and
create consistency in services. The raft of new legislative measures are now
commonly known as ‘Simpler Recycling’. The measures are intended to drive the UK
towards targets of 60% by 2030 (by weight) and 65% by 2035. The graph below
shows a recent reduction in Swale’s recycling rate. The increase in rejected recycling
loads will be a contributing factor to this trend. Tackling contamination must be a
main priority for Clirs and officers in the year ahead.

Figure 1.16 — Swale and England’s recycling rates

42
40
38
35
34
3z
a0
20021 2122 22423 2372 24725
— Sivale England

Page 22



Note 1 - Swale data for 24/25 up until Feb 2025 only

Note 2 - The official England waste from households recycling rate was 42% in 2023/24.

Street Cleansing

Over the past year officers have focussed their efforts to ensure waste collections
operated successfully. With waste collections routinely completing, the focus has
now moved to street cleansing. Work has started to check data sets and integrate
street cleansing operations into CORE (Suez’s software system), allowing for
improved scheduling, visibility, and performance monitoring across the service.
Consequently, there will be more data available as 2025 unfolds.

One of the early operational improvements for street cleansing was the introduction
of electric vehicles into the fleet.

It is also fair to note that Suez delivered a strong leaf clearing season with few
complaints received.

Fly tipping

In 2024/25, Swale BC reported 2615 fly tipping incidents. Swale Council proactively
applied for and received grant funding from DEFRA to tackle behaviour change and

Page 23



reduce fly tipping in the borough. The project included the purchase of three
cameras which were deployed at fly tipping hot spots. It also included campaigns on
local billboards and social media. The DEFRA grant funded Swale BC contributions
to the police for ‘Operation Assist’ for 2024/25. This is a visible partnership where
officers are tasked alongside the police to target illegal waste carriers and the
prevention of fly tipping. These operations will continue into 25/26 on a bi-monthly
basis.

In addition to this, officers also participated in multi-agency activities such as road
stops with The Environment Agency and the DVSA. Through the Kent Resource
Partnership, information, intelligence and ideas are shared to tackle illegal waste
crime.

Swale Borough Council hosted the East Kent Regional waste crime practitioners
meeting in Feb 2025.

There were 21 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s) issued for waste related crime such as
fly tipping or duty of care offences.

Figure 2.1 - Fly tipping - waste type

Asbestos (H)Clinical (H)

Tyres

Other Commercial Waste

Green

Other Unidentified

Black Bags - Household

Other Household Waste

White Goods

Construction / demolition / excavation

Page 24



Figure 2.2 — fly tipping - Land Type

® Highway
® Council Land
Back Alley
® Footpath/Brideway
® Other
Water Course/ Bank
® Commercial/Industrial
® Private Residence
® Agriculture
® Railway

Figure 2.3 - Fly Tipping- load size

® Under 2m3
® Over 2m3
Under 2m3 Hazardous

® Over 2m3 Hazardous

Page 25



Litter and graffiti
In 2024/25, 566 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) were issued for litter offences.

Figure 2.5 - Number of reported overflowing Litter Bins
100

May 2024 Jul 2024 Sep 2024 Now 2024 Jan 2025 Mar 2025



Figure 2.6 - Graffiti items removed

Number of non offensive graffiti reports

18

Number of offensive graffiti reports

19

Figure 2.7 - Dead animals reported in public areas

® Other @ Cat Dog @ Manne Animal @ Bird

Figure 2.8 - Complaints received in 24/25 for street cleansing (27 complaints received

overall)

Page 27

® Repeated missed collection
Street Cleansing Complaint

® Failed delivery/repeated failed delivery
Non return of bins

® Attitude/ Crew Conduct

@ Health and Safety




Health and safety

Health and Safety Executive (HSE) figures suggest that across the waste industry
there are an estimated 5,000 workers suffering from work-related ill health (new or
long-standing). 4.2% of workers in the sector suffer from work-related ill health (new
or long standing) [source - Labour Force Survey (LFS) average estimate over
2015/16 / 2023/24].

For the Mid Kent waste partnership in 2024/25, Suez reported no RIDDOR
reportable incidents (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
Regulation). RIDDOR data suggests that across the waste sector there were 1,492
non fatal injuries to employees reported by employers under RIDDOR in 2023/24.
According to RIDDOR data, slips, trips and falls accounted for between 35% and
52% of non-fatal work related specified injuries (across private and public sectors
working in waste) in 2024.

Although there were no RIDDOR reportable incidents in Mid Kent, Suez reported
eight lost time accidents across all three boroughs and 36 personal injuries in this
first Contract Year. The waste sector is a ‘selected manual type’ industry. These
industries generally have a higher rate of work-related ill health or workplace injuries
compared to all other industries.

Suez teams have proactively reported and engaged with health and safety across all
boroughs in Mid Kent, with 152 near misses recorded in Year 1. In addition, Suez
facilitated 602 ‘Safety in Mind’ conversations between crews and supervisory teams,
reinforcing positive behaviours, identifying areas for improvement, and embedding
safety into daily routines.

Figure 2.9 — Suez Health and Safety incidents in Swale 2024/25

@ Near miss
Personal injury
@ Property damage

@ Road traffic incident

August .

HH
K

[ 1|
5 = 5 g g g = = 6
5 = E & E E 2 2 B
= & o ] ] o = =
- o = o —_ [T
= (=] @ L
3 prad O
2024 2025

Page 28



Suez advise that they continue to drive down incidents through improved processes,
close supervision and a visible leadership presence.

ING,
v RECORD ’
S THISVEHICLE

R 8 i
%\ 's SsTEPBACK| .

£ SAFE ZONE|!‘!
v

Environmental benefits/ healthier communities

All refuse vehicles are Euro VI standard and have been fitted with electric bin lifts to
reduce fuel consumption. Vehicles are fitted with software that enables Suez to track
driver efficiencies such as unnecessary idling and heavy braking. Although the re-
routes caused problems initially, in the longer term the more efficient rounds will
reduce mileage and emissions. Around 15% of street cleansing vehicles are electric.

As part of the depot infrastructure improvements, sensor lighting was installed in site
cabins to minimise unnecessary energy use, and LED lighting was introduced across
all workshops to lower energy consumption. Sustainability Champions were
appointed at each site to lead best practices and engage colleagues in continuous
environmental improvement.

In Mid-Kent, Suez are focusing on re-use practices both internally and externally.
Internally, all staff received reusable water bottles during their inductions at the start
of the contract in March. Internal best practice will also be consolidated with a PPE
reuse initiative.

Alongside this, externally, Suez continue to explore their relationship with local
charities to focus on reusing bulky waste. There will also be a focus on working with
Repair Cafés and WEEE initiatives throughout Contract Year 2.

Suez operate a ‘Day a Year to Volunteer’ scheme. Every employee is given a paid
day to support a cause close to their heart. This year Suez staff have

e volunteered at Demelza’s Larkfield distribution centre and ran a schools
competition for designing a storage container to reuse bulky waste.

Page 29



Hosted bake sales at each Mid Kent site to raise funds for the British Heart
Foundation.

Welcomed KMTYV to join the street cleansing team in Swale, offering an inside
look at the work that keeps the partnership boroughs clean.

Suez welcomed two new apprentices this year, with plans to hire 6 more over the
course of Contract Year 2.

Contract costs for Swale in 24/25

Waste collection (all streams including £5.77M

garden)
Street cleansing £2.23M
Income from service charges £1.18M income from garden services

and £0.1M from bulky waste collections

Looking ahead for 25/26

Street Cleansing - a key priority is the full integration of street cleansing
rounds into CORE to enable real-time data and reporting capabilities. This will
include the implementation of summer working plans to optimise resources
during warmer months. It will also mean we can share better data with Clirs
and residents and react quicker to issues.

Food collections — under the government legislation changes, every domestic
property must be offered a food waste collection service by March 2026. This
will go hand in hand with food waste promotion projects in partnership with
stakeholders. There will be a focus on providing this service to communal
properties and those not on the wheeled bin scheme.

Reduce contamination — tackle contamination in recycling bins and ensure as
much recycling as possible gets placed in the recycling bins rather than the
refuse bins. Work with stakeholders such as KCC and KRP to understand the
issue and deliver campaigns to improve performance.

Reduce residual waste tonnages — work with KCC and KRP to support 2025
waste composition surveys for residual and food bins in Swale and throughout
Kent. Understanding composition will assist campaigns to reduce residual
waste tonnages (green bins).

Implement the requirements of Simpler Recycling — Ensure measures are
taken to become an ‘efficient and effective’ organisation. Prepare for new
burdens such as collecting and recycling plastic films by 2027. Plan for the
new deposit return schemes (DRS) for plastic bottles and cans in England by
October 2027.

Page 30




e Social value — there are some exciting initiatives being developed across
areas of repair and re-use. Opportunities are also being explored for more
apprenticeships within the service and the creation of job skill sessions in
Swale to help young people transition into meaningful employment.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



m;_L - L

roudly servmg
communities m%shford f
Maidstone and Swale

March 2024 to March 2025 (contract year 1)

fﬂ /

@ Suea in partnership with % v Ashford MA%IS%%ONE

Page 33Borough Counci |




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025

FOREWORD

02

This report marks the end of the first year of

our eight-year contract with the Mid Kent Waste
Partnership, serving the communities of Ashford,
Maidstone, and Swale. It reflects on the journey

so far, celebrates key achievements, and sets out
our vision for continued improvement and progress.

Mobilising a contract of this scale, which spans
three boroughs, serves over 200,000 households,
and involved more than 80,000 bin collection day
changes, was always going to be a significant
undertaking. The early stages of the mobilisation
were shaped by a complex mix of challenges,
some anticipated and others less easily foreseen.
We had prepared for key operational shifts, which
we expected would take time to bed in, such as the
rollout of new collection routes, the introduction of
a fleet of 83 vehicles, and the integration of in-cab
technology. However, additional pressures such as
sickness and the late delivery of our new vehicles,
compounded the initial disruption, particularly in
Maidstone and Swale.

In these two boroughs, issues extended

beyond the disruption typically expected during
mobilisation, and we sincerely apologise for any
disruption that residents experienced during
the transition. Nevertheless, throughout we
remained firmly committed to achieving the
contract’s service standards and continued to
refine routes, schedules, and systems until we
were confident we had the right solutions in place.
We have put in place new systems to ensure

a more robust and reliable service going
forward. Thanks to the dedication, resilience
and commitment of our teams, we have
successfully transitioned and are delivering the
agreed service levels across the Partnership.

Our street cleansing service has also made
significant strides. The 2024 leafing season,
which involved clearing large volumes of fallen
leaves from roads as trees shed during autumn,
was completed on time and to a high standard.
The operation was marked by exemplary
communication and coordination between
client and contractor throughout.

Page 34



SECTION 01 02 03 04 05 06

At the centre of this progress is our people.
More than 77 percent of our workforce live Introduction 04
locally, and we have supported them from
day one. Ahead of service commencement

in March 2024, around 265 employees took L ) e
part in comprehensive induction weekends Waste collection service 06
focused on safe working practices, vehicle _ _

operation and the use of new digital tools. Street cleansing service 10
Our commitment to health and safety Customer care 12

remains paramount, with plans in place for
all front-line supervisory staff across the

Partnership to achieve IOSH certification. People 14
We continue to invest in training, innovation,

) ) i Health and safety 15
and sustainable practices to achieve
excellence in service delivery. Skilled and confident workforce 17
Looking ahead, we remain focused on Healthier communities 18
making an even greater impact. This includes
laur?chlng waste electr@al and electronic . Planet 20
equipment (WEEE) repair roadshows, engaging
with schools on recycling, and welcoming Environmental performance
new apprentices into our growing team. and sustainability 20
This one-year milestone is a testament to _

Introducing reuse 21

the hard work and dedication of every team
member. We are proud of what has been
achieved and look forward to building on this Profit 22
strong foundation in the year to come.

John Scanlon Appendix 24

CEOQ, SUEZ recycling and recovery UK

Page 35




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 » INTRODUCTION

I ntI'Od U Ctl 0 n New services commenced 24 March 2024

Welcome to our annual report for 200,000+ households
the Mid Kent Waste Partnership

and SUEZ waste, recycling and :
environmental services contract. 68 collection teams

This report is designed to give 77% of staff live locally
community members and

stakeholders a view of how the

Mid Kent Waste Partnership and |
g From July 2024, consistent

SUEZ are working together to -
. . 100% on the day collections
make a difference for the residents for Ashford

of Ashford, Maidstone and Swale.

V4

Highlights
In the following sections, we review key
highlights and milestones from the first
contract year (March 24-March 25) to 37' 1 32 tonnes
show how our collaboration is contributing
22,052 tonnes

to the Mid Kent Waste Partnership’s
environmental ambitions.

84,691 tonnes
9,170 tonnes

04




SECTION 01 02 03 04 05 06 IEI

2,291,948m of road
2,611 street bins
11,931 bulky waste
15,257 clinical waste

d

Volunteering

) ASHEORD
New fleet of 83 RCVs +

Sustainability and

~\+ 26 vehicles for street cleansing biodiversity initiatives
Approximately 15%
of the street cleansing fleet :
is now electric !\Ig;lrce(:]'}}::"egstwo L

Comprehensive training for
around 265 members of staff




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

06

SUEZ commenced the Collection and Street Cleansing Contract on

24 March 2024. As part of the transition, we facilitated a smooth TUPE
transfer of staff from the previous contractor, establishing our presence
and beginning operations under the SUEZ brand.

Waste collection service

From day one, our teams were deployed with a
fleet of 83 vehicles, servicing 203,780 properties
each week across the three boroughs that make
up the Mid Kent Partnership. Our early focus was
on embedding operational stability, and initiating
a cultural shift towards continuous improvement,
aligned with the “SUEZ way.” This included the
introduction of new technologies, upgraded
facilities, and a strong emphasis on safety

and service quality.

We implemented key innovations such as in-cab
technology, food waste pods and electric bin lifts,
modernising how our crews operate and improving
both efficiency and environmental performance

in line with the Partnership’s sustainability
objectives. New routes were also introduced to
streamline service delivery and better respond to
the needs of each borough.

While this transformation was underway, a range
of challenges emerged. Some were expected as
part of a mobilisation of this scale, such as the
time needed to adjust to new routes, vehicles
and technologies. However, other factors were
less predictable and more difficult to manage.
Recruitment pressures, higher-than-anticipated
staff turnover and sickness - particularly acute in
Maidstone and Swale - added complexity to our
operational efforts. These added pressures had
a direct impact on initial service performance,
including instances of missed collections

during the early months.

Despite this, service performance

steadily improved. Ashford, less affected by
these additional factors, reached 100 percent
completion rates by July 2024. The wider
Partnership followed, consistently achieving
99 percent or higher from October onwards.

Page 38



SECTION 01 03 04 05 06

Physical infrastructure improvements were
also critical in supporting our operational
resilience and service quality. A new depot
and enhanced workshop was established in
Swale. Meanwhile, brand new facilities were
created in Ashford. These upgrades created
safer, cleaner and more efficient working
environments, reinforcing our long-term
commitment to delivering better services.

Health and safety was a key area of focus
from the outset. As explored in more detail in
the People section of this report, we carried
out regular on-site supervisory checks,
enhanced induction processes for both crews - [ “oremammves T
and back office staff, and embedded daily U g$
‘Safety in Mind’ conversations into operational =
routines to promote a safety-first culture =
across the workforce. ;}
During the festive holiday period, we ensured
uninterrupted service through proactive planning.
Early agreement of working arrangements with
crews and Partnership officers, combined with
improved holiday allocation, enabled us to meet
increased seasonal demand without disruption.
This collaborative approach reflected the
effectiveness of our planning and the dedication
of our teams.

As demonstrated in the following graphs, in 2025
the service has continued to improve, with
the focus shifting to maintaining operational "
excellence on behalf of the Partnership in : ;
contract year 2.

Page 39



MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 OPERATIONAL REVIEW

08

ASHFORD — TONNAGES BY SERVICE AND MONTH M Refuse

5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000

1,000

0 —

SWALE — TONNAGES BY SERVICE AND MONTH B Refuse

6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000

Recycling Garden Streets

Apr24 May24 Jun24 Jul24 Aug24 Sep24 Oct24 Nov2s Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar25

Recycling Garden Streets

Apr24 May24 Jun24 Jul24 Aug24 Sep24 Oct24 Nov2s4 Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar25

MAIDSTONE — TONNAGES BY SERVICE AND MONTH M Refuse Recycling Garden [ Bulk/Clinical

6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000

Apr24 May24 Jun24 Jul24 Aug2478ep 24~ Oct24 Nov24 Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar25



SECTION 01 02 03 04 05 06

TOTALS ACROSS THE MID KENT PARTNERSHIP
— TONNAGES BY SERVICE AND MONTH B Refuse [@ Recycling [ Garden [ Streets

20,000

\14,026\ \15,764\ \13.620\ \14,988\ \13,720\ \13,252\ \13,104\ \12,969\ \12,367\ \14,307\ \10,931\ \12,923\

Apr24 May24 Jun24 Jul24 Aug24 Sep24 Oct24 Nov2s Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar 25

BY BOROUGH — MISSED COLLECTIONS PER 100,000 B Ashford [ Maidstone [ Swale
M Mid Kent Partnership average

500

400

300 oo S s

200 e SR

Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24 Jan 25 Feb 25 Mar 25

*Data starts from June 2024 due to the missed collections alanaegﬁnﬂ;?}first 3 months of the contract.
09



MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 » OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Street cleansing service

Throughout the mobilisation period, our street
cleansing service in Ashford and Swale has
focused on building a consistent and responsive
operation, supported by a dedicated team of

34 crews. From the outset, the team worked to
embed high standards, aligning resources across
the two boroughs to ensure cleaner streets

and public spaces.

One of the early operational improvements was
the introduction of electric vehicles into the fleet,
further supporting the Partnership’s sustainability
goals while maintaining the flexibility needed for
daily cleansing rounds. In parallel, we started
integrating our street cleansing operations into
CORE, allowing for improved scheduling, visibility
and performance monitoring across the service.

Year 1 highlights included strong performance
during the autumn leafing season, with extensive
leaf clearance completed on time across both
boroughs and no rectifications issued. This was
a clear testament to the effective communication
between our crews and the Partnership teams.
We also ended the calendar year on a high note,
with no disruption over the Christmas period,
demonstrating the strength of our planning and
the dedication of our teams.

10



SECTION 01 02 03 04 05 06

Looking ahead, key priorities for contract year 2
include the full integration of street cleansing
rounds into CORE to enable real-time data and
reporting capabilities. We are also focused on
implementing summer working plans to optimise
resources during warmer months, achieving
100% deployment of crews and ensuring service
continuity through better holiday planning and
early coordination with both our crews and the
Partnership officer teams.

Our approach continues to centre on operational
reliability, proactive management and close
collaboration with local authorities to deliver

a consistently clean and safe environment for
communities across Ashford and Swale.

@ 26 full fortnightly cycles completed
for residential areas

@ 2,291,948 m of road cleansed
@ 2,611 litter bins emptied

© 46 grafitti items cleansed

& 2,866 fly tipped waste removed

@ 65 hazardous materials removed



MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 » OPERATIONAL REVIEW

12

Customer care

Since service commencement, the majority

of feedback has focused on missed waste
collections. As expected with a mobilisation of this
scale, the first few months presented challenges
as crews adapted to new routes, vehicles and
technologies. Complaint levels peaked at 0.11% of
properties serviced in July 2024. However, as the
service has stabilised, complaint volumes have
decreased significantly, consistently remaining
below 0.05% since November.

Ashford has seen consistently lower and more
stable complaint levels since the start of the
contract, accounting for approximately 18% of total
complaints across the Partnership. In contrast,
Maidstone and Swale, which experienced a
greater number of missed collections due to more
pronounced operational and external pressures,
accounted for 40% and 42% respectively.

MONTHLY COMPLAINTS AS PERCENTAGE OF PROPERTIES SERVICED

0.05%| |0.08%| [0.09%| 0.11%| |0.10%| 0.07%| |0.07%| |0.04%| [0.03%| 0.05%  |0.03%] |0.04%]

1000

800

600

400 -

Apr24 May24 Jun24 Jul24 Aug24 Sep24 Oct24 Nov2s Dec24 Jan25 Feb25 Mar 25

[ Complaints in Ashford

Complaints in Maidstone [ Complaints in Swale

Page 44



We understand the frustration this caused for
residents and we sincerely apologise to those
affected during the initial adjustment period.

We are grateful for their patience and support.

A thorough review has been conducted and
valuable lessons have been learned. We are now
pleased to be delivering the service levels set out
in the contract and will continue to build on this
foundation to maintain and improve performance
across all three boroughs.

Compliments over the mobilisation period largely
focused on the friendliness of the crews and their
helpful nature. We are proud that our colleagues
maintained a positive attitude during challenging
phases of the mobilisation period and are
confident that the operational improvements we
are aiming for in contract year 2 will continue to
reduce the number of complaints received.

One resident shared: “| know recently you have
received bad press in Kent, but | would like to
pass on a big thank you to the Ashford Kent team.

| requested a cleanup of a bulk bin area, and it was

dealt with immediately - excellent service.”

Another expressed gratitude: “A wonderful
member of your team just returned a lost purse
to me. How can | contact his local office to
provide positive feedback?”

SECTION 01 03 04 05 06

Aswonderful member of your team
just returnedsalost purse to me.
How.can | contact his'local office to
provide positive feedback?”

— Local resident

A third resident praised an act of kindness:

Page 45

13




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 PEOPLE

14

At SUEZ, we measure the social
value we create which is determined
by our combined environmental,
social and economic impact. This is
at the core of our business, and as
part of our contract with Mid Kent,
we are committed to providing local
employment opportunities, having a
skilled and engaged workforce and
supporting healthier communities.

On this contract, SUEZ employs 273 staff.

The workforce is largely made up of drivers

(HGV and LGV) and loaders, with 77% of staff being
from the local area and all receiving as a minimum
the real living wage. We have also welcomed two
new apprentices, with plans to hire over six more
over the course of contract year 2.




SECTION

01

02

04 05 06 |—

Health and Safety

Health and safety is at the heart of our culture

at SUEZ. It is for everyone, anywhere, at any time.
Together, we strive for a culture that is open,
honest, and accountable, with continuous
improvement firmly embedded in everything

we do. This approach was the first key area to
become entrenched during the mobilisation
period and has been a consistent focus throughout
the contract. We have applied our rules and
standards consistently and without compromise.
Our goal is simple: to ensure that every person
goes home safely at the end of each day.

All front-line supervisory staff across the

Mid Kent partnership will soon have achieved
their IOSH qualification. This will continue to
ensure that those with responsibility for health
and safety fully understand workplace hazards,
the associated risks and how to control them. High
completion rates so far has helped ensure we
have seen no RIDDOR-reportable incidents and
minimised lost time accidents, with six occurring
between all three boroughs in contract year 1.

RECO

ccTv HICLE

oN THIS VE



MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 PEOPLE

Our teams have proactively reported and
engaged with health and safety across all
boroughs, with 122 near misses recorded in year
1, a reflection of the culture of vigilance we are
working to embed. In addition, we facilitated 624
‘Safety in Mind’ conversations between crews

and supervisory teams, reinforcing positive

behaviours, identifying areas for improvement
and embedding safety into daily routines.

Near Miss
Safety In Mind Conversations

Vigiminute Conversations

Lost Time Accident
Road Traffic Accident

RIDDOR

16

Apr 24

58

12

While we recorded 34 personal injuries,
we continue to drive down incidents through
improved processes, close supervision and a

visible leadership presence. This approach
has delivered a standard of performance

that we consider to be industry best practice.
Through consistency, training, open dialogue
and accountability, we continue to raise
the bar for health and safety across the

Mid Kent Partnership.

Il 33 g 33
S s S| &5 33
- - < wn o Z (m]
13117 7 7 128116 | 1
28 | 56 | 43 | 40 | 28 | 24 | 33
8 |29 2|7 5|15 9
oo 0|0 0|0 0
6|5 7|2 8|72
0|0 /0|0 0|0 0
Page 48

Jan 25

—_

Feb 25

~

Mar 25

w

158

Total

122

624

101

76



SECTION 01 02 04 05 06

Skilled and confident workforce

At SUEZ, we are committed to the wellbeing and
inclusion of all our employees. It underpins all of
our strategic goals and is something we embed
across every level of our operations.

A critical part of the mobilisation has been
ensuring that all staff received a thorough
induction into SUEZ and the appropriate training
to ensure their safety, wellbeing, and readiness
for work. Ahead of the contract start, we hosted
health, safety and wellbeing induction weekends
for over 260 new colleagues. These were described
by attendees as “great and rewarding,” and
featured a mix of presentations and an interactive
‘info market'. Experts from across the business
were on hand to demonstrate new vehicles,
vehicle CCTV, tools, personal protective equipment
and visual management standards.

Information on staff benefits, pensions and
payroll was also provided. Meanwhile, regional
GMB representatives attended to help establish a
cooperative and supportive relationship from day
one. As part of our commitment to an inclusive
culture, all staff also received diversity and
inclusion training as part of their induction.

To ensure ongoing support, we have a dedicated
HR team, health and safety leads, and front-line
supervisors actively engaged with the workforce
every day. We have continued to support employee
wellbeing through a variety of channels, including
webinars on topics such as combatting stress,
eating for immunity, and allyship in the workplace.
These sessions are available both live and
on-demand to provide flexibility for our teams.

We also support our people through dedicated
staff networks, including a diversity and inclusion
network, a parents’ network and a veterans
network, helping to foster allyship and inclusion
across the business.

In November and December, we offered health
screening to all colleagues, providing them

with an opportunity to check in on their physical
health and take proactive steps toward wellbeing.
We have also received positive feedback from
client-led surveys, in this area, reflecting the
dedication and professionalism of our teams

on the ground.

Looking ahead to contract year 2, we plan to
introduce an employee of the month scheme

to celebrate outstanding contributions, and are
exploring opportunities to upskill our operational
crews as part of our continued investment in
staff development.

Page 49

17




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025

PEOPLE

18

Healthier communities

Our support for people doesn’t just focus on
our SUEZ family, but also to the communities
that we operate in. This forms a key part of
how we measure our social value and will

be an area of development on the Mid Kent
contract as we go into our second (and first
full) contract year.

As a company, we proudly support two
national charities, Macmillan Cancer Support
and the British Heart Foundation, while

also encouraging our staff to contribute

to local causes. Through our ‘Day a Year

to Volunteer” scheme, every employee is
given a paid day to support a cause close

to their heart.

Repair roadshows and WEEE Initiatives,
collaborating with local repair cafés to
help residents fix, donate or responsibly
dispose of waste electrical and electronic
equipment (WEEE). The first event is set
for April in Maidstone, with more planned
throughout the year.

Planting 633 trees at Allington Open Space in
partnership with Maidstone Borough Council
to mark the five year anniversary of the first
COVID lockdown - one tree for each life lost
to COVID-19 in the borough.

Volunteering at Repton Connect Community
Centre, assisting with the People’s Pantry,
deep cleaning the main hall and donating bags
of food, hygiene products and festive treats.

Volunteering at Demelza’s Larkfield
distribution centre.

Hosting bake sales at each site to raise funds
for the British Heart Foundation.

Welcoming KMTV to join our street
cleansing team in Swale, offering an inside
look at the work that keeps the partnership
boroughs clean.

We have an exciting year ahead, with further
WEEE repair café events across Mid Kent,
increased visibility of contract improvements
and partnerships, and ongoing community
engagement, including Christmas volunteering.
Additionally, we will explore new engagement
opportunities at our depots, promote electric
vehicle adoption and continue to develop our
partnerships and social value initiatives.

Page 50



SECTION

01

02

04

05 06




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 PLANET

Environmental performance
and sustainability

Environmental sustainability is central to SUEZ's
triple bottom line, alongside social responsibility
and economic performance. In 2024, SUEZ earned
a Gold Medal EcoVadis rating for the second
consecutive year. With a score of 75 out of 100,
we ranked within the top 5 percent of companies
assessed globally. This recognition from the
world’s largest and most trusted provider of
business sustainability ratings highlights our
strong and ongoing commitment to embedding
sustainability throughout our operations.

In support of the Mid Kent Partnership’s
environmental goals, we prioritised reducing the
carbon footprint of our contract from the outset.
During the first year, we introduced several

key initiatives aimed at cutting emissions and
improving energy efficiency. All refuse collection
vehicles (RCVs) were fitted with electric bin

lifts to reduce fuel consumption and idle times.
Electric vehicles were also deployed across

the supervisory team, with options extended

to management, ensuring that low-emission
transport is available at all levels.

20



We also improved our infrastructure to support
environmental performance. Sensor lighting
was installed in site cabins to minimise
unnecessary energy use, and LED lighting

was introduced across all workshops to lower
energy consumption. Sustainability Champions
were appointed at each site to lead best
practices and engage colleagues in continuous
environmental improvement.

Protecting and enhancing biodiversity is a vital
part of our environmental strategy. Towards the
end of 2024, we installed bird boxes and bug hotels
at the Ashford and Maidstone depots to support
local wildlife. Plans for contract year 2 include
installing bat boxes at depots, creating green
spaces and wildflower areas across our sites, and
launching a PPE reuse scheme to reduce waste
and extend the life cycle of equipment.

We are also increasing community involvement.
Each site will participate in the Great British
Spring Clean through local litter-picking events.
A garden project will be launched in Swale and we
will enhance the grassy bank behind the depot to
further support biodiversity.

These initiatives reflect our long-term approach
to sustainability, ensuring that Mid Kent benefits
from a responsible, environmentally conscious,

and future-focused service.

02 03 05 06

SECTION 01

Introducing re-use

We are dedicated to helping our customers reduce
waste and embrace re-use. In early 2025, we
published our Re-use Manifesto, Repair, Re-use,
Reform - How to Accelerate Progress to a Circular
Economy, outlining steps to drive meaningful
change in this area.

In Mid Kent, we have embedded re-use practices
both internally and externally. Internally, all staff
received reusable water bottles during their
inductions at the start of the contract in March.
Internal best practice will also be consolidated
with the PPE reuse initiative we are launching.

Alongside this, externally, we are exploring our
relationship with Demelza to focus on reusing
bulky waste and will run Repair Cafés and WEEE
initiatives throughout contract year 2.

Page

21




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025

PROFIT

22

Alongside environmental compliance and our continued commitment
to social responsibility, it is essential that we continuously grow,
evolve and invest in order to deliver the best possible service for

Mid Kent and ensure value for money in everything we do.

At SUEZ, continuous improvement is embedded
within our culture and our team in Mid Kent have
embraced this wholeheartedly from the outset.
Throughout contract year 1, we have implemented
accurate reporting and data analysis, which

has enabled us to make more informed
operational decisions, drive efficiencies, and
maintain a high level of service delivery across
the partnership. Looking ahead, this strong

data foundation positions us to be even more
proactive and responsive.

We now have access to comprehensive datasets
covering tonnage, seasonal holiday trends,
absence patterns, and average finish times.

This information gives us the ability to anticipate
and address operational challenges more
effectively as we move into future contract years.
In Mid Kent, as elsewhere, this data insight
enables us to dynamically manage our resources,
increasing capacity during high-demand periods
and optimising staffing during quieter times.

To further support this agile approach, we have
established robust relationships with staffing
agencies, giving us the flexibility to bring in
additional support when required and maintain
service continuity under pressure.

As the industry landscape continues to evolve
and new regulatory frameworks emerge, we are
committed to staying ahead of the curve, offering
innovative, data-driven solutions that respond

to the changing needs of our partners and the
communities we serve. By doing so, we ensure
that the Mid Kent partnership remains not only
compliant and effective but also cost-efficient
and future-ready.

Page 54



SECTION 01 02 03 04 06




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 » APPENDIX

Certification and legal compliance

Certificate GB99/50556

The management system of
SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

UK Head Office SUEZ House, Grenfell Road Maidenhead, Berkshire SLG 1ES United Kingdom
has been assessed and ceriified as meeting the requirements of
1SO 14001:2015

For the following activities
The Scope of Registration appears on page 2 of this certificate

This ceriificate is valid from 13 March 2025 uniil 27 September 2025 and
audits.

Issue 50. Certified since 03 June 1999
Certified activties performed by additional sites ore listed on subsequent pages.

(. Moran

Authorised by
Liz Moran

Business Manager
SGS Unte Kingdom Lid

Rossmora Business Park. Ellesmere Port, Cheshira, CHBS 3EN, UK
444 (0)151 3506565 - www.sgs.com

e
‘s o Conefions | SGS. Amaeiion s draw b ha kiaten of

oy,
acpsarane of i document s urimehd.
Page 1/24

Certificate GB99/50556, continued
SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

1SO 14001:2015

Issue 50

The sampling and laboratory analysis of and reporting on waters, waste waters and organic wastes.
Provision of Ice pigging, chlorination and specialist pipe services

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, rmeq and dﬁpesd of controlled waste
including ‘municipal, and i (incl ind difficult waste)

The collection and transport of controlled waste including household, municipal, commercial and industrial
waste (including hazardous and difficult waste). The operation of legistics depots and vehicle workshops

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste
including househeld and municipal waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling and disposal of controlled waste including
household, municipal, commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The operation of energy from waste plants

The collection, transport, sorting, seperahon. treatment, recyclmg. mmvety and disposal m’mmnilad waste
including household, municipal, and i (including waste).
The operation of materials recycling facilities, househcld waste recycling facilities, mf-rshmm energy
from waste plants, logistics depots, vehicle workshops and associated procurement activities.

The collection, transport, separation, treatment, recycling and recovery of materials for the production of
compaost

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, recovery and disposal of wood

The administration functions associated with the collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment,
recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste induding household, municipal, commercial and
industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The administration functions associated with the operation of materials recycling facilities, household waste

recycling facilities, composting facilities, wood processing facilities, transfer stations including security

shredding operations, energy from waste plants, landfill sites, gas utilisation plants, logistics depots, vehicle
and i activities.

% yKAs
" 868 &
s
S
Pagu2i24

24

Page 56




SECTION 01 02 03 04 05

Certificate GB09/79537

The management system of

SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

UK Head Office SUEZ House, Grenfell Road Maidenhead, Berkshire SLE 1ES United Kingdom
has been assessed and certified as meeting the requirements of

1SO 45001:2018

For the following activites
The Scope of Registration appears on page 2 of this certificate

This certificate is valid from 13 March 2025 until 27 September 2025 i o

audits.
Issue 2B Certified since 27 Seplember 2019
Cerified activities performed by additional sites are listed on subsequent pages.

(. Moran

Authorised by
Liz Moran
Business Manager

SGS United Kingdom Lid
Rassmore Business Park, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CHE5 3EN, UK.
L+44 (0)151 3506666 - Www.5gs com

in OF MULTILy

Chooss skbar Sy,

Certificate GB09/79537, continued
SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

I1SO 45001:2018

Issue 28

The sampling and laboratory analysis of and reporting on waters, waste waters and organic wastes.

Provision of lce pigging, chiorination and specialist pipe services

The calecton, ransport soting, separaton, rsaiment, recycing, recovery end disposal of contrlled wasle
including municipal, (including and difficult waste)

The collection and transport of controlled waste including household, municipal, commercial and industrial
waste (including hazardous and difficult waste). The operation of logistics depots and vehicle workshops

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste
including household and municipal waste (including hazardous and difficult wasta)

‘The transpor, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling and disposal of controlled waste including
household, municipal, commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The operation of energy frem waste plants
The collection, transport, somng separation, v’zatmw recycllrlg:ji recovery and dlspau uf ounlmﬂed wa)m
ar uding

including municipal,
The operation nrmmanals recycling facilities, hﬂussmld waste recycling facilities, n-ansfarstamns energy
from waste plants, vehicle procurement activities.

The collection, transport, separation, treatment, recydling and recovery of materials for the production of
compost

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, recovery and disposal of wood

The administration functions associated with the collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment,
recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste including household, municipal, commercial and
industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The administration functions associated with the operation of materials recycling facilities, household waste
recydling facilities, composting facilities, wood processing facilities, transfer stations including security
shredding opsrauuns. energy from wasle plants, landfil sites, gas utilisation plants, logistics depols, vehicle
activities.

7]

iR OF MULTIL

UKAS
AL
SSiEn

‘appasance ol Fis doruml s ulewds.

Poge2i24

Page 57

25




MID KENT REPORT 2024-2025 » APPENDIX

Certification

legal compliance

Certificate GB94/3233

The management system of

SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

UK Head Office SUEZ House, Grenfell Road Maidenhead, Berkshire SL6 1ES United Kingdom
has been assessed and certified as meeting the requirements of
1SO 9001:2015

For the following activities
The Scope of Registration appears on page 2 of this certificate

Issue 58, Certified since 12 May 1934
Gentified activities performed by addiional sites are listed on subsequent pages.

(. Moran

Ruthorised by

Liz Moran

Business Manager

SGS United Kingdom Ltd

Rossmore Business Park, Ellesmere Port, Cheshre, CHES 3EN, UK
144 (0)151 3506668 - www.s5.com

©

¥ _SGS

This certificate is valid from 13 March 2025 until 27 September 2025 and remains valid subject to satisfactory surveillance
audits. f»

Gieer

aspaarines of i dcment s A

Pags 1/24

Certificate GB94/3233, continued
SUEZ Recycling and Recovery UK
Ltd

1SO 9001:2015

Issue 58
The sampling and laboratory analysis of and reporting on waters, waste waters and organic wastes.
Provision of Ice pigging, chlorination and specialist pipe services

The collection, transport, sorting, separalion, trealment, recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste
including household, municipal, commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste)

The collection and iransport of coniralled waste including household, municipal, commercial and industrial
waste (including hazardous and difficult waste). The operation of logistics depots and vehicle

The collection, transpert, sorting, separation, trealment, recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste
including household and municipal waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The transport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling and disposal of controlled waste including
household, municipal, commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

The operation of energy from waste plants

nsport, sorting, separation, treatment, recycling, recovery and disposal of controlled waste
imiudlng heusehold municipal, commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).
The operation of materials recydlng Vanlmes household waste rel:yl:ing fndlill-s.transier stations, energy
from waste plants, logistics depots, vehi 10 activities.

The collection, transport, separation, treatment, recycling and recovery of materials for the production of
compost

The collection, transport, sorting, separation, trealment, recycling, recovery and disposal of wood

The administration functions associated with the collection, transport, sorting, separation, treatment,
recycling, recovery and dispesal of controlled waste including household, municipal, commercial and
industrial waste (including hazardous and difficult waste).

i funct wlthlhs tion of malerials recycling facilities, household waste
rsc‘ydlng facilities, composting facilities, procossmg facilities, transfer stations including security
shredding operations, energy from waste plants, landfill sites, gas utilisation plants, logistics depots, vehicle
workshops and associated procurement activiies.

©

YIRS
SGS R

§

appessarce of is dorument s koL @

Poge2i24

26

Page 58




SECTION

01

02 03 04 05

Page 59

27




@) suez

SUEZ recycling and recovery UK
SUEZ House, Grenfell Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire SL6 1ES

www.suez.co.uk

X @suezuk ﬁfacebook.com/suezukofficial

Page 60


http://www.suez.co.uk
http://twitter.com/suezuk
https://facebook.com/suezukofficial

Agenda Iltem 6

Environmental Services and Climate Change Committee
Meeting Date 10" July 2025
Report Title Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) -
public consultation
EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and
Neighbourhoods
Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure
Lead Officer Michelle Anderson, Active Travel Officer
Classification Open
Recommendations 1. To agree to proceed to public consultation for the
Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure
Plan (LCWIP).
1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1  This report explains the methodology used to create the draft Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) and show the advantages of having one in
place.

1.2  To share the Swale LCWIP executive summary which sets out the proposed
priority routes that will form the basis of the proposed public consultation.

1.3  To share the full LCWIP report.

1.4  To gain agreement to proceed to public consultation.

2 Background

2.1 LCWIPs are evidence-led, long-term plans to identify cycling, walking, and
wheeling improvements. By developing a Swale-wide LCWIP, we will be able to
take an informed network-based approach to planning and delivering these
improvements.

2.2 Itis important to note that Faversham already has an existing agreed LCWIP
which has been led by Faversham Town Council. As a result, this paper and plan
is focused on the other two main residential areas in the borough; Sheppey and
Sittingbourne but the overall document covers all 3 urban areas to bring the
whole Borough into one place.

2.3  There are many advantages to having an agreed LCWIP for Swale. These
include the following:

Page 61



Health and Well-being:

» An LCWIP will encourage more people to walk and cycle for everyday
journeys. In turn, this will lead to increased physical activity and improved
health.

» This can help reduce obesity, lower the risk of chronic diseases, and
improve mental health.

Environmental Benefits:

» By reducing car dependency through walking and cycling, it will help to
improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions. This will contribute to a
healthier environment for all residents and visitors to the borough.

» LCWIPs can also support the development of green infrastructure, creating
more pleasant and attractive spaces.

Economic Benefits:

» Investing in the cycling and walking infrastructure can stimulate local
economies by attracting tourists and businesses. It can lead to an
increased footfall in town centres and boost the local economy.

» Safe and convenient cycling and walking routes can also help reduce
congestion, making it easier and faster to travel.

» Evidence suggests that switching to active travel for short motor vehicle
trips could save £17bn in NHS costs (nationally) over a 20-year period,
with benefits being accrued within 2 years for some conditions. The largest
cost savings would come through reductions in the expected number of
cases of type 2 diabetes (annual cost to NHS from diabetes is £9bn). !

» LCWIPs ensure that cycling and walking are accessible to all, including
those with disabilities, and that routes are well-connected to other forms of
transport. This can improve access to jobs, schools, shops, and other
amenities, making it easier for people to get around.

» A local agreed LCWIP allows Swale Borough Council to be in a better
position to bid for active travel funding in the future.

Enhanced Quality of Life:

» Safe, well-maintained walking and cycling routes can create more vibrant
and attractive neighbourhoods.

» They can also help reduce traffic noise and congestion, making areas
more pleasant and enjoyable to live in.

! Jarrett J, Woodcock J, Griffiths U et al (2012) Effects of increasing active travel in urban England
and Wales on costs to the National Health Service. The Lancet, 379: 2198-2205

Page 62

2



A platform for other projects

» An LCWIP can help other local projects to gain support. For example, the
Sheppey Light Railway Greenway project could gain greater support and
funding with the adoption of a Swale LCWIP.

In essence, LCWIPs provide a comprehensive approach to improving the lives of
residents by promoting active transport, enhancing the environment, and boosting the
local economy.

2.4  The Active Travel Officer has been working with consultants, AECOM, over the
last 6-8 months to merge the two draft LCWIPs for Sittingbourne and Sheppey
into one and to also create a more succinct and user-friendly executive summary
(see below attachment).

2.5 The consultants have spent many months collecting data and conducting the
necessary analysis required to determine the primary routes selected for this
LCWIP. This included:

Population information and demographics.
Employment density.
Car availability per household.

vV V V VY

Trip generators and attractions (both now and looking ahead at future
planned developments).

A\

Areas of deprivation in the borough.

A\

The existing and future active travel network including public transport
links and availability.

» The highway network.

A\

Travel patterns within the borough.
» The topography of the borough to highlight any physical constraints.

2.6  Well established software was also used to look at the propensity to cycle in the
borough and visum flows (a tool to see how future travel is likely to change based
on the background population growth, the completion of new developments, and
all other growth factors considered in the transport model).

2.7 From the data gathered, analysis then took place to understand which key cycling
and walking routes should be included in the LCWIP. The key origins and
destinations of journeys, their associated desire lines and how often they are
likely to be used were all determined. This then allowed us to classify those
routes into primary routes (high flow), secondary routes (medium flow) and local

3
Page 63



2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

3.1

4.1

4.2

4.3

routes (low flow). This was done for both cycling and walking for both areas to
give the 17 cycling routes and 24 walking routes that are proposed to go to public
consultation.

Stakeholder engagement has been undertaken during this process and the
feedback has been included in the main LCWIP document on page 85. The KCC
Active Travel Co-ordinator has also been engaged in this process.

To improve the cycling and walking infrastructure for the borough, we must
secure funding for both the necessary design work for the routes as well as for
the infrastructure itself. Active Travel England is the primary source of funding for
active travel, and, without an LCWIP, it is unlikely that Swale Borough Council will
gain any funding to complete these activities.

Swale Borough Council is in a very good position within Kent with a full-time,
dedicated active travel officer in post. What it is lacking, however, is a local
LCWIP which is essential to gain the funding and drive the improvements
forward.

Funds have already been secured from the Capability Fund for the work
completed to date and for the proposed public consultation.

Proposals

The proposal is to proceed to public consultation for the Swale LCWIP. Itis
proposed that this will take place in September 2025 and will be hosted on the
consultant’s platform.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

To keep two separate LCWIPs (Sheppey Towns and Sittingbourne) and run two
separate consultation processes. This was rejected as it would involve too much
duplication and would not be efficient both in terms of finances and time.

To not have a local LCWIP at all. This was rejected as it would severely
jeopardise our position to be able to secure future funding for any active travel
improvements within the borough.

To implement a local LCWIP without going through public consultation. This has
been rejected as it is important to remain engaged with residents and gain their
valuable local knowledge in decision making and plans. Resident involvement
and approval of the routes will ensure they are better utilised when installed.

Page 64



5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

KCC’s Active Travel Co-ordinator has been fully engaged throughout this process
and is supportive of this plan.

It is proposed that the consultation will run for 8 weeks, starting in September
2025 and will be hosted on the consultant’s platform. The purpose of the
consultation is to gain the views of local residents and organisations on the
proposed routes within the LCWIIP. All comments and feedback will be analysed
and considered in the final report.

Consultation will be on-line, but it is proposed that some static stands will be
available in the borough for residents to be able to view paper copies of the
reports and maps available. The Active Travel Officer will also be available to
attend Area Committee meetings, parish and town council meetings or other
meetings as necessary to present an overview of the plan.

Social media will be used to promote the consultation alongside links on our
website.

Implications

Issue Implications

Corporate Plan The creation of an LCWIP supports the ‘Environment priority’

within the Corporate Plan; “To provide a cleaner, healthier, more
sustainable and enjoyable environment, and to prepare our
borough for the challenges ahead.” It also supports the section
which states Swale Borough Council will: “Form partnerships with
key stakeholders to ensure we champion active travel
opportunities.”

Financial, To finalise the Swale LCWIP, funding is already in place.
Resource and

Property

Each of the interventions mentioned in the LCWIP will require
detailed design and feasibility work to be undertaken. To secure
future funding to implement interventions agreed in the LCWIP, it is
anticipated that Active Travel England and KCC will be the two
main funding streams in the future, but it is likely that an agreed
LCWIP will be one of the criteria for this funding.

Legal, Statutory The development of the LCWIP has followed national guidelines to
and Procurement | ensure it is robust and deliverable.

Crime and N/A
Disorder

Page 65




Environment and
Climate/Ecological

By having an agreed LCWIP and implementing interventions, the
long-term environmental and climate impact will be positive for all

Emergency residents and the Borough as a whole.
Health and There are numerous health and wellbeing advantages to
Wellbeing encouraging more active travel and these are well documented on

the Active Travel England websites.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

N/A

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

The primary risks are associated with securing the funding from
Active Travel England (via KCC) for future financial years.
However, active travel is becoming more prevalent on the
Government’s agenda and the relatively recent creation of Active
Travel England also indicates that funding is set to continue in
future years.

Equality and
Diversity

The LCWIP will incorporate all forms of active travel including
wheeling — i.e. wheelchairs and mobility scooters as well as
walking and cycling.

Privacy and Data
Protection

The privacy and data protection team have been consulted on the
wording required for the public consultation and have also
reviewed the proposed question set.

7 Appendices

7.1

The Swale LCWIP Executive Summary report and full LCWIP report.

8 Background Documents

None

Page 66




AZCOM B
&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

Executive Summary

Swale Borough Council

May 2025



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Introduction

Active travel, which comprises walking, wheeling and cycling, is
becoming increasingly important as challenges around climate
change become more pressing and the demand for active travel
solutions grows. Investment in cycling and walking can have wider
positive impacts on people and places, making roads quieter and
safer, improving air quality, improving physical and mental wellbeing
and creating attractive places for people to live.

LCWIPs aim to both encourage and facilitate the modal shift
away from motorised vehicles to more active modes, transforming
areas in ways which support active travel, reduce congestion,
support local economies and improve physical and mental
I@blth in line with sustainable visions at a local to a national level.

oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo

('D:
@ LCWIPs outline a “strategic approach to identifying cycling
°° and walking improvements required at a local level”.

ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo

Policy Context
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy

In 2017, the Department for Transport (DfT) published their first
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS). The aim of
this was to encourage cycling, walking and wheeling to become a
key mode of travel for shorter journeys or as a stage of a longer
journey by delivering better safety, mobility and streets. In 2021, the
Government announced the second CWIS which reflects new active
travel policies, financial investment into active travel in England and
performance monitoring against both the first and second CWIS
objectives. Alongside the CWIS, the DfT published practical,
strategic guidance on developing Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for local bodies.

Integrating outputs into local planning
and transport policies, strategies, and

AECOM

The LCWIP Process Includes...

Q Defining the geographic scope of the

'Il LCWIP

Gathering information on current
cycling and walking patterns and
review relevant transportation and
land use policies.

Identifying origin and destination
points and cycle flows. Convert flows

into a network of routes and identify
improvements.

Identifying key trip generators and
walking and wheeling zones.
Creating a network of routes and

improvements
_ Prioritising proposed routes and
[:gt] improvements to develop a prioritized
@ programme of delivery

delivery plans.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Introduction

Gear Change: A bold Vision for Cycling and Walking

Gear change describes the vision to make England a great
walking and cycling nation. One of its aims is for half of all
journeys in towns and cities being cycled or walked by 2030.

The Transport Decarbonisation Plan

The Transport Decarbonisation Plan sets out the government’s
commitments and the actions needed to decarbonize the entire
transport system in the UK. The first strategic priority it sets is
“Accelerating modal shift to public and active transport [making
tb@m] the natural first choice for our daily activities”.

L;é; (i
Lecal Transport Note 1/20 I AN:::LIA i

T“hje Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) for cycle
infrastructure design establishes five design principles for active
travel networks and their routes: cohesion, directness, safety,
comfort, attractiveness.

- C e

A MEZEBAR

- LAC A

The Inclusive Mobility Guidance

Inclusive Mobility is the government’s guide to best practice on
improving access to public transport and creating a barrier-free
pedestrian environment. Creating and maintaining accessible
public realm is crucial for ensuring that disabled people are not
excluded from playing a full role in society.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Determining Scope

A=COM
PROJECY
Swale Local Cycling and
Waking In
CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

Study Area

Swale is one of the 12 districts in Kent, it is
bounded by Medway, Canterbury, Ashford
and Maidstone. The LCWIP study area is
covering the whole of Swale.

CONSULTANT
AE

LEGEND

Given the importance of encompassing both

rural and urban areas as well as connections

between key settlement clusters, additional

smaller-scale study areas have been identified

ghin Swale as shown in Figure 1:
tingbourne, Faversham, Sheppey towns

(9]

agp rural Swale.

o

NOTES

Figure 1: Study Area - Swale

oooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo
.

Swale LCWIP Approach

The aim of this integrated Swale LCWIP is to build on existing active travel work and merge several local LCWIPs into a single borough- wide
plan. It addresses gaps in the proposed network and suggests new routes to close them, presenting a coherent active travel network to
support future funding bids. Specifically, it incorporates the existing Faversham LCWIP (developed by Faversham Town Council) and the
draft Sheppey Towns LCWIP (developed by WSP), and identifies walking and cycling routes in other areas of Swale, including Sittingbourne
and rural parts of the borough. It also aligns with the KCWIP by proposing several cross-border routes that connect Swale with the wider Kent
network.

As the Faversham LCWIP and KCWIP routes have already undergone public consultation, the upcoming consultation for the Swale LCWIP
will focus on all other active travel routes.



https://favershamtowncouncil.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Faversham-LCWIP-Sep-24-clean.pdf

Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Gathering Information

During Stage 2 of the Swale LCWIP, a
comprehensive review was undertaken of the
local area context to understand the existing
and future active travel provision, Swale’s
demographics and any barriers to active
travel, as summarised below:

Swale is bounded by Medway,
Canterbury, Ashford and Maidstone.
According to the 2021 Census,
Swale’s population is around 151,700 -
an increase of 11.7% since the 2011
Census

abed

Swale has high employment density

r in Sittingbourne, Faversham and the
Sheppey Towns. Swale has large
disparities in levels of deprivation,
from prosperous parts of Faversham to
pockets of deprivation on the Isle of
Sheppey such as Sheerness and
Queenborough, which are some of the
most deprived wards in England.

The spatial redistribution of people
towards urban areas results in pockets
of low car dependency in towns and
higher car dependency in rural
areas. There are a number of

committed developments across
Swale, largely located on the urban
peripheries of Sittingbourne and
Faversham and the Isle of Sheppey.

The walking network across Swale is
diverse in terms of the network

—— density and quality. Whilst there are

significant network gaps on the Isle
of Sheppey and across rural Swale,
there are several well-established
and signposted longer and shorter
walking routes. There are also more
dedicated walking facilities in the
urban areas of Sittingbourne and
Faversham.

The existing cycling network across
Swale is largely comprised of the
National Cycle Network (NCN),
which offers some inter-urban
connectivity across Swale. There is
also a network of cycling
infrastructure across Swale, however
this is sparse, fragmented and
substandard in some locations.
Additionally, it is mainly located within
Sittingbourne, with notable gaps in

rural areas.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

[1] The AA Charitable Trust, https:/
www.theaa.com/about-us/newsroom/rural-
roads

Gathering Information

Swale’s rail network offers direct links sites, such as the HMP Sheppey
@ from Sittingbourne and Faversham to Cluster on the Isle of Sheppey whilst

St Pancras, Victoria and Charing rural Swale has fewer trip generators

Cross with 5 services per hour in peak and attractors.

times. The bus network, is

concentrated around urban areas and

in rural areas, it is more unreliable 1l The proposed active travel

and infrequent. E@ schemes, studies or audits which

have been undertaken across Swale
include: Sustrans Sheppey Audit,

mSwale is bounded north-south and Faversham Town Audit, Swale
east-west by some of the most Cycling and Walking Framework
g dangerous rural roads [1], which are Consultation, Active Travel 4
@ typically associated with high vehicle Proposals, Kent Local Walking and
Ny speeds, a high number of road Cycling Infrastructure Plan,
accidents and are key indicators of Faversham LCWIP, Faversham to
community severance. Teynham Quietway, the Sheppey

Light Railway Greenway Route and

the Sheppey Towns LCWIP.
7'|_||'| The potential for modal shift is
n

indicated by the Propensity to Cycle

Tool which shows that there is low To better understand the perception
levels of cycling between towns on the ——) of the existing network and active
Isle of Sheppey and also between ?’ travel facilities, information was
Sittingbourne and Faversham. gathered through the online ‘Widen

My Path’ tool and the ‘Your
Everyday Trips’ survey which was

Sittingbourne, Faversham and the Isle undertaken in 2022. These tools help
of Sheppey have a high number of to  understand  barriers  and
key trip generators and attractors, opportunities for active travel in
with a number of major employment Swale.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Additional Information

Sheppey Light Railway
Greenway Route

The SLRG Group was formed by Islanders in
2022 to promote a safe walking, wheeling
and cycling route, or Greenway, across the
Isle of Sheppey, inspired by the path of the
disused Sheppey Light Railway. The
ambition is to better connect communities by
giving people the choice to travel across the
island under their own steam.

A3Xkhown in Figure 2, the Greenway connects

sdown, Bay View, Eastchurch,
B%mbledown, Minster on Sea, Halfway,
Speerness and Queenborough.
The volunteer-led project has gathered

support from local residents, businesses,
town & parish councils, Swale Borough
Council and Kent County Council. With
landowner support, the Group’s volunteers
have already improved part of the route
between Power Station Road and Scrapsgate.
An example of the work which the Group is
doing can be seen in Figure 3.

The SLRG route is visible on the LCWIP
consultation map in black. It connects with
the proposed active travel networks across
the Sheppey towns.

Please feel free to include feedback on the
SLRG route as part of this public
consultation.

Much of the Group’s time is focussed on _ -~

negotiating with all the landowners along
the proposed route, which wherever possible,
follows the former railway.

Figure 2: Sheppey Light Railway Greenway Route

AECOM

7 | S

Figure 3: Sheppey Light Railway Greenway
Source: Sheppey Light Railway Greenway Group




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

Introduction

The evidence gathered in Stage 2 informed the
identification of potential cycling infrastructure
improvements and key cycle routes.

Figure 4 shows an overview of the Network
Planning for Cycling stage of the LCWIP, as
outlined in the DfT’s LCWIP Guidance.

The routes emerged from comprehensive data
analysis and were informed by various data
segrces as detailed in previous sections of this
r@ort. Stakeholder engagement was undertaken
tapgather real-world opinions on the identified

ngﬁNorks.

Alignment decisions considered the existing and
forthcoming active travel network, local
conditions such as gradient, terrain and cycling
accessibility were also factored into the route
selection, ensuring they achieve the core design
outcomes of being coherent, direct, safe,
comfortable, and attractive. High-level
interventions along the final cycling routes are
presented at the end of this section.

The proposed Swale LCWIP cycling network is
presented in Figures 5to 7.

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix A

D > X > (U]

Identifying and Establishing desire Planning the cycling
clustering key trip lines to represent network and
origin and movements identifying
destination points between clusters improvements

Figure 4: Summary of Cycling Network Generation Stages




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Want more information?

Network Planning for Cycling

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale LCWIP Routes

= CR1- Kemsley to Faversham
CR2 - Kemsley to South
Sittingbourne
CR3 - Grove Parkto South
Sittingbourne
CR4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheemness
CR& - Sittingbourne to
Eurolink Business Park
CR6 - Grove Parkto Eurolink
Business Park
CRT - Ilwade to Bapchild
CRS - Sittingbourne to
Rainham

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
to Queenborough Road
(A2500)

Fngs.
Furitan Hill Farm
Factory

Tile MoakF & =
Barlksore Coltages

e A Orehard Fam Culivets
Callm Farm %, Coitage:

£ ass:
SShi Culnets Fam

Farny

CambiayCottages
Bl ackbarry 3

Fanmm A ol

Norwood Farm

HighCak
Hil
Faim

Littla
hrston

Miltor - o - Tonge Comer

-“Regis

G, abed

Wilford
Court Farm
Cheke's Court

Cokd Harbour
Tormiy L
A

N & T ==Bobbing

Murston

CRE

IR et Bunces Fam

——— L —=—LomasRd=F Litile
— Fragnal
Snipeshil | Orchg o Fam

|7 Old
Fackhouse

Orchard Cottagas =G5

% gofe Fam

Bagchild —
RAdH S —

Bordbi g

~CR3 )

Eyehom 2
Hateh Faim i
Harman's Comer Haywood Cotiages

Lt L]
Dully Cottages i

Jad-Strast

toc New Coltages

Dast Cottages
. ; = _led? / e Rodmgfeham SHEC I T I
$ / / o || & DulyHdse 079 50.25F 815 A 1.5 caters 27 H
/ o 7 /" Conigis O date © Cion)/Copyright and databes e right 202(F
e 7 cale

C_sumon Hearts
Baron- Delight
Fam =

NOTES

Contains OS5 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 5: Identified Cycling Network - Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Want more information?

Network Planning for Cycling

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www aecom com

LEGEND

Sheppey Light Railway
Greenway Route
Swale LCWIP Routes
= CR1 - Kemsley to Faversham
CR2 - Kemsley to South
= Sittingbourne
CR4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheemess
= CRT - lwade to Bapchild
Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes
CWR1 - Brielle Wayto
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
= to Queenborough Road

9/ abed

Ji (A2500)
g ;{"rf’ £ — CWR4 - Halfway Houses to
Isle of Sheppey | 4 S Sheemess
\ CWR5 - Queenborough to
Minster

CWRE - Sheerness-on-Sea
Railway Station to Minster

= CWRT - Power Station Road

CWR3S - Main Road (B2007) to
Minster Road

e CVWRY - The Broadway

CWR10 - Sheppey Town
Centre

NOTES

38 E
peseright 20208  Contains OS5 Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 6: Identified Cycling Network - Sheppey Towns




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

/] abed

Whitste bie Bay

~CR1T—

- T .

1 2 4 6 8
Contsins ©F dsta © Crown Copyright and dstabas e right 20

=7

Figure 7: Identified Cycling Network - Rural Swale

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw.aecom.com

LEGEND

= Faversham LCWIP Routes
Swale LCWIP Routes
= CR1- Kemsley to Faversham
CR2 - Kemsley to South
Sittingbourne
CR3 - Grove Parkto South
Sittingbourne
CR4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheemess
CRS - Sittingbourne to
Eurolink Business Park
CR6 - Grove Parkto Euralink

Business Park
CR7 - lwade to Bapchild

CRS - Sittingbourne to
Rainham

CRY - Favershamto
Canterbury

= CR10 - Ashford to Faversham

CR11-Faversham to
Whitstable

= = CR11 -Favershamto
Whitstable (alignment TBC)

NOTES

Contains 05 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Want more information?

Network Planning for Cycling

Please see Appendix A

Identlfylng Interventions options are all important considerations. the detailed route maps and interventions can
Proposed interventions were identified through An example cycling route along with the be seen in Appendix X to Appendix X.

a comprehensive desktop analysis (and route proposed interventions can be seen in Figure

audits for the Sheppey Towns LCWIP routes). 8. The final network of planned/ proposed

Proposed cycling interventions included: cycling routes can be seen in Figure 9 and

o Improving route continuity, overcoming A
barriers and severance

c

J Installation of new and improved N
crossings for cyclists e
. g-? Provision of segregated cycle lanes (or ;
% introduction of segregation to existing $
a facilites) | RN L — / 2w - 3
. Introduction of speed limit reductions, L“"“" The Brasdway Bus Stops bt ;
traffic calming and other measures to - ks o (@)
reduce motor traffic speed and e
dominance and promote a more airgide caing onnsy. | |IB
comfortable cycling environment,and ¥
The Broadway Paving
o The installation of improved wayfinding puving slong rosd. Resrtace. | Al
and signage and enhanced street conditon to maintain s continu
lighting. @ N :
It is important to note that these are high-level The Broadway Parking Restrictions ©
interventions and further study and a greater mplementing esrcions dong [T
level of investigation and assessment is
required prior to design, consultation and @ — = bk comationt
implementation. The deliverability in terms of - - = s P

constraints, risks and costs for multiple L L !
Figure 8: Identified Cycling Improvements Along CR1




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

Herne Bay

CR9
ﬁ Canterbury

Legend (Cont.)
CWR?7 - Power Station Road
e CWRS - M ain Road (B2007) to Minster Road
e CWRO - The Broadway
CWR10 - Sheppey Town Centre

Planned/ Proposed Schemes

Sl
CWR10
3 7 CWRE,
| CWR1
) SCRG Route
24
'
hath am
The Whitstable G
= CR117
KCWIP Sittingbourne i)
"2 =, to Faversham Route X
CR1 S,
a N\
-U z } Faversham
f Eyp 2 L CWIP Routy
g_) KCWIP Maidstone to e g ooutss
@ Sittingboiirne Route ~
D T Py
O
@J g CR10
Maids 100
14}
H g
2 fiford
K. ©
o 0

125025 5 75 10

Contains OS dsta ® Crown Copyright and datsbas e right 20248

Figure 9: Identified Cycling Network for Public Engagement

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale LCWIP Routes

e CR1 - Kemsley to Faversham
CR2 - Kemsley to South
Sittingbourne
CR3 - Grove Park to South
Sittingbourne

. CR4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheemess
CR5 - Sittingbourne to
Eurolink Business Park
CR6 - Grove Park to Eurolink
Business Park

=== CR7 - Iwade to Bapchild
CRS8 - Sittingbourne to
Rainham
CR9 - Favershamto
Canterbury

= CR10 - Ashford to Faversham
CR11 - Faversham to
Whitstable

_ — CR1-Favershamto
Whitstable (alignment TBC)

Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes
CWR1 - Brielle Way to
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade
CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
to Queenborough Road
(A2500)
CWRA4 - Halfway Houses to
Sheemess
CWRS - Queenborough to
Minster
CWR6 - Sheemess-on-Sea

Railway Station to Minster
NOTES

Contains OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

Introduction

This section outlines the steps followed to map
the future walking and wheeling network, as
defined by the DfT Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plans guidance, and shown in
Figure 10. This process incorporated current and
future trip generators, walking patterns, the
existing and planned active travel network,
and feedback from key stakeholders.

This section uses the phrase ‘walking and
w&eling’. Sustrans defines this as “representing
t% action of moving at a pedestrian’s pace,
whgther or not someone is standing or sitting,
wealking or wheeling unaided or using any kind of
aid to mobility, including walking aids, wheeled
aids, personal assistants or support animals.”

The walking and wheeling routes aim to
encourage short trips to be made on foot rather
than by car. The routes were developed from
various data sources and stakeholder
engagement was undertaken to help identify local
daily travel needs or barriers to walking and
wheeling to ultimately define the final network.
High-level interventions along the final walking
and wheeling routes are presented at the end of
this section.

The Swale LCWIP walking and wheeling network
is presented in Figure 11 and Figure 12.

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix B

> A

Identifying key trip Identifying core walk- Establishing walking
generators ing and wheeling and wheeling
ol interventions

Figure 10: Summary of Walking and Wheeling Network Generation Stages




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix X

Funton
=Faclor

Lifle Crchaid Fam
lallum Farm ;

Cul nellstFarm

>arnbe ay: Cottages
Blackbéin
Fam

{Litte
Nonwsiod Eam._,_ Litle

urston

T8 obed

wre F anm Bapchid: §/

ardBni 4
Porid House 1Tl
Eyehomi” f

| Cottages

Haywon

HatchFam

Harman's Comer

= “SLittle

Tunstall. e}

Oast Coitages

Fam = S A

Redmersham

|
Fiighsted,

End Farm

g
Hil Farmn

Tonge Comern

Chekes Court

Eunces Fam

Dully Cottages

MNew Coltages

Dully Hease

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw_aecom . com

LEGEND

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
to Queenborough Road
(A2500)

WRZ - Sittingbourne Station to
SW Developments

WR3 - Sittingbourne Station to
East Sittingbourne

WR4 - Sittingbourne Station to
Eurolink Business Park

WR5 - Central Sittingbourne to
" East Sittingbourne

— WRE - SW Developments to
South Sittingbourne

WRY - South Sittingbourne to
Milton Creek Country Park

WRE - Kemsley to Eurolink
Business Park

WRY - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

— WR 10 - Kemsley to lwade

WR10 - Kemsley to lwade
{alignment TBC})

WR11 - Kemsley to
Sittingbourne Station

WR12 - Morth to South
Murston

= VWR13 - West Sittingbourne

WR14 - lwade to Swale
Station

Caun Farm

Congery

Stona Chin
E

Littie
Frognal
TRt Farm

= Barow Greer

Radfield

Leat Bungalow

Jeffes

Sunderland
f: Fagh

NOTES

|
/0 0275 22

0 11 1.65 Sy, 2.
Contains©F dita @ Crown Copyright afid dalabas e righ 202X Contains 05 Data @ Crown

Figure 11: Identified Walking and Wheeling Network - Sittingbourne

Copyright and database right 2020




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

/7

Isie of Sheﬁ‘péy

Figure 12: Identified Walking and Wheeling Network - Isle of Sheppey

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW._AECom _com

LEGEND

Sheppey Light Railway
Greenway Route
Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes
CWR1 - Brielle Wayto
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
= to Queenborough Road
(A2500)

CWR4 - Halfway Houses to
Sheemess

CWRS - Queenborough to
Minster

CWRE - Sheerness-on-Sea
Raitway Station to Minster

= CWRT - Power Station Road
CWRE - Main Road (B2007) to
Minster Road

= CWRS - The Broadway
CWR10 - Sheppey Town
Centre

Swale LCWIP Routes

= WR1 - Shellness to Warden

. WRE - Kemsley to Eurolink
Business Park

WRY - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

= WR10 - Kemsley to lwade

_ VWR10 - Kemsley to Iwade
(alignment TBC)

WR11 - Kemsley to
Sittingbourne Station

WR14 - lwade to Swale
Station

NOTES

Centains 05 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

Identifying Interventions

Proposed interventions were identified
through a comprehensive desktop analysis
and route audits for the Sheppey Towns
LCWIP routes. Proposed walking and
wheeling interventions included:

. Improving route continuity and level
of provision, including overcoming
barriers and severance to pedestrian
movement along the identified routes

Installation of new and improved
pedestrian crossings, including
upgrading uncontrolled crossings to
controlled crossings and introducing
pedestrian priority at key locations, and

cg abed

. Implementation of an
wayfinding system.

appropriate

An example walking and wheeling route
along with the proposed interventions can be
seen in Figure 13. The final network of
planned/ proposed walking and wheeling
routes can be seen in Figure 14 and the
detailed route maps and interventions can be
seen in Appendix X to Appendix X.

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix B

Bcbbing

nd House

I A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
H \Walking Infrastructure Plan
H cLENT

l| Swale Borough Council
| CONSULTANT

H AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

i 10 Bricket Road

H StAlbans, AL13JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

H LEGEND

Chalkwell

H [ study Avea
2 Route 2 - Sittingbourne Station
- i Improve : to SW Developments
Widen?/,, Tiahten radii - FeviindnoNe il @ Walking Interventions
pavement and add raised A =
crossing X
to2m =

Pavement decluttering &

Tighten radii and Implement junction improvements
add raised crossing . raised crossing for pedestrians,
.&s; Tighten radii
Inseal and add raised
aossmg Widen
pavement

to 2m Install zebra crossing to replace
dropped Kerb crossing

zebra crossing
Implement
traffic calming
Tighten radii and
add raised crossing

through the
planned development .\.,.
as necessary ,mnmve ighting Tlghlen radii / N ‘.
Orchard and paving to~ and add raised. \

Improve lighting
and wayfinding

Install dropped kerb
and tactile paving on

Gotage improve safety. i
both sides of the road

Cut shrubbery back Widen p"’"e"‘e"t
to2m Install dropped kerb,
raised crossing and
tactile paving on both
sides of the road

Junction |mprovema|ts
toimprove pedestrian
priority & safety

i in i NOTES
/o 0075015 03 045 i

iats © Crown Copyright and datsbas e right 202088

Contains 0S Data ® Crown
Copyrightand database right 2020

Figure 13:

Identified Walking and Wheeling Improvements Along WR2



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

Wallend

78 abed

CWR1

pey N

Whitsteble Bay

Legend (Cont.)
pee CWR4 - Halfway Houses to Sheerness
=== CWRS5 - Queenborough to Minster
p=— CWR6 - Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster,
pe—= CWR7 - Power Station Road
pe: CWRS - M ain Road (B2007) to Minster Road
pee CWRO - The Broadway
CWR10 - Sheppey Town Centre
KCWIP Walking Zone 2km Catchment
—— Planned/ Proposed Schemes

0 075 1.5

45 6 K
Contains OS dsta/® Crown Copyright and datsbase right 20208

Figure 14: Identified Walking and Wheeling Network for Public Engagement

AECOM

Want more information?

Please see Appendix X

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale LCWIP Routes

== WR1 - Shellness to Warden
WR2 - Sittingbourne Station to
SW Developments

_ VWR3 - Sittingbourne Station to
East Sittingbourne
WR4 - Sittingbourne Station to
Eurolink Business Park
WR5 - Central Sittingbourne to
East Sittingbourne
WR6 - SW Developments to
South Sittingbourne
WRY7 - South Sittingbourne to
Milton Creek Country Park
WRS - Kemsley to Eurolink
Business Park
WR9 - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

= \WR10 - Kemsley to lwade

. WR10 - Kemsley to lwade

(alignment TBC)
WR11 - Kemsley to
Sittingbourne Station
WR12 - North to South
Murston

= WR13 - West Sittingbourne

WR14 - lwade to Swale

Station

Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes
CWR1 - Brielle Way to
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
to Queenborough Road

(A2500
NOTéS :

Contains OS Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

At the next stage, public consultation will be
conducted to ensure the proposed networks
address the needs and concerns of local
residents, the future users.

For the realistic and practical implementation
of the plan, the walking and cycling routes
will be assessed and prioritised based on
policy, strategy, deliverability and financial
priorities. The result of this process will
suggest which routes should be prioritised in
order to achieve the most benefits.

Gg obed

AECOM




&) Swale

BOROUGH COUNCIL

A=COM .k



Appendix A - Network Planning for
Cycling - Methodology



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

Key Origins and
Destinations

To identify the potential demand across the
proposed cycling network, key origin and
destination points across Swale were
mapped. This mapping was based on data
collected during the Information Gathering
stage, specifically the locations of key trip
attractors and generators.

[g;esire Lines

D%sire lines in this context are indicative
liRks between origin and destination clusters
that reflect the “desire” of the local population
to travel between two locations. These desire
lines do not connect to existing infrastructure,
nor do they reflect the proposed routes.

The identification of desire lines was an
iterative process undertaken overlaying data
from the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT),
2011 Census Travel to Work data, and
traffic model (VISUM) 2019 flows. Additional
cross-border desire lines which were identified
as significant to the county-wide network
(KCWIP) as part of the analysis were also
included in the desire line identification.

Desire Line Classification

The relative importance of each desire line to
the wider network needs to be understood to
assess the potential future number of cyclists
they could serve. Desire lines were classified
as based on the following characteristics:

. Primary: High flows of cyclists are
forecast along desire lines that link
large residential areas to trip attractors
such as a town or city centre.

. Secondary: Medium flows of cyclists
are forecast along desire lines that link
to trip attractors such as schools,
colleges, and employment sites.

. Local: Lower flows of cyclists are
forecast along desire lines that cater for
local cycle trips, often providing links to
primary or secondary desire lines.

As can be seen from the above desire line
classifications, the desire line classification
process is deeply rooted in demand. Whilst
demand is an important facet of desire lines,
the geographic scope and objectives of this
LCWIP required the consideration of other
factors to ensure an even balance between
urban and rural areas as well as focusing on
connecting smaller towns into larger
settlements.

AECOM

Classified Desire Lines

As shown in Figure 1, the outputs of the
desire line classification process show
Primary desire lines between Sittingbourne
and Faversham and connecting to the Isle
of Sheppey. There are also several Primary
desire lines connecting the towns on
Sheppey, as well as rural towns outside of
Sittingbourne. The local desire lines, in turn,
represent longer routes that connect to the
primary desire lines.

Desire Lines for Route
Selection

Figure 2 demonstrates the desire lines taken
forward for route selection. Overlapping desire
lines or those with similar origins and
destinations were merged to create a network
of cycling routes which reflect the key
movement corridors highlighted by the desire
lines.

As shown, cross-border KCWIP desire lines
were included, along with the highest scoring
desire lines, to ensure the alignment with the
county-wide network.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

Desire lines in Faversham and the Isle of Sheppey were excluded
from selection since they are part of the Faversham LCWIP and
Sheppey Towns LCWIP respectively.

The focus of the proposed cycling network was on Sittingbourne
and the east-west and north-south movements connecting the town.

The desire lines taken forward for route selection represent
current priorities for SBC. Other desire lines are not discarded for
future analysis but have not been identified as primary at this stage.
This prioritisation is subject to further updates based on changes in
local/national policy or progress towards the identified priority desire
lines.

Rm@ute Selection Process

Ié@ntifying routes for inclusion in the Swale LCWIP was an iterative
pmcess and was one of the most important elements of the LCWIP
pf'gcess. Unlike the desire lines, these routes connect to existing
cycling infrastructure, support existing and future cycle demand, and
accommodate the forecast needs of the local community in moving
between specific areas. At the same time, they achieve the core
design outcomes of being coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and
attractive.

The routes emerged from comprehensive data analysis and were
informed by various data sources as detailed in previous sections of
this report. Alignment decisions considered the existing and
forthcoming active travel network, local conditions such as
gradient, terrain and cycling accessibility were also factored into
the route selection.

Figure 2: Primary Desire Lines for Route Selection

AECOM
A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

StAlbans, ALT 3, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com
LEGEND

) studyArea
P

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Counci

CONSULTANT

“H Aecom Limited

Mariborough Court
tRoad

StAl AL13JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

www.aecom.com

LEGEND

= = KCWIP Swale Desire Lines

NOTES




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Cycling

Stakeholder Engagement
Swale LCWIP

The identified cycling network, shown was
presented to local stakeholders in a
stakeholder engagement session held in
February 2024. The meeting provided a
platform to gather the stakeholders’ opinion on
the identified network.

Overall, the stakeholders welcomed the
identified cycling routes and used their local
k@wledge to make some suggestions such
a$altering the alignment of proposed routes to
n@(e them more attractive to local residents
and receive longer-term support.

The key outcome of this meeting was to
ensure the routes are direct, where possible
avoiding car-dominated or fast roads.

Sheppey Towns LCWIP

A hybrid stakeholder engagement session
was conducted through both in-person and
online workshops on the 18th of October
2023 (as shown in Figure 3). Stakeholders
and Council officers provided direct comments
on the draft network plans. The window for
comment remained active via the online Miro
board until the 27th of October 2023, allowing
for further stakeholder feedback.

The consultation attracted:

. 23 visitors including representatives
from Kent County Council, Parish
Councils, Sheppey Light Railway
Greenway Group, and other local
groups.

. 71 contributions: 69 in-person
stakeholder comments and 2 online
Miro board inputs.

The consultation highlighted several key
issues preventing people from walking or
cycling in the proposed area including the
accessibility issues around the coastal
path and Neptune steps.

Following the identification of the network, a
series of active travel audits took place on
30th November 2023. The 40km network
was cycled and audited by several trained
auditors from WSP and a representative
from Swale Borough Council.

The ATE Route Check Microsoft Form was
completed during the audit, with photos
being taken continuously throughout. The
results of the audit were downloaded and
analysed in Microsoft Excel to determine the
existing level of infrastructure feasibility, to
inform the next concept planning stage.

AECOM

The integrated Swale LCWIP cycling network
is presented for each of the four study areas,
as follows:

. Sittingbourne - identified as part of
this analysis and presented in
Appendix X

. Faversham - identified as part of
Faversham LCWIP and presented in
Appendix X.

. Sheppey Towns - identified as part of
draft Sheppey Towns LCWIP and
presented in Appendix X.

. Rural Swale - identified as part of this
analysis and presented in Appendix X.

Figure 3: Stakeholder Engagement Workshop
Undertaken by WSP on 18th October 2023



Appendix B - Network Planning for
Walking and Wheeling -
Methodology



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking &

Wheeling

Walking and Wheeling Zones

Developing the walking and wheeling network involved mapping the key
trip generators. This stage focuses on the key sites which generate
significant pedestrian demand among the high number of destinations
across Swale. These included:

. Education sites with over 500 pupils
. Town centres

Healthcare sites

Retail sites

26 e°6ed

Employment sites

. Community/ Leisure sites

. Key transport interchanges

. Planned/ committed developments

After identifying and mapping the key trip generators, walking
isochrones representing an approximate 15-minute walk were drawn.
Overlapping isochrones were then used identify areas with the highest
density of key destinations. Core walking zones (CWZ) (400m buffers)
and walking zones (2km buffers) were drawn around areas with multiple
overlapping key destinations. This analysis is shown in Figure 1.

As Figure 2 illustrates, walking and wheeling zones were identified in
Faversham, Sittingbourne, and on the Isle of Sheppey. Only the zones in
Sittingbourne and Leysdown were taken forward to the route selection
process because of the completed/ in progress LCWIPs in Swale.

0 075 16
ortains 05 dats/® féun Copyright s rgnt 2020

Figure 1: Density of Key Trip Attractors - Walking Isochrones

N

Queenborough

| Gunngham

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Counci

CONSULTANT

StAID: L1 30X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.a

LEGEND

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

A=COM

PROJECT

Walking Infra
CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

www. aecom
LEGEND
[ ENEREY

NOTES

Figure 2: Identified Walking and Wheeling Zones



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Network Planning for Walking & Wheeling

Route Selection

Converting the CWZs into routes for inclusion
in LCWIPs is an iterative process and, along
with the route selection for cycling routes, is
one of the most important elements of the
LCWIP process. The objective was to identify
walking and wheeling routes that meet core
design outcomes to create a coherent,
direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive
walking and wheeling network and which
connect to the existing network and key
d@tinations.

'I‘% identified CWZs and the existing walking
ard wheeling infrastructure serving them
within the 2km buffer zones, were taken into
consideration to identify walking and wheeling
routes that would bridge gaps in the existing
network and create a continuous and
seamless walking and wheeling network.

The routes were developed from data analysis
conducted up to this point, informed by
various data sources, such as the existing
active travel network and Google Maps data.
They also aligned with Kent County Council’s
Public Rights of Way (PRoW) Improvement
Plan.

Stakeholder Engagement
Swale LCWIP

The identified walking and wheeling network
was presented to local stakeholders to
gather feedback on the identified network.

Overall, the stakeholders welcomed the
identified walking and wheeling routes and
used their local knowledge to make some
suggestions such as altering the alignment
of proposed routes or ensuring the proposed
improvements contribute to creating safer,
more direct walking and wheeling routes.

Sheppey Towns LCWIP

The stakeholder engagement which was
undertaken for the Sheppey Towns LCWIP
was detailed on Page 16 of this report.

The integrated Swale LCWIP walking and
wheeling network is presented for each of
the four study areas, as follows:

. Sittingbourne - identified as part of
this analysis and presented in
Appendix X.

. Faversham - identified as part of
Faversham LCWIP and presented in
Appendix X

. Sheppey Towns - identified as part of

AECOM

draft Sheppey Towns LCWIP and
presented in Appendix X.

Rural Swale - there were no routes
identified in rural Swale.



This page is intentionally left blank



A=COM ki

G6 obed



Quality information

Prepared by Checked by Verified by Approved by
Sophie Sole Elena Kuskova Emmet Ruxton Emmet Ruxton
Consultant Principal Consultant Regional Director Regional Director

Revision History

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position

96 obed

Distribution List

# Hard Copies PDF Required Association / Company Name




Prepared for:

Swale Borough Council

Prepared by:

AECOM Limited
AECOM House
63-77 Victoria Street
St Albans
Hertfordshire AL1 3ER
United Kingdom

Y
T"844(0)1 727 535000
adBm.com

(@)

\'

© 2023 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our client (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the
terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise express-
ly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.



Table of contents

01 Introduction

02 Stage 2: Data Collection
Study Area

Demographics

Population Density
Employment Density

Car Availability

Depgivation

QD
T%Generators and Attractors

FuOre Trip Generators and Attractors: Committed Developments

Transport Network—Active Travel Network

Future Active Travel Network

Public Transport Network

Highway Network

Travel Patterns: Travel to Work

Travel to School

Tourism

Perceptions of Existing Facilities

Active Travel Flows and Demand

Physical Constraints and Severance Features

Air Quality

10

11

14

17

20

24

27

30

34
37
41
45
47
49
50
52
59
60

03 Stage 3: Network Planning for Cycling
Introduction

Key Origins and Destinations

Desire Lines

Identified Network

Stakeholder Engagement

Establishing Infrastructure Improvements

Incorporating the Sheppey Towns LCWIP

04 Stage 4: Network Planning for Walking
Introduction

Key Trip Generators

Walking Zones

Route Selection

Identified Network

Stakeholder Engagement

Establishing Infrastructure Improvements

Incorporating the Sheppey Towns LCWIP

05 Sheppey Towns LCWIP
Sheppey Towns LCWIP Active Travel Routes

Establishing Infrastructure Improvements

62

63

64

66

72

74

76

77

78

79

80

81
82
83
85
87
88

89
90
90

06 Summary

Next Steps

APPENDIX A - Origin and Destination
Clusters

APPENDIX B - Sittingbourne Cycling
Routes

APPENDIX C - Isle of Sheppey Active
Travel Routes

APPENDIX D - Rural Swale Cycling
Routes

APPENDIX E- Sittingbourne Walking
and Wheeling Routes

APPENDIX F- Isle of Sheppey Active
Travel and Walking and Wheeling
Routes

93

94



A=COM i

Introduction



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Introduction

}Ws&\‘t§§s§\§§\§$§&\s§ Gy B P %y ¢ Active travel is becoming increasingly important as
t\“‘&*‘ ***k‘?&‘\&\.‘%i% < g < P challenges around climate change become more
W A : Tk / pressing and the demand for active travel solutions
grows. Investment in cycling and walking can have
wider positive impacts on people and places,
making roads quieter and safer, improving air
quality, improving physical and mental wellbeing
and creating attractive places for people to travel

within and between.

In 2017, the Department for Transport (DfT)
published their first Cycling and Walking
Investment Strategy (CWIS). The aim of this was
to encourage cycling and walking to become a key
mode of travel for shorter journeys or as a stage of
a longer journey by delivering better safety,
mobility and streets.

Alongside the CWIS, the DfT published practical,
strategic guidance on developing Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) for
local bodies.

00T abed

LCWIPs outline a “strategic approach to identifying
cycling and walking improvements required at a
local level” in order to both encourage and
facilitate the modal shift away from motorised
vehicles to more active modes, transforming areas
in ways which support active travel, reduce
congestion, support local economies and improve
physical and mental health in line with sustainable
visions at a local to a national level.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

The stages of the LCWIP process are:

Stage 1 — Determining Scope: define the
geographic scope of the LCWIP and
establish governance and preparation
arrangements.

Stage 2 — Gathering Information: collect
data on current cycling and walking
patterns, identify potential new routes,
assess existing conditions, and identify
barriers. Review relevant transportation
and land use policies.

Stage 3 — Network Planning for Cycling:

identify starting and ending points for

cycling journeys, create a network of
-d*outes based on these points, and
Qdetermine the necessary improvements for
mcycling infrastructure.

ISStage 4 — Network Planning for Walking:

|Aldentify key destinations, core walking
areas, assess existing pedestrian
infrastructure, and determine required
improvements for walking.

Stage 5 — Prioritising Improvements:
prioritize the identified improvements to
create a phased program for future
investments in cycling and walking
infrastructure.

Stage 6 — Integration and Application:
integrate the LCWIP outputs into local
planning, transportation policies,
strategies, and implementation plans to
ensure that cycling and walking

considerations are incorporated into
broader urban and transportation
planning efforts.

This report covers Stages 2, 3 and 4 of the
LCWIP process described above.

The study area covers the district of Swale,
building on a number of active travel
schemes and stakeholder and public
engagement undertaken to date, such as the
Faversham LCWIP (issued January 2022)
and the Kent Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan (KCWIP).

Kent County Council (KCC) has undertaken
a county-wide LCWIP, (the KCWIP) which
aims to identify a strategic network of
walking and cycling routes across the county
and is expected to be published in 2025.

There are three proposed KCWIP cycle
routes which begin/ end in Swale: between
Sheerness and Leysdown, Sittingbourne and
Faversham and one route from Maidstone to
Sittingbourne. These routes were identified
as priority routes through the KCWIP
assessment.

Alongside this Swale LCWIP, a Sheppey
Towns LCWIP was developed, which
identified active travel routes and proposed
improvements. Prior to public consultation,
the Sheppey Towns LCWIP was merged into
the Swale LCWIP in order to streamline
these two documents and put forward a
coherent network of active travel routes

AECOM

across the Borough. Therefore, Chapters 2 - 4
of this report focus on the Swale LCWIP
development and Chapter 5 discusses the
inclusion of the Sheppey Towns LCWIP into
the Swale LCWIP.

This report is structured as follows:
. Introduction

. Data Collection

. Network Planning for Cycling
. Network Planning for Walking
. Sheppey Towns LCWIP

. Summary

This LCWIP is designed to enable a long-term
approach to developing local cycling, walking
and wheeling networks over a 10-year period.
It is envisaged that the LCWIP will be
reviewed and updated to reflect progress
made towards implementation or to reflect
changes in local policies or strategies, for
instance.



A=COM i

Stage 2: Data Collection



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Stage 2: Data Collection

Study Area

Swale is one of 12 districts in Kent, it is
bounded by Medway, Canterbury, Ashford
and Maidstone. The LCWIP study area is cov-
ering the whole of Swale.

Given the importance of encompassing both
rural and urban areas as well as connections
between key settlement clusters, additional
smaller-scale study areas have been identified
within Swale (see Figure 2-1): Sittingbourne,
Feyersham, Sheppey towns and rural Swale.
Tébse four key areas will be represented in
sibsequent stages to draw out the baseline
c@ditions alongside the district-wide scale.
w

Figure 2-1: Swale LCWIP Study Area

AECOM

—
A=COM
PROJECT
Swake Local Cycling and
Waking Infrastructure Flan
CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limgted
Mariborough Court

10 Brcket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK

N T +44-1727-53-5000
B Www aecom com

LEGEND

=Su0yhu

] Sttingboume Urban Area
[ Faversham Urban Area
] Swale Rural Area

[ iste of Sheppey

NOTES

l corunsosOmeCrown
l Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Demographics Table 2-1: 2020 Mid-year Ward Level Population Estimates (MYPE)
According to 2021 Census, the population in
Swale is around 151,700. Whilst the popula- Area Ward 2020 MYPE* 2°§2ﬂ"2?{;'5 Urban-Rural Classification
tion in Swale is growing (11.7% growth be- Abbey 5,360 2795 Urban city and town
tween the 2011 and 2021 Censuses) by a . - Priory 2,900 o5 Urban ity and town
greater percentage than the overall population a"erszfég Urban : :
of the South-East (7.5%) and England (6.6%), StAnn's >0 4988 Urban city and town
it is among the lowest 40% for population den- Watling 6,320 14.20 Urban city and town
sity across all local authorities in England [1]. Chalkwell 3,450 36.02 Urban city and town
According to the 2020 mid-year population es- Homewood 6,390 46.37 Urban city and town
timates, 30% of Swale’s population resided in Kemsley 7.140 18.40 Urban city and town
rurall areas, which is the 6th highest percent- Sittingboume Urban Milton Regis 6.290 34.08 Urban city and town
age in Kent [2]. Area Murston 7,040 17.36 Urban city and town
S%ale is comprised of 24 wards, the popula- Roman 6,880 5129 Urban city and town
tigms of which are displayed in Table 2-1 be- )
Iq‘% by area and urbaE-rZral classification [3]. The Meads 4129 2999 Urban cfty and town
- Woodstock 6,130 29.03 Urban city and town
g Minster Cliffs 7,770 15.15 Urban city and town
Queenborough and Halfway 8,170 7.66 Urban city and town
Isle of Sheppey Sheerness 13,480 24.54 Urban city and town
Sheppey Central 9,120 3.78 Urban city and town
Sheppey East 7,250 1.59 Rural village and dispersed
Bobbing, lwade and Lower Halstow 6,220 2.58 Rural town and fringe
Borden and Grove Park 6,450 7.79 Rural village and dispersed
Boughton and Courtenay 6,720 1.05 Rural village and dispersed
Swale Rural Area East Downs 2,720 0.45 Rural village and dispersed
i&ii?ﬁ?ﬁiﬂigﬁf’éﬁﬁﬁ?27 aovdvisualsations! Hartlip, Newington and Upchurch 6,290 2.47 Rural town and fringe
[2] Kent County Council, 2021, https://www.kent.gov.uk/ Teynham and Lynstead 6330 132 Rural town and fringe
__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/8145/Mid-year-population- West Downs 2,880 1.16 Rural village and dispersed
estimates-ward-level-population.pdf
3] Ibid *Ward estimates have been individually rounded to the nearest 10.

Source: Kent County Council, 2021



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Population Density

Figure 2-2 to Figure 2-6 illustrate the popula-
tion density across all of Swale, as well as in
the four core areas across Swale.

The population density in Swale almost exclu-
sively agglomerates in Faversham, Sit-
tingbourne, Minster-on-Sea and Sheerness.
Population density across Swale reaches
17,896 people per km. The Lower layer Super
Output Areas (LSOA) with the highest popula-
tion is in Sheerness. Except for pockets of
higher density in Sittingbourne, Faversham
and the Isle of Sheppey, the maximum popu-
lation density in rural Swale is 3,112 people
per km.

GOT obed

Shoernass A ey

Minster-on-Sea

e

Queenborough

-~
Sixtingbourne

NG

Thswo/

0 07518

Whitstoble 5oy

Figure 2-2: Population Density Across Swale (2021)

AECOM

. e

] A=COM

H PROJECT

i Swale Local Cycling and
@ Valking Infrastructure Plan
H cLent

#l Swale Borough Council

§ CONSULTANT

[ AECOM Limited

i Mariborough Court

[ 10 Bricket Road

[l StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
B T +44-1727-53-5000

B www.aecom.com

H LEGEND
4 ) stucy Avea

H Residents per km
 (2021)

<1,000

1.000 - 2,000
2.000 - 3.000
3.000 - 4,000

M B 4,000

i} NOTES
ll Contains OS Duta © Crown
Bl Copyright and éatabase sighe 2000



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

- T ~ -
A=COM " WA A=COM
PROJECT 3 \W = e PROJECT
Swale Local Cydiing and N Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan 7 ‘ Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT ) B4 CLIENT
Swale Borough Councl Swale Borough Councl
CONSULTANT CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited AECOM Limited
Mariborough Mariborough
10 Bricket Road 10 Bricket Road
StABans, AL1 3UX, UK StABans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53.5000 T +44-1727-53-5000
By v LEGEND LEGEND
/‘”“""k ey Faversham Urban Area £ Sitingbourne Urban Area
B3 = / Residents per km Residents per km
~kawu~mx;:‘:—,r.m,}oaus (2021) ey
<1,000 1,000
1,000 - 2,000 1,000 - 2,000
1 2,000 3,000 1 2,000 - 3,000
T 3,000 - 4,000 T 3,000 - 4,000
. >4.000 . >4.000
s N«.IgR |
VillowFom = st
\ A I | S
aad Z
b=tarmd® Z NOTES NOTES
/
(2! Cortains 05 Dsta © Crown ( Béle Cortains 05 Dsta © Crown
Panter's Forstal Copyngnt and Catadase nght 2020 N = Copyngnt and catadase nght 2020
’ [ = = s 3
)] f(‘\\\/ 0 bz vaminces 712 o'l
CE\T== == Dl F

Figure 2-3: Population Density- Faversham Figure 2-4: Population Density- Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

| ASCOM

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

i Ot

CLIENT CLIENT

Swale Borough Councl Swale Borough Councll
CONSULTANT CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court Mariborough

10 Bricket Road 10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3UX, UK

StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T #44-1727-53.5000
H www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale Rural Area
Residents per km
(2021)
<1,000
i 1,000 - 2,000

T 2,000 - 3.000
I 3.000 - 4.000
H . s 000

T +44-1727-53-5000

ot vt

Croan
Copynght and dadase r5he 2020

Figure 2-5: Population Density- Isle of Sheppey Figure 2-6: Population Density- Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Employment Density

Employment density in Swale is based on the
Business Register and Employment Survey
(2021) and is illustrated in Figure 2-7. It can
be seen that among Sittingbourne, Faversham
and Sheerness, Sittingbourne has the highest
employment density — between 51 and 101
employees per hectare. Just outside of Sit-
tingbourne, employment density is largely be-
tween 8 and 20 employees per hectare. The
vast maijority of Swale outside key towns has
fewer than 7 employees per hectare. There
are clusters of higher employment density to
the east and west of Swale in Whitstable and

G;Elngham.

F%ure 2-8 to Figure 2-11 illustrate the employ-
nmtent density in the settlement areas of Sit-
tiggbourne, Faversham, Isle of Sheppey and
rural Swale in more detail. Similar to popula-
tion density, rural Swale and the Isle of Shep-
pey have extremely low numbers of employ-
ees per hectare given the maijority of the area
is comprised of rural settlements.

Minster-on-Soa

%ﬂm

Favorsnam

0 07515

3

Figure 2-7: Employment Density Across Swale (2021)

AECOM

- -

i A=COM

H PROJECT

[ Swale Local Cydling and

i \alking Infrastructure Plan
H CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

i CONSULTANT

l AECOM Limited

i Madborough Coun

B 10 Bricket Road

B StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
B T +44-1727-53-5000

B www.aecom com

H LecenD
P DS!UG,- Area

[ Employees per Heclare
4 (2021)

<10

.20
21-0
N-N0

L B ¢1-%0
. <0

H NOTES

B Conming OS Data © Crown
[l Cooyright and cassbase night 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

eenoy R

Figure 2-8: Employment Density- Faversham

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough

10 Bricket Road
StABans, AL1 3UX, UK

T #44-1727-53-5000
Www.aecom.com

LEGEND

AECOM

el
e

CunemiFarm,

A=COM

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT

StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw aecom.com
LEGEND

Sittingbourne Urban Area
Employees per Hectare
(2021)

«10

1.20

-2
R
[
LR
[
4 : 3
% \ s
.u.v...;s’c...... ;. \ L, Hamwosd casyes
/ ’ ‘ \
[y i oo
/ > ¥ Outy Cattages
/i kY 7
P fdasits, Ol Neveng
e N/ N 7 , o
. > Rodmaistham o Senvdrions L. NOTES
4 OulHiine 25 Pl {
fiénte Contains 05 Data © Croan
Wres Cotiages [ f 7 Copmght o catabase Fgh 2020
s s £ o,
5 e, 0 02 OXo08 12 516
= = DAerR

Figure 2-9 Employment Density- Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Figure 2-10: Employment Density - Isle of Sheppey

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cyding and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
10 Bricket Road

StAans. AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Isle of Sheppey
Employees per Hectare
(2021)

0

11-20

‘KR

IR

-]

wisssied ) f
Gttt

lh

;

] -

. -
RS s
Hetas, /

Oy

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cydiing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited

Court
10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
H www.aecom.com

LEGEND

T 3 Swale Rural Aron
Employees per Hectare
(2021)

<0

.20
‘R
— e

NOTES

Contmns OS Data © Croan
Conynght and database rght 2020

Figure 2-11: Employment Density - Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Car Availability

Figure 2-12 illustrates the car or van availabil-
ity across Swale. Across rural Swale, the av-
erage number of cars or vans per household
is above 1.5 whereas within urban areas, in
Sheerness, Sittingbourne and Faversham, the
car or van availability is less than 1. Across
Swale, the car or van availability is consistent-
ly higher than the average for the South East
England (0.6 cars or vans per household [4]).

Figure 2-13 to Figure 2-16 illustrate the car or
van availability across the four study areas in
Swale. When comparing the car or van availa-
bility of Sittingbourne and Faversham to rural
Swale and the Isle of Sheppey, it becomes
c@r that the spatial redistribution of people
t%/ards urban areas results in pockets of low
car,dependency in towns and higher car de-
péndency in rural areas. In more urban areas,
there is typically more mode choice in terms of
active travel infrastructure and public
transport, whereas rural areas typically pre-
sent a greater challenge in encouraging mode
shift away from private vehicles.

[4] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-
travel-survey-2019

Figure 2-12 Car or Van Availability Across Swale

AECOM

] A=COM
B PROJECT

\ H swale Local Cyciing ang
| Waking Infrastructure Plan
4 cLENT

§ Swale Borough Council

H CONSULTANT

Y AECOM Limited

B Mariborough Court

i 10 Bricket Road

4 StAbans, AL1 3UX. UK

T +44-1727-53-5000

| www aecom com
4 LEGEND
[ O sty avea

M Cars and Vans per
4 Household

0-1

M 1-1.25

12515

- _RER



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

ST

¥
Chers
g S 12T

q‘%% J 'F/q;
2

: J /A 4 7 H consuLrant

) House | gne Cmﬁ.)‘ AECOM Limited
===ty A Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK

T +44-1727-53-5000
H www.aecom.com
LEGEND
© = § Faversham Urban Area
Cars and Vans per
Household
0-1

- 1125
. 12515

[ RETH

\
' Farm:
Cottage s
—\w\w\ 4\\"55'\/
School e
X/.\
Bysa oot
= Ty

he
FLW&#Ran’}oih
BeaconHil

g
i

ook -'

@00 ' g e b0t NOTES

Corains OS Data & Crown
Copynght ane nght.

Figure 2-13: Car or Van Availability- Faversham

AECOM

“n | ASCOM
Court o - \ \ PROJECT
Lodge Faem Nomndn'sHil 5P \,‘ Swale Local Cycling and
\\o

Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited

Court
10 Bricket Road
StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
Wiww aecom.com

LEGEND
& = ¥ Sitiingbourne Urban Area
Cars and Vans per
Household
0-1
128
- 125415
| _RETH]

Pamter 'E:f"ul / \ == v ] eling * %] nmesnsan

4
\F roamelitmorean N

Figure 2-14: Car or Van Availability - Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

AECOM

- —
1 A=COM 1 A=COM
PROJECT PROJECT
Swale Local Cydiing and Swale Local Cyciing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT CLIENT
Swale Borough Councl H Swale Borough Councl
CONSULTANT CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court Mariborough
10 Bricket Road 10 Bricket Road
StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000 T +44-1727-53-5000
H www.aecom.com H www.aecom.com
LEGEND LEGEND
Totseots © o3 Swale Rural Area
Cars and Vans per Cars and Vans per
Household Household
0-1 0-1
o128 1125
12515 B 125415
| _RELH] |__RELH]
NOTES NOTES
Contains 05 Datn © Croan Contains OS Data © Cromn
Cooymght o) catabese rght 2020 Coaymght o daeabese rght 2020

Figure 2-15 Car or Van Availability- Isle of Sheppey Figure 2-16 Car or Van Availability- Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Deprivation

There are large disparities in levels of depriva-
tion across Swale, from prosperous parts of
Faversham to pockets of deprivation on the
Isle of Sheppey such as Sheerness and
Queenborough, which are some of the most
deprived wards in England.

Figure 2-17 represents the Indices of Multiple
Deprivation (IMD) in 2019 across Swale. IMD
considers factors such as income, employ-
ment, education, skills and training, health and
disability, crime, barriers to housing and ser-
vices and the living environment. There is a
IarQe variation in the IMD deciles across the
b&ough, with areas to the south-west of the
beyough experiencing lower IMD deciles, and
thglsle of Sheppey being scored the most de-
paxed decile. The IMD in the four study areas
can be seen in more detail in Figure 2-18 to
Figure 2-22

As Figure 2-22 illustrates, there are pockets of
further intensive social and economic inequali-
ty in the isolated communities of coastal areas
in Swale. Left Behind Neighbourhoods (LBNSs)
are a metric developed by the Local Trust and
Oxford Consultants for Social Inclusion
(OCSI) to define places that rank highly in
terms of IMD, but also lack social infrastruc-
ture. There are ten LBNs in Kent, two of which
are located in Swale, specifically on the Isle of
Sheppey.

e AWhitstable Eoy ¢

Figure 2-17 IMD Across Swale

AECOM

—
A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 X, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WwWWww. aecom.com

LEGEND

. (=T

@ Core Settlements

Indices of Multiple
Deprivation Decile
(2019)

N 1 - Most Deprived

39
10 - Loast Depeved

NOTES

Contans OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

\

" n_J]| ASCOM

Swale Local Cycling and
Waking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

CONSULTANT

AECOM Umited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

Indices of Multiple

Deprivation Decile

(2019)

W 1 - Most Depeved
2

[ 10- Least Deprved

NOTES

Contams 0 Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-18 IMD- Faversham

Swale Borough Council

AECOM

furkln, Saaramn
Fae, GamaFan
Mosp i
Gltsgm N\
—
Cretid Fam \
B/~
N
st Pared
Cornk A -Cot,
Booedny 5 ey
T | Gt %
P poemoca Farm o

HopfO
e

)%

| Rodmerthidm Green

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

Sunsatand
Dul Hikse 7S5 Fan /

0 )02 04208
et

/ Baple

AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw_aecom com

Sittingboume Urban Area
Indices of Multiple
Deprivation Decile
(2019)
W 1 - Most Deprived

2

| U
e
(L]
110 - Least Deprved

NOTES

Contams O Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-19 IMD- Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Waking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court
10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

Indices of Multiple
Deprivation Decile
(2019)

- Most Deprived

[ 10- Least Deprved

NOTES

Contams 0 Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-20 IMD- Isle of Sheppey

Swale Borough Council

oo

Figure 2-21 IMD- Rural Swale

AECOM

AZCOM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw_aecom com

L} Swale Rural Avea
Indices of Multiple
Deprivation Decile
(2019)
W 1 - Most Deprived
-2
K
|1}
5
-
-
e
(L]
]10 - Least Deprved

NOTES

Contams O Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Figure 2-22 Left Behind Neighbourhoods Across Swale

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Brcket Road
StAIbans, ALT 3UX, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WWW.3ecom .com

LEGEND

) sudy Aea

I Left Behind Neighbourhoods

Contans OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Trip Generators and Attractors

Trip generators and attractors have been
identified to establish key trip origin and desti-
nation points across Swale, which are used in
subsequent stages of the LCWIP to undertake
network planning for cycling and walking.
|dentification of trip generators and attractors
is crucial to identify desire lines across Swale
to ascertain where active travel infrastructure
could be a valuable tool in encouraging mode
shift and uncovering suppressed demand.

Figure 2-23 illustrates the trip attractors and
generators across Swale. It can be seen that
th%fe are agglomerations of trip attractors in
Faversham, Sittingbourne and the north-west
oﬁhe Isle of Sheppey, whereas rural Swale
h&s much fewer key trip attractors and gener-
a@s.

As shown in Figure 2-24 to Figure 2-27, Sit-
tingbourne, Faversham and the Isle of Shep-
pey have a high number of key trip generators
and attractors, with a number of major em-
ployment sites, such as the Eurolink in Sit-
tingbourne and the HMP Sheppey Cluster on
the Isle of Sheppey. Whilst rural Swale has
fewer trip generators and attractors, there are
rail stations, a number of bus stops as well as
a number of education and leisure sites.

c
e A
y a4 N
[y end
A 5
A A L e A
Sheerness |
VAT R S e
ol e A F A
' 3 ‘-d; Mester o«fsu
] »
- 1o
. P B
Wl dd - N,
A ueenborough g
g P ,
V. o e A = - o
2oy
- / <
N |
A .
= €
N':»\ ot 4 oy
. , ./ f (Y -
s-‘Q.;.g.‘. A 3 e rhdov WhItstoble Loy
A O8G0 y
W _— ' B
& - ,I - Foe & >
£ r - %405 )
ahgr 4 4 0 s
ARty H 4
4 w¥ 1 .
A. n./.\ ° 4
A, b e 4
} /l . ‘% . N p A ‘
" o g R & ” 2
. ’) . “ L -
° ] . ;_, o, . 7
P " < ° ".“_ - ‘ilneumm‘ .~
. - B,
o < s
e D iR T, | o
by
A0 “‘.‘/‘
> e, |
° ¢ = & o
< & -
:
o . 3
! e g e
4 & .
-
&* e
®e L .
Pl " \IJ~ .z'_‘.c o
e, °
4 N [}
Y P SR
s & . !
. A . R, -
2 " L gp ©
R 3
V‘ ~
4 s e —

Figure 2-23 Trip Generators and Attractors Across Swale

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1T X, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WWW.aecom.com

LEGEND

) sudy Avea

=T Rail Statons
Bus Stops
Beaches
Kemt Educaton Stes
Tourist Attracsons
Hospital
GPs
Library
Museum
Place Of Worship
Sports And Leisure Centre
Retad Boundaries

® 0 0 00 0 0y

Key Employment Sites

Greenspace




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

v n -
N ] ASCOM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Pfan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

L%

Nogman'sHil

Count /"
Lodge Farm

<,

A‘\Q\JE\’%‘.M mé__
\1/ | .\‘ N

~ Cherry
Epddenham 1o brve
CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court
10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
wiww.aecom com
LEGEND
Sudy Aea

i1 Faversham Urban Area

X Rail Stations
Bus Stops.
Kent Education Stes.
Hospeal
GPs
Libeary
Museum
Place Of Worship
5 Schod Farm @ Sports And Leisure Cantre
7, J “CE/?GBQ\“ /73 Retad Boundaries

V2 Key Employment Sites
Haphms 7722 Gresnspace

-

pe
P=Cowt-Rd=—=Fou 05l

e Fo'7/0aks
Beacon Hil

e 000 0ty

NOTES

Wt

AN
e AN~

e

Contans 05 Date © Crown.
Copyright and catabase right 2020

Figure 2-24 Trip Generators and Attractors- Faversham

AECOM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
‘Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

StAIbans, AL1 30X, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
www.aecom com
LEGEND
) sudyAea
L} Sttingboume Urban Area
R Rail Stations.
Bus Stops
Kent Education Stes.
Hospital

$

Sports And Leisure Centre
/73 Retaid Boundaries

V7 Key Employment Sites.
V77 Greenspace

NOTES

Ceatains 05 Data © Crown
Copyrght and database right 2020

Figure 2-25 Trip Generators and Attractors- Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
‘Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Umited

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

) swdy ea

i of Sheppay

Rail Stations

Bus Stops.

Beaches

Education Sites
Tounist Atractons
Hospital

GPs.

Library

Museum

Place Of Worship
Sports And Lessure Centre
V74 Rewil Aveas

7] Key Employment Stes
[ Greenspace

®ee 000 0B >

NOTES

Contams OS Data © Crown
Copyright and catabase right 2020

Figure 2-26 Trip Generators and Attractors- Isle of Sheppey

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Wakking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Umited

Mar Count

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

NOTES

Contams O Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-27 Trip Generators and Attractors- Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Future Trip Generators and Attractors:
Committed Developments

There are a number of committed housing,
employment and mixed-use developments
across Swale. It is important to consider both
existing and future trip generators/ attractors
in order to ensure any proposed active travel
infrastructure serves existing demand but also
meets and encourages future demand.

As Figure 2-28 illustrates, there are a number
of committed developments across Swale,
largely located on the urban peripheries of Sit-
tingbourne and Faversham and the Isle of
Sheppey. Overall, there are 38 committed de-
velopments in the district, which is the fourth
h@est number of committed developments
dgoss the borough.

Fgre 2-29 to Figure 2-32 highlight in more
detail the committed developments across the
study areas.

Sheerness

oy >
- ¢ Nex
t‘oueer\owma B

Gillingham

e

’ Mnster-on-Sea

Satingbourne '
¢

N

Whitstable 2oy

Whitstable

Figure 2-28 Committed Developments Across Swale

AECOM

-—
A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1T X, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WWw.aecom .com

LEGEND

cﬂudy Aea

B Housing Development
B Employment Development
B Meed Use Development

NOTES

Contains OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

( -
% Cherry
tyddenham 1o 'Drive

Cheesemans
House

\ (|
| | )

Figure 2-29 Committed Developments — Faversham

\N/iAan~|

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Waking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

[ Mixed Use Development

NOTES

Contams O Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Pyt
L

Boaedn .
s T
Noewod Farm

Ht{on
i

Eyehem”
Hateh Fam

I
s Street.

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

Sunsatand

, ouss Py

Dull Hikne

0 )02 04208
et

Figure 2-30 Committed Developments — Sittingbourne

AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw_aecom com

Sttingboure Urban Area
Housing Development
I Employment Development

NOTES

Contams OS Dats ® Crown
Copyright and catabase right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Figure 2-31 Committed Developments — Isle of Sheppey

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
‘Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Umited

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND
) swdy ea
Isle of Sheppey
Housing Development
Mixed Use Development

NOTES

Contams OS Data © Crown
Copyright and catabase right 2020

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Wakking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Umited

Mar Count

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND

Housing Development
Mixed Use Development

NOTES

Contams O Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-32 Committed Developments — Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Transport Network

The following section outlines the transport
network across Swale, including existing ac-
tive travel network and any future planned cy-
cling and walking schemes. It also covers
public transport and highways in Swale. Un-
derstanding the transport network is crucial in
identifying gaps, and more broadly, building a
picture of the network as a whole.

Active Travel Network

The active travel network across Swale is
comprised of routes which can be used for
ngn-motorised modes, such as walking,
wireeling and cycling. This LCWIP considers
bﬁh the existing active travel network and fu-
ture active travel network in its analysis.

N
Existing Active Travel Network

Figure 2-33 illustrates the National Cycle Net-
work (NCN), existing cycle routes and lanes
and Public Rights of Way (PRoW) across
Swale. Additionally, Figure 2-34 to Figure 2-37
illustrate the active travel network across the
four study areas.

The NCN is largely comprised of off-road and
on-road routes, typically making use of quieter
roads and shared-use paths. NCN Route 1
(North Sea Cycle Route) runs between Dover
and John O’Groats, within Kent, it runs east-
west from Dover to Dartford, connecting Whit-
stable to Gillingham via Faversham and Sit-
tingbourne. NCN Route 174 (Sheerness Way)

connects into NCN Route 1, running north
from the north-west of Sittingbourne to the
Isle of Sheppey. Notably, whilst the east-
west cycling provision across Swale is co-
herent and relatively direct, the north-south
movements are limited and fragmented.

There is an additional network of cycle
routes and lanes across Swale. These are
comprised of on-road and off-road cycle pro-
vision. The existing network of cycle routes
and lanes is sparse and does not form a
connected network, it is primarily located
within Sittingbourne with notable gaps in ru-
ral Swale, east Swale and the Isle of Shep-
pey. It is worth noting that the standard of
cycling provision varies significantly across
the network, with lengths of the routes being
substandard and in need of upgrading.

With regards to the PRoW network, Kent
County Council manages the longest public
rights of way network of any county in Eng-
land and Wales. Although footpaths make up
83% of the PRoW network in Kent, the per-
centage of other rights of way paths includ-
ing byways, restricted byways and bridle-
ways is below the national average [5]. Net-
work coverage generally aligns with areas of
high population and employment density,
while the Isle of Sheppey has a relatively
sparse network.

The network priority status of the PRoW net-

work is as follows:

AECOM

. Category A
0 North Downs Way National Trail

0 Routes to local facilities such as bus
stops, churches, schools, parks,
tourist attractions

0 Paths used for daily leisure walking

0 Multi-use paths with a clear public
benefit, such as allowing horse riding
or cycling in addition to walking

0 Paths with potential for improvement
0 Paths promoted by Explore Kent.
. Category B
0 any paths not under category A
0 paths on access land
0 coastal access paths
0 permissive paths managed by KCC.

There are also many well-established and
signposted leisure walking routes in Swale
such as long distance trails: North Downs
Way and the Saxon Shore Way. There
are also a number of shorter trails such as
A Land of all Seasons Nature Trail.

The active travel network across Swale is

[5] https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/
pdf_file/0004/90571/
The_Current_Network __Use_and_Provision.pdf



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

diverse in terms of the network density, with
significant variance between the Isle of
Sheppey and Sittingbourne. Overall, there
are extensive network gaps on the Isle of
Sheppey and across rural Swale, whereas
there is more dedicated walking and cycling
facilities in the urban areas of Sittingbourne
and Faversham. Additionally, the suitability
of the active travel network for walking,
wheeling and cycling varies, with opportuni-
ties to upgrade the standard of such routes.
For instance, the development of more ac-
cessible trails is an ongoing process that
recently saw the National Cycle Network
Route 2 improved to enable greater num-
S_)?ers of users with a diverse range of mobili-

y needs [6].
«Q

AL

[6] https://www.sustrans.org.uk/our-blog/news/2022/
june/newly-improved-walking-wheeling-and-cycling-
route-in-east-sussex-reopens-for-use

Mestor-on-Soa

",Queenbotgnyq—n?r%
Pt

T

Gillngham

Whitstable “c

Whitstable

Figure 2-33 Existing Active Travel Network Across Swale

AECOM

A=COM

i PROJECT

| Swale Local Cycing and

Walking Infrastructure Plan

] CLIENT

Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited

B Mariborough Court

[l 10 Bricket Road

il StAIbans, ALT 3UX, UK
B T +44.1727-53-5000

ll www. aecom .com

LEGEND

L) 5oy Aea

—— National Cycle Network

Cycle Routes/ Lanes
Public Rights of Way




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

&

775

e

SN

>
N/ LA ’\'1 72N

\i

0 The

A\

- 5 &

. ety
wddenham  1rosbrive

y V%
Panter’ '/l/‘:':tsul / \
,la f\g_///\\,\\"w .

YN

Whitehit

gt
12)=N%

Figure 2-34 Active Travel Network- Faversham

PROJECT

Swale Local Cydiing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

"N | ASCOM

N Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

LEGEND

NOTES

Contains 05 Dat © Croen
Coynght onvd dadIsO FgRt 2020

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cydiing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT

ot /3
N
iy,

S 08

Figure 2-35 Active Travel Network- Sittingbourne

AECOM Limited

StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw aecom.com
LEGEND

Sittingbourne Urban Area

| N/ 0 102 0Me
W oo Groon S ) Containy OF dr'a © C-oun Coprigh ant

Public Rights of Way
—— National Cycle Network.
—— Cyde Routes' Lanes.

NOTES

Contains OS Data © Cromn
Copmght o catabase Fgh 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Waking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Count

10 Bricket Road
StAibans, AL1 X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
Www.aecom com

LEGEND

Y sueyAoa

i1 Isle of Sheppey

—— Nasonal Cycle Network

~—— Cyde Routes/Lanes
Public Rights of Way

NOTES

Contars 05 Data © Crown
Copyright aad catabase right 2020

Figure 2-36 Active Travel Network- Isle of Sheppey

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

St Albans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND

—— Natonal Cycle Network
—— Cycle Routos/Lanes
Public Rights of Way

NOTES

Ceatains 05 Data © Crown
Copyright and datatase right 2026

Figure 2-37 Active Travel Network- Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Future Active Travel Network

| N | A=COM
Across Swale there are a number of active j : A PROJECT
travel schemes which are proposed or com- | e A o Waking Infrasiuciure Fian
mitted. These schemes are considered within | r' T vy
the LCWIP analysis as they will contribute to | Qé
the wider active travel network. ‘ f > et

| 10

The proposed active travel schemes, studies | StAbans ALY X UK
+44.1727.53-5000
or audits which have been undertaken across . www aecom com
. . . / LEGEND
Swale are as follows (also illustrated in Figure e
2-38 to Figure 2-42): A oo g Al

Whitstable

. Sustrans Sheppey Audit (June 2020) —
proposals for 8 new route recommenda-
tions with complementary improvement |
measures and two town centre studies: f 4
Minster and Sheerness |

Faversham Town Audit (June 2020) —
proposals for 6 new cycle routes and a !
town centre study on pedestrian and cy- '
cle improvements and traffic reduction in

Faversham '

8¢T obed

. Swale Cycling and Walking Framework N
Consultation (2018 — 2022) !

. Active Travel 4 Proposals

. Kent Local Walking and Cycling Infra-
structure Plan (in process)

. Faversham Local Walking and Cycling
Infrastructure Plan (2022)

Figure 2-38 Proposed Active Travel Schemes Across Swale

«  Faversham to Teynham Quietway The proposed active travel schemes are lo- routes, which form crucial east-west connec-
(Feasibility stage) — recommendations cated within and around Faversham, Sit- tions in Swale, and a north-south route to
for a Quietway between Faversham and tingbourne and the Isle of Sheppey. The Maidstone.

Teynham along NCN Route 1. KCWIP is focused on proposing inter-urban



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

- a —
"~ ]| A=COM
PROJECT

Swalke Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Umited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1 20X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND

23 Faversham Urban Area
—— Swale Cyding Strategy
—— Faversham Town Audt

Do Faversham Town Audt
B2 \aiing zone
— KCWIP Draft Route

— Favorsham LOWP Routes

Faversham to Teynham
Quietway Route
NDswourom :
X ,')/ Z ]/ =
S /
LS~
| oS / NOTES

Contans OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and detabase right 2020

Figure 2-39 Future Active Travel Network- Faversham

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited

StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
Wwww aecom.com

LEGEND

© = § Sitingbourne Urban Area
~ Swale Cycling Strategy
KCWIP Dra®t Walking Zone
Caachment

— KCWIP Drat Route
[l —— Sitingbourne ATF4 Proposal

NOTES

Contains 05 Data © Croan
Copmght o catabase Fgh 2020

0 02 O%vl08 12
Coctaim OF 3r'as © C-own Copght st

Figure 2-40 Future Active Travel Network- Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

AR
Af‘%‘ LY

Figure 2-41 Future Active Travel Network- Isle of Sheppey

] ASCOM

PROJECT
Swale Local Cyding and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Counch

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limted
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

LEGEND
© = 3 Isle of Sheppey
~—— Swale Cycling Strategy

NOTES

Contains 05 Oata © Croan
Copymght o daabase rgh 2020

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Wakking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariorough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, ALT 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

WWw aecom com
LEGEND

L2 ) Swale Rural Area

—— Swale Cyding Strategy

| KCWIP Draft Walking Zone

~ 2km Catchment

— Faversham Town Audit
Faversham Town Audit
Walking Zone

— KCAWIP Draft Route

— Faversham LCWIP Routes

—— ATF4 Proposal Routes

___ Faversham toTeynham

tway Route

NOTES

Contams 05 Data © Crown
Copyrght and catabase nght 2020

Figure 2-42 Future Active Travel Network- Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Public Transport Network

The rail network across Swale is illustrated in
Figure 2-43. The bus network, which forms
key public transport infrastructure across rural
areas is operated by a number of providers.
Typically, bus stops are concentrated around
urban areas, which generate more demand,
and in rural areas the bus network is often
more unreliable and infrequent. Kent’'s Bus
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) found that
the frequency of bus services in rural areas
was essentially non-existent after the evening
peak commuting period.

Additional on-demand services exist in Swale
which are directed at improving accessibility of
th—gUbus network. The Kent Karrier service op-
e‘@tes across Kent, serving users who have a
medical condition which makes travelling on
p@lic transport difficult, are aged over 85 or
live in a rural area more than 500m from a bus
route or railway station.

In 2021, Stagecoach announced a new bus
route link for Swale, operating between Can-
terbury, Faversham, Sittingbourne and Maid-
stone. Buses run every 30 minutes and pro-
vide crucial inter-urban connections between
Sittingbourne or Faversham to Maidstone and
Canterbury in the absence of a direct train
service.

Southeastern Railway and Thameslink oper-
ate the majority of passenger services across
Swale, offering direct links from Sittingbourne

AECOM

Table 2-2 Passenger Numbers for Stations across Swale

Rank Station Total Station Entries and Exits Cycle Storage Facilities
(2021- 2022)

1 Sittingbourne 1,659,200 98 sheltered stands without
CCTV

2 Faversham 1,119,620 33 sheltered stands without
CCTV

3 Sheerness-on-Sea 332,398 40 sheltered stands without
CCTV

4 Kemsley 151,724 No cycle storage

5 Queenborough 149,976 12 sheltered stands without
CCTV

6 Teynham 119,432 10 sheltered stands without
CCTV

7 Newington 102,046 6 sheltered stands without
CCTV

8 Selling 63,386 No cycle storage

9 Swale 10,154 No cycle storage

and Faversham to St Pancras, Victoria and
Charing Cross with 4 services per hour in the
peak. The network runs east-west and north-
south, connecting the Isle of Sheppey with
the rest of Kent.

There are nine operational passenger rail
stations in Swale, ranked in terms of their
passenger numbers between April 2021 and
March 2022 in Table 2-2. Across Kent, Sit-
tingbourne is the 8th busiest station, while
Swale station is the second least busiest.

At seven of the nine stations in Swale, there
are cycle storage facilities (see Figure 2-44).

The station with the highest number of cycle
storage spaces is Sittingbourne, which has
98 spaces, while Newington has the fewest
cycle parking spaces (6). Swale station and
Kemsley station do not have cycle storage
facilities.

Figure 2-45 shows public transport accessi-
bility in Swale, visually representing walking
distances from rail stations and bus stops
across Swale. Areas located 1 minute from
the nearest rail station or bus stop are col-
oured red, those located between 1-5
minutes from the nearest station are col-
oured yellow, and those located 5-10



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

minutes away are coloured green. The map
highlights that the areas with the highest pub-
lic transport connectivity are in major urban
centres, with Sittingbourne being the most sig-
nificant. In Sittingbourne, Faversham, and
Sheerness, there is a rail station or bus stop
within a 5-minute walking distance throughout
the majority of the urban areas. Additionally,
good connectivity is observed along the A2
corridor, with frequent bus stops between Fa-
versham and Sittingbourne.

Figure 2-46 illustrates the density of 10-minute
walking isochrones (distances) from rail sta-
tions and bus stops. Sittingbourne stands out
a%?‘naving the most significant agglomeration
d2hese 10-minute walking isochrones, indi-
c.?_ing high levels of connectivity to public
tr&@dsport stops (overlapping isochrones mean
that there are 2 or more bus or rail stops in the
vicinity, therefore there are likely to be differ-
ent bus/rail services and better public
transport choice available).

In more rural areas of the district, there are
still public transport stops, but there are fewer
which have overlapping 10-minute walking
isochrones. This indicates that although there
are public transport stops across rural Swale,
these are often isolated, which indicates an
overall lower level of public transport accessi-
bility in rural Swale. While there are other con-
centrations of 10-minute walking isochrones in
the district, the density of stops is lower com-
pared to Sittingbourne.

AECOM

Figure 2-43 Rail Network Across Kent

These figures provide a visual representation
of public transport accessibility in Swale, em-
phasising stronger connectivity in major ur-
ban centres like Sittingbourne and highlight-
ing gaps in connectivity across rural areas.

PROJECT

Swale Local Cy

CLIENT

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimted

Y w .Vlfl'h com

LEGEND

C sty sen
Rad Network

Wiitatatie R adwey § tation
eI te oo y

= Rad Statens

NOTES

Developing active travel infrastructure in
such areas is crucial in improving first/last
mile connectivity to public transport, provid-
ing better mode choice and reducing car de-
pendency.

A=COM

ng ana

Walkong Infrastruciuse Plan

Sw ale Borough Courx



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM
PROJECT

Swalke Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALT X, UK
T +44.1727.53.5000
www.aecom com

Total Station Entrants and
Exits (Apeil 2021 . March
2022)

—— RailNetwork
Station Cycle Storage
Spaces.

.<10
B 1020
B.»

NOTES

Contains OS Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-44 Cycle Storage Facilities and Station Entries and Exits Across Swale

Swale Borough Council

Q{; 1.}.-.

»
Uy 909~

ol 8I12m@IShepp &
SN \ f ey

251 P L sz s
i s £ ¢
CEimeyy! *

Fistand \&= <

295w, S 2 S \{ ‘...’
) s;&\.’.ﬁ‘,&:\ Q™

Figure 2-45: Walking Distance from Rail Stations and Bus Stops

AECOM

A=COM
PROJECT

Swalke Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAbans, ALT X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
Www.aecom com

LEGEND
) sudysea
Iscchrones

(Distance from rail s tations.
and bus stops)
-1 moute

5 minutes.
10 minutes

NOTES

Contains OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and catabase right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

|- §
0 075 15 3 45 6
Contains O3 data® Shéun Copyr gt and dataten e rght 2030

Figure 2-46: Public Transport Accessibility (Walking Distance from Rail Stations and Bus Stops)

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALY X, UK
T +44.1727.53-5000
WWW.aecom .com

LEGEND

) sudy Avea
Density of Walking
Isochrones

B Lower Density
fass |

=
I Higher Densty

NOTES

Contains OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and catabase nght 2020

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Highway Network

Kent is a major confluence of road traffic, with
connections into London and to continental
Europe. Swale geographic location means it is
situated in between several strategic routes.
As Figure 2-47 illustrates, the M2, which con-
nects Kent into London is situated to the
South of Swale. Additionally, the A2 connects
London with Dover, and connects Faversham
with Sittingbourne.

A study carried out by The AA Charitable
Trust [7] found that 71% of fatal crashes in-
volving young drivers occurred on rural roads.
Of the top 10 most dangerous rural roads for
young drivers, three of these were located in
Kent, two of which were the A2 (ranked sec-
o‘@i) and the A249 (ranked ninth). This indi-
cates that Swale is bounded north-south and
e@t-west by some of the most dangerous ru-
ral roads, which are key indicators of commu-
nity severance.

The collision data was collected during the pe-
riod November 2019 to October 2022 and can
be seen in Figure 2-49 to Figure 2-52. These
figures illustrate collisions with vulnerable road
users (VRUs) — which are classified as pedes-
trians and cyclists. As expected, there are sig-
nificant incident hotspots on the A2 and A249.
Whilst the incidents largely follow major roads,
there is also a number of incidents on rural
roads (which are not classified in the below
Figures). Notably, accident hotspots do not
tend to occur in urban centres, but rather

Sheerness

‘\.Ouoonboro«gh
—t A2500

/

ol

®

Gillingham
/9

Sittingbourne /1

A249 Minster-on.Sea

B2231

/F/;vvo;.slham7

Whitstable

Figure 2-47 Highway Network Across Swale

along major roads or junctions with major
roads.

During the period assessed, there were 144
incidents involving VRUs, of these, two were
fatal, 37 were serious and 105 were slight.

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
A mited

T +44.9727 0
WWw aecom .com

LEGEND

n?&u‘}. Aea
Highway Network
— MOAOW:

ARoad

w— B Road

NOTES

[7] https://www.theaa.com/about-us/newsroom/rural-
roads



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

¥ ¢{slapg -

NA

y
\ 'Y P s \" 0\
7 ‘\;:‘\;n\ »7&’\» R
.~ L Y
A\ W
L

Figure 2-48 Highway Network and Collisions Involving Vulnerable Road Users Across Swale

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, ALT X, UK
T +44.1727.53-5000
WWww.aecom.com

Severity of Collisions
Involving VRUs

& Saght

& Semous

* Faal

Contains OS Data ® Crewn
Copyright and catabase nght 2020

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Y
%
%
%, %,
N
//f\«
Iy i House uneco/ddls
e b Farm
C“"“W\\Q Nash / -
ot Nt S~
E_'\QM Farmy, % %%

7

yamaod  Hese¥

Cottox
- / %g
’n‘*"inh-N(l;—‘;*Ewl/oaks {

Be :r:o}w Hil ',
4
3

-

.

1

b T

T

( 2

l\.a Coluns /
g

$ ovmzl \o =
mecm

L" A \K\ | - Y

a-'

/The l-odoe

75

Figure 2-49 Collisions with Vulnerable Road Users - Faversham

| A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

N Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Nlnhvny Network
—— Motorway
~— ARoad

¥ — BRoad

Severity of Collisions

H Involving VRUs

NOTES

Contains 05 Data © Croan
Cooyngnt and datadase rghe 2020

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cydling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT

H
e

StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw aecom.com
LEGEND

Sittingbourne Urban Area

Highway Network
— Motorway
—— ARoad

H — BRoad

Severity of Collisions

“H invoiving VRUs

Contains 05 Data © Croan
Copmght o catabase Fgh 2020

Figure 2-50 Collisions with Vulnerable Road Users - Sittingbourne




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

| ASCOM
PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAbans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

LEGEND
Highway Network

Severity of Collisions
f Involving VRUs

Figure 2-51 Collisions with Vulnerable Road Users - Isle of Sheppey

Swale Borough Councl

© = 3 Isle of Sheppey

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
i Swale Borough Councl

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Court
10 Bricket Road
StAbbans, AL1 3UX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
H www.aecom.com

2 Severity of Collisions.
~ H{ Involving VRUs

S Bty Farid
o Gy

Figure 2-52 Collisions with Vulnerable Road Users - Rural Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Travel Patterns
Travel to Work

Data on the mode of travel to work, between
the place of residence (origin) and the place of
work (destination) of people across the UK,
was collected as part of the 2011 and 2021
Censuses. This provides the most detailed
journey pattern data currently available in the
study area. These datasets were used to as-
sess both mode split for travel to work and
commuting travel patterns between an origin
and destination across Kent.

The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has
led to major changes in commuter travel pat-
te@s across the UK and the latest (2021)
Census was undertaken during the pandemic.
T& commuter travel pattern changes that oc-
cared during COVID-19 restrictions have had
Io?g lasting effects and therefore 2021 Cen-
sus has been included in this analysis with a
caveat that commuting trips were heavily af-
fected by travel restrictions during the time of
survey.

Mode Split (Travel to Work)

Across Kent and nationally, 62.6% of employ-
ees travel to work in a car or a van. Across
Kent, Swale has the highest proportion of em-
ployees who travel to work in a car or van.
(66.7%). A full breakdown of the journey to
work mode split data can be seen in Table 2-
3. When comparing the method of travel to

AECOM

Table 2-3 Method of Travel to Work in Swale

Mode Swale - 2011 Kent - 2011 Swale - 2021 Kent - 2021
Work mainly at or from home 10.8% 11.2% 25.4% 31.1%

Rail 6.9% 9.2% 3.3% 3.7%

Bus 1.9% 3.7% 0.7% 2.1%
Private vehicle 67.9% 62.6% 60.0% 53.2%
Cycle 2.1% 1.7% 1.4% 1.2%

Walk 10.1% 10.0% 8.3% 7.8%
Other 0.4% 0.2% 1.0% 1.0%

work in Swale to Kent overall, the percent-
age share of cycling is higher, and those
walking to work is approximately the same
percentage share.

Figure 2-53 illustrates the commuting flows
between districts in Kent. There are a lot of
cross-district flows from Swale to Medway,
with slightly fewer flows from Swale to Maid-
stone and to Canterbury, indicating cross-
border desire lines from Swale. It is worth
noting that this Figure does not include inter-
nal commuting flows, which on average
across Kent make up 64.4% of all commut-
ing flows.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

A=COM

Kent Cycing and Waking
Infrastructure Plan

CUENT
Kent County Councl

CONSULTANT

StAbans ALT 3UX, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WIWW B6COM Com

LEGEND

() 527 Aven Boundary
[ Dwtrict Boundaries
Bult Up Avess
District Internakisation

Flows

Commuting Trips
e 1204 . 250
— 2424 - 4201
W 4202 7578

NOTES

Contairs OS5 Data © Crowr
Copy gt and cambase agre 2002
e § ey
Data © Crown Copyn 1
0 25 & m m 2 bt~ gy

Figure 2-53 Origin and Destination Travel Patterns




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Travel to School

It is crucial that well-connected, safe and ac-
cessible active travel routes to schools are
considered where possible in order to encour-
age mode shift to and from schools. The loca-
tion of schools and the pupils’ numbers of
each school can be seen in Figure 2-54.

Figure 2-55 also illustrates walking distances
from schools and the existing cycle network to
indicate the limited cycling provision in and
around the schools in Swale.

The urban areas of the Sheppey Towns, Sit-
tingbourne, and Faversham have the highest
number of pupils. The large schools in Shep-
pey have limited cycle connectivity with some
I@al cycle routes and lanes connecting small-
eflschools in Sheerness.

SEngbourne has the greatest number of pu-
pils, with some schools near the National Cy-
cle Network (NCN) route 1. There is extremely
limited cycle provision south of the A2 where
the majority of pupils attend schools in Sit-
tingbourne.

There are two large schools in Faversham,
one of which lies on the NCN 1 route 1,
providing pupils with an east-west route
through Faversham. There are also two large
schools on the Isle of Sheppey: Leigh in Min-
ster (1,150 pupils) and EKC in Sheerness
(750 pupils).

Minster-on-Sea

~
O Migster

- Qlirquéenborough  ©

® Whitstable Bay

sillinghar
Gillingham

Whitstable

~
X e
O
[ ] sittingbourne. _‘O‘ .
A~ > GOOYLNE <
O /@ =0 -

, @ >1.182

Figure 2-54 Education Sites Across Swale

AECOM

" —
] A=COM

& —-—

d PROJECT

il swale Local Cycling and

B Walking Infrastructure Plan

H cLENT

Swale Borough Council

B CONSULTANT

H AECOM Limited

B Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

d StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
d T +44-1727-53-5000

H www aecom com

H LEGEND

: ) study Avea

Number of Pupils

<129
130 - 330
331- 620
621- 1,181

Q0 ® e

H NOTES

Bl contains0S Data® Crown
B Copyrightand database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM

H Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
H mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

H StAlbans, ALT 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
Www.aecom.com

LEGEND
# =5tudy Area
s‘ —— National Cycle Network
B Public Rights ofWay

——— Cycle Routes/ Lanes

Walking Isochrones from
H Schools

- Approximate 10 Minute Walk

Approximate 20 Minute Walk

- Approximate 30 Minute Walk
I Swale Education Sites

H NOTES

8 Contains OS Data ® Crown
Bl Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 2-55: Walking Distances from Swale Education Sites

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM
Tourism Table 2-4 Volume of Tourism by Trip Type Across Swale
Tourism is an increasingly important facet of
) . . Trips Nights Spend
Swale’s gconomy, with the visitor economy Trip Purpose
value estimated to be £173,481,000, and tour- Total % Share Total % Share Total % Share
ism-related employment accounting for 8% of  Holiday 139,400 54% 642,200 61% 29,452,600 75%
all employment In S_W'ale [8] Table 2-_4 illus- Visits to Friends and Relatives 110,800 43% 374,000 36% 6,701,300 17%
trates the total tourism numbers by trip type. It
can be seen that holidays comprise the major-  gher 6,000 20, 28,100 39% 2,378,000 6%
ity of tourism trips to Swale, followed by visits )
, , Business 2,000 1% 6,700 1% 744,100 2%
to friends and relatives.
Total 258,200 100% 1,051,000 100% 39,276,000 100%
450
Y 400
g 350
™ 3
[ £ 300
" 2 250
w =
© 200
E 150
s
= 100
50
0
& L9
s\o"é S o"b & ¥ & & ‘s@"s o @'b\z N \'\\(‘% ¥
N N & Q 'S > & S N S i G "
?f: 0&‘2; be Y @Qﬁ 'b\b @Q’ @1& A q}\:\\ bqa'?/
& & N S &
2 O &
Q‘f’ ) »\\)
QC){*‘ 069
8] https:/ District A
www.swalemeansbusiness.co.uk/ W Total Domestic and Overseas Staying Trips ("000)

__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/437264/
Economic-Impact-of-Tourism-Swale- Figure 2-56 Total Domestic and Overseas Trips per District

Report-2021.pdf



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Perceptions of Existing Facilities

There were two key sources of information
gathered to understand the perception of
walking and cycling facilities across Swale:
‘Widen my Path’ and “Your Everyday Trips’.
These two sources of information are as-
sessed in more detail below. ‘Widen my Path’
is an online open data portal through which
one can leave feedback on the walking and
cycling infrastructure. The “Your Everyday
Trips’ survey was undertaken in summer 2022
by Visit Swale to better understand active
travel patterns and barriers to walking or cy-
cli%g.

Figure 2-57 illustrates, there is a large
ndnber of ‘Widen my Path’ comments across
SEaIe, largely concentrated in and around Fa-
vadrsham and Sittingbourne and to the north-
west of the Isle of Sheppey. In total, 314 com-
ments were received (as of 11/10/2023) and
comments were classified into three catego-
ries: track, closure and cycleways. 115 com-
ments were received in relation to tracks
(wider footpaths and pavements), 52 in rela-
tion to closures (traffic filters to prevent things
such as rat-running) and 147 in relation to cy-
cleways (creating space on roads and junc-
tions, segregated from vehicles). These can
be seen in more detail in Figure 2-60. These
comments have been considered at the stage
of developing the interventions for the pro-
posed routes.

The “Your Everyday Trips’ survey was another

AECOM

| ASCOM

- Swale Local Cycling and
f Walking Infrastructure Plan

aaaaaaa

H cLENT
_ Swale Borough Council

f| consUuLTANT

H AECOM Limited

H Marlborough Court

H 10 Bricket Road

| stAibans, AL1 30X, UK
H T +44-1727-53-5000
| www.aecom.com

H LEGEND
: ) study Area

o ®H
; ® Widen My Path Comments
Whitstable 8a H

& & i
P {Whitstable = $

Gillgillingham
[

: NOTES

H Contains 05 Data ® Crown
H copyrigntand database right 2020

Figure 2-57 Location of "Widen my Path' Comments Across Swale

source of information to better understand
perceptions of existing facilities across
Swale. Respondents were asked about their
access to various travel modes, whether
they use a car for their typical everyday trips,

and if so, whether they would consider mak-
ing this trip using active modes. Respond-
ents were also asked what they consider
barriers to carrying out their everyday trips
by walking, cycling or wheeling.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Figure 2-58 to Figure 2-60 illustrate the re-
sponses received to the survey in more detail.
Notably, the vast majority of respondents pri-
marily had access to a car or van, which sug-
gests private car users are over-represented
in this survey, and only 16% of respondents
reported that they would use active modes for
their everyday journey. The reasons for this
are provided in Figure 2-60, which includes
reasons such as their trips being too far to
walking or cycle, or safety concerns.

208, 40%

GiT obed

= Yes = Notapplicable =No

Figure 2-59 '"Your Everyday Trips': Number of re-
spondents who use a car for their everyday trip,

and would consider doing it by walking, wheeling or
cycling

Electric Vehicle
Motorbike

Mobhility Scooter

Electric Bicycle or tricycle
Electric Scooter

Bicycle or Tricycle

Mode

Scooter

Skateboard

Other (please specify)
Mone

Car or Van (Petrol or Diesel)

=]
L
=]

100 150 200 250

Number of Responses

Figure 2-58 'Your Everyday Trips': Respondents' Access to Travel Modes

Other (please specify)
Not applicable
Transporting children
Too much tocarry
No access to a bicycle
Complexity of journey

Time

Response

Too much traffic

Traffic too fast

Poor pavements

Poor paths

Poor cycle infrastructure
Safety

Too far to walk or cycle

Number of Responses

Figure 2-60 'Your Everyday Trips': Barriers to carrying out walking, cycling and wheeling

AECOM

300

90



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Active Travel Flows and Demand
Strava Metro Data

Strava Metro data has been obtained to identi-
fy key origin and destination patterns for ac-
tive travel across Swale. The data is from
GPS information that is available when users
track their physical activity on Strava applica-
tion. It is then aggregated and displayed as
origins and destinations.

It is worth noting that this sample size is po-
tentially relatively small. Exercise trips or long-
er distance commuting journeys are more like-
ly to be recorded on Strava than general utility
and day-today journeys, therefore this analy-
si@should be used in conjunction with other
a&{ve travel demand data as an indication of
fl%vs across Swale.

Data has been obtained for walking and cy-
cling origins and destinations (as shown in
Figure 2-61 to Figure 2-64). It can be seen
that for both walking and cycling, key origins
and destinations concentrate around Sit-
tingbourne, Faversham and the villages of
Minster-on-Sea, Sheerness and Queenbor-
ough on the Isle of Sheppey. Across all fig-
ures, the cycling destinations indicate the
most variance in spatial location, with a num-
ber of trips being located across rural Swale.

Figure 2-61 highlights the most frequent rout-
ings of cyclists across Swale. STRAVA
Heatmap does not provide actual user counts
and should therefore only be used as an indic-

Figure 2-61 Strava Global Heatmap Rides (Cycle Flows) in Swale

AECOM

High




AECOM

Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM

PROJECT

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Counci

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX. UK
T +441727-53-5000
www.aecom com

CONSULTANT

LEGEND
) swdy &ea

Strava Metro Total
Cycling Trips - Origins
0-210
1. 705
706 - 1610

LEGEND

vty sea
Strava Metro Total
Cycling Trips -
Destinations

0.155

156 - 530

531
- 1.176 -2.930
. 233110275

1,611 -4.320
4.321-9895

NOTES

NOTES

Figure 2-62 Strava Metro Cycling Origins Across Swale

Figure 2-63 Strava Metro Cycling Destinations Across Swale

ative visual tool. It shows 'heat’, built by the
number of active travel journeys which have
been recorded on different routes. The flows
demonstrate that while there is significant
cycle activity within urban areas, there are
also significant flows along inter-urban rout-

ings. There are high flows of cycle trips rec-
orded between Faversham, Sittingbourne
and the Isle of Sheppey. It should be noted
that STRAVA users typically record journeys
for leisure purposes and therefore more reg-
ular commuting trips may be underrepresent-

ed. Cyclist flows generally follow the highway
network in the District but avoid busier
stretches of the network. For example, be-
tween Faversham and Sittingbourne there
are higher flows along Lower Road than the
A2 (London Road).



AECOM

Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and

Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

‘Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited

St Albans, AL1 3JX. UK

T +44-1727-53-5000

www.aecom com

:
H
& 2

B, _szd o

1 PR 4
2 .88 al 22
Blafss=Soss Bl it
sazE(I0NNN 2l 38

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and

Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

Coatains 05 Data © Crown

Copyright and database right 2020

$zeS-an

Figure 2-65 Strava Metro Walking Destinations Across Swale

Figure 2-64 Strava Metro Walking Origins Across Swale




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Propensity to Cycle Tool

The Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT) [9] is a
Department for Transport funded tool which
uses origin-destination data to explore and
map cycling levels of both existing and poten-
tial future commuters based on a number of
scenarios. The two scenarios used within this
analysis are the following:

. The Census 2011 scenario: demon-
strates the baseline cycle flows based on
the 2011 Census

. The ‘Go-Dutch’ scenario: demonstrates
what could happen if areas had invest-
ment to build the same infrastructure and
cycling culture equivalent to the Nether-

g lands.

T PCT results are person-based, rather
th'En trip-based and therefore represent the
n&thbers of people commuting, based on their
typical main mode of travel.

Figure 2-66 to Figure 2-67 illustrate the cycle
flows based on the three above-mentioned
scenarios.

The Census 2011 scenario shows relatively
low levels of cycling between towns on the
Isle of Sheppey and also between Sit-
tingbourne and Faversham, typically with few-
er than 6 users. There are several routes with-
in Sittingbourne and Faversham which experi-
enced 6 — 13 users, with only one road be-
tween Sheerness and Queenborough experi-
encing more than 13 users.

. Gillingham

Whitstable

Figure 2-66 PCT Tool: Census 2011 Scenario

[9] https://www.pct.bike/m/?r=kent

AECOM

| A=COM

 Swale Local Cycing and
i walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

| swaie Borough Councll

| consULTANT

AECOM Limited

N Mariborough Court
B 108
l StAbans, AL1 X, UK
B T +44.1727-53-5000

Bl Www.aecom.com

Road

H LEGEND

H [ suy mves
M Number of Cyclists in
] 2011 Census

0 (NIA;
0.2
2-6
6-13

—13.23



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

In the Go Dutch scenario, there are rural and
urban areas which would be expected to ex-
perience significant uplift in cycle flows, nota-
bly, Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheerness
would experience flows of up to 80 cyclists.
There is also expected to be significant in-
crease in cyclists travelling east-west on the
Isle of Sheppey, as well as more rural flows
(albeit relatively low flows).

A limitation of the PCT is its focus on commut-
ing and school trips, therefore the existing and
future routes are concentrated around key
employment and education sites. The PCT
results were used alongside an analysis of
néﬁ-commuting and leisure trips to enable the
d&velopment of a cycle network that also in-

clllees leisure and recreation trips.

o)
o

S/
Sheerness /

wade

Gillingham

sittingboume

2 p

Minster-on-Sea

rJ\Fav«sham

0 075 160 3

Whitg

N

Figure 2-67 PCT Tool: Go Dutch Scenario

AECOM

| A=COM
A |

jll Swale Borough Councll

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

i CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited

N Mariborough Court
10 Bricket Road

jl StAabans AL1 3UX, UK
B T +44.1727.53.5000

Bl Www.aecom.com

H LEGEND

H [ suoymves

Go Dutch Scenario

| Flows

<3(NA)
3.8
8-16
16- 31

| —31.80




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

VISUM Flows

VISUM is a transport modelling software
which was used to build the Kent Transport
Model. Flows of all transportation user classes
have been exported from the Kent Transport
Model in base year (2019) and future year
(2037) scenarios.

Comparing the base year and future year sce-
nario flows provides an indication of how trav-
el demand patterns are likely to change in the
Swale based on the background population
growth, the completion of new developments,
and all other growth factors considered in the
transport model.

Giﬁen that the transport model considers all
u(%er classes, only flows <10km were consid-
erpd as part of this study. These are the trips
that are within a typically cyclable distance
aéﬂ are either cycled presently or are signifi-
cant desire lines which have a high potential
for achieving modal shift.

Figure 2-68 and Figure 2-69 shows the PM
peak in the 2019 base year and 2037 future
year. The highest volume of flows is located in
Faversham, Sittingbourne and between the
towns of Minster-on-Sea, Queensborough and
Sheerness on the Isle of Sheppey. It can be
noticed that there is significant amount of rela-
tively short car trips around Sittingbourne, in-
cluding between Newington and Borden.

Flows are expected to increase significantly in
the future year scenario. Sittingbourne is a lo-

/ Sitingbourne

% g

LR

« i Favorsham

0 07515
Contains O3 vl Qi own Cex

Figure 2-68 VISUM 2019 PM Peak Flows - All User Classes

AECOM

] A=COM
: -

H PROJECT

H Swale Local Cydling and

[ Walking Infrastructure Plan
 cLent

l Swale Borough Council

4 CONSULTANT

[l AECOM Limied

B Mariborough Court

[ 10 Bricket Road

M StAlbans, AL13JX. UK
[l T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

H LEGEND
é DS‘.{-:,- Area

[ VISUM Flows
il 2019 PM Peak Flows <10km

<10
10.20
- 20-30

| w—0-40
N e 10



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

cation with notable increases in flow and with-
in the future scenario there are multiple flows
modelled with >40 users. Although the flows
remain low in comparison to the intra-urban
flows, there are increases modelled on many
inter-urban flows in Swale in the 2037 future
year scenario and also flows to and within
more rural areas. Demand is predicted to in-
crease on both the Isle of Sheppey and in ru-
ral Swale. This indicates potential future de-
mand for cycling in these locations.

ZGT obed

Minstec-on-Sea

’I
a
7
77 Faversham
7]
¥
]
™\
|
/ N\g
, \
y %

Whitstable

Figure 2-69 VISUM 2037 PM Peak Flows - All User Classes

AECOM

. —

] A=COM

H PROJECT

{l Swale Local Cydling and

: Walkmg Infrastructure Plan
 cLEnT

l Swale Borough Council

4 CONSULTANT

ll AECOM Limaed

B Mariborough Court

[ 10 Bricket Road

Bl StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
[l T +44-1727-53-5000
M www.aecom.com

H LEGEND
H [ stuoy Avea

H VISUM Flows
ll 2037 PM Peak Flows <10km

<10
10.20

f ——20.%
i w— 30 - 40
| Bl

] NOTES

W Contaics OS Data © Crown
[ Copyright and catabane s 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Physical Constraints and Severance
Features

Topography

The topography (illustrated as elevation) in
Swale can be seen in Figure 2-70. Flood
zones are also depicted on the map. Flood
Zone 2 represents areas with a medium prob-
ability of flooding, while Flood Zone 3 repre-
sents areas with a high probability of flooding.

The topography across Swale is extremely
diverse, with high east-west elevation south of
Swale which forms part of the North Downs.
The Isle of Sheppey, in contrast is character-
ised by low-lying land, covered by Flood Zone
270

'I‘%)ography, or the physical landscape of an
agea, can significantly affect people's propen-
siggto cycle and walk. Additionally physical
constraints and severance can impact the fea-
sibility of constructing new infrastructure.

Figure 2-70 Topography Across Swale

AECOM

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT

Swale Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, AL1T X, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND
) sudy Avea
Topography

Elevation (m)
— 10+ 0

/ —0-30

30-70
—T70-130
— 130 - 290
[ Flood Zone 3
[) Flood Zone 2

NOTES

Contans OS Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Air Quality

The below data discusses concentrations of
nitrogen dioxide at various monitoring sites
across Swale from the 2023 Air Quality Annu-
al Status Report (ASR) [10]. The average an-
nual concentration of nitrogen dioxide (NO2)
in the air is measured in micrograms per cubic
meter (ug/m3). Concentrations above 40 ug/
m3 are considered an exceedance of the an-
nual mean NO2 as set out in the objectives of
the National Air Quality Strategy [11]. In re-
sponse to this, local authorities have identified
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAS).
These are areas for which the local authority
is;eeveloping an Air Quality Action Plan to im-
p&ve air quality and reduce pollution levels
within a designated area. The AQMAs across
Sgble can be seen in Figure 2-71.

Swale Borough Council has declared six AQ-
MAs at the following locations [12]:

. AQMA 1: Newington, (A2 / High St) - de-
clared in 2009

. AQMA 2: Ospringe Street, Faversham
(A2/Ospringe) declared in June 2011
and revised (as AQMA 6) to the Mount in
May 2016. AQMA 2 has now been re-
voked and renamed and consolidated
into one as AQMA 6

. AQMA 3: East Street, Sittingbourne (A2 /
Canterbury Road) - declared January
2013;

. AQMA 4: St Paul’s Street, Milton, Sit-

AECOM

Table 2-5 NO2 concentrations at AQMAs across Swale (December 2023)

AQMA

Compliance with Air Quality Objective

Recommendation from 2023 ASR

AQMA 1 - Newington Yes (3 years

Ongoing monitoring

AQMA 2 — East Street Yes (4 years

Revoke AQMA

AQMA 3 — St Paul's Street

Ongoing monitoring

AQMA 4 — Teynham Yes (5 years

Revoke AQMA

)
)
Yes (3 years)
)
)

AQMA 5 — Ospringe Street Yes (3 years

Ongoing monitoring

AQMA 6 — Keycol Hill No

tingbourne (B2006) - declared January
2013 — October 2020 an amendment
was made to include PM10 exceedanc-
es (24 hr mean) in addition to the NO2
exceedance (annual mean)

. AQMA 5: Teynham (A2 / London Rd) -
declared December 2015

. AQMA 6: Ospringe Street, Faversham
(A2/Ospringe) (revised from AQMA 2)
to the Mount in May 2016

. AQMA 7: Keycol Hill — declared Octo-
ber 2020

Swale Borough Council has undertaken
monitoring of these AQMAs to assess NO2
and PM10 levels at the 6 AQMAs. Results
published in December 2023 indicate an
overall improvement in NO2 at all sites. The
only exceedance reported was at Keycol Hill,

Ongoing monitoring

and all other sites were reported as compli-

ant with the required objective NO2 level of

40 pg/m3. The results of the monitoring un-

dertaken and the associated recommenda-

tion for each AQMA can be seen in Table 2-
5.

[10] https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/
pdf_file/0005/457835/ASR-2023_-
Final_24 10 _2023_updated-PDF-AA.pdf

[11] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-
air-quality-strategy-for-england-scotland-wales-and-
northern-ireland-volume-1

[12] https://swale.gov.uk/bins-littering-and-the-
environment/air-quality/monitoring



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

As NO2 monitoring has been undertaken us-
ing diffusion tubes, to account for the associ-
ated uncertainty with this monitoring method,
it is recommended that revocation of an AQ-
MA should be considered following three con-
secutive years of annual mean NO2 concen-
trations being lower than 36 pg/m3 — within
10% of the annual mean NO2 objective.

According to DEFRA guidance, the AQMAs
on East Street and Teynham qualify for revo-
cation, whereas monitoring for the other AQ-
MAs is required as they have not seen three
consecutive years of annual mean NO2 con-
centrations being lower than 36 ug/m3.

Swale Borough Council has an extensive net-
w@k of air quality monitoring sites across the
rict, comprised of 86 NO2 diffusion tubes
dgployed at 76 locations. In 2022, one diffu-
sigilh tube picked up an annual mean NO2 ex-
ceedance, compared to 13 in 2019.

Across Swale, areas of air quality exceedanc-
es in Swale are in town centres near busy
roads. Encouraging modal shift to cycling and
walking has the potential to reduce NO2 emis-
sions by reducing vehicle traffic and conges-
tion.

Figure 2-71 AQMAs Across Swale

AECOM

| A=COM

H Swale Local Cycing and
i walking Infrastructure Plan

j CLIENT
ll Swale Borough Councll

| consULTANT

AECOM Limited

N Mariborough Court
10 Bricket Road

l StAbans, AL1 X, UK
B 7 +44.1727.53-5000

B www.aecom.com

H LecenD

H ciz.a,.‘.vu
i 773 nouas



A=COM i

\/

03

Stage 3: Network Planning
for Cycling




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

AECOM

Stage 3: Network Planning for Cycling

Introduction

The evidence presented in the previous sec-
tions informed the identification of potential
cycling infrastructure improvements and key
cycle routes.

Technical guidance on the identification of cy-
cling routes is published by the DfT. Figure 3-
1 shows an overview of the process, as
shown in the LCWIP Guidance. Route selec-
tion was an iterative process, which built on
aB-Ebvidence base of current and future trip
erators, cycling travel patterns and the ex-
isting and planned active travel network.

Tgi-ls section presents the identification of the
initial routes and the outcome of the stake-
holder engagement that contributed to consid-
ering and accommodating local daily travel
needs, as well as defining the final network.

0 0
Soy = oo =3

Identifying and cluster- Establishing desire Planning the cycling
ing key trip origin and lines to represent cy- network and identify-
destination points cle movement be- ing improvements

tween clusters

Figure 3-1: Summary of Cycling Network Generation Stages




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Key Origins and Destina-
tions

To identify the potential demand across the
proposed cycling network, key origin and des-
tination points across Swale were mapped.
This was based on the data that was collected
during the Information Gathering stage (Stage
2), specifically utilising the location of key trip
generators and population and employment
densities. Some examples of significant trip
generators can be found in Table 3-1.

Concentrations of origin and destination points
in.ﬁ)cations of high population and employ-
n@nt density were grouped as clusters. Key
septlements outside the Swale border were
alg_lo considered in the analysis to recognise
thepsignificance of cross-border trips.

It is important to highlight that trip origins and
destinations that were not considered large
enough to generate or attract significant cy-
cling flows were not included in the origin and
destination clusters. Trip origins and destina-
tions which were excluded were those which
were isolated and comparatively small in
terms of their population and employment
density.

For the purpose of this report origin clusters
are defined as areas where the majority of
trips would originate, while destination clusters
are those areas where the majority of trips
would terminate. Where there was a combina-

Table 3-1: Key Examples of Significant Trip Generators

Trip Generators

Education Facilities (Nursery, Primary, Secondary, College,

Rail Stations University)

Bus Stops Healthcare Sites (Hospital, Medical Care Accommodation)
Population Centre Cultural Facility (Museum, Library)

Residential Development Site Sports or Exercise Facility

Employment Development Site Religious Building

Mixed-Use Development Site Retail Site

Tourist Attraction

tion of origin and destination purpose, the
cluster was categorised according to the
highest proportion of either origin or destina-
tion points within the cluster.

It was taken into consideration that points
such as train stations could be considered as
both an origin and a destination, however,
for the purposes of this analysis they were
categorised as destinations.

Figure 3-2 below illustrates the identified
origin and destination clusters within Swale
and the cross-border clusters outside Swale
which were identified as part of the KCWIP.

A list of the identified origin and destination
clusters can be seen in Appendix A.

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Figure 3-2: Trip Origin and Destination Clusters

A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Pian

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limfted
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALT X, UK
T +44.1727.53-5000
WWw aecom.com

LEGEND

) sudyAvea
[ Onigin Clusters
[) Destinason Clusters

[ KCWIP Cross Border Clusters

NOTES

Contains OS Data ® Crewn
Copyrightand catabase nght 2020

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Desire Lines = N | A=COM
PROJECT
Desire lines in this context are indicative links A ek Loca Cycng g

between origin and destination clusters that
reflect the level of demand to travel between
two locations. The indicated desire lines do
not link to existing infrastructure, nor do they
reflect the proposed routes. The process of
identifying and classifying desire lines, follow-
ing the clustering of key origin and destination
points, is described in this section.

CLIENT
Swale Borough Counci

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, ALT X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
wWWWw aecom com

LEGEND

Identification

The identification of desire lines was an itera-
tivg process using the Propensity to Cycle
T8ol (PCT), analysis of origin and destination
pents, existing LCWIP routes and information
c%lj-rected in Stage 2 of the LCWIP.

Afitional cross-border desire lines which .

were identified as significant to the borough-
wide network as part of the analysis were also X
included in the desire line identification. This is SR roree

because there are a number of significant set- Ll

tlements which either represent significant TR e
current demand or potential future demand.

It was considered important to include these
cross-border desire lines in this analysis to
firstly uncover potential suppressed demand
as a consequence of poor cross-border con- tractors to the settlements which the desire
nectivity and secondly to ensure there is a bal- lines connect.

ance of longer and shorter routes. The longer
routes would be able to connect smaller, rural
towns which alone are not significant trip at-

Figure 3-3: Identified Desire Lines

The identified desire lines can be seen in

Figure 3-3.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Classification

The relative importance of each desire line to
the wider network needs to be understood in
order to assess the number of cyclists they
will serve in the future if taken forward. As per
the DfT guidance, desire lines were classified
as ‘primary’, ‘secondary’ and ‘local’, based on
the following characteristics:

. Primary: High flows of cyclists are fore-
cast along desire lines that link large res-
idential areas to trip attractors such as a
town or city centre.

. Secondary: Medium flows of cyclists are
forecast along desire lines that link to trip
attractors such as schools, colleges, and
employment sites.

Local: Lower flows of cyclists are fore-
cast along desire lines that cater for local
cycle trips, often providing links to prima-
ry or secondary desire lines.

T9T abed

As can be seen from the above desire line
classifications from the DfT LCWIP guidance,
the process of classifying desire lines is deep-
ly rooted in demand. Whilst demand is an im-
portant facet of desire lines, the geographic
scope and objectives of this LCWIP required
the consideration of other factors to ensure an
even balance between urban and rural areas
as well as focusing on connecting smaller
towns into larger settlements.

Initially, 650 desire lines were identified. How-

Table 3-2: Desire Lines for Consideration

AECOM

Swale LCWIP
KCWIP SBC Ret_:ommenda-
Primary Secondary Local tions
31 84 221 5 9
Total Desire Lines 350

ever, it was not feasible to classify all of
these lines, so those greater than 10 km and
less than 1.5 km were excluded. Desire lines
over 10 km were excluded because the fo-
cus of this LCWIP is primarily on connecting
rural towns to larger settlements and improv-
ing overall connectivity within rural Swale.
These longer desire lines typically represent-
ed inter-urban routes.

Desire lines shorter than 1.5 km were ex-
cluded due to the extensive coverage of
planned and proposed active travel schemes
in urban areas, where these shorter lines
were generally located. As expected, these
shorter, urban desire lines scored high in the
classification due to high PCT demand, pop-
ulation density, and employment density.
Therefore, excluding them was important to
ensure a balance of urban and rural routes
and to create an LCWIP approach based on
more than just demand.

In addition to the desire lines identified in this
analysis, the KCWIP cross-border desire
lines were also considered along with sug-
gestions from Swale Borough Council (SBC).

Table 3-2 shows the number of desire lines
which were taken forward for classification.

Classification example

Table 3-4 provides examples of two desire
lines classified as primary and local: the Sell-
ing to Central Faversham Business Area de-
sire line and the Kemsley Developments to
Sheerness Industrial Areas desire line.

Each desire line was evaluated against spe-
cific criteria, receiving a score between 0 and
3 for each criterion. For instance, the follow-
ing method was used to assign the overall
score to the Selling to Central Faversham
Business Area desire line (classified as lo-
cal), as detailed in Table 3-4.

For the anticipated flows criterion, the high-
est PCT value along this desire line was
greater than 22, scoring it ‘High’. The mean
PCT flow along this desire line was less than
7, scoring it ‘Low’. Both the highest and
mean PCT scores were used to ensure that
desire lines passing through urban areas did
not exclusively score higher than more rural
desire lines.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Additionally, a network gap criterion was in-
cluded to assess whether this desire line fills a
network gap, which is crucial for ensuring an
urban/rural balance and a cohesive proposed
cycling network. This desire line scored 3 for
filling a network gap. The PCT and network
gap scores were averaged to provide an over-
all flow score.

Next, the origin cluster was assessed based
on its population density and whether there is
a planned or committed development. The
origin cluster of this desire line had a popula-
tion density of less than 2,084, scoring ‘Low’.
It did not have a planned or committed devel-
oé?nent, so it also scored ‘Low’ on this criteri-
df An overall origin cluster score of 1 was as-
silg_ned to this desire line's origin cluster.

T% same approach was used to assign a
destination cluster score of 2 to this desire line
by assessing the destination cluster against
employment density and the presence of a
site allocation.

Based on these scores for demand, origin,
and destination clusters, an overall classifica-
tion score of 2.3 was assigned to this desire
line, making it a Local desire line as it scored
in the lowest third of overall scores.

Table 3-3: Desire Line Classification Criteria

AECOM

Criteria Description Score
1 PCT Value (Go-Dutch scenario) - Highest Value Min.100m: -
High: Flows >22 High: 3
Medium: Flows 7-22 Medium: 2
Low: Flows <7 '
Anticipated No Flows Low: 1
2 Flows Network Gaps: Desire line passes within 300m of the NCN: No Flows: 0
High: <17% within 300m of the NCN o Flows:
Medium: 17% - 34% within 300m of the NCN Overall demand score assigned
Low: 34% - 50% within 300m of the NCN using matrix
None: >50% within 300m of the NCN
3 Population Density: People Per KM (PPKM)
High: >8020 -
Medium: 3534 - 8020 High: 3
Low: <3534 Medium: 2
Classifications based on Natural Jenks
Origin Size Low: 1
4 Site Allocation: the size of committed residential develop- ow.
m.ents (sgm) relative to one another. Overall origin score assigned using
High: >66% matrix
Medium: 33% - 66%
Low: <33%
5 Employment Density: People Per KM (PPKM)
High: >33 -
Medium: 11 - 33 High: 3
Low: <33 Medium: 2
Destination Classifications based on Natural Jenks
6 Size Site Allocation: the size of committed employment develop- Low: 1

ments (sgm) relative to one another.
High: >66%

Medium: 33% - 66%

Low: <33%

Overall destination score assigned
using matrix




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Table 3-4: Desire Line Classification Examples

Desire Lines Classification

Flow Metwork Overall

Highest Value Mode Value score gap  score Crigin Destination
Feople . Site - .. Employees _. Site oD §p .

- Length PCT PCT PCT PCT Score Score Score Size - Score of Origin Origin Size . Score of Dest. Overall ., ...
Origin Dest. ) ) ) per KM allocation . N per Ha allocation . averall Classification
{km) Value Demand Value Demand (0-3) (0-3)  (0-3) (PpKm) (PpKm} (size) allocation size score (EpH) (EpH) e allocation score — Score

E @
2 1,167
% e % 589 =22 High =7 Low 2.0 3.0 25 =2 084 Low Small  Small 1 3 450_ Med. Small 2 2 23 Local
= - ! -

£g

& @

O

g 824 =22 High =7 Low 20 20 20 =2034 Low 726615 Large Large 3 =1,167 Low 1,652,667 Large 3 9 55 Primary

|
osSmaRed
Sheemness Industrial
5




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

As shown in Figure 3-4, the outputs of the de-
sire line classification process include clear
primary desire lines between Sittingbourne
and Faversham and connecting to the Isle of
Sheppey.

There are also several Primary desire lines
connecting the towns on Sheppey, as well as
rural towns outside of Sittingbourne. The local
desire lines, in turn, represent longer routes
that connect to the primary desire lines.

9T abed

N

i !
‘ .

WiRainham Whitstoble Soy

-
-
-
»

-
Whitstadle
-

R
_________

0 075 16 3 45 6
©5 cats® héwn C

Contairs Coppright and cetsten @ rght 2020

Figure 3-4: Classified Desire Lines

AECOM

-
A=COM
PROJECT
Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT
Swaje Borough Councll

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAIbans, ALT 3UX, UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WWWw._aecom.com

LEGEND

maudyhea
= w KCWAP Cross Border Desire
Lines

w— Primary Desire Lines

— Secondary Desire Lines
Local Desire Lines
S8C’s Recommendations

NOTES

Contans OS Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Figure 3-5 demonstrates the desire lines
taken forward for route selection. As shown,
cross-border KCWIP desire lines were
included, along with the highest scoring desire
lines.

n | A=COM

PROJECT )
Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
A "

Secondly, overlapping desire lines or those
with similar origins and destinations were
merged to ensure comprehensive coverage
across Swale.

LEGEND

) sudyaea
Desire Line 1

Thirdly, the next highest scoring desire lines

were identified, such as those connecting the :

Sheppey Towns and Bapchild. No desire lines 5

in Faversham were taken forward due to an |

existing LCWIP already covering the town. Rl 7

Additionally, no desire lines were taken [psaene

f@ard on the Isle of Sheppey because the |
ppey Towns LCWIP was being produced

ajongside the Swale LCWIP. This meant that

athis stage, the focus of this LCWIP was on

Sittingbourne. Chapter 5 of this report

provides more information on how the Swale

LCWIP and Sheppey Towns LCWIP were o

merged after the route networks were | e ——
identified and before public consultation. EEAAgT o To NI A AR RSN /N SN T o ot pearomrepittemyy B | Coms
Therefore, the focus of the proposed cycling

network was on Sittingbourne and the east- Figure 3-5: Desire Lines for Route Selection

west and north-south movements connecting
the town. This is because of the large number

of primary desire lines in this area, selection represent current priorities for SBC.
representing significant current and future Other desire lines are not discarded for
cycling demand, as well as a notable gap in future analysis but have not been identified
planned/proposed schemes. as primary at this stage. This prioritisation is

subject to further updates based on changes

The desire lines taken forward for route



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Identified Network

The identified network is shown in Figure 3-6
and the alignment of each route is described
below.

CR1- Kemsley to Faversham: This route
provides an east-west corridor connecting Fa-
versham and Sittingbourne from Kemsley rail
station. It follows the proposed KCWIP align-
ment after going through Murston, running
parallel to the A2 and south of the NCN before
heading towards Faversham through Four
Oaks where it connects into a route proposed
in the Faversham LCWIP.

CR2 — Kemsley to South Sittingbourne:
Tdis route connects Kemsley station to south
sffingbourne. It follows the B2005 which is
parnt of the NCN from just south of the B2005/
S%Dndstone Drive/Grovehurst Avenue rounda-
bout. The route then crosses the A2 connect-
ing to Memorial Hospital in Sittingbourne and
Sittingbourne Recreation Ground and finishes
by Fulston Manor school, which has approxi-
mately 1,300 pupils.

CR3 - Grove Park to Eurolink Business
Park: This route connects the Grove Park/
Grove Park Primary School with south Sit-
tingbourne, up to the A2. The priority route
crosses the A2, connecting Westlands Prima-
ry School, Fulston Manor School and the Sit-
tingbourne school. This provides a crucial east
-west connection across south Sittingbourne.
The alternative route routes north through Mil-

ton Regis Recreation Ground and Sit-
tingbourne Station before crossing the A2
and rejoining the priority route at the junction
of Swanstree Avenue and Highstead Road.
This route provides a vital connection be-
tween the station and large schools to the
south of Sittingbourne.

CR4 - Sittingbourne to Sheerness: Routes
north along Senora Way in Sittingbourne to
Quinton Road via lwade and Swale Station
along the NCN. The route connects to the
A2500, providing a valuable north-south con-
nection from the Isle of Sheppey to Sit-
tingborough.

CRS5 - Sittingbourne to Eurolink Business
Park: This route connects Sittingbourne Sta-
tion to Eurolink Business Park through Milton
Creek Country Park. It routes north along the
B2006 via the NCN before heading along
Gas Road before turning right into Milton
Creek Country Park, utilising PRoWs to
route towards Swale Way. This provides an
off-road routing option through Sittingbourne.

CR6 - Grove Park to Eurolink Business
Park: This route connects Grove Park and
Eurolink Business Park. The priority con-
nects Sittingbourne station as well as a num-
ber of planned developments in the town
centre. The priority route then routes along
the A2 and provides a crucial connection un-
der the railway to connect to Eurolink Way.
The route then follows Castle Road (using
the NCN) before connecting to the rounda-

AECOM

bout with Swale Way. The alternative route
connects through Milton Regis/ Milton Regis
Primary School. It then goes through Milton
Creek Country Park before utilising PRoWs to
connect to Swale Way.

CR7 - Ilwade to Bapchild: This route con-
nects lwade to Bapchild via Sheppey Way be-
fore heading east on a cycle path on Bram-
blefield Lane. It then routes along the B2005,
utilising the existing cycle lane up to the
roundabout with Castle Road. The route then
utilises Church Road, following the NCN to
Murston Road.before turning onto the A2,
past the planned housing development and
into Bapchild.

CR8 - Sittingbourne to Rainham: This route
provides a crucial cross-border connection be-
tween Sittingbourne and Rainham. The route
travels north from Sittingbourne rail station
through Milton Regis and joins the NCN on
Stickfast Lane. and then north, at which point
it joins the NCN into Rainham rail station. The
alternative route travels along the A2 for its
entirety between Sittingbourne and Rainham.

CR9 - Faversham to Canterbury: This route
provides a cross-border connection between
Faversham and Canterbury. The priority route
goes through Faversham Recreation Ground,
following PRoWs to Chalkey Road. It then
routes via a short cycle lane parallel to the A2
then leaves the A2 via Boughton-under-Blean
and Dunkirk. This road has a 30mph speed
limit for its entirety before joining the A2 again.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

At this point there is a shared pave-
ment for pedestrians and cyclists. It
then crosses the A2050, following
Church Hill and into Canterbury East
Station. This route crosses the A2050,
at which point it follows the proposed
KCWIP routes into Canterbury East
Station. The alternative route is a more
rural alignment, going through Selling
Station and to Chartham Station. This
route follows NCN Route 18, until it
connects to the priority route at Tod-
dler’s Cove.

CR10 - Ashford to Faversham: This
route connects Ashford to Faversham
viggPotter’s Corner, Throwley Forstal
e&j Potter's Corner before connecting
if® Faversham Station.

CEH — Faversham to Whitstable:
~l
This route connects Faversham to
Whitstable. It begins at Faversham
Station, going via Faversham Recrea-
tion Ground, connecting to NCN Route
1, routing through the proposed Solar
Farm before joining the NCN Route 1
again along the coast.

AECOM

| A=COM

PROJECT

wale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
wale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited

H Marlborough Court

H 10 Bricket Road

H StAlbans, AL1 30X, UK
B T +44-1727-53-5000

H www aecom com

LEGEND
1 study Area

Route 1- Kemsley to
= Faversham

— Route 2 - Kemsley to South

Sittingbourne

Route 3 Priority - Grove Park
to South Sittingbourne

_ - Route 3 Alternative - Grove

Park to South Sittingbourne

Route 4 - Sittingbourne to

= Sheemess

Route 5 - Sittingbourne to

Eurolink Business Park

Route 6 Priarity - Grove Park
to Euralink Business Park

Route 6 Alternative - Grave
il - - Parkto Eurolink Business Park

Route 7 - lwade to Bapchild

Route 8 Priority - Sittingbourne
to Rainham

Route 8 Alternative -
Sittingbourne to Rainham

— Route 9 Priority - Faversham
to Canterbury

= = Route 9 Alternative -
Faversham to Canterbury

Route 10 - Ashford to
Faversham

Route 11 - Faversham to
Whitstable

= = KCWIP Routes
NOTES

Hl Contains0S Data® Crown
B Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 3-6 Identified Cycling Network



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Stakeholder Engagement

The identified cycling network, shown in
Figure 3-7, was presented to local stake-
holders. The meeting provided a platform
to gather their opinions on the proposed
network.

Overall, the stakeholders welcomed the
identified cycling routes and used their lo-
cal knowledge to make suggestions, such
as altering the alignment of proposed
routes to make them more attractive to lo-
cal residents and ensure longer-term sup-
port. The key outcome of this meeting was
tognsure the routes are direct, where pos-
s@e avoiding car-dominated or fast roads.
THe comments received from stakeholders
agsummarised in Table 3-5.

Fl%oure 3-7 illustrates the updated proposed
cycling network, incorporating feedback
from the stakeholder engagement work-
shop. Following the decision to merge the
Swale LCWIP and Sheppey Towns LCWIP
(see Chapter 5), only the ‘primary’ routes
will be taken forward to public consultation
to manage the routes we are seeking feed-
back on.

AECOM

/CRH—

Whitstable Say

| A=COM

H swale Local Cycling and
{ \valking Infrastructure Plan

o CLIENT
H swale Borough Council

|l CONSULTANT

H AECOM Limited

H Marlborough Court

H 10 Bricket Road

{ StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
H T+44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom com

| LEGEND

fl — cr1-Kkemseyto Faversham

CR2 -Kemsley to South
g Sittingbourne

H ___ CR3-Grove Parkto South
: Sittingbourne

[l — cRre-sitingbourne to Sheerness

CRS - Sittingbourne to Eurolink
Business Park

i CR6 - Grove Park to Eurolink
Business Park

CRT - Iwade to Bapchild

CR8 - Sittingbourne to Rainham
il —— CcRr9-Faversham to Canterbury
H —— CR10 -Ashford to Faversham

Bl —— CR11-Faversham to Whitstable
CR11 - Faversham to Whitstable

(alignment TBC)
egend (Cont.)
B BN B | NOTES
0 1 2 4 6 8 £
Contains OS data @ Crown Copyright and detsbaseright 2020 Contains 0S Data ® Crown

Figure 3-7 Proposed Cycling Network Following Stakeholder Engagement

Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Table 3-5: Summary of Stakeholder Feedback

Cycling Stakeholder Comment
Route
Lower Road is very fast- a safer alternative would be suggested.
CR1 Speed limits could be amended on this route.
Currently, people who go to work between these areas use the pavement on the A2.
CR2 Using Bell Rd is very steep - potential to include stop boxes at traffic lights to make cycling easier.
Agreement with the primary connections to other routes.
The crossing with Bell Rd doesn’t recognise cyclists.
CR3 Through the housing estate would need updated lighting.
There's still challenges around crossing the A2 and Park Rd can be quite wide. Suggestion to use Sydney Avenue to avoid the currently proposed junction on the A2 which is busy
and hard to navigate.
Sections of this route are dangerous — especially from Iwade to Swale Station.
There's width restrictions along sections of this route which could be useful to increase cycling.
_UCR4 Need better access into Swale Station.
QD Cowstead Corner needs to have cyclist priority as it's very dangerous with lorries and congestion. Generally, the roundabouts along this route are a challenge with speeds and traffic
9 flows.
A~
R5 Agreed with the focus on improving the Creek park. Access to the station could be a challenge to tackle severance.
Sk
&R6 Challenge around segregating cyclists and industrial traffic.
Challenge along the A2 because segregated cycle lanes would be needed. It’s possible to use the shared path around the development instead of the A2.
CR7 Using Snipeshill is wide and there's speed cameras which could be valuable.
Need enough width for people with adapted cycles - shared use paths aren't the ideal standard as it could put peds off
CR8 A difficult route to tackle - preference is direct route but this isn’t an ideal option.
The alternative route has a lot of potholes between Faversham and Boughton Leeds.
The priority route is preferred here.
CR9
Potential to consider northern access into Canterbury
Alternative routeing suggested which goes via Oversland and Lower Endsden
Northern section of the route works, but Painters Forstall section of the route can be fast, downhill and with sharp turns. Potential to use Western Road south of Painters Forstal and
CR10 approach Throwley from the west.
Alternative suggested between Faversham and Throwley via Whitehill
CR11 Adjust the route to go via Solar Cycleway.



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Establishing Infrastructure Improve-
ments

Proposed interventions were identified
through a comprehensive desktop analysis,
that also considered other schemes currently
at the planning stage.

A total of 204 cycling interventions were iden-
tified, which included:

. Improving route continuity, overcoming
barriers and severance

. Installation of new and improved cross-
ings for cyclists

Provision of segregated cycle lanes (or
introduction of segregation to existing
facilities)

Introduction of speed limit reductions,
traffic calming and other measures to re-
duce motor traffic speed and dominance
and promote a more comfortable cycling
environment, and

. The installation of improve wayfinding
signage and enhanced street lighting.

Figure 3-8 shows the location of all the inter-
ventions required to deliver a safe cycling net-
work, while Appendix B - Appendix D pro-
vides more detail on location and description
of interventions for each route.

It is important to note that these are high-level
interventions and further study and a greater
level of investigation and assessment is re-

WR6

Whitstable Ba)

Canterbury

r.egend (Cont.)

«  Proposed Cycling Improvements

Figure 3-8 Identified Cycling Infrastructure Improvements

quired prior to design, consultation and im-
plementation. The deliverability in terms of
constraints, risks and costs for multiple op-
tions are all important considerations along-
side the relative benefits and detriments.

AECOM

wale Local Cycling and
alking Infrastructure Plan

LIENT
wale Borough Council

| CONSULTANT

H AECOM Limited

H Marlborough Court

H 10 Bricket Road

H stAbans, AL1 30X, UK
H T+44-1727-53-5000

B www.aecom.com

H LecenD

ll — cr1-Kemseyto Faversnam

CR2 - Kemsley to South

Sittingbourne
H ___ CR3-Grove Parkto South

Sittingbourne

Hl — cRé-sitingbourne to Sheemess

CRS - Sittingbourne to Eurolink
Business Park

H CR6 - Grove Park to Eurolink

Business Park
CR7 - Iwade to Bapchild
CR8 - Sittingbourne to Rainham

] — cro-Faversham to Canterbury
H —— CR10 -Ashford to Faversham
Fl —— CR11-Faversham to Whitstable

CR11 -Faversham to Whitstable

(alignment TBC)

* Proposed Cycling Improvements

H contains 0S5 Data ® Crown

Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Incorporating the Sheppey Towns
LCWIP

Two LCWIPs were undertaken simultaneously
across Swale in 2023 and 2024. One was the
Swale borough-wide LCWIP (detailed in this
report), while the other focused on the Isle of
Sheppey. The Swale LCWIP identified distinct
walking, wheeling, and cycling routes and im-
provements, whereas the Sheppey Towns
LCWIP proposed combined active travel
routes for walking and cycling.

Prior to public consultation, the Sheppey
Towns LCWIP was merged into the Swale
LCWIP to streamline the documents and pre-
sent a coherent active travel network across
tr(g borough. As a result, the cycling network
agsl interventions being consulted on by the
pu\bjlic now reflect this combined approach.

The active travel routes identified as part of
the Sheppey Towns LCWIP can be seen in
Appendix C and Appendix F.

AECOM



A=COM i

\/

Stage 4: Network Planning
for Walking




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Stage 4: Network Planning for Walking

Introduction

This section outlines the steps followed to
map the future walking network, as defined by
the DfT Local Cycling and Walking Infrastruc-
ture Plans guidance, and shown in Figure 4-1.
This iterative process incorporated current
and future trip generators, walking patterns,
the existing and planned active travel network,
and feedback from key stakeholders.

This section details the identification of the ini-
tié?routes for further development, aiming to

ourage short trips to be made on foot ra-
ther than by car. Stakeholder engagement
hetbed address local daily travel needs and
define the final network. High-level interven-
tions along the final walking routes are pre-
sented at the end of this section.

%x - ok >

Identifying key trip Identifying core walk-
generators ing zones

Figure 4-1: Summary of Walking Network Generation Stages

AECOM

N,

Establishing walking
routes and interven-
tions



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Key Trip Generators

Developing the walking network involved map-
ping the key walking trip generators to allow
the identification of origin and destination
points. This stage focuses on the key sites
which generate significant pedestrian demand
among the high number of destinations across
Swale. The key trip generators can be seen in
Figure 4-2. These included:

. Education sites with over 500 pupils
. Town centres
. Healthcare sites

Retail sites

Employment sites

)T obed

Community/ Leisure sites
. Key transport interchanges

. Planned/ committed developments

AECOM

| A=COM

B Swake Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

®  nhteron Sea CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Brket Road

l StAabans ALT 20X UK
l T +44.1727.53.5000

Bl Www. aecom.com

JJ/LESEND.
) sudy Avea

Gamngham Whitsteble o)

Whitstable

Figure 4-2 Significant Trip Attractors Across Swale

@ Most Signéicant Tnp Attractors



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Walking Zones

After identifying and mapping the key trip gen-
erators, walking isochrones representing an
approximate 15-minute walk were drawn
around each destination. The number of over-
lapping isochrones was then analysed to de-
termine the areas with the highest density of
key destinations. Core walking zones (CWZ)
(400m buffers) and walking zones (2km buff-
ers) were established around areas with multi-
ple overlapping key destinations. The out-
come of this analysis is shown in Figure 4-3.

G/ T obed

Whitstable o,

3

45
Sy g ana cawt

N

0 075 15 6
Contains OF deta'® Shéwn C a1 @ rght 2320

Figure 4-3 Density of Key Trip Attractors in Walking Distance (Isochrones) in Swale

AECOM

—
A=COM
PROJECT
Swale Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan
CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Uimited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road
StAlbans, ALT 2UX. UK
T +44.1727-53-5000
WWWw.3ecom com

LEQEND.

) sey ares

Demsity of Walking Isochrones

Lower Densty

NOTES

Contains OS Dats © Crown
CopyTight and catabase nght 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

As Figure 4-4 illustrates, walking zones were
identified in Faversham, Sittingbourne, and on
the Isle of Sheppey. The walking zones in Sit-
tingbourne and Leysdown were taken forward
to the route selection process because there
is an existing LCWIP in Faversham, and there
are several planned or ongoing active travel
schemes aimed at connecting the Sheppey
Towns and improving active travel infrastruc-
ture in this study area. This Swale LCWIP will
complement the already proposed schemes in
Faversham and the Sheppey Towns.

Route Selection

Converting the CWZs into routes for inclusion
i CWIPs is an iterative process and, along
with the route selection for cycling routes, is
= .
org of the most important elements of the
LEWIP process. The key aim was to identify
walking routes that meet core design out-
comes to create a coherent, direct, safe, com-
fortable, and attractive walking network.
These routes should link to the existing walk-
ing network and connect the key destinations
identified in the previous stage.

The identified CWZs, along with the existing
walking infrastructure serving them within the
2km buffer zones, were taken into considera-
tion to identify walking routes that would
bridge gaps in the existing network and create
a continuous and seamless walking network.

The routes were developed from data analysis
conducted up to this point, informed by vari-

AECOM

Figure 4-4 Walking Zones Across Swale

ous data sources, such as the existing active
travel network and Google Maps data. They

also aligned with Kent County Council’s Pub-
lic Rights of Way (PRoW) Improvement Plan

[13].

A=COM

Swalke Local Cycing and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
A d

LEGEND

sy
2 0

NOTES

[13] https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/
pdf_file/0005/90491/Rights-of-Way-Improvement-Plan-
2018-2028.pdf



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Identified Network

The identified network is shown in Figure 4-5
and the alignment of each route is described
below.

WR1 - Shellness to Warden: This route con-
nects Shellness to Warden via Leysdown-on-
Sea. It utilises PRoWs north from Shellness,
largely following the coastal path before con-
necting into Leysdown-on-Sea where it utilises
on-road routes.

WR2 - Sittingbourne Station to SW Sit-
tingbourne Developments: This route con-
nects Sittingbourne station with the significant
planned development in south-west Sit-
tir@bourne via Westlands Primary school. This
ra@te provides a crucial connection across the
A'Zfor pedestrians

V\H3 -Sittingbourne Station to East Sit-
tingbourne: This route connects Sit-
tingbourne station to the planned development
to the east of Sittingbourne. It routes via the
A2 from the station, continuing along Short-
lands Road, making use of the PRoWs which
connect to Peel Drive to provide a lower-traffic
alternative to using the A2. An additional arm
of this route was added to provide a valuable
north-south connection across the A2 and
south through Rectory Playing Field.

WR4 -Sittingbourne Station to Eurolink
Business Park: This route connects the sta-
tion with the Eurolink Business Park, which is

a major employment site. This route follows
the A2 before going north under railway,
then utilising the B2005 at which point it fol-
lows connects to Swale Way at the Castle
Road roundabout where it connects into a
PRoW between East Hall Wood and
Murston. This route provides a direct route
for pedestrian exiting the station and access-
ing Eurolink Business Park as well as con-
necting to PRoWs north of Sittingbourne,
creating an overall more connected network.

WRS5 - Central Sittingbourne to East Sit-
tingbourne: This route connects Sit-
tingbourne station witheast Sittingbourne. Its
core aim is to be direct and coherent to en-
courage mode shift. It connects the station
with Borden Grammar School and South Av-
enue Primary School runs just north of the
Sittingbourne School and Meadowfield
School. Crucially, this route connects to
Route 3 and Route 6 to contribute to creating
a more connected network across Sit-
tingbourne.

WR6 — SW Sittingbourne Developments
to East Sittingbourne: This route connects
the significant planned development in SW
Sittingbourne with east Sittingbourne using a
direct east-west alignment. This route con-
nects five schools: Meadowfield School,
Westlands Primary School, Highstead Gram-
mar School, Fulston Manor School and The
Sittingbourne School. Additionally, this route
connects to Route 2, Route 7 and Route 5.

AECOM

WRY7 - South Sittingbourne to Milton Creek
Country Park: Connecting south Sit-
tingbourne to Milton Creek Country Park, cre-
ating a valuable north-south walking route
across Sittingbourne. The route connects Ful-
ston Manor School, Highsted Grammar
School and Regis Manor Primary School to
Sittingbourne Station, as well as providing an
additional pedestrian connection across the
A2. The Primary alignment follows Hawthorn
Road and the Alternative alignment utilises
PRoWs to connect Dover Street with Jubilee
Street.

WRS8 — Kemsley to Eurolink Business Park:
This route connects Kemsley Station to Eu-
rolink Business Park via Milton Creek Country
Park. This will create a valuable, mostly off-
road, direct connection between the station
and the significant employment site of Milton
Creek Country Park.

WR9 - NW Sittingbourne Development to
Sittingbourne Sittingbourne Station: This
route connects the planned development in
NW Sittingbourne to Sittingbourne Station
providing a valuable, direction connection be-
tween the origin and destination points. It con-
nects Milton Coury Primary Academy/ Chil-
dren’s Centre as well as smaller develop-
ments in the centre of Sittingbourne.

WR10 - Kemsley to lwade: This route con-
nects Kemsley Station through two significant
planned developments. It routes over the
A249 junction (which will be upgraded in line



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

with the Swale Improvement Plan [14]), con-
necting to the south of Iwade via a PRoW.
Lastly, it routes through Iwade, ending at the
PRoW on School Lane.

WR11 — Kemsley to Sittingbourne Station:
This route connects Kemsley to Sit-
tingbourne Station via Mill Way. It is a cru-
cial north-south, direct connection between
Kemsley and central Sittingbourne which also
connects to smaller planned developments.
This route forms a crucial part of the wider
network, removing barriers to walking along
this car-dominated stretch of road.

W.B12 — North to South Murston: This route
pfvides a walking connection from north

rston to South Murston, which is a signifi-
cént growth site in Sittingbourne. This route
coonects to Route 4 to the north and Route 3
to the south.

WR13 - West Sittingbourne to Sit-
tingbourne Station: This route connects west
Sittingbourne with Sittingbourne Station via a
number of smaller developments in central
Sittingbourne and Chalkwell. It provides a val-
uable crossing across the railway line, con-
nects to Aspire School and the Meads Com-
munity Woodland. Whilst this route is not the
most direct alignment between the origin and
destination points, it passes through a number
of populated areas within Sittingbourne, con-
nects to other routes which form the network
and its length means that it can be picked up
at a number of different points.

Figure 4-5 Identified Walking Network

WR14 - lwade to Swale Station: This route
connects WR10 in lwade to the Sheppey
Towns LCWIP network at Swale station. It
makes use of PRoWs running adjacent to
Sheppey Way, providing a crucial off-road
walking connection with the Isle of Sheppey.

[14] https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/

AECOM

| A=COM

Swale Local Cycing and
| walking Infrastructure Plan

i CLIENT
|l Swale Borough Councll

| consULTANT

pdf_file/0005/90491/Rights-of-Way-Improvement-

Plan-2018-2028.pdf



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan AECOM

Stakeholder Engagement Table 4-1: Summary of Stakeholder Feedback
The identified walking network, shown in Fig-
ure 4-5, was presented to local stakeholders. Walking
The meeting provided a platform to gather the Route Stakeholder Comment
stakeholders’ opinion on the identified net-
work.
) . Consideration of lighting and air pollution along this route as lots of children going to school would use this.
Overall, the stakeholders welcomed the identi- WR3

. . . Add additional arm south across the A2 to facilitate the number of school children using this route.
fied walking routes and used their local

knowledge to make some suggestions such

as altering the alignment of proposed routes

or ensuring the proposed improvements con- This route goes through a more affluent area - ensure the network covers less affluent areas too.
. . . . WR6
tribute to creating safer, more direct walking Proposed alternative alignment between Homewood Avenue and Capel Road via Connught Road.

routes. The comments received from stake-
holders are summarised in Table 4-1.

Frgre 4-6 illustrates the updated proposed WR? Improvement to underpass needed.
v@king network, incorporating feedback from Alternative alignment suggested to avoid the underpass — uses Hawthorn Road between the A2 and Chalkwell Road.
th® stakeholder engagement workshop.
H
FoLlowmg the decision to merge the Swale This is primarily a car route - if an alternative route is available, this would be favoured.
L&WIP and Sheppey Towns LCWIP (see WR9

) ] Proposed a small amendment to the route at St Pauls.
Chapter 5), only the ‘primary’ routes will be

taken forward to public consultation to man-

age the number of routes for feedback. WR10 Proposed alternative route through lwade which links the new development to Grovehurst roundabout.

WR12 Proposed an additional ending to the route which extends to Gas Road.




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

R g \"4
/K N )
ﬁ/\mw ‘___/"‘\'_‘-:"\Exl(a]‘
NG,

0 5
(875

08T abed

; de
=

/
/

S
/

N/ /
- /
Rodm/arsham //

N/ fin
\~ / |

=

i
s G ainp e Conggy

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale LCWIP Routes
s WR1 - Shellness to Warden

WR2 - Sittingbourne Station to
SW Developments

WR3 - Sittingbourne Station to
E ast Sittingbourne

= WR4 - Sittingbourne Station to
Eurolink Business Park

WRS - Central Sittingbourne to
E ast Sittingbourne

—— WR6 - SW Developments to
South Sittingbourne

WR7 - South Sittingbourne to
Milton Creek Country Park

e WR - Kemsley to Eurolink
Business Park

VRS9 - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

w— WR10 - Kemsley to Iwade

v WR10 - Kemsley to Iwade
(alignment TBC)

WR11 - Kemsley to Sittingbourne
Station

s WR12 - North to South Murston
= WR13 - West Sittingbourne
m— WR14 - Ivade to Swale Station

ih_ Broom, Street Gl;‘wéie?

N /‘// N
2l

~H NoTES

=t |l
;l:éﬁ:{éser};'m ua‘ Contains 0S Data ® Crown

Copyright and datab right 2020

Figure 4-6 Proposed Walking Network Following Stakeholder Engagement

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Establishing Infrastructure Improve-
ments

Proposed interventions were identified
through a comprehensive desktop analysis,
that also considered other schemes currently
at the planning stage.

A total of 200 walking interventions were iden-
tified, which included:

. Improving route continuity and level of
provision, including overcoming barriers
and severance to pedestrian movement
along the identified routes

. Installation of new and improved pedes-
trian crossings, including upgrading un-
controlled crossings to controlled cross-
ings and introducing pedestrian priority

at key locations, and

T8T abed

Implementation of an appropriate way-
finding system.

Figure 4-7 shows the overview of the location
of all the interventions required to deliver a

safe walking network, while Appendix E and
Appendix F provides more detail on location

and description of interventions for each route.

It is important to note that these are high-level
interventions and further study and a greater
level of investigation and assessment is re-
quired prior to design, consultation and imple-
mentation. The deliverability in terms of con-

WR6

Mile Town

Halfwa, Minster

Houisa:

Queenborough

Rushenden

Desrton
Radfield Street

Mixd R

P,

Ham
st

vetof Bl
eliness

Figure 4-7 Identified Walking Infrastructure Improvements

straints, risks and costs for multiple options
are all important considerations alongside
the relative benefits and detriments.

AECOM

—
1 A=COM

H _—

H PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and

H walking Infrastructure Plan
H cLENT

l| swale Borough Council

| CONSULTANT

H AECOM Limited

i Mariborough Court

H 10 Bricket Road

H staibans, AL1 30X, UK

H T +44-1727-53-5000

H www.aecom.com

H LecenD

| swale LcWiP Routes

WR1 - Sheliness to Warden

WR2 - Sittingbourne Station to
SW Developments
WR3 - Sittingbourne Station to

£ East Sittingbourne

H — WR4-sittingbourne Station to

Eurolink Business Park
WRS - Central Sittingbourne to

H = East Sittingbourne
| — WRe - swDevelopmentsto

South Sittingbourne
WR7 - South Sttingbourne to

[l ~ wilton Creek Country Park

WRS - Kemsley to Eurolink
Business Park

WRS - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

[l — wWRr10-Kemsley to Iwade

. WR10 -Kemsley to Iwade
(@lignment TBC)

WR11 - Kemsley to Sittingbourne

Station

|l — wr12-North to South Murston
H —— wR13-west sittingbourne
| —— WR14 -1vade to Swale Station

* Proposed Walking Improvements

il NOTES
H Contains 0S Data ® Crown
‘M Copyright and database right 2020



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Incorporating the Sheppey
Towns LCWIP

Two LCWIPs were undertaken simultaneously
across Swale in 2023 and 2024. One LCWIP
was the Swale Borough-wide LCWIP (which
has been detailed in this report) and the other
focused on the Isle of Sheppey. The Swale
LCWIP identified distinct walking and wheel-
ing routes/ improvements and cycling routes/
improvements whereas the Sheppey Towns
LCWIP identified combined walking and cy-
cling active travel routes and improvements.

Si@ilar to cycling routes, the active travel
r%tes from Sheppey Towns LCWIP have
been incorporated into the Swale LCWIP in
ofger to streamline these two documents and
pggforward a coherent network of active travel
routes across the Borough. The walking net-
work and interventions which will consulted on
by the public therefore combine these two
LCWIPs.

The identified active travel routes identified as
part of the Sheppey Towns LCWIP can be
seen in Appendix C and Appendix F.

AECOM



A=COM ki

\//

Sheppey Towns LCWIP




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Sheppey Towns LCWIP Active Travel
Routes

As per the Swale LCWIP, the Sheppey Towns
LCWIP was developed in line with DfT’s
LCWIP guidance.

The identified network can be seen in Figure 5
-1. This network, together with the identified
cycling and walking networks identified
through the Sheppey LCWIP will be consulted
on as a Borough-wide LCWIP.

Establishing Infrastructure Improve-
ments

PrOposed interventions were identified
tkg)ugh a comprehensive desktop analysis
aff route audits. Some of the identified inter-

ve'?;tions included:
N
. Mini-roundabout improvements;

. Major junction improvements;
. Crossing improvements; and
. Infrastructure improvements.

Appendix C and Appendix F shows the de-
tailed routes and interventions.

Figure 5-2 and 5-3 show the LCWIP cycling
and walking networks identified as part of the
LCWIPs alongside the proposed active travel
network across Swale. This demonstrates the
interdependencies between the forthcoming
active travel schemes as well as their cover-
age across the Borough.

Springhdy”
House . \

Ripney Hil )
Farm

Blackthame
Lodge

South Lees

AECOM

A=COM

H Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Mariborough Court

10 Bricket Road

H StAlbans, AL13JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000

B www.aecom.com

LEGEND

[ Study Area
: CWR1 - Brielle Way to
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade
CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
- to Queenborough Road
(A2500)
CWR4 - Halfway Houses to
Sheemess
CWR5 - Queenborough to
Minster
CWR6 - Sheemess-on-Sea
H Railway Station to Minster
= CWRT - Power Station Road
CWRS - Main Road (B2007) to
Minster Road
i —— CWR9 - The Broadway

0 Kociamrey CWR10 - Sheppey Town

Manor —
Centre

H NOTES

B Contains 0S Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

Figure 5-1 Sheppey Towns LCWIP Active Travel Routes




Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

hath am

Sittingbotirne Route

My —

GgT abed

SLRG.Route

Herne Bay

e rhelovcle Whitstable £o L
o CR117
KCWIP Sittingbourne s
m2 =xm, to Faversham Route a2
CR1 S,
o 4 ¥
= Faversham
o ch
KCWIP Maidstone to gy LCWIP Routes

)

CRY9,
CR10 —’\qk Canterbury

Legend (Cont.)
P CWR7 - Power Station Road
e CWRS - M ain Road (B2007) to Minster Road
pe. CWRO - The Broadway
CWR10 - Sheppey Town Centre

Planned/ Proposed Schemes

[ 0% 1.25

- g 1 £
Contains OS dsta ® Crown Copyright and dsisbss e right 20208

Figure 5-2 Proposed Cycling Network Across Swale

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW.aecom.com

LEGEND

Swale LCWIP Routes

= CR1 - Kemsley to Faversham
CR2 - Kemsley to South
Sittingbourne
CR3 - Grove Park to South
Sittingbourne

— CR4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheemess

~ CR5 - Sittingbourne to

Eurolink Business Park
CRE6 - Grove Park to Eurolink
Business Park

=== CRT7 - lwade to Bapchild
CRS - Sittingbourne to
Rainham
CR9 - Favershamto
Canterbury

== CR10 - Ashford to Faversham
CR11 - Faversham to
Whitstable
CR11 - Faversham to

= 7 Whitstable (alignment TBC)

Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes
CWR1 - Brielle Way to
Rushenden
CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station
to Queenborough Road
(A2500)

CWRA4 - Halfway Houses to
Sheemess

CWRS5 - Queenborough to
Minster

CWR6 - Sheerness-on-Sea

Railway Station to Minster
NOTES

Contains 0S Data ® Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

AECOM



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

P D>

[egend (Cont)
p= C\WWR4 - Halfway Houses to Sheerness
p==== CWR5 - Queenborough to Minster
P C\WRG - Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster|
p—— CWR7 - Power Station Road

 Je CWRS - Main Road (B2007) to Minster Road
* = CWRY - The Broadway

|==== CWR10 - Sheppey Town Centre
KCWIP Walking Zone 2km Catchment

—— Planned/ Proposed Schemes

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
www.aecom com

LEGEND
Swale LCWIP Routes

«— WR1 - Shellness to Warden
WR2 - Sittingbourne Station to

SW Developments

WR3 - Sittingbourne Station to

East Sittingbourne

— WR4 - Sittingbourne Station to

Eurolink Business Park

WRS5 - Central Sittingbourne to

" East Sittingbourne

— WR6 - SW Developments to

South Sittingbourne

WR7 - South Sittingbourne to

~ Milton Creek Country Park

. WRS - Kemsley to Eurolink

Business Park

— WR9 - NW Development to

Sittingbourne Station
= WR10 - Kemsley to lwade

oo WR10 - Kemsley to lwade
(alignment TBC)
WR11 - Kemsley to
Sittingbourne Station
WR12 - North to South
Murston

= VWR13 - West Sittingbourne

— WR14 -lwade to Swale
Station

Sheppey Towns LCWIP Routes

CWR1 - Brielle Way to
Rushenden

CWR2 - Cromwell Road to
Marine Parade

CWR3 - Swale Railway Station

= to Queenborough Road
(A2500)
NOTé S

Contains 0S Data ® Crown

Figure 5-3 Proposed Walking Network Across Swale

Copyright and right 2020

AECOM



A=COM i

Summary



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

Summary

In Stage 2 of this report the area context was
outlined in terms of its demographics, existing
and future transport network, collisions, trip
generators and trip patterns.

Swale is a largely rural district but has signifi-
cant concentrations of population and employ-
ment in the main urban areas of Faversham,
Sittingbourne as well as the towns of Minster-
on-Sea, Queensborough and Sheerness on
the Isle of Sheppey.

Car ownership is generally high in the more
rukal areas of the district, but there are rela-
t'@ély low levels in the urban areas.

Tgwards the easternmost point of the Isle of
S%ppey there are also low levels of car own-
ership, despite its more rural composition.
This area of Swale has some of the highest
levels of deprivation in the country, scoring in
the lowest decile on the Index of Multiple Dep-
rivation (IMD) alongside areas of Sheerness,
Faversham and Sittingbourne. As a result of
the deprivation levels on the Isle of Sheppey
there are two areas which are classified as
‘Left-Behind Neighbourhoods’.

There are education facilities, tourist attrac-
tions, and medical care sites located across
the district, but shopping, leisure and health
facilities are concentrated within the urban ar-
eas.

Future housing, employment and mixed-use

developments, the largest of which is located
in Sheerness, will generate considerable fu-
ture traffic movements.

The current active travel and public transport
network is limited outside of Faversham and
Sittingbourne.

In regard to the rail network, Faversham and
Sittingbourne are served by regular services
into London. The Isle of Sheppey is served
by a regular branch line service to Sit-
tingbourne, but interchange is required for
onward travel.

The PRoW network coverage largely aligns
with areas of high population and employ-
ment density, while the Isle of Sheppey has
a relatively sparse network.

The cycle network consists of the long-
distance National Cycle Network routes and
more local cycle routes and lanes. The local
network, although more developed in urban
areas, is generally limited and fragmented
and the quality of provision varies significant-
ly.

The NCN follows runs between Faversham
and Sittingbourne, and north to Queensbor-
ough from Sittingbourne. This is the only sig-
nificant north-south cycle connection linking
the Isle of Sheppey to the rest of the district.
The area of rural Swale has very limited cy-
cling infrastructure.

Swale is relatively well-connected in terms of
its Highway Network with the A2 and the M2

AECOM

linking the district to the rest of Kent and
London.

Collision data shows that incidents involving
cyclists and pedestrians are more frequent
on the strategic roads in the district, most
notably the A2 and the A249, and that there
are only limited incidents of collisions involv-
ing cyclists and pedestrians in urban centres.

Active travel patterns in Swale have been
ascertained using the PCT tool, VISUM data,
and STRAVA data. There are significant
flows of walking and cycling within urban ar-
eas in the district but PCT data suggests that
there are presently limited numbers of inter-
urban cycle trips for commuting purposes.

STRAVA data points to greater levels of cy-
cling on inter-urban routes for leisure purpos-
es. Future year PCT and VISUM scenarios
indicate that there is potential for modal shift
to occur for commuting trips of all lengths.

Cycling (Stage 4) and Walking (Stage 5)
networks were developed, through an itera-
tive process that considered current and fu-
ture trip generators, future development and
planned active travel schemes, as well as
the local knowledge of key stakeholders. In-
terventions were identified along the pro-
posed to create a safe, accessible and at-
tractive environment for walking and cycling
in Swale.

At this stage, the Sheppey Towns LCWIP
active travel network and interventions were



Swale Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan

incorporated into the Swale LCWIP to ensure
these two schemes were aligned and the
forthcoming network was coherent. Subse-
quent stages of the Swale LCWIP such as
public engagement and integration and appli-
cation will refer to the Swale LCWIP, which
incorporates the Sheppey Towns LCWIP.

Next Steps

At the next stage, public consultation will be
conducted to ensure the proposed networks
address the needs and concerns of local resi-
dents, the future users.

Fdd the realistic and practical implementation

he plan, the walking and cycling routes will
b&assessed and prioritised based on policy,
s@tegy, deliverability and financial priorities.
THR result of this process will suggest which
routes should be prioritised in order to achieve
the most benefits.

Once the proposed routes and interventions
have been sorted into short, medium and long
term priorities, the schemes will undergo addi-
tional assessments such as concept design or
feasibility design to better understand how
these schemes might look on the ground.

The LCWIP is a live, 10-year document and to
ensure it remains relevant and aligned with
future policies and strategies, it is important
that it is reviewed and updated frequently.
Frequent reviews will help to reflect on the

progress made with its implementation and
to apply any necessary adjustments.

AECOM



A=COM .k



A=COM i

Appendix A - Origin and Destination
Clusters



Origin and Destination Clusters

| Cluster Name | Comment I

Bapchild Large strategic growth site
Borden High population density, strategic growth site

Boughton High population density

Bysing Wood High population density, strategic growth site

Central Sittingbourne High population density, strategic growth site, rail station
Davington High population density

Faversham East
Faversham North

High population density, Faversham rail station
High population density, strategic growth site

26T abed

Faversham South High population density, strategic growth site

Faversham West High population density

Grove Park High population density

Halfway Houses Strategic growth site

Iwade Large strategic growth site

Kemsley Developments High population density, strategic growth site, rail station
Marine Town High population density

Merryman's Town
Minster on Sea

High population density

High population density, development site

Newington Strategic growth site, rail station
Preston Developments High population density, strategic growth site
Queenborough Strategic growth site, rail station
Selling Rail station, local village
Snipeshill High population density
South-West Minster High population density, development site
Teynham High population density, Teynham rail station
Upchurch High population density
Warden High population density
Destinatio
Cluster Name Comment

Central Faversham Business Areas
Chalkwell/Westlands School
Eastchurch

Eurolink Business Park

Faversham Town Centre

GIST SN Distribution GX0 Plus Key employment hub

Halfway Houses Major schools, Local Centre

HMP Swaleside and Eastchurch Aviatic Key employment hub and tourist attraction

Kemsley Industrial Areas High employment density, key employment hubs, strategic growth site
Kent Science Park Key employment hub

High employment density area including BMM Weston and Shepherd Neame

High employment density, Major school, key employment hub

Local centre with GP, key school etc.

High employment density, key employment hubs.

Town centre, employment density, hospital and other attractors including Faversham Cottage Hospital

Leysdown Leysdown high-street, local centre, beach, school
London Road Industrial Parks Two proximate key employment hubs
Milton Regis Key schools, GPs, other trip attractors, high employment density

Minster Minster abbey, key schools

Mount Ephraim Key tourist site

North Faversham High employment density, Brents Industrial Estate, Education sites inc major school
Queensborough Industrial Areas Key employment hubs

Sheerness Industrial Areas Key employment hubs

Sheerness Town Centre Key local centre, schools, GPs, other trip attractors, Sheppey College

Sittingbourne Retail Park Key employment hubs, major retail park

Sittingbourne South Major schools, high employment density, key retail sites, hospital

Sittingbourne Town Centre High employment density, key retail site, major local centre

Snipeshill Key education area with several large schools
Teynham Key employment hub and education sites
Thistle Hill GP, hospital, schools



A=COM ki

\/

Appendix B - Sittingbourne Cycling
Routes and Interventions




6T abed

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

Route 2 - Kemsley to South
Sittingboumne

@ Cycling Interventions

L i
ambouse

ke - _ Implementcycle
Foeae A storage & CCTV

Implem el;'lt.
Dutch roundabout

Install wayfinding
& implement
Dutch roundabout

Install wayfinding
& implement
Dutch roundabout

s, Iy peiirly | el Lssssl o riliisl o6 Thisl drseing wll AE CONN sapms 5 arillen cors enl Do el § o i et Ll A4 A sssunerwnl s rs b cbisine d from Dhe s bled cirsens o

Advﬁnced stop line for
cyclists & traffic
light cycle filter

iy Bsbll By wtuilsi

Implement
Dutch
roundabout

Murssor

]

Chalkwesil

e by b A EC Ol s vl s 1o

Im plement
Dutch

Improve junction _ roundabout

safety for cyclsits -

| Improve safety of junction & gt
#®- advanced stop line for cyclists

Install wayfinding, advanced stop & traffic light “Y“fle filter

line for cyclists &
traffic light cycle filter

Advanced stop line for
cyclists & traffic '
light cycle filter

Advanced stop line for

cyclists & traffic R
Implement on-road segregated cycle track

light cycle filter
Sorter - - : .\. along entire route (except under railway
bridge - merge onto shared path &
back onto cycle track)

- . | ] B BN B || NOTES
Harman's Comer s : 0 0125025 05 0.74 1 i

Contains OF data @ Crown Copyright and datdbas e right 202

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020




GGT abed

Harman's «

Adjust bollards and
improve transition
from road to

Implement
20mph zones
along route

Implement
20mph zone _

Implement light
segregated-

cycle tracks

Install toucan crossing

Résﬁrface

Implement segreg'ated cycle
track

shared-use
pavement

on right-turn

—Improve junction
safety for _
cyclists

& lighting

End of segregated
cycle track

Advanced stop line fox ’/Implement

cyclists & traffic
light cycle filter

Install wayfinding

=z

Murston

Install wayfinding
& junction
“improvements

Implement on-road
segregated =
cycle tracks

Install bollards
etc to stop cars
parking on road

®. Dutch roundabout /./
"~ Make grass

Improve transition
from road to
shared-use path

and widen
il verge a cycle pavement for
lane westbound cyclists

(uphill)

I B BN 20
0 01 02 0.4 0.6 0.8

Caontains OFS data @ Crown Copyright and datebas e right 202

s | ba dbsksirased Fror | o ko] cirwers ione.

s on his dreeing sdtoul AR CORYS oo pas 8 srllen cors el Do nod 8 o i et Ll A | A sssLnsrwnls -

saif, Wty Pty |l Lois o

m iy bl By wtdsl

8
e
]
)
B
!
=
a
T

Thibs cirancirg b b paspurad for o L

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 3 - Grove Park to South

Sittingboume

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



96T abed

meadow Farm

anmm

Littl2
Ealksore
Farm
Lt
Cal lum

Hi

Tammy

Farm

*

Rushendean

Install cycle
storage, CCTV &

improve access \H““i-./.

Chetney

. ol

Reduce speed limit ..,

from 60mph & implement
oh road segregated
cycle track until

end of route

/"_'
/'lm pleme

Install

L

Furtin Swaysdown [ ]
Fadoly Game Farm (I = Wﬂfflndlng
e Widen pavementto o

accomodate shared-use path |

bitages Implement |
rll;i',l"_ @ Reduce speed wayfinding
limit & implement 1 ]
cycle lane ®
Fhrieagfinls £
= Im prove wayfinding j
A |II.-II.... . J y :
Nonsaad Farm ! ’ Convert grass verge
Convert grass verge . cycle.lane
Howisdtan to eycle lane d
Reduce speed
limit from 60mph
r'IIII-'l'u
'.1'r.ll'.r:--'-u'. Regis

Install white "
line segregation -
line on pavement

—EB ol :|.|;'_ -

Resurface

Queenborough

Wid.n_an pavementin placés Y
along Sheppey way

Farn

Implement advisory
cycle tracks on bridge
& 20mph on bridge

[0 t—

Improve junction
safety for cyclists

nt 40m ph

zones along the |
rest of the route -

Murston

Enhance safety with cyclist *~= /=
® priority & end of
_ on-road segregated cycle track

Elackthorme
Locdge

Solill Less
Farm Coltages

Segregate cyclists and
i, walkers on pavement

Kinges
Hill Farm

Tonge O ormer
Wilford
Court Farm

ek s Cour

-:-:—:_Hm

0 0275 0.55 1.1 1,65

Centains OS data @ Crown Copyright and databas e nght202

s, Iy Pty | el Lssssl o riliisl o6 Thisl drsieing wll AE CONN sapms 5 sl en cors enl Do el 8 o i e Lrwend. A4 A sssunerwnl s rs b cbisine d Nrom Dhe s bled cirsens o

iy bl By wtuilsl

]

i by b A EC Ol s vl s 1

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 4 - Sittingbourne to
Sheermness

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



/6T abed

Milktcni
Regi

Install cycle
lane and road  Improve safety of
markings .- junctiion e.g.
@ road markings

e
Improve
access
3 to path
Implement
" Dutch

rpum:la bout

Improve junction
safety for cyclsits
&

Improve crossing
to toucan and
install wayfinding

Improve cycle

path access g

@ Implement lighting
and paving
as required

Resurface
® path

Add markKings to
shared-use space to
segregate pedestrians
and cyclists

Murston

Snipeshill

W

0 0075015 0.3 0.45 0.6

Gontains OS data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right 202

i, I iy pairly el Lssssl of rilis of Thisl e

q
u
.
2
-

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 5 - Sittingbourne to
Eurolink Business Park

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Improve cycle/
walking
segregation
on pavement

Installlimprove
lighting
under bridge

S

L d

9aT abed

7 Implement
" 20mph zone

Implement light -
seqregated
cycle tracks

Implement light
seqgregated
cycle tracks

Improve
accessibility
to pgth

ﬁeéurface

: Install'one-'wayr
cycle lane or
== shared-use path

Install cycle
lane as one way
opposing traffic

.Nn sta_ll wayfi

Bl on
FRegi

Improve crossing
to toucan and

nding -
Implement-

“seqgregated

cycle tracks ___

Improve safety of
junction & advanced
stop line for
cyclists & traffic

Ilnstall

Improve
integration
of cycle path
to road

_ & lighting
under bridge

light cycle filter -

Resurface
path

Resurface

Srapeshil

B BN BN 492 0

0

O | Q2200 0.4 0.6 0.8

Contans 05 data 8 Crown'Copyright and datebas e right 2020

bk Fror | o ko] cirwsrs ions.

e il Do nod sosks his docurend. A D sssUnersnls Fus | be

i
i
=
|
&
i
T
]
]
F
2
b}
i
-l
=
T
x

o wproed by AE OO M or ss recLinesd by ey

.

Thi cirancirg b b paspmran For B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy fod b s o, ol o] rprocueed of nskee] Upon by third p s,

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

Route 6 - Grove Parkto
Eurolink Business Park

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



AAT abrd

E; RITILS
Swaysdown . Hill Farm N
Game Farm lwagde \
e Widen pavement \
faqe to accomodate - :
9= shared-use path '®
' Culnells ® implement
LLottages wa};finding E
CulnellsiFarm __ /
Reduce speed
limit & implement | Kornal
GIE IanE | '_ 5 . =4 B2 = :
= ®  Upgradecrossing | /ZImprove access to path
to toucan and improve
e _ crossing | i 2
improve /1t .El (/_mald markings :
L wayfinding /152 B - idhan ;
Cambray:Cottages * - ® \ Improve cycle/walking
Improve o aca Improve cycle 7, . segregatien 4
access path connection @ ©n pavement
il O to path : -
Howt-Gi pa. Improve cycle  between LTN roads |
' connection between
_ LTN roads
) Little
Murston ;
) Add markings to
Milton Creel shared-use space to
- i segregate pedestrians
; improve cycle ® and cyclists
th access '
P Milton - P Tonge Corne i
, Reqgis Wilford B
Resurfacepath @ Court Farl
_ / ®  Improve access .
ing : to cycle path Cheke's Court
Murston
y »
Grove Park — Improve cycle
) cohnection
- between LTN roads
\E Chalkwell- =
treat _-
= ) ~ W Bunces Fam Ba
' . ———— . m— ~ N ima
Sitingbourne .
- B ol Snipeshill Orchard—=YW&rRK
v/ Im prove junction -Cottage
Drchard, Cottages safm:'fg Y b Improve junction
y > EPEiS . access to path
Install wayfinding & e, forcyclists
junction improvements [nstall cycl S
lane on A2
Bapchil Km
0 @175 035 [ 0.7 1.06 14 E
Borden. Céontains OF5 datd® Crown C-::ﬁr_ri;ﬂt_'ﬁi?h'hals_tasl__:ri;r't 2020 8

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

Route 7 - lwade to Bapchild

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



A=COM ki

\/

Appendix C - Isle of Sheppey Cycling
Active Travel Routes and Interventions




Concept Plans

WSP

10z 9bed

@

0 250

The Broadway

Connection with
Sheerness-on-Sea
Railway Station to

Minster Route

Lighting Provision
Review lighting provision
along the route

The Broadway
Potential to add stepped cycle track
alongside existing footway.

The Broadway Paving

Add dropped kerbs and tactile
paving along road. Resurface
footways to address sections in poor
condition to maintain a continuous
footway.

The Broadway (N)

Install a protected cycle facility, should widths be unavailable
consider a shared use option. Mixed traffic conditions only
suitable if route is at 20mph and traffic volume is <2500vpd.

The Broadway Bus Stops
Opportunity to improve existing surveillance at bus stop,
including CCTV and real-time bus service information.

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

GBIl EE

Queenborough Drive/Bellevue Road

Existing traffic conditions provide a Quietway mixed traffic
route on Queenborough Drive and Bellevue Road, offering
an alternative route to Mister in Sheppey Primary School,
avoiding Minster Road.

The Broadway Parking Restrictions
Control on-street parking by
implementing restrictions along
both sides of the road.

500 750
| ] |

Figure 50 : The Broadway

Connection with
Queenborough to
Minster Route

1,000 m

/ Mini-roundabout

@

Teeg Improvement

~1 Tighten roundabout arms
and provide parallel crossing
points,




Concept Plans

zoz@eﬁed

WSP

Main Road (B2007) to Minster Road

Key

Footway improvement

Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Future Development

OO DI >

®

Summerville Avenue

Consider an alternative mixed
traffic route via Summerville
Avenue to Minster Road, should
Barton Hill Drive be too
constrained to implement LTN
1/20 standard infrastructure

l Connection with
Queenborough to
Halfway Houses
Route

Sheppey Community Hospital

Upgrade existing mini-roundabout to
provide parallel crossings at each arm,
giving pedestrians and cyclist priority and
connect existing shared facilities and
improving access to the hospital.

v A1

Connection with
Queenborough to
Halfway Houses

A

Queenborough Road

Assess highway boundary to understand
whether road space and space from grass
verge could be reallocated to provide a
protected cycle facility or shared use, or at
minimum a 1.5m footway. Opportunity for

Barton Hill Drive

Carriageway constraints on Barton Hill
Drive may not allow for road space
reallocation. Consider reallocation of
footway and grass verge space to provide
either a footway level cycle track or shared
facility.

Route off-road path on private land subject to
developer plans. If segregated/shared use
not possible, reduce speed limit to 20mph
and schemes to reduce overall traffic
flows would be very beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and comfort.

New Off-Road Connection \
An off-road cycle corridor has recently been \
developed north of Lower Road, providing a \
wide off-road connection between Minster
and Queenborough. Review lighting \
provision along route to allow access for all \
users' year round. \
|
0 250 500 750 1,000 m ,}
[ ! ! ! J /

Figure 51 : Main Road (B2007) to Minster Road

Barton Hill Drive

It is not considered feasible
to introduce cycle
infrastructure physically
protected from motor
traffic due to highway
width constraints.
Additional improvements
include reviewing footway
parking along this section
and implementing a
20mph speed limit.
Schemes to reduce overall
traffic flows through the
town would be very
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and
comfort.

Q) 3
/ W~
¢ F
2] y i S~
....... 7 Vs
- f
- = 7/
_______ Ve (
/
1
Existing Shared
9 Use Path~—. 7
I
/
— ]
e -\-—-__— ————— -——

Redesign to enable safer and more comfortab
movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehic
make the same manoeuvres in the same spac
the same time. Including crossing upgrades li
facilities at each arm.

Queenborough Road / Sheppey Way

station.

Sheppey Way to Swale
Widen existing shared use path/footway to 3m
consistency along the entire route towards Sw|

Lower Road / Barton Hill
Drive Roundabout
Redesign to enable safer
and more comfortable
cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and
motor vehicles do not
make the same
manoeuvres in the same
space and/or at the same
time. Including crossing
upgrades at each arm.




Concept Plans

€0z abed

WSP

Power Station Road

Key
Footway improvement —
Cycle facility —
Halfway Road Roundabout
Introduce pedestrian crossing Shared use —
points at southern and
northern arms of the Power Station Road Crossing Vegetation clearance
roundabout. ----1 Consider raised table at crossing adjacent to R )
green space as a traffic calming measure. Speed limit reduction

Footway parking restriction

Continued vegetation maintenance necessary
to ensure useability of the route year around.

7

»o---'--'----

New / Improved crossing

Minor junction improvement

Major junction improvement

Suggested resurfacing of offroad section to
____|allowall users to use the section all year Bus Stops
round. Additional need for lighting to ensure

the safety of the route.

Introduction of a footway
necessary to ensure
pedestrian safety. Additionally,
thereisa need forroad | [EEiesee

V)
(T)
Placemaking improvement ‘d

Schools

lighting to reach point where
Power Station Road meets
William Rigby Drive.

; Scrapsgate Pedestrian Crossing

I S e S Y B, Consider introduction of zebra crossing
; ) facility at beginning of off-road section
: of route.

Addition of lighting along the off-road sections
of the route.

Minster Road Crossing

Introduce raised zebra crossing facility to
facilitate safe pedestrian movement along the -----------------omooomood
desire line as well as acting as a traffic calming

measure. ’
Sunnyside Avenue Junction / Silverdale Avenue b
Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal ;
pedestrian crossing point with dropped kerbs and tactile ;
@ paving. :
Minster Road / Sunnyside Avenue Junction
Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal
pedestrian crossing point with dropped kerbs and tactile
paving.
0 250 500 750 1,000 m

Figure 52 : Power Station Road




Concept Plans

Brielle Way to Rushenden Road

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single
movement crossing to reduce pedestrian delay for greater cycle connectivity

Connection with
Halfway Houses to ‘
Sheerness Route Connection with

Sheerness-on-Sea e

and remove guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable
cycle movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the
@ same manoeuvres in the same space and/or at the same time.

Railway Station‘'to
Minster Route

West Street Crossing Improvement
Tighten junction radii and install dropped kerbs and S ELRGEETEEL T PR
tactile paving.

Cromwell Road Rail Bridge

Cut back vegetation overhanging the road and address
footway and kerb maintenance issues where cracked
and damaged. Overall street cleansing and

New Road
----------------- Upgrade existing shared use path to provide two-way cycle track with
dropped kerbs, and tactile paving at crossings.

maintenance required along route section. Ifitis ~  |-====--m-mmmmoomo - P
determined that littering and rubbish bags on the
footway are a regular occurrence, consider enhancing

|20mph zones
Implement 20mph zone within urban area to improve safety for cyclists

street cleaning programme and installing additional

rubbish bins. @ Cromwell Road to Rail Bridge

.................... Provide separated walking and cycling path from roundabout improvements at Brielle

--------------------- Way along Cromwell Road connecting to the rail bridge. Provide street lighting along

Access to Cromwell Road . :
Improve signage onto Cromwell Road and resurface the the path. Add sh_ared_cycle path signage and road markings from Newland Road /
Bocooooocooooo Cromwell Road junction north to rail bridge.

link to rail bridge.

Brielle Way / Cromwell Road Roundabout Improvements

Whiteway Road Crossing Improvements Upgrade roundabout to signal controlled throughout, by adding signalised crossings on

vozﬂeﬁed

L I Qe[S 1In Sdising] footways along both sides of all arms to improve continuity of journey for pedestrians and cyclists. Define crossings
iihiieney Rosd feubiehily shds el viesistnaginetel T, 1 : pII I by adding dropped kerbs and blister tactile paving on refuge and eastern side of
grad_e sgparated crossing at the western arm for added s j; crossing, with vegetation clearance and additional lighting throughout the roundabout
EOMAAINGS rﬁ' and footways.
Key
Whiteway Road (B2007)
Widen existing pedestrian path to Footway improvement s
________________ . incorporate pedestrian and separated

Rushenden Road / B2007 Mini Roundabout Crossing “ i SRR\ stepped cycle path along road while Cycle facility —
Improvement ~ narrowing traffic Iahe to implement a lower
Add zebra crossing to north and east arms of mini ~ F-eeoo_____ speed limit. Potential to also create Shared use —
roundabout. Extend suggested cycle path from | T & @ additional footway on eastern side of the ‘ v
Rushenden Road along mini roundabout. road with vegetation clearance. Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction

Rushenden Road / Second Cycle
Provision
Add cycle lane on west side of carriageway

Rushenden Road Footway Widening

Works to widen footways/reduce carriageway widths. Footway parking restriction

WSP

to connect to suggested cycle path along . =
Whiteway Road (B2007). New / Improved crossing x
igzhertl)den Road /Manor Road Mini Roundabout | =~ (@& Minor junction improvement  (§¢
zebra crossing. . A
2 Rushenden Road Parking Restriction il o
________________________________ / Trip Hazards Major junction improvement @
__________________________________ Restrict footway parking on both sides T
___________________ of carriageway. Improve dropped kerb Placemaking improvement =l
and tactile paving provision at all side 9
Tactile paving and dropped roads. Carry out Bus Stops
X Kerbs to be introduced at all maintenance/resurfacing works on @
0 250 500 750 1'000 m side road entry points. both sides of carriageway. Schools
| 1 1 | b |

Figure 53 : Brille Way to Rushenden Road




Concept Plans

WSP

Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster

Coastal Path

Existing shared-use route
which is unreliable due to

adverse weather

conditions for a large
portion of the year.

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single movement crossing to reduce pedestrian
delay for greater cycle connectivity and remove guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable cycle
movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the same space and/or at the
same time.

S0z 3bed

Provide additional
cycle parking at
the start of the
route at
Sheerness-on-Sea
Railway Station
and throughout
Sheerness town
centre.

High Street / Beach Street / Clarence Row
Reallocate space to provide contraflow cycle facility along High Street to Beach Street. Route follows Quietway
route along Beach Street and Clarence Row.

Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

500 750
1 1

T

onnection with
Halfway Houses to
Sheerness Route

Neptune Steps

wheelchair ramp.

---| Redesign access to coastal path by implementing greater accessibility measures including

TN

Localised
resurfacing on
Sheerness Sea route.

Coast'a_l Path

Marine Parade

It is not considered feasible
to introduce cycle
infrastructure physically
protected from motor
traffic due to highway
width constraints.
Additional improvements
include reviewing footway
parking along this section
and implementing a
20mph speed limit.
Schemes to reduce overall
traffic flows through the
town would be very
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and
comfort.

1,000 m

Figure 54 : Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster

Provide a safe access point between

Marine Parade/potential shared
facility and the existing off-road

path.

Placemaking Opportunity

Potential for area enhancements
/ placemaking improvements by

creating a parklet with seating,
planting, and cycle parking to
increase connectivity to the
coastal route.

.............

Provide localised surface improvements where
required along Southsea Avenue

Scarborough Drive

Provide localised surface improvements and
manage vegetation where required along

Connection with Minster - Queenborough Route

Key

Footway improvement —
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance _—

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Add / update wayfinding signage from Seaside
to Chequers Road. Review lighting provision on
existing local path.

ﬁ' kerbs to be introduced at all

Tactile paving and dropped

side road entry points.

Back Lane / High Street
It is not considered feasible to introduce cycle infrastructure physically protected from motor
traffic due to highway width constraints. Additional improvements include reviewing
footway parking along this section and implementing a 20mph speed limit. Schemes to
reduce overall traffic flows through the town would be very beneficial in terms of improving
cyclist safety and comfort.

20mph speed limit and
low trafficked streets

------- allows for cyclists to mix

with traffic through
residential areas.

Route begins on the existing
National Cycle Network (NCN)
Route 174 and follows this
along Marine Parade before
Route 174 terminates on
Southsea Avenue.




Concept Plans

902@959d

WSP

Queenborough to Minster

paving.

Minster Road / Halfway Road Junction
Install signalised parallel crossings on all
junction arms with dropped kerbs and tactile

Belmont Road / A250
Junction

Improve existing
uncontrolled crossings on
all arms with dropped kerb
widening and tactile
paving.

Main Road (B2007) /
Queenborough Road
(A250) Public Realm
Enhancements and
Crossing Addition
Re-surfacing needed in
central verge with
footway widening. Add
zebra crossing connecting
bus stop along verge with  [==7"=75
eastbound footway for
enhanced connectivity.

Belmont Road / A250
Junction

Add formal
pedestrian / cycle
crossing for enhanced
pedestrian and cycle
connectivity to the
existing cycle
provision and footway
connecting to Oasis
Academy.

Rushenden Road / B2007 Mini
Roundabout Crossing
Improvement

Add zebra crossing to north and

east arms of mini roundabout.
Extend suggested cycle path
from Rushenden Road along
mini roundabout.

Minster Road (B2008)
Widen footways and
incorporate stepped cycle
lane long north side of road.
Carry out maintenance and
resurfacing works to address
sections in poor condition.

1

Tactile paving and dropped
& Kkerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

along Barton Hill Drive arm.

Minster Road / Barton Hill Drive Mini Roundabout
Replace existing uncontrolled crossing on eastern
B2008 arm with zebra crossings, add tactile paving to
dropped kerbs on western B2008 arm, and add
additional paving markings on uncontrolled crossing

Mini-roundabout
Improvement

Tighten roundabout arms
and provide parallel
crossing points.

A
=

.................

Queenborough Road (A250) Bus Stop Enhancements Proposed Network /y‘)
i Add bus stop boarders to bus stops along Extension Shared Use Path /
[ S R, (R i Queenborough Road for improved safety and / —
/ cycle/walking continuity, and increase placemaking by —— R~
! @ adding seating, schedule flagpoles, shelter, etc. at bus /' l" Ty
*6\ stops. Multiple bus stops located along the corridor. y > >
Y@ , P /

Existing Shared Use Path

Main Road (B2007) and Queenborohgh Road
(A250) Parking Restriction / Trip Hazards
Restrict footway parking on both sidés-of-------+--- ==
carriageway. Widen footways/reduce
carriageway widths and improve dropped kerb
and tactile paving provision at all side roads.

Main Road (B2007) / Queenborough Road (A250) Cycle
Provision

Consider constructing grade separated stepped cycle lane on -

north and west side of Main Road (B2007) / Queenborough Road |— = & "= = = = _ = =
(A250) connecting to the cycle lane suggested along Whiteway
Road (B2007).

R

Queenborough Road (A250) Place Making Improvements

northbound side. Can also implement improved wayfinding signage for both
pedestrians and cyclists.

educe the growth of hedges to allow for footway widening on the

Brielle Way / B2007 an

0 250 500 750
L ] ] 1 ]

Redesign junction to enable safer cycle turning movements needed. Consider reducing the junction
radii and realign crossing point with desire lines to improve visibility when crossing. Add signalised
toucan crossings on all arms and replace existing staggered crossing with central island having a
1,000 m single movement crossing to reduce pedestrian delay and greater cycle connectivity. Remove guard
railing at crossings for more efficient cycle connections.

d B2007 / Queenborough Road Junction Crossing Improvements

Figure 55: Queenborough to Minster

Key

Footway improvement —
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance —

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Future Development

ORI >




Concept Plans

WSP

High Street Trip Hazards
Carry out
maintenance/resurfacing
works to address sections
in poor condition.

High Street

on both sides of
carriageway. Improve

Restrict footway parki

dropped kerb and tactile

ng

Tighten junction radii
and install dropped
kerbs and tactile

Halfway Houses to Sheerness

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single movement
_| crossing to reduce pedestrian delay for greater cycle connectivity and remove
guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the
same shared use path and/or at the same time.

Alternative

on Alma Road to Marine Parade

Quietway connection

junction.

J
paving provision at all side i
roads. ' :
West Street :
Crossing High Street
Improvement Consider repurposing

parking bays outside
the bar and restaurant
along High Street with

Remove railings @
surrounding the

Tactile paving and dropped

& Kkerbs to be introduced at all

side road entry points.

Sheerness Town Centre

Upgrade existing shared use path to provide a footway
level cycle track in both directions. Implement 20mph on
the High Street and Trinity Road and deliver schemes to
reduce overall traffic flows through the town would be
very beneficial in terms of improving cyclist safety and
comfort for mixed trafficked routes. Consider parallel
contraflow Quietway route on Granville Road , should the
existing route be too constrained.

Halfway Road / Invicta Road Junction
Consider tightening junction geometry and introducing a

zebra crossing point

Halfway Road Crossing Points
Upgrade existing crossing point to a sparrow crossing, providing space for

paving.

parklets and seating.

Mini-roundabout Improvements

Reallocate road space for walking and cycling by providing a
shared path on northern side of the carriageway (limited space
available for full segregation) with delineation between
pedestrian space and cycle tracks using signage, markings, and
coloured surfacing. Tighten roundabout arms and provide
signalised crossing points for cyclists and pedestrian.

Halfway Road Bus Stop
Facilities
Upgrade current bus stop

to both allow for level
boarding.

facilities as well as introducing |------;
raised and widened footways i 9

cyclists. Widen footway to create short section of shared use path for cyclists

and pedestrian entering/exiting path.

20z 3bed

Provide protected cycle facility where width is available.
Reviewing car parking provision at the northern section  [--------------3
of the route to reallocate road space for cycle facility.

Halfway Road Footway space prioritisation
Formalise parking on western side of Halfway
Road and introduce double yellow parking
restrictions on the eastern side in order to
widen the effective width of the footway to
ensure the footway is useable for all pedestrian
users

0 250 500 750 1,000 m
L 1 1 L ]

Figure 56 : Halfway Houses to Sheerness

Lynsted Road Junction

Consider widening footway at crossing point to
reduce the pedestrian crossing distance

Halfway Road / Minster Road Junction

Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal
pedestrian crossing points. Redesign to enable
safer and more comfortable cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not
make the same manoeuvres in the shared use
path and /or at the same time.

Halfway Road Crossing Point

Introduce continuous footway at entryway

Halfway Road Roundabout
(As with Power Station Road

_| section). Introduce pedestrian
crossing points at southern and
northern arms of the
roundabout

Reduce turning radii
and reduce

1= pedestrian crossing

; distance to ‘The Old

' Dairy’ side entry

Connection with Minster
to Queenborough Route

®

Key

Footway improvement R
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance _——

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction

New / Improved crossing

Minor junction improvement

Major junction improvement

Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

ORI




Concept Plans

80¢.90ed

WSP

Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

Cromwell Road to Marine Parade

A250 to Marine
Parade Shared Use

i Route

] Review lighting
provision along the
route. Provide signage
and way-finding

South View Gardens
Quietway Route along
South View Gardens,
existing conditions allow
for mixed traffic. Add cycle
markings onto the
carriageway and at side
roads. Provide
signage/wayfinding on
the route.

Halfway Road Crossing Points :
Upgrade existing crossing point !
to a sparrow crossing,
providing space for cyclists. @

Widen footway to create short
section of shared used path for
cyclists and pedestrian
entering/exiting path.

Shared Use Route

cycle path.

Access to
Cromwell Road

onto Cromwell
Road and
resurface the lin
to rail bridge.

Improve signage @

Edenbridge Drive to A250

Resurfacing and lane markings
with additional signage added
to shared use pedestrian /

k

Connection with

Queenborough & \\
Sheerness Routes

\
\

Connection with
Sheerness to The
Leas route

to asparrow crossing,

Marine Parade Crossing Points
Upgrade existing crossing point

providing space for cyclists.

A250 to Marine Parade Shared Use
Route

Resurfacing needed with lighting
provision, placemaking improvements
(including benches), lane markings, and
vegetation clearance from the A250 to
Marine Parade (existing paved path
ends at South View Gardens / A250). If
night-time access is an intended-use for

Connection with Halfway
Houses to Sheerness
Route

South View Gardens
Resurfacing of
carriageway between
South View Gardens and
Halfway Road.

the path, multi-layered lighting is
required to improve the feeling of safety
in the pathway.

Placemaking Opportunity
Potential for area
enhancements/
placemaking improvements
by creating a parklet with
seating, planting, and cycle
parking to increase
connectivity to the coastal
route.

Edenbridge Drive
Crossing Point

parallel crossing to
connect the route.

Continue shared path
across Edenbridge Drive.
Review parking at this
section and provide a

250 500 750
l | 1 I

Figure 57 :

Cromwell Road to Marine Parade

1,000 m

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction

New / Improved crossing

Tactile paving and dropped
& Kerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

Bus Stops

Schools

Footway parking restriction

Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement

Placemaking improvement

OO D>»




Concept Plans

602 abed

WSP

Swale Railway Station to Queenborough Road (A2500)

Connection to Main Road

Queenborough Road / Sheppey Way

(B2007) to Minster Road
\ Route /

Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable e
cycle movements ensuring cyclists and motor !
vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the
same space and/or at the same time. Including
crossing upgrades linking facilities at each arm.

__________________________________________________

Stray Marsh Farm Bus Stops
Opportunity to improve placemaking with a

at bus stop, including CCTV and real-time bus
service information.

bench, shelter, and bin, and existing surveillance |-------====------------

Safety Measures

Add guard railing for further safety
between vehicles and pedestrians along
the shared use path/footway.

Vandalism and Natural
Surveillance
Evidence of litter and

installation of CCTV and
enhanced lighting across the
entire route.

Footway Parking Restrictions
Restrict footway parking along
Sheppey Way Bridge.

vandalism/graffiti, consider ‘d

Footway Width / Kerb Realignment
Identify opportunities to widen existing shared use
path/footway to 3m through kerb realignment
ensuring consistency along the entire route towards

Swale train station and for increased safety away from

vehicles.

Crossing Enhancements

crossing points of route.

Carry out maintenance / resurfacing works on
tactile paving in poor condition along all

Crossing Point

travel markings.

Install new signalised pedestrian / cycle
crossing and improve signage/asphalt active

Swale Railway Station Crossing
Point

Install new signalised pedestrian
/ cycle crossing from Swale

Railway Station bus stop to cross

Placemaking Opportunities

Illuminate Swale Railway Station bus stop and
add placemaking measures including a bench,
shelter, cycle parking, and pedestrian/cycle
wayfinding signage.

over to the west side of Sheppey
Way.

Speed Limit Reduction
Consider speed limit reduction leading up to
Swale Railway Station.

0 250 500 750

Figure 58 : Swale Railway Station to Queenborough Road (A2500)

Tactile paving and dropped
& Kkerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

G EES




Concept Plans

0TZ.Pbed

WSP

®

Sheppey

(=)

College

(C)

Secure Cycle Parking at
Sheerness-on-Sea Railway
Station

Formalise secure cycle
parking / cycle hangars at
Sheerness-on-Sea Railway
Station and throughout
Sheerness town centre to
increase cycle security and
encourage a mobility hub
development and multi-
modal trips. Potential to
add a cycle maintenance
stand, water fountain, and
lockers as well.

$heerness-on-Sea

Area Enhancements
Identify opportunities for
planting within highway
land, including parklets in
place of parking bays
and/or street trees in
locations which would not
hinder pedestrian or
vehicle movement.

Rushend

Connection with
Brielle Way to

en Road

Route

= #

School Streets

Opportunity for School Street

initiative to be implemented

on New Road and Rose Street

St Edward's
Catholic Prima
0 School

75
|

20

Sheerness Town Centre

Clarence Row

High Street / Beach Street /

Reallocate space to provide
contraflow cycle facility along High
Street to Beach Street. Route follows
Quietway route along Beach Street
and Clarence Row.

Tactile paving and dropped
kerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

Natural Surveillance Provision
Install CCTC and enhance street
lighting throughout town centre
for increased safety and

Wayfinding Measures
Introduce wayfinding signage
and maps throughout
Sheerness Town Centre.

Sheerness Town
Centre

Upgrade existing
shared use path to
provide a footway level
cycle track in both
directions.

for increased
placemaking.

Area Enhancements
Consider a parklet,
planters, vegetation,
additional seating,
street lighting, and
SUDs implementation

| =
=
Sheerness

------

Crossing Enhancement
Add zebra crossing, dropped
kerbs and tactile paving for
increased school safety.

Traffic Calming
' Measures
Implement 20mph on
the High Street and
deliver schemes to
reduce overall traffic
flows through the )
town would be very Tt
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist
safety and comfort for
mixed trafficked
routes.

Halfway Road Bus Stop Facilities
Upgrade current bus stop facilities as
well as introducing raised and
widened footways to both allow for

level boarding.

Remove railings
surrounding the junction.

Holy Trinity
ch

urr}e a

Remove railings

wayfinding.

Levelling Up Area -

£20 million Levelling @

Up Fund Project

Connection with

Sheerness-on-Sea

Railway Station to
Minster Route

B\

Area Enhancements
Remove on-street parking
--1and add additional
benches, wayfinding, and
cycle parking provisions.

Alternative Quietway
connection on Alma Road to
Marine Parade

Key
Active Travel Corridors

New / Improved crossing

o

Minor junction improvement

surrounding the Major junction improvement

junction.

=)

Placemaking improvement

Connection with Halfway

Houses to Sheerness Route

Bus Stops

Rose Street,
Primary_Scho{ Area Enhancements
150 m Enhance green space with
parklet features, including
| vegetation, seating, and

Figure 59 : Sheerness Town Centre

street lighting.

too constrained.

Granville Road Alternative Route
--| Consider parallel Quietway route on
Granville Road should the existing route be

CoR@d>

Schools

Cycle parking implementation




"%« SHEERNESS
S5ta ‘T'l e - = =
~y ]
e e e Isle of Sheppey Strategic Cycling and Active Travel Routes
- , >4 w’ - g - . -
5_- % Sl ! s N road to Halfway is planned Proposed route of the Sheppey Greenway utilising sections of the former railway where |t
oY /A oA P practical, negotiating new field edge routes and traffic calming in selected urban areas.
= 5 s . a
| o for segrageted 7] N Sheppey Light Railway Greenway with Greenways and Cycleroutes June 24
€9 : -
cycle track 2% " i - 74
1 f% sadeay il Road . SLRG Group widened & exposed track-bed. El
B - Minster” ' = Enhancement |5 Footpath needs upgrading to Cycle Track
<~ _ 5 1o T — S ‘k\.\' ] - ~ -Hoh
| Crossing m | 4 |@}I_1l' Crossjn‘.gl 4 | Crossing e
< improvement | < - e ~ (0 il Donkey Hill PROW resurfacing...
: -:‘ .: " A\ i c // [ --‘ < . tl’rn ,!P'w- -_‘_‘“\
3.5 09 b, . 4 Quiet Way 4 ‘_‘,1.‘ . )
. B T Trouts.
r By n S Tadng:: TT- = Gorretts ;
Scocios Srart L, Moo 3 Dy Road Road
- 14 A 4 Jawood NS Enhancements | ™ Warden | Ephancements
~, - { " ™ - 1 i
| S P2y d o : i —— iy = W
> : £ a“ jwh;':,. & R tchurch | R : i 'ﬁ s
- Wallend Developer funde b g L vy, Museann, Yiegwo | S
1 s2783m ; track (possible) " t Pas 20 71 pa— |.} %
shared path i : Developer funded |~ iy H:;v v ’ B A =3 "3‘ o
& - : . iy = |
beingbullt 497 (2% ' 93 Shared Path (necds worl) | {_2cK(Possbe) [/ 98 4,99 . 00/ R s\ et N
0 # T al ‘ e ol [, ! [ 1 g il )'é_.. ~ -
e Q-n'l??." He® )  — > / I e I -‘iﬁlw"”" et | 2 ' « W2
- & : M 7 : - i B Now/Rides | Je2Fm i ¥ = e ol RO
> ! i Although the old railway alignment gives a iy . Vil v Y _
e “Vd| Cowstead Corner Cycle Track ; S A —— 70 7 7 e
Lo Sy 4 much easier gradient, its course is completely an. [, Ml » Crossing Crossing Prioey ¢
5 Wi, N o ‘ & lost to agriculture . Following behind the § J—+4 c"“'}::;, P4 Rewrouse er | R
' , L /\' : hedges to Eastchurch does involve more of a I P;i{' P E Y ror o ; v L
1= 4 ::‘9';:"‘ . ¥ /\ climb but it serves that community - o : Leysdown Marshes - o0k M/ " A \E
8 d ‘*«J’J’£m‘2“¢’ : = L — % 6Qcant ' S At N




A=COM i

Appendix D - Rural Swale Cycling
Routes and Interventions



c1Z abed

Iliit reel .
ry Pa path access Add markings to shared-use 3
k- space to segregate 3
pAittcn pedestrians and cyclists = Comer
Fegis Wilfiord
Court Farm 1
Chiel el t_
j =
Resurface Fammae_
) and improve _ S T £
! lighting Install wayfinding ions Srmrney 3
5 & implement 20mph
T 3 __Implement C.{.rclelane. —® = Hik
o T I L e . Bunces. Fam Reduce speed Paplar Hal
e = = l.l'ar!ageshruhber'_.r_ limit from Litk Teynihar Strest
Sitingbourne 'L : RAne; forimproved t E G0mph Irﬁhl%ﬁﬂeﬂt et o
visibility g . traffic filter Ihe B
L Install wayfinding, Provide signage e “h Improve my“fmdmg ::
improve lighting to advise drivers & ||'|"||]|e|'r‘|e|]t
-{end of 20mph zone) of cycling route M-anage k\ c-_.rcle parhlng Reduce bl Chery
Tl B SMLEEY f ' speed limit YdIENham  1opCrive
Eapchilmplement from Eﬂmph P Feesem
access only RAdf el o Provide road @t = oo
: signage e marking R“'!.’F?'Fe Resun‘ace& managevegetatmn-ﬂ!- '::'!J _ I
; .. 2 4 o symbols / . Farmbx e = et Cottage rLru-: - -_
= Haywood Cotages ~ Implement=— A / warning for cyclists = B
X | aynham ool Houe2 i
: - - accessonly | nar Implement R Implemlelnt for upcoming track - Instﬂll
g Lit signage traffic filter ehe traffic Son L
; - . Drully Cottagas - . Reduce? ~ filter wiotta \yﬂ'jf_flllql_llg :
Orchard House . ol e £
Maw Cottages Jefinias / 5 speed |II'I"I|t Stors Cut shrubbery yﬁ TheF g
greted £ st Cottages W o from 60mph " oL iback for safety Hous
it ol Gambridge £ NGrggAsh iy ~Implement |
'-_.-'.'n.-'l Rodmersham ¥ oy O ||_|-I-| Wil F == ) :;IT‘F'1 “-\ lands Farm |IT1|]'| ement Buckland Coltages |mp|eme{|t addition al traffic ;
iy Hiowise Fanm Sl s access onl i . i filter .-
e gg"ﬂgg Implement s, :?:er!tﬁ.r[g"ﬁ_é;lfl%'t? ~. i
| AT access only e
i he '-|_ -I_ Sig“ﬂﬂe Houssa . & £
Frénch's C'xl.,l. : Moud Farm N . OrOrk| j.'.- LSS - .
Rodmershiam Green Budipit FATS Lewson Strast |mp| ament -
: access only  The 4
S ctington Manos _ o csignage, [/ :
el e wood | H.'.: ;JII':u = I Collages D ar Ladgs %
HI:.I-I: :Iu i :.I.'- 5 T:-IIIII'L:I-;-I!III Jll Pt Fo |.| Aribany's Grove ::
""" 3 . X Buigalow vy Loytdon Wirterboume Coftage H . Km B
= [ T : Mlagiedia Coltage A =
e Pistockfam Ludgate Cotiage s 0 0275-055Cuage 1.1 1.65 22 H
b "'.'I' ak .'_' Fenficld h\ rLI|II r‘"“I | Konks Fam = [ 'TEF‘E,IEI_:FE e 0 FEFW LT EEEH‘E:D ”-‘H BLEL

Im'plemént:

cycle storage

&CCTV, .

Resurface path

I KN
I Hill Farm

Kamslay

Remove stairs
over river .
Improve access

. &~ for cyclists and
drainage through park

Little
Elurston

s

= Improve cycle

bk Fror | o ko] cirwsrs ions.

wrls Fuslbe

BRI

il crre enl Do ol s osle i decurmnl. Al e

i
£

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALT 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 1 - Kemsley to
Faversham

® Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



Harmriaiesn

Colts Field

Watham Grean

Twinney Acre

Crrchard Bam

Harsham i
| antatian Fam

gl civ 2 -

Bre! b
4 Cottages -
Upchurch

1

WindrmllHill (4 I aadnampar) T tiver) 5
/e e, A1~ o Housa— HolyweljFarm 3 _'I s
sert .H- wse - / Sl &% f # S 7
¢ sy / i £ ok DEA s
|

Matal Farm "
e Caart
Lodge

Irﬁplement wayfi
‘and undertake
~.® lighting as sess ments

”-.';.'. . Bushimeads l.':- Fam

— / Kaine
¥ Fam

= Bioxded

Fa

The por g 1] g
Barn-yard ]

/ Libbetswel Rift
socd! Braath & “Afalley Famm
Gore House / — o
/ (1 Csegd] Houge™——. i
Orchard Coftage :

Imple mént
(owayfinding -
‘o station
T "iu::r:-'_!'.

Jx.

cam hManor

M e, sl

. Hartlip Hif ==
ottages |

A4

Litthe, H arricts b

17 abed

. lane along A2
between Rainham and
Sittingbourne Stations

\ < ParadEe
Mereshorough _ / Farm
Hartlip

/¢ LoweiHarthp

| .. . . . Segregated cycle >

Furiton
-Fadary

Swaysdown
Lame Farm

WMoalF amir
oftages

_ Little
Bak=ora
Farm
Littl &
Callum Farm

Culfells

rottanes

Orchard Fam
Eass
Hil
Farm

ar
CulnsllsikEarm

Pheasants

N Cambray:Cottages
Blackberry . -

F i Great o

Mana oo Farm / ol

Highi 0 ak
Hil
Fam

Litl=
Morwood Farm___

Tommy Cold Flarbour -
All & Yo
Nl ==Bobbing
<mprovements

& to,accomodate

2 rowd P ark o A
o _cyclists i
. I Install

Keycol

Reye

Strest’

crossing

F g

Hoswt-Carean 4

Install Dn:lia-way -
cycle lane or
shared-us e path

cntoucans. &

Famhouse &

g

I - . n
. / N © crossing
: e k :
i Hook's .; - JAortoucan — [
Cak Bam Farm — ,','_IT'__{';I..I e adl Hole Cottage ] = . T and install—§
B — A Ol d House — plne T i Junction Sitinghwayfinding
i i “Warmdale Farm ! Cos ke o
P/ Farrsy e Frachose ~._improvements .
AlpacaFarm "_'; \ B Orchard ',-.-ll..l-.l-;f =5 o &Wﬁ"d'"g,
/ & — LTir LIME 2B =
> Ty ard Miltor v 2 O 1
- ' olF L Earaway
The Lodge o, /
— - \ hure gore F arm £
— Warren ‘Collage A —g
Hailby: | J I--'l'l1-=:|'!____ ¥ K
Cowslead Famhbiolse Fornd Hous & I el
& Eyehom® | 7
= 3 H atch:F ami i
i Harman's" C orner
! I Applegale [ J
. T Ll Hil ' yVJ// - Farm f 5
| e " —Dad-Strest. ) i
| | T / | : ; . >
Crast Stockbury . Sutton Il earts, Tunstalle, 2 i
FEm - pum Tres Farm ireer F F N, Baron- / Drelight . I
: ] ~ - . N f Farm
Il ~TheiE-oach .
) FHoLs2 o
£ e - Wrens Cottages  [Giow e
I-:-'.!.'u I 2 =, / : I-.I:.I'I-I-I StFf a:-_rr;-:,n_r.
Cattage —d Hills & Farm . T 0 025 05 o 1 1.5 2 B
[ &t ~~E rfislkd — Sl % | Hill : i Contains OF data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right 2020
- = Ctroot g : Bolerb o =4

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

J.-' | Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited

Marlborough Court
10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWw._aecom .com

LEGEND

1 : Route 8 - Sittingbourne to
Rainham
@ Cycling Interventions

Kilton
Regis

|
Improve

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown

Copyright and database right 2020



Improve
I wayfinding

~"Remove’

footbridge
.. steps
B ; _'E

Y
Q
«Q
D
N
|_;
on

North Street

sHelchyich

| Sheldwich

Lees

veland

Faveggham

Broom) Straet

Graveney, 2

Improve path access,
wayfinding & lighting
& remove steps down to street

Gulmers

Yorkletts i\

Waterham

riEtroude

Fostall

Goodnestone [argate
Improve path y
crossing over
dual carnageway  mplement additional
Resurface path . passing places il
/ / where requirf.-d
B . o W] ILHIES
Junction .\.'
improvements __ Y ' Stanlis treet
3 — Improve
Ry Cast safgty ./ Resurface ® path access
. ' ' path @< st eet Implement
y blement = segregated Resurfacin
[
I;‘Id'?:;nnllentl.lr"l'-.|rgl 5] -;il cycle lane - WiFEﬂ pavement
cle Iarrfe - He '/ and add bollards
o e _ . for cyclists
Hickhans " Implement segregated
Giéen cycle lane & double -
yellow lines i
Crouch Nintebourne wayfinding
ih&ired and resurface
South Stree
Cilitfiere Cwversland
[ J-=-.'1;n-‘-'.
Forstal™
Hoagl=n's Hill .

R

=ellng

Shottenden

Chartham
Hatch

e Common

hartham

Old'Wives

Ll'l—".

Mistole

Bagl Nan
K

— Chilham

Install Per HarbEms

a2y Hill

— Rl all
| Tylen Hill
Blean
Hales Placeld

Improve
crossing for t'Stephah
cyclists Y

/o

V1P

|I11PIIIEI.'}IEH'L'
segregated 7., Extend 30mph nterbury
cycle lane ». speed limit to

Shalmsfor
Strest

outside school .~ _ A

o - Remove cycle
dismount signs,

. Thaninagton X
new cycle tuming

HJ-.‘I'.H'.

d

Hrn
0 ‘B 08 16 E:E* "'I 3.2

Contains "G5-data & Crewn Copyright and dalBbaseright 2020 :

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALT 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

Route 9 - Favershamto
Canterbury

@ Cycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



91z abed

ateholuse e
Lottage I
E-'.-"I'l Moo Hlll.r
Cottages  The Red
~HousEs

- am i
= Stone

'-\: o5 _-_| g Stone

R -F?':-’!i”- -—Foun« .1k~..

ckland Coltages
Beacon Beacon

“ZHill__ House
Holuse -

on Cottages

.. Install toucan

Nesy, Yarl

iy g The Foremans

crossing between junctions

Liavington=

Resurface road ~
and install white versham
line cycle lanes =+ =~ =

Improve

Sheldwich:Lees
Thea Dairy

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and

+H walking Infrastructure Plan

I'he Famhouse

.| Schod Farm
Cottages ———

destland

Reduce speed limit wayfinding Homestall Hitse
from 60mph & implement = Ui : '
access only signage re .
1 3 . Mash
~Haplots AN Remove shrubery, =Boughton Homestall Cottages 7 =007
_ = to improve visibility Cottages GUamzHouse
rovendes Eotisge Tha Corh /fﬂ ook ) , Step Chttage 1Al
=== Increase number /] Mol Ay ; N o,
e ~ of passing places ™—___ : B : | - _
.T-L 5 A\ gl A \\ = estwood ' ' R
P 1 ) ' Court == N N\ Pars onage Fam
i =l s ' - - | Cottages e TheLodge
b s Install wayfinding ., :mRemuve shrubery | ’ |
i : & implement access to improve | 1| e
n - only signage visibility Capton Road Coltages -
i Mano ) = . Brenley Arm
— gy e £ % |[Farm House
Selgrove =
Flumford Fambe =& . Sals
Remove shrubbery Sired
ENorang to improve visibility rotkg .
Boutht
Elv e and New Churchiman's F am Chi ||.-|J,I|-
Manor, B ,.I'Il_,fll,.:llll | ) _
. \ Little
Littl e . al S kL
M al'.:'-r Fam 'Wens Cane Court
| Court Farmholee
Resurface North Street Oweng. .
Pl .'.".'k.- L”HP a0l i 1
Fam e INaway' s PoppinatonBungal ow P /T8
HI'.-'.I.--. P rgron )l Oy / I :
Increase e
number of passing places :
| e~ South Hous e
Imp!EmE"t ° . '- - Im plemEnt Newhouse. £ am ;
access only signage Mnesae access only signage ., & £
Little Belmant & nt! / K = :
= p _HI _J ) ; Imp!ement L""ﬁ'g"""'h Hogben!s Hill
T access only sighage =~ % Implement I—
AV Py -"1I|'|;r Tree l access Dnly Signﬂge o L_.-:=|||r'|r:|- g
Dane .',_' ottage E . . Km _
- Fam 0 02 04 0.8 1.2)1 16 K

Gontains OF data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right 202 z

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, ALT 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-3000
WWW.2ECOM _COm

LEGEND

E Study Area

= Route 10 -Ashford to Faversham

® Cvycling Interventions

NOTES

Contains 05 Data & Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



)Tz abed

Milst | / - i - 4 = (== 11 0N -
VIS [Ea e y — e - = o
: 1 Hickmans 5 A-COM
. Green . |
Bluetown \ Crouch v P A H PROJECT
Hotvbusl Resurface [Increase = winterooume 2
3 ushes i South Strest E .
Newnham ‘//"umbemf pseing poces v I, . i Swale Local Cycling and
Gushmere bdde bl L 1 .
et :mp.lmm. . s Walking Infrastructure Plan
' : access only signage Vilgate access only signage i :
— Hogberi's Hi Forsta L 4 CLIENT
c { East impl . | .IrnF'l L ._n:t- helte T Charthan ;
e astling eme access only signage G B e A ; i i
access only signage Sholtuich o ling Hatct : Swale Borough Council
Improve visibility with 7 i E
blind hill and comer § - Improve Pemi¥ood —
Y awhedges—=' Hackle wayfinding ' A28 Ban i CONSULTANT
Implement oA Charthan —
access only signage aild Wives - 8 AECOM Limited
W Lees 8 Marlborough Court
T mplemen g i _
WWest Strest Increase . _'| car) .-E:L':LI':E“SS DHIY Signage A -' 3 - 1[] BFIEHE‘t RDEd
. AP oassing bIStet Leaveland S Y A N 'H StAlbans, AL1 3JX, UK
Woodsi e : o . . o T +44-1727-53-5000
sreen mplemen Chilkam 3
Remove shrubberny access only 1f i Www.aecom.com
Wirar Sk el Stalistield to improve signage Fana i i
el visibility » Street Mot ain q LEGEND
reen (= : g
ColdHarbo Stieat Garlinggy
tRoeirLr:;.rri::rubbery Green B E Study Area
. visibility | == Hpute 10 -Ashford to Faversham
Reduce speed FPested I i ® Cvycling Interventions
lirmit Molas! i §
(sreear T:
Resurface
z
| Increase challoc o /{ Godmersham i
Lerham-_ . passing adbio ; :
Frratal iy Charing Hill places Faddock / 8
:
’ Lenham Heah . frwil H
e o . Gharing =0T Lareet _
f —~a— i Sole Strest i
\. Charing Heath 2 Bilting Crundale i
\\_‘\ ¥ ] . Natham r
[=3 T, | I._l "|"|-;|-'- S . .. ; E
Groen - et Boughton
" ‘““—»._, ifeshwel Altiph / 4
T L &acon f
Eqertol . o !
R gy =] Boughton Lees i
=2 = — ; H
. Kampe's e i
| ™ Corre Hassdl :
tal Tutt Hill J Streat H
Little 1 ; :
snd Green Chart  Littl : ] -~ :
Chai - ! / ] AL oisham |8
Mundy Bois Forstal N, Q3 Loes - R B
Fluckl ey Resurface okl t—uu..]l-.u ! ] WAS Hill
e S I Lol | e e T ] E
P alk waytinding L / / B
rhe-s<Pluckley Thorne {othfield -; .;I|I|II|-||-1_| Hastinglaigh I'Iln
Firnnoc Fir-Tol | ky Bockhanger- y
S PO / Erook
Chambers' =2 B ]
— '.-l".'.ll # orten !’
ftran's T— | ! damosy Hil, Se. E
11|-:- man - = e Bamow BU additional :
! S — v AN ggycllglptarmng =y z
_ —— Installx at ra il "station’ b L Willesboraugh ' Hirhill
noadhil wayfinding hliees
Great Chart .- ‘ i NOTES
RS ilesberoust ppy (B W Bk 0N
Daniel's Water e | N Y 0 0.5pirholt 2 3 4 H Contains 05 Data & Crown
Vissender S L A Chilmington Beaver, | ”“""“:i"“ Euj . Contsins ©F ddterEitrbwn Copyright and datsbas e right zozofl  Copyright and database right 2020




The Oaze N AECOM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

~H Swale Borough Council
TheBeach ———r SR
7 House - [N

Improvem Ents — l

N IV 4 angnedwnth NCN h J ~~ H CONSULTANT
’f‘--—~ requirements — : AECOM Limited

{7 Mariborough Court
;//‘ 10 Bricket Road
St Albans, AL1T 30X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW. aeCOm .com

= Hit LEGEND

El“’*‘(:yt:lé" route /eney
through Solar™ ~
Park development

E Study Area

Route 11 - Faversham to
Whitstable

- Route 11 - Faversham to
Whitstable (alignment TBC )}

® Cvycling Interventions

w.(‘ BIGOH'IIII

=Horse
Cotage ===

\ Broom'Street
Sandbanks

Fam

Im pla‘nenttnew

W/ ; _ surtaced path up _ fr .H“'i‘*&:‘;. _—
? to Solar Park R S 4
/ : i

i

PGt N0~ iImprove P \ t

\ 1 —vl/ argate——__
g;...f"—f : wa]rflndlng, Ilghtlng 1 G':-anfeatcne | |lf .
-;";;:Er_- .-'"E:!!'-J'.'hﬂ:ﬁ-“.ﬂ:f:-‘—fi
-ra (¢
fw-‘:e-?' = f
/7 The F armhouse -E:
S/ — —Graveney: Rz = Schod Farm @ - \ 2] ]
—J 'E"*:‘AE : = I & . ){, o Slean Wk
IL prnvg- I junction. 5afety | = & \\%FI‘ ;_" 2 :
- wayfinding .'-rlf , Homestal \_#Fioise & hyghill &

L 4 _I.""‘-\_‘_\ -JI I'I":"Uae - x::_—-'_—‘\ ] AE
= - LPreston [/ A . I / ™, A Hallv Hill H
‘ﬁ H‘"“L"—-._ ) T3 3 . Ill V4 Ch:u:lcham Earm A
- I8 xf P ':l - —_— - 1
r\‘\;r—-‘:ﬂ L S ‘ = .m-’

Holly Eof
Slutshole ol by Firtree'Co NOTES

Contains 05 Data & Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

e | anf . ] | .':l. : = g 1
< ! IJ'{- Em”—'l--:;, u:f_& _ | | dah / / \'{ ;,// \ | Hill Farm o E
j I | "‘“:.hhsc.ugmﬂn Homestall Cottages N/ S|/ -mim:— h"
[] % |

) f | Coftage Y ~J w0 02,04 08 12 A6
" (W Figl P |

. ST \
A\ 1 f",nil'\”qﬂ.aq G‘UJIT}' HUU‘SE \.\. { J |15taplestre$ Gnntair?s 05 data @ Crown Gup]ﬁkqabg.g'ﬂ 'ﬂéjm'base ght 2020




A=COM ki

\/

Appendix E - Sittingbourne Walking and
Wheeling Routes and Interventions




0zz abed

Eobbing

Larcwe

Fark
N 1
=,
|
Chalkwell
Tighten radii
:Tedmegnt ‘and add raised
- 1o 2m crossing

Implement

Tighten radii and %
raised crossing

add raised crossing .’.-.
.

Install
7ebra crossing

Improve lighting
and wayfinding
through the
planned development

as necessary Im rc:ﬂ.reli htin Tighten radii
Orchard aﬁd paviﬂg mg and add raised
Cottages improve safety. crossing = :
Cut shrubbery back Junction improvements
to improve pedestrian
priority & safety
Borden

Harman's Corneal

Implement
traffic calming

/l.\.f.“h-vf--. |

Widen pavement

_Improﬁe '
wayfinding
at_station

Pmremént decl uttering &
Jjunction improvements
for pedestrians

Tighten radii =

_and add raised
crossing Widen a .
pa::.egﬁnfnt Install zebra crossing to replace
dropped Kerb crossing
T .‘\

I @ Tighten radii and
" add raised crossing

Install dropped kKerb
and tactile paving on
both sides of the road
Install dropped kerb,

raised crossing and |
tactile paving on both

‘sides of the road

to 2m

0 00750015 03 045 0.6

Contains, &5 data @ Crown Cogyright and databas e right 202

nbksirad Iror | o ko] cirwsrs ions.

ficrr el Do nod sosks his docurend. A D sssUnerenls Fus | be

i
i
=
H
8
i
T
]
]
F
2
]
i
g
=
T
x

s wpred by AE OO M or ss recLinesd by by

o

This cirancirg b b pasprar For B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy rod b s e, ol o] rprocieed of nslee] Upon by thind p s,

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

Route 2 - Sittingbourne Station
to SW Developments

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



T2z abed

Improve
—wayfinding
'atstatim_I .

Restore pavément pavement on one side

Widen pavement on |mpr01.r:e'ﬂ crossing
one side and stop point - install -
cars parking on —— ~ zebra crossing

L in front of oy : \ b o
sutungbﬁﬁéalemmp ' t%e;gﬁigg crossings | J Implemgntdhmld c-_uts. Improve lighting
g had =l _ . - = - raised crossing, ; and wayfinding
" pavement pitch ! _ : ] ; tighten radii and remove NISLEN bariers or through the

bamiers to walking

o p— Install
. [ crossing

~ at junction

Implement wayfinding
: and undertake
ool : : - lighting assessment

Imprwemﬁinding'
and lighting/ paving
to improve safety

Increase pavement
width and
dropped kerbs —

bollards to stop cars
parking on the pavement!

Implement wayfinding &
surface improvements on
traffic-free footpaths -

planned development
as necessary

I N | [y
0 0.05 01 0.2 0.3 04

Contains OF data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right 202

nbkirad Iror | s ko] cirwsrs ione.

e el Do nod sosks his docursnl. A D sssUnerenls Fus | be

i
i
=
H
g
i
T
]
]
F
2
]
i
g
=
T
x

a wproed by AE OO0 M of ss recLinesd by by

He

This cirancirg b b pasprar Fof B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy ool b s o, ol o] reprocieed of nske] Upon by third p s,

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-3000
WWW.2ECOM _COm

LEGEND

E Study Area

® Walking Interventions

Route 3 - Sittingbourne Station to
E ast Sittingbourne

NOTES

Contains 05 Data & Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



zzz abed

Milton

Reqis

‘.

Improve
way finding
at station

in front of
car dealership

~J ® |, stall lighting. Rd i S =
Restore pavement \b

! pavement pitch

Implement si;';n'alised_
crossings at roundabout to
improve pedestrian safety

Implement signalised
crossings at roundaboutto
improve pedestrian safety

Murston

® Resurface pavement and

widen pavement on right

side northbound on Castle
Road north until Stadium
Way/Gas Road. Ensure dropped
kerbs are in place at -

all turnings/junctions

Implement zebra
crossing to
reduce severance

Install CCTV '\ — —
under bridge |

Re-design crossings :
to remove - = ) : - - )

Snipeshill

N N I
0 0.0501 0.2 0.3 04

Zontains OFS data @ Crown Copyright and datebas e right 202

=
B
=
]
S
B
-l
B
Fl
T
B
B
]
=
1
L
x
-
-
"
]

s wproe] by AE OO0l or ss recinesd by ey A BC O scospds Hn respons By snd denies sry b By sl coser, I sny pery | Fel uss o rals

Thil cirancirg b b pasparer For B e of ABCOkls chord. B Foy ol b s e, el e reprocuesd o e Upon by i per s, s ol

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

Route 4 - Sittingbourne Station
== tn Eurolink Business Park

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



czz abed

Improve
— wayfinding
® at station -

Remove street

furniture/ pavement |

decluttering - I
Sitingboumne ! !

] t Michizel

Install dropped kerb

(from shopping area

/. to Roman Square)

2 “Increase
Implement f pavement
continuous J°  width

one-level footway

Implement
raised
Ccrossing

Re-design crossings
to remove
pavement pitch

o___o

Implement raised
crossings along
this stretch

Install zebra

crossing to connect

Stanhope Avenue Install

and footpath to raised

Osprey Court crossing
Tighten radii

and implement
raised crossing

Tighten radii
and implement
raised crossing

Install
ted raised
| aying crossing
Fi Implement Install
Zebra rmaised
Improve ._,.\.‘Eossing crossing
i = : Implement raised
crossing
Implement ' Install

Tighten radii
and implement
raised crossing

dropped kerb raised
" Crossing

I N | [y
D:-005 01 0.2 0.3 04

Contains ©F data @ Crown Copyright and datebas e right 202

bk o | o ko] cirwrs ions.

e el Do nod sosks his docurend. A D0 sssUnerenls mus | be

i
i
=
|
&
i
E
]
]
F
2
]
i
g
=
T
x

s wproed by AE OO M or ss recLinesd by ey

.

This cirancirg b b pasprad For B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy rod b s e, ol o] reprocieed of nskee] Upon by thirnd p s,

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 5 - Central
e Sittingbourne to East
Sittingboumne

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



yzz abed

Chalk

Install
Zebra
crossing

Widen
pavement i

Tighten radii and
add raised crossing

wel |

Implement
traffic
calming

Junction improvements
to improve pedestrian
priority & safety
) Implement
raised

safe crossing points

Implement build
outs and raised
crossing

-Tunstall

Improve pedestrian crossing and

remove gates at park

.\' crossing
Implement zebra Centrance to improve accessibility
crossing to provide y )

Implement wayfinding

and undertake
lighting assessment

Implement zebra
crossing outside
Fulston Manor school -

Junction re-design to
improve pedestrian
safety and priority

Golden Wiood

- crossing

Sni

Pl Implement

Fi raised
crossing
]
Install zebra
crossing around
school entrance

Install |
signalised
Crossin
Implement g
. raised

Junction re-design to
improve pedestrian
safety and priority

Implement

raised

crossing

I BN

0 0.0750.15 0.3 D.45 0.

Contains OF data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right

=
B
=
]
-
B
Hl
B
Fl
T
B
B
]
=
1
L
x
-
-
=
]

s wproed by AE OO0l of ss recuinesd by by, A BC O scospds Gn respons by snd deries sry b By sl coser, I sny perky | Fel s or rals

This cirancirg b b pasparer For B e of ABCOkls chord. B Foy ol b s e, el e reprocesd o ke upon by Bhird per s, s ol

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

Route 6 - SW Developments
to South Sittingbourne

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



gzz abed

LA A4

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

: T , N
Implement raised zebra crossing with dropped | |
kerbs to provide safe access

to Milton Creek Country Park

Increase pavement width
of one side and restrict
cars parking on road

’ CLIENT
Milton
- T q i - v Improve Regis Swale Borough Council
' i 3 CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

§ E 10 Bricket Road
Install

zebra St Albans, AL1T 3JX, UK
crossing T +44-1727-53-5000

WWW. aecom _Com

LEGEND

Improﬂre lighting on path

Install barriers or

bollard s to stop cars

parking on pavement.
i

Improve
pedestrian

Route 7 - South Sittingbourne to
Milton Creek Country Park

8 of i drsecing sclboul AE CORN sapms § srillen cons enl Conod o osle s decursend. 4 §n sssunsrsnl s ms b obisined Mo Dhe s e cirens o

Il-':'l'}-"- _ ® Walking Interventions
- footway s Install barmriers
or bollards to
stop cars parking
on pavement.
Widen pavement

Implement raised
crossing s along this
Chalkwell - Stretch of road :
S0 1 Install raised
Widen footway s table, dropped kerb

e and tactile paving

Install dropped Kerb
and tactile paving

e

Extend raised table = :
Install dropped kerb

to front of junction =, ," i b
i o and improve crossing ~ : ! _
& reduce corner radii ﬂ‘_. i | . : bam Rl " " —
Implement  Improve Ichaefs™
raised crossing - wayfinding Pavement decluttering & '

junction improvements
for pedestrians

.. Tighten radii \ :
and add raised =
C crossing Install zebra

crossing to replace.
dropped kerb crossing -

s wpried] by AE OO0 bl of ss recuinesd by ey, A BC O scospds Gn respons Bl snd deries sy b By sl coser, I sny pery | Fel uss o nols

Install I swyirant Fiel g -
dropped Und ertake lighting e
kerb assessment and :

implement wayfinding

= Implement wayfinding
and undertake

lighting assessment Implement zebra : !

crossing outside
Fulston Manor school
Junction re-design to
improve pedestrian
safety and priority
i Il I B 3
0 01 02 04 06 08

Contains 05 data @ Crown Copyright and datebas e right 2020

NOTES

Thi cirancirg b b paspred For B e of ABCOkls chord. B Foy ol b s o, el reprocesd o e upon by third per s, s ol

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020




pul |

abe

Q77
tv 3 &

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

Improve pedestrian

access to _

Kemsley station , T —
L | !

Oysrer Por

CONSULTANT
I to path AECOM Limited
& mprove access to pa
Implement raised Install lighting and undertake pavement Marlt}.omugh Court
e and lighting assessments 10 Bricket Road

@ ©On each arm along entire path throughout the park St Albans, ALT 3JX, UK

- T +44-1727-53-5000
'™ 8 Resurface path WWW._aeCcom . .com
Widen footway alongside
[ foothall pitch LEGEND

s of i drsecing sclboul AE CORN sa s § srillen cons enl Conod s osle i desursend. 4 |m sssnsrsnl s mus b obbired o Dhe s e cirens oms

Improve access to

path & implement’ : E Study Area
raised zebra crossing E ® Walking Interventions
E :_ Route & - Kemsley to Eurolink

i Business Park
s
z
Couniry Par Improve
access 2
to path ¥
o ;

Mikon Req
?
Implement signalised

crossing s at oundabout to
improve pedestrian safety

NOTES

I B BN 232 A

0 00501 0.2 0.3 0.4 Contains 05 Data @ Crown

Copyright and database right 2020

2
]
£
1
¥
-
&
i
=
-
£
£




)22 abed

I

Sirect

‘arsonage Farm

otfages

Chalkwwall

Fheasants
Farmhousa

Improve pedestrian
access to bridge —
remove obstacles

o from footway & widen

Improve crossing with

tactile paving, reduce
- radii and implement
raised crossing

Widen footway .\ tEICIIlE

-~ 5, Redesign jll nction tl:-
be more pedestrian fnendh_.r
— reduce crossing distance,
followdesire line &
eliminate pavement pitch —

Widen fuqma',r

Implement improvements in
line with development plans.
Implement wayfinding and
lighting where necessary

Milton

Improve e
Crossing

Install bollard s or a
bamier to stop cans
parking on pavement

Widen one pavement and
install bollards ora
barmrier to stop cars
parking on pavement

Restore foc-nﬁas.r to one level with
Dutch ‘entry kerbs for yard
access points. Min width 2m

Install
Redesign junction to be
pavmg - maore pedestrian friend ly —

 reduce crossi ng distance,
fc-llowdemre line &

eliminate pavement pitch

den
fq otway

Imﬁrwe - z
wayfinding .
at station: Bl

Kamsl ey

‘T

001 02 0.4 0.5 0.8,

Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and databas-eright 202

=
B
=
]
g
B
-l
B
Fl
T
B
B
]
=
1
L
x
-
-
=
]

s wproe] by AE OO0 bl or ss recuinesd by by A BC O scospds Gn respons Bl snd denies sy b By sl coser, I sny pery | Fel Lss o rods

Thi cirancirg b b pasparer For B e of ABCOkls clord. B Foy rol b s e, el e reprocuesd o ke upon by third per s, s ol

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

Route 9 - NW Development to
Sittingbourne Station

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



nalz
" L

pul |
|

abe

ID. Foam

(o)v.avi
[©)

Implement zebra
crossing outside
Iwade school

Improve wayfinding
along entire rcr_ute

lwead &
Improve security
by implementing
lighting and CCTV

Reduce corner radii
and implement
raised crossing

Improve
lighting

L Install safe
crossing and
wider pavement

{Install safe
crossing and
wider pavement

| Increase pavment width
and remove shrubbery
to assist with this

Reduce speed limit
(cumently 60mph)

Install

Junction improvements: raised table, zebra
A — reduce crossing distances, crossing

/ reflect desire lines,
7ebra/parallel crossing over
major road & informal crossings
f on minor roads

{:reﬁte parking
-af— with footway at

Implement raised
crossing, reduce
radii, widen

footway & implement

double yellowlines / Improve pedestrian

access to
“Kemsley station

bay

a minimum of 2m

I B BN <

0 005 01 02, 0.3 04

Cofrtains 5 data @ Grown Copyright and databas e right 2020

nbkirad Iror | s ko] cirwsrs ione.

e el Do nod sosks his docursnl. A D sssUnerenls Fus | be

i
i
=
H
g
i
T
]
]
F
2
]
i
g
=
T
x

a wproed by AE OO0 M of ss recLinesd by by

He

Thi cirancirg b bt psprar Fof B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy rod b s o, ol o] reproceed of nskee] Upon by third pr s,

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-3000
WWW.2ECOM _COm

LEGEND

E Study Area

® Walking Interventions

= Qoute 10 - Kemsley to Iwade

o o Route 10 -Kemsley to lwade
(alignment TBC})

NOTES

Contains 05 Data & Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



RZZ abrd

A=A A

a1

Howt' Green

Chalkowell

/ Improve pedestrian
| access to
Kemsley station

Implement rai sed
Crossings

on each arm \ Widen footway

Improve access to
path & implement i
raised zebra crossing

Implement signalised
crossing points &

raised crossings on each
arm for pedestrians

and dropped kerbs

Elimin ate pavement pitch with pitch
| entrance kerbs, widen footway &
widen shared path to 3m

Implement Imlplér'hent raised zebra crossing
raised with 'dropped kerbs to provide ;
. Crossing safe access to Milton Creek
Country Park &
nt
Raised!

Raised crossings over
each entrance & minor
road on western footway

crosings on
each arm

Milton
Regis

Raised zebra
crossing

Widen eastern footway
& implement raised

Widen moﬁuaﬁ,r
Crossing s over ’

entrances/minor roads |mPTD_‘-'E-‘_
y crossing and
Reduce crossing tactile paving

distance, radii
and raise crossing v
' Improve pavement to provide safe
access into Milton Creek Country Park

Implement rai sed
Crossings
on each arm

,.Néw crossing point
to help tackle car
dominance in this area

Redesign junction to be
mare pedestrian friendly —
w; reduce crossing distance,
i follow desire line &
eliminate pavement pitch

Widen footway

Improve .
= Situwayfinding
at station

Widen footway Ao —~=—

I N
0 0.075015 0.3 -0.45 0.6

Contains, 05 data @ Crown Copyright and . dalgbds e right 2028

=
B
=
]
S
B
-l
B
Fl
x
B
B
]
=
1
L
x
-
-
=
]

s wproed] by AE OO0l of ss recinesd by ey A BC O scospds Hn respons Bl snd denies sy il By sl coser, I sny pery | Fel uss o rads

Thi cirancirg b b pasparer o B e of ABCOkls chord. B Foy ol b s e, ol e reprocuesd o ke upon by third per s, s ol s

A=COM

PROJECT

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT

Swale Borough Council
CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

] study Area

Route 11 - Kemsley to
Sittingbourne Station

® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



sz abed

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

Implement signalised
crossing s at roundabout to
improve pedestrian safety

nbkirad Iror | s ko] cirwsrs ione.

Improve
lighting
and CCTV

Improve
ACCRSS

to path
Implement CONSULTANT
lighting
and paving AECOM Limited

e el Do nod sosks his docursnl. A D sssUnerenls Fus | be

Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-3000
WWW.2ECOM _COm

LEGEND

E Study Area

® Walking Interventions
= Qoute 12 - North to South Murston

Improve
lighting
and CCTV

i
i
=
H
g
i
T
]
]
F
2
]
i
g
=
T
x

Improve access to

path. Implement

raised crossing and
pavement improvements
by access to path

a wproed by AE OO0 M of ss recLinesd by by

He

Implement
raised
crossing

Implement
raised

crossing 4 ] \ )
Improve crossing with tactile ]

paving and implementing

Install mised zebra g a raised crossing

crossing and widen ——
pavement. Install  YMiden southern

barriers or bollards footway to
to stop cars parking _Minimum 2m
on the pavement —

Implement wayfinding & -:-:__:__Km
surface improvements on -, 0 0.04 008 0.16 0.24 0.32
fraffic-free footpaths Contains ©OS data @ Crown Copyright and databas e right 202

NOTES

Contains 05 Data & Crown
Copyright and database right 2020

This cirancirg b b paspran Fof B i of ABC Oy clord. B Foy rod b s o, ol o] reprocieed of nske] Upon by thind p s,




17 abed

LA~ A4

A

'.Im|:|nr|:lnw_L wayfinding
Reduce crossing distance and radii and along entire route
add raised crossings between Jade Cl .‘ -

and Sapphir&Cl/

@ Widen pavemet by
zebra crossing

Milon Regis
Implement
raised crossing
on each arm =
Implement
raised crossing
on each arm
Improwe lighting 1
and CCTV
under bridge
Widen western r
footway gy
Implement
raised Imp lement
crossing raised
crossing
Improwe: d
crossing and E
Implement tactile paving |
raised i
Crossing Implement
raised
Crossing Install
crossing
; Install dedicated
Repair footway & walkway Implement raised
Implement . e h il < .
. widen te'minimum {e.g.white ling} crossing with |
raised p .
E of 2m ta-:'.tlle pawing
Ccrossing
I / Install raised
Implement . table, dropped kurb
raiced Implement raised table, and tact|le pa'-.nng
- reduce corner radii
Crossing H.EPEIFfDD‘t'NE]I' —
Implement & widen to Implement .
raised minimum 2m = raised
- CTOSSing Ccrossing Install dropped
: Improwve
kurk and —
tactil B “erossing with
clile pawing Install tactile paving Improwve
’ Crossing . wayfinding
Extend raised table at station -
to front of juncticn ; " T

F.rerduc'.& corner radii Resurface path and

unewen steps and
improwe security

Il N | [
0 005 01 0.2 0.3 04

Contains 5 data B Crown Copyright and dalebas e right 2020

ol i corc Lrwnd. A 1 sssUnerwnls s b oblsined rom e s bl dirsns ions

Wl i i il

of s o6 i drsecing scdboul AR CL

]
q
T
a
2
]
1
8
=
T
E
']

o i

i wproed by AE OO M

This cirancirg b b pasparer For B i of ABCObls chord. B Foy rol b s e, el e reprocued of el upon by third per s, sac

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND
] study Area

= Foute 13 - West Sittingbourne
® Walking Interventions

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



A

Improve access/ remove
obstacles ontof off PRoW

Manage PRoW
as required

Man'age drainage and

_Implement footways,
-pedestrian crossing

and implement wayfinding,
speed reductions and
signalised crossing
facilities for pedestrians

undertake feas ibility

“design work with land

owners to implement
accessible infrastructure

707 ofrd

A=A~ A4

Manage drainage and
direct pedestrians
along desire path

Improve access/ remove
obstacles onto;PRoW

and implement wayfinding [
»

Manage overgrown /,’ {

vegetation blocking
.. the footway ®

Implement zebra 4
- crossing outside

wade school .,—‘/

Implement
zebra ™
crossing

Manage PRoW
as required

o Manage overgrown

vegetation which makes
footway inaccessible

?""‘“-——h Implement dropped kerbs and

tactile paving, implement wayfinding and lighting

Implement tactile paving
and dropped kerbs

Manage parking on
pavements to increas e
usable pavement width

/{/.
Implement crossing '
facilities jinto-
Swale Station

facilities and

reduce speed limit Widen shared-us e path to

increase footway width
/rand reduce s peed limit to
" 30mph up to Swale Station

Implement wayfinding |
to Swale Station, | |
implement footways
and connect into [
existing footway |

A, iy perly el Lsssl of rilies of Ihis drsecing scilboul AE OB sapms § srillen cons enl. Do el 8 os i e Lrwend. A A sssunerwnl s Fs b cbisined from Dhe s bled cirsens o

]
.
2
-

e WL

Calghinb .
Flewt

BN B
0 0.05017\, 02 03 :

Contains ©5 data @ Crown GEgywright and datsbas e right 2020 |8

A=COM

Swale Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plan

CLIENT
Swale Borough Council

CONSULTANT
AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1T 34X, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWW_AECOM COMm

LEGEND

® Walking Interventions

— WH14 - Iwade to Swale station

NOTES

Contains O3 Data @ Crown
Copyright and database right 2020



A=COM ki

\/

Appendix F - Isle of Sheppey Active
Travel and Walking and Wheeling
Routes and Interventions




Concept Plans

€2;9bed

WSP

@

0 250

The Broadway

Connection with
Sheerness-on-Sea
Railway Station to

Minster Route

Lighting Provision
Review lighting provision
along the route

The Broadway
Potential to add stepped cycle track
alongside existing footway.

The Broadway Paving

Add dropped kerbs and tactile
paving along road. Resurface
footways to address sections in poor
condition to maintain a continuous
footway.

The Broadway (N)

Install a protected cycle facility, should widths be unavailable
consider a shared use option. Mixed traffic conditions only
suitable if route is at 20mph and traffic volume is <2500vpd.

The Broadway Bus Stops
Opportunity to improve existing surveillance at bus stop,
including CCTV and real-time bus service information.

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

GBIl EE

Queenborough Drive/Bellevue Road

Existing traffic conditions provide a Quietway mixed traffic
route on Queenborough Drive and Bellevue Road, offering
an alternative route to Mister in Sheppey Primary School,
avoiding Minster Road.

The Broadway Parking Restrictions
Control on-street parking by
implementing restrictions along
both sides of the road.

500 750
| ] |

Figure 50 : The Broadway

Connection with
Queenborough to
Minster Route

1,000 m

/ Mini-roundabout

@

Teeg Improvement

~1 Tighten roundabout arms
and provide parallel crossing
points,




Concept Plans

WSP

g€z abed

Main Road (B2007) to Minster Road

Key

Footway improvement

Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Future Development

OO DI >

®

Summerville Avenue

Consider an alternative mixed
traffic route via Summerville
Avenue to Minster Road, should
Barton Hill Drive be too
constrained to implement LTN
1/20 standard infrastructure

l Connection with
Queenborough to
Halfway Houses
Route

Sheppey Community Hospital

Upgrade existing mini-roundabout to
provide parallel crossings at each arm,
giving pedestrians and cyclist priority and
connect existing shared facilities and
improving access to the hospital.

v A1

Connection with
Queenborough to
Halfway Houses

A

Queenborough Road

Assess highway boundary to understand
whether road space and space from grass
verge could be reallocated to provide a
protected cycle facility or shared use, or at
minimum a 1.5m footway. Opportunity for

Barton Hill Drive

Carriageway constraints on Barton Hill
Drive may not allow for road space
reallocation. Consider reallocation of
footway and grass verge space to provide
either a footway level cycle track or shared
facility.

Route off-road path on private land subject to
developer plans. If segregated/shared use
not possible, reduce speed limit to 20mph
and schemes to reduce overall traffic
flows would be very beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and comfort.

New Off-Road Connection \
An off-road cycle corridor has recently been \
developed north of Lower Road, providing a \
wide off-road connection between Minster
and Queenborough. Review lighting \
provision along route to allow access for all \
users' year round. \
|
0 250 500 750 1,000 m ,}
[ ! ! ! J /

Figure 51 : Main Road (B2007) to Minster Road

Barton Hill Drive

It is not considered feasible
to introduce cycle
infrastructure physically
protected from motor
traffic due to highway
width constraints.
Additional improvements
include reviewing footway
parking along this section
and implementing a
20mph speed limit.
Schemes to reduce overall
traffic flows through the
town would be very
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and
comfort.

Q) 3
/ W~
¢ F
2] y i S~
....... 7 Vs
- f
- = 7/
_______ Ve (
/
1
Existing Shared
9 Use Path~—. 7
I
/
— ]
e -\-—-__— ————— -——

Queenborough Road / Sheppey Way
Redesign to enable safer and more comfortab
movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehic
make the same manoeuvres in the same spac
the same time. Including crossing upgrades li
facilities at each arm.

station.

Sheppey Way to Swale
Widen existing shared use path/footway to 3m
consistency along the entire route towards Sw|

Lower Road / Barton Hill
Drive Roundabout
Redesign to enable safer
and more comfortable
cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and
motor vehicles do not
make the same
manoeuvres in the same
space and/or at the same
time. Including crossing
upgrades at each arm.




Concept Plans

9823959d

WSP

Halfway Road Roundabout
Introduce pedestrian crossing
points at southern and
northern arms of the
roundabout.

7

»o---'--'----

Introduction of a footway
necessary to ensure
pedestrian safety. Additionally,
there is a need for road
lighting to reach point where
Power Station Road meets
William Rigby Drive.

Power Station Road

Power Station Road Crossing

Consider raised table at crossing adjacent to
green space as a traffic calming measure.

Continued vegetation maintenance necessary
to ensure useability of the route year around.

of the route.

Addition of lighting along the off-road sections

Minster Road Crossing

measure.

Introduce raised zebra crossing facility to
facilitate safe pedestrian movement along the
desire line as well as acting as a traffic calming

250

500

750

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance
Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction

New / Improved crossing

the safety of the route.

Suggested resurfacing of offroad section to
allow all users to use the section all year
round. Additional need for lighting to ensure

Placemaking improvement

Bus Stops

Schools

Minor junction improvement

Major junction improvement

of route.

Scrapsgate Pedestrian Crossing
Consider introduction of zebra crossing
facility at beginning of off-road section

Sunnyside Avenue Junction / Silverdale Avenue
Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal

paving.

1,000 m

Figure 52 : Power Station Road

pedestrian crossing point with dropped kerbs and tactile :

Minster Road / Sunnyside Avenue Junction
Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal

pedestrian crossing point with dropped kerbs and tactile

paving.




Concept Plans

Brielle Way to Rushenden Road

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single
movement crossing to reduce pedestrian delay for greater cycle connectivity

Connection with
Halfway Houses to ‘
Sheerness Route Connection with

Sheerness-on-Sea e

and remove guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable
cycle movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the
@ same manoeuvres in the same space and/or at the same time.

Railway Station‘'to
Minster Route

West Street Crossing Improvement
Tighten junction radii and install dropped kerbs and S ELRGEETEEL T PR
tactile paving.

Cromwell Road Rail Bridge

Cut back vegetation overhanging the road and address
footway and kerb maintenance issues where cracked
and damaged. Overall street cleansing and

New Road
----------------- Upgrade existing shared use path to provide two-way cycle track with
dropped kerbs, and tactile paving at crossings.

maintenance required along route section. Ifitis ~  |-====--m-mmmmoomo - P
determined that littering and rubbish bags on the
footway are a regular occurrence, consider enhancing

|20mph zones
Implement 20mph zone within urban area to improve safety for cyclists

street cleaning programme and installing additional

rubbish bins. @ Cromwell Road to Rail Bridge

.................... Provide separated walking and cycling path from roundabout improvements at Brielle

--------------------- Way along Cromwell Road connecting to the rail bridge. Provide street lighting along

Access to Cromwell Road . :
Improve signage onto Cromwell Road and resurface the the path. Add sh_ared_cycle path signage and road markings from Newland Road /
Bocooooocooooo Cromwell Road junction north to rail bridge.

link to rail bridge.

Brielle Way / Cromwell Road Roundabout Improvements

Whiteway Road Crossing Improvements Upgrade roundabout to signal controlled throughout, by adding signalised crossings on

/€¢ abed

L I Qe[S 1In Sdising] footways along both sides of all arms to improve continuity of journey for pedestrians and cyclists. Define crossings
iihiieney Rosd feubiehily shds el viesistnaginetel T, 1 : pII I by adding dropped kerbs and blister tactile paving on refuge and eastern side of
grad_e sgparated crossing at the western arm for added s j; crossing, with vegetation clearance and additional lighting throughout the roundabout
EOMAAINGS rﬁ' and footways.
Key
Whiteway Road (B2007)
Widen existing pedestrian path to Footway improvement s
________________ . incorporate pedestrian and separated

Rushenden Road / B2007 Mini Roundabout Crossing “ i SRR\ stepped cycle path along road while Cycle facility —
Improvement ~ narrowing traffic Iahe to implement a lower
Add zebra crossing to north and east arms of mini ~ F-eeoo_____ speed limit. Potential to also create Shared use —
roundabout. Extend suggested cycle path from | T & @ additional footway on eastern side of the ‘ v
Rushenden Road along mini roundabout. road with vegetation clearance. Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction

Rushenden Road / Second Cycle
Provision
Add cycle lane on west side of carriageway

Rushenden Road Footway Widening

Works to widen footways/reduce carriageway widths. Footway parking restriction

WSP

to connect to suggested cycle path along . =
Whiteway Road (B2007). New / Improved crossing x
igzhertl)den Road /Manor Road Mini Roundabout | =~ (@& Minor junction improvement  (§¢
zebra crossing. . A
2 Rushenden Road Parking Restriction il o
________________________________ / Trip Hazards Major junction improvement @
__________________________________ Restrict footway parking on both sides T
___________________ of carriageway. Improve dropped kerb Placemaking improvement =l
and tactile paving provision at all side 9
Tactile paving and dropped roads. Carry out Bus Stops
X Kerbs to be introduced at all maintenance/resurfacing works on @
0 250 500 750 1'000 m side road entry points. both sides of carriageway. Schools
| 1 1 | b |

Figure 53 : Brille Way to Rushenden Road




Concept Plans

8ez:8bed

WSP

Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster

Coastal Path

Existing shared-use route
which is unreliable due to

adverse weather

conditions for a large
portion of the year.

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single movement crossing to reduce pedestrian
delay for greater cycle connectivity and remove guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable cycle
movements ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the same space and/or at the
same time.

Provide additional
cycle parking at
the start of the
route at
Sheerness-on-Sea
Railway Station
and throughout
Sheerness town
centre.

High Street / Beach Street / Clarence Row
Reallocate space to provide contraflow cycle facility along High Street to Beach Street. Route follows Quietway
route along Beach Street and Clarence Row.

Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

500 750
1 1

T

onnection with
Halfway Houses to
Sheerness Route

Neptune Steps

wheelchair ramp.

---| Redesign access to coastal path by implementing greater accessibility measures including

TN

Localised
resurfacing on
Sheerness Sea route.

Coast'a_l Path

Marine Parade

It is not considered feasible
to introduce cycle
infrastructure physically
protected from motor
traffic due to highway
width constraints.
Additional improvements
include reviewing footway
parking along this section
and implementing a
20mph speed limit.
Schemes to reduce overall
traffic flows through the
town would be very
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist safety and
comfort.

1,000 m

Figure 54 : Sheerness-on-Sea Railway Station to Minster

Provide a safe access point between

Marine Parade/potential shared
facility and the existing off-road

path.

Placemaking Opportunity

Potential for area enhancements
/ placemaking improvements by

creating a parklet with seating,
planting, and cycle parking to
increase connectivity to the
coastal route.

.............

Provide localised surface improvements where
required along Southsea Avenue

Scarborough Drive

Provide localised surface improvements and
manage vegetation where required along

Connection with Minster - Queenborough Route

Key

Footway improvement —
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance _—

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Add / update wayfinding signage from Seaside
to Chequers Road. Review lighting provision on
existing local path.

ﬁ' kerbs to be introduced at all

Tactile paving and dropped

side road entry points.

Back Lane / High Street
It is not considered feasible to introduce cycle infrastructure physically protected from motor
traffic due to highway width constraints. Additional improvements include reviewing
footway parking along this section and implementing a 20mph speed limit. Schemes to
reduce overall traffic flows through the town would be very beneficial in terms of improving
cyclist safety and comfort.

20mph speed limit and
low trafficked streets

------- allows for cyclists to mix

with traffic through
residential areas.

Route begins on the existing
National Cycle Network (NCN)
Route 174 and follows this
along Marine Parade before
Route 174 terminates on
Southsea Avenue.




Concept Plans

6€Z 3bed

WSP

Queenborough to Minster

paving.

Minster Road / Halfway Road Junction
Install signalised parallel crossings on all
junction arms with dropped kerbs and tactile

Belmont Road / A250
Junction

Improve existing
uncontrolled crossings on
all arms with dropped kerb
widening and tactile
paving.

Main Road (B2007) /
Queenborough Road
(A250) Public Realm
Enhancements and
Crossing Addition
Re-surfacing needed in
central verge with
footway widening. Add
zebra crossing connecting
bus stop along verge with  [==7"=75
eastbound footway for
enhanced connectivity.

Belmont Road / A250
Junction

Add formal
pedestrian / cycle
crossing for enhanced
pedestrian and cycle
connectivity to the
existing cycle
provision and footway
connecting to Oasis
Academy.

Rushenden Road / B2007 Mini
Roundabout Crossing
Improvement

Add zebra crossing to north and

east arms of mini roundabout.
Extend suggested cycle path
from Rushenden Road along
mini roundabout.

Minster Road (B2008)
Widen footways and
incorporate stepped cycle
lane long north side of road.
Carry out maintenance and
resurfacing works to address
sections in poor condition.

1

Tactile paving and dropped
& Kkerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

along Barton Hill Drive arm.

Minster Road / Barton Hill Drive Mini Roundabout
Replace existing uncontrolled crossing on eastern
B2008 arm with zebra crossings, add tactile paving to
dropped kerbs on western B2008 arm, and add
additional paving markings on uncontrolled crossing

Mini-roundabout
Improvement

Tighten roundabout arms
and provide parallel
crossing points.

A
=

.................

Queenborough Road (A250) Bus Stop Enhancements Proposed Network /y‘)
i Add bus stop boarders to bus stops along Extension Shared Use Path /
[ S R, (R i Queenborough Road for improved safety and / —
/ cycle/walking continuity, and increase placemaking by —— R~
! @ adding seating, schedule flagpoles, shelter, etc. at bus /' l" Ty
*6\ stops. Multiple bus stops located along the corridor. y > >
Y@ , P /

Existing Shared Use Path

Main Road (B2007) and Queenborohgh Road
(A250) Parking Restriction / Trip Hazards
Restrict footway parking on both sidés-of-------+--- ==
carriageway. Widen footways/reduce
carriageway widths and improve dropped kerb
and tactile paving provision at all side roads.

Main Road (B2007) / Queenborough Road (A250) Cycle
Provision

Consider constructing grade separated stepped cycle lane on -

north and west side of Main Road (B2007) / Queenborough Road |— = & "= = = = _ = =
(A250) connecting to the cycle lane suggested along Whiteway
Road (B2007).

R

Queenborough Road (A250) Place Making Improvements

northbound side. Can also implement improved wayfinding signage for both
pedestrians and cyclists.

educe the growth of hedges to allow for footway widening on the

Brielle Way / B2007 an

0 250 500 750
L ] ] 1 ]

Redesign junction to enable safer cycle turning movements needed. Consider reducing the junction
radii and realign crossing point with desire lines to improve visibility when crossing. Add signalised
toucan crossings on all arms and replace existing staggered crossing with central island having a
1,000 m single movement crossing to reduce pedestrian delay and greater cycle connectivity. Remove guard
railing at crossings for more efficient cycle connections.

d B2007 / Queenborough Road Junction Crossing Improvements

Figure 55: Queenborough to Minster

Key

Footway improvement —
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance —

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

Future Development

ORI >




Concept Plans

ovz.8bed

WSP

High Street Trip Hazards
Carry out
maintenance/resurfacing
works to address sections
in poor condition.

High Street

on both sides of
carriageway. Improve

Restrict footway parki

dropped kerb and tactile

ng

Tighten junction radii
and install dropped
kerbs and tactile

Halfway Houses to Sheerness

Bridge Road / High Street Junction
Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

Tighten junction geometry and remove central island to create single movement
_| crossing to reduce pedestrian delay for greater cycle connectivity and remove
guard railing. Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the
same shared use path and/or at the same time.

Alternative

on Alma Road to Marine Parade

Quietway connection

junction.

J
paving provision at all side i
roads. ' :
West Street :
Crossing High Street
Improvement Consider repurposing

parking bays outside
the bar and restaurant
along High Street with

Remove railings @
surrounding the

Tactile paving and dropped

& Kkerbs to be introduced at all

side road entry points.

Sheerness Town Centre

Upgrade existing shared use path to provide a footway
level cycle track in both directions. Implement 20mph on
the High Street and Trinity Road and deliver schemes to
reduce overall traffic flows through the town would be
very beneficial in terms of improving cyclist safety and
comfort for mixed trafficked routes. Consider parallel
contraflow Quietway route on Granville Road , should the
existing route be too constrained.

Halfway Road / Invicta Road Junction
Consider tightening junction geometry and introducing a

zebra crossing point

Halfway Road Crossing Points
Upgrade existing crossing point to a sparrow crossing, providing space for

paving.

parklets and seating.

cyclists. Widen footway to create short section of shared use path for cyclists

and pedestrian entering/exiting path.

Mini-roundabout Improvements Halfway Road Bus Stop o

Reallocate road space for walking and cycling by providing a Facilities Peetls
shared path on northern side of the carriageway (limited space Upgrade current bus stop i
available for full segregation) with delineation between facilities as well as introducing |------; :
pedestrian space and cycle tracks using signage, markings, and raised and widened footways - '
coloured surfacing. Tighten roundabout arms and provide to both allow for level [~ 777777 9 e
signalised crossing points for cyclists and pedestrian. boarding. \

Provide protected cycle facility where width is available.
Reviewing car parking provision at the northern section  [--------------3
of the route to reallocate road space for cycle facility.

Halfway Road Footway space prioritisation
Formalise parking on western side of Halfway
Road and introduce double yellow parking
restrictions on the eastern side in order to
widen the effective width of the footway to
ensure the footway is useable for all pedestrian
users

0 250 500 750 1,000 m
L 1 1 L ]

Figure 56 : Halfway Houses to Sheerness

Lynsted Road Junction

Consider widening footway at crossing point to
reduce the pedestrian crossing distance

Halfway Road / Minster Road Junction

Tighten junction geometry and introduce formal
pedestrian crossing points. Redesign to enable
safer and more comfortable cycle movements
ensuring cyclists and motor vehicles do not
make the same manoeuvres in the shared use
path and /or at the same time.

Halfway Road Crossing Point

Introduce continuous footway at entryway

Halfway Road Roundabout
(As with Power Station Road

_| section). Introduce pedestrian
crossing points at southern and
northern arms of the
roundabout

Reduce turning radii
and reduce

1= pedestrian crossing

; distance to ‘The Old

' Dairy’ side entry

Connection with Minster
b to Queenborough Route

®

Key

Footway improvement R
Cycle facility —
Shared use —
Vegetation clearance _——

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction

New / Improved crossing

Minor junction improvement

Major junction improvement

Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops

Schools

ORI




T2 abed

WSP

Concept Plans

—

Levelling Up
Area - £20
million Levelling
Up Fund Project

Cromwell Road to Marine Parade

A250 to Marine
Parade Shared Use

i Route

] Review lighting
provision along the
route. Provide signage
and way-finding

South View Gardens
Quietway Route along
South View Gardens,
existing conditions allow
for mixed traffic. Add cycle
markings onto the
carriageway and at side
roads. Provide
signage/wayfinding on
the route.

Halfway Road Crossing Points :
Upgrade existing crossing point !
to a sparrow crossing,
providing space for cyclists. @

Widen footway to create short
section of shared used path for
cyclists and pedestrian
entering/exiting path.

Shared Use Route

cycle path.

Access to

Cromwell Road

Improve signage @

onto Cromwell
Road and

resurface the link

to rail bridge.

Edenbridge Drive to A250

Resurfacing and lane markings
with additional signage added
to shared use pedestrian /

Connection with \\\
Queenborough & By
Sheerness Routes

Connection with
Sheerness to The
Leas route

to asparrow crossing,

Marine Parade Crossing Points
Upgrade existing crossing point

providing space for cyclists.

A250 to Marine Parade Shared Use
Route

Resurfacing needed with lighting
provision, placemaking improvements
(including benches), lane markings, and
vegetation clearance from the A250 to
Marine Parade (existing paved path
ends at South View Gardens / A250). If
night-time access is an intended-use for

Connection with Halfway
Houses to Sheerness
Route

South View Gardens
Resurfacing of
carriageway between
South View Gardens and
Halfway Road.

the path, multi-layered lighting is
required to improve the feeling of safety
in the pathway.

Placemaking Opportunity
Potential for area
enhancements/
placemaking improvements
by creating a parklet with
seating, planting, and cycle
parking to increase
connectivity to the coastal
route.

Edenbridge Drive
Crossing Point

parallel crossing to
connect the route.

Continue shared path
across Edenbridge Drive.
Review parking at this
section and provide a

250 500 750
l | 1 I

Figure 57 :

Cromwell Road to Marine Parade

1,000 m

Key

Footway improvement
Cycle facility

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Speed limit reduction

New / Improved crossing

Tactile paving and dropped
& Kerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

Bus Stops

Schools

Footway parking restriction

Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement

Placemaking improvement

OO D>»




Concept Plans

Zveg.abed

WSP

Swale Railway Station to Queenborough Road (A2500)

Connection to Main Road

Queenborough Road / Sheppey Way

(B2007) to Minster Road
\ Route /

Redesign to enable safer and more comfortable e
cycle movements ensuring cyclists and motor !
vehicles do not make the same manoeuvres in the
same space and/or at the same time. Including
crossing upgrades linking facilities at each arm.

Stray Marsh Farm Bus Stops
Opportunity to improve placemaking with a

at bus stop, including CCTV and real-time bus
service information.

bench, shelter, and bin, and existing surveillance |-------====------------

Safety Measures

Add guard railing for further safety
between vehicles and pedestrians along
the shared use path/footway.

Vandalism and Natural
Surveillance
Evidence of litter and

installation of CCTV and
enhanced lighting across the
entire route.

Footway Parking Restrictions
Restrict footway parking along  [==-----==--=»
Sheppey Way Bridge.

vandalism/graffiti, consider ‘d

___________________________________

Footway Width / Kerb Realignment

Identify opportunities to widen existing shared use

path/footway to 3m through kerb realignment

ensuring consistency along the entire route towards
Swale train station and for increased safety away from

vehicles.

Crossing Enhancements

crossing points of route.

Carry out maintenance / resurfacing works on
tactile paving in poor condition along all

Key

Footway improvement

Cycle facility

Crossing Point

travel markings.

Install new signalised pedestrian / cycle
crossing and improve signage/asphalt active

Shared use

Vegetation clearance

Swale Railway Station Crossing
Point

Install new signalised pedestrian
/ cycle crossing from Swale

Railway Station bus stop to cross

Placemaking Opportunities

Illuminate Swale Railway Station bus stop and
add placemaking measures including a bench,
shelter, cycle parking, and pedestrian/cycle
wayfinding signage.

over to the west side of Sheppey
Way.

Speed Limit Reduction
Consider speed limit reduction leading up to
Swale Railway Station.

0 250 500 750

Figure 58 : Swale Railway Station to Queenborough Road (A2500)

Speed limit reduction
Footway parking restriction
New / Improved crossing
Minor junction improvement
Major junction improvement
Placemaking improvement

Bus Stops

Tactile paving and dropped
& kerbs to be introduced at all || Schools
side road entry points.

G EES




Concept Plans

WSP

®

Sheppey

(=)

College

(C)

Secure Cycle Parking at
Sheerness-on-Sea Railway
Station

Formalise secure cycle
parking / cycle hangars at
Sheerness-on-Sea Railway
Station and throughout
Sheerness town centre to
increase cycle security and
encourage a mobility hub
development and multi-
modal trips. Potential to
add a cycle maintenance
stand, water fountain, and
lockers as well.

$heerness-on-Sea

£vC abed

Area Enhancements
Identify opportunities for
planting within highway
land, including parklets in
place of parking bays
and/or street trees in
locations which would not
hinder pedestrian or
vehicle movement.

Rushend

Connection with
Brielle Way to

en Road

Route

= #

School Streets

Opportunity for School Street

initiative to be implemented

on New Road and Rose Street

St Edward's Rose Street
Catholic Primar; Primary_Scho
0 School 75 150 m
| | |

20

Sheerness Town Centre

Clarence Row

High Street / Beach Street /

Reallocate space to provide
contraflow cycle facility along High
Street to Beach Street. Route follows
Quietway route along Beach Street
and Clarence Row.

Tactile paving and dropped
kerbs to be introduced at all
side road entry points.

Natural Surveillance Provision
Install CCTC and enhance street
lighting throughout town centre
for increased safety and

wayfinding.

Wayfinding Measures
Introduce wayfinding signage
and maps throughout

Sheerness Town Centre.

Sheerness Town
Centre

Upgrade existing
shared use path to
provide a footway level
cycle track in both
directions.

Crossing Enhancement

Add zebra crossing, dropped
kerbs and tactile paving for

increased school safety.

al

------

for increased
placemaking.

Area Enhancements
Consider a parklet,
planters, vegetation,
additional seating,
street lighting, and
SUDs implementation

Levelling Up Area -

£20 million Levelling @

Up Fund Project

Connection with

Sheerness-on-Sea

Railway Station to
Minster Route

B\

Sheerness

Traffic Calming
' Measures
Implement 20mph on
the High Street and
deliver schemes to
reduce overall traffic
flows through the
town would be very Tt
beneficial in terms of
improving cyclist
safety and comfort for
mixed trafficked
routes.

Halfway Road Bus Stop Facilities
Upgrade current bus stop facilities as

well as introducing raised and

widened footways to both allow for

level boarding.

Figure 59 : Sheerness Town Centre

Area Enhancements

Enhance green space with

parklet features, including
vegetation, seating, and
street lighting.

Remove railings
surrounding the junction.

Connection with Halfway
Houses to Sheerness Route

Area Enhancements
g Remove on-street parking
--------------- and add additional
benches, wayfinding, and
cycle parking provisions.

Holn Trinity

c ur(ea

Alternative Quietway
connection on Alma Road to
Marine Parade

Key
Active Travel Corridors

New / Improved crossing

o

Remove railings
surrounding the

Minor junction improvement

Major junction improvement

=)

Granville Road Alternative Route

--| Consider parallel Quietway route on
Granville Road should the existing route be
too constrained.

CoR@d>

$°. junction. Ny

oo Placemaking improvement
Bus Stops
Schools

Cycle parking implementation




A=COM

PROJECT

Install pElH‘EIIlEIIt as
road is very ‘wide at

this part of the road
=l ‘f*.__ P Swale Local Cycling and
‘gl Walking Infrastructure Plan
N
- CLIENT

Swale Borough Council

Inprowe paving safety
resurface % - resurfaoeas no

pave CONSULTANT

AECOM Limited
Marlborough Court

10 Bricket Road

St Albans, AL1 3JX, UK
T +44-1727-53-5000
WWWw._aecom . .Ccom

Tighten radii and & Inplement raised
= . .wflnr.llement
implement dropped kerq d 2 ebra{ crossing & widen

hotwa]r to 2m

ﬁe;ie's'inh junction
ior pedestnm
LEGEND

E Study Area

® Walking Interventions

2m & continuous &
- gfraffic calming

= Route 1 - Shellness to Warden

",.'

T = m:sedzebra a]jllttlﬂllfﬂr Creadhs = 3
5 X _ crossing estrian prio
U Ex,; .Ew- Re-der.lun mnchon for. ped ; .I_,H-mrm_r f,’mhte" radii
| e : DEﬂEStI'IHIl pmmf 'f} iy — 4 p ﬂld IIIIJIE“EIH
% 4 e :ff-_'.- k inc. rised zebras Raise zebra & remove
am 1 i ” Bayikiis - 11 / e hamerstowdhng e
| -.W"H"" L i | -__:_-.-"-' i, = .
N e = Widen footway to i ~ Widen fmtwaqr to w.%'ﬁiden entrance] el
i B o 2m & continuous & 2m & continuous & ' 10 park to increase
B traffic calming . ' traffic calming ‘@ accessibility
S o memdemn TirEs 11 L
! K. y e L I..“? ﬁr
[ ) PR myﬁndlng
Elm signage

Improve lighting
and paving to
improve safety

NOTES

0 015 03 Containg 05 Data @ Crown

Copyright and database right 2020




=

Isle of Sheppey Strategic Cycling and Active Travel Routes

Proposed route of the Sheppey Greenway utilising sections of the former railway where
< practical, negotiating new field edge routes and traffic calming in selected urban areas.
7 Sheppey Light Railway Greenway with Greenways and Cycleroutes June 24

Lt

i o SHEERNESS
LIinns i, |« Jacobs Bank
5 I B S gt © Mon_| CPevney A new link beside the main
f. % - o - road to Halfway is planned
I Y [ -
"D
| Space for segregated ,:‘;‘3:1 '\,\'1
cycle track SR ; —
1 A AmBdomy Lk Road % SLRG Group widened & exposed track-bed.
B : Minster” ¥ s w1 Enhancement |- O Footpath needs upgrading to Cycle Track
b\ : - WM '.Ir — i \,.;-\” ] - . *U!*
Crossing race ial g Itnﬂlr, Crossin: ke CTOSSINE S
N improvement | ! o L : ,-— il = I b
= P T

— T

i Quiet Way

74

Donkey Hill PROW resurfacing...

34 Qu b < Jkdat 67 § Connents
3 B Tu Tfﬂ.lﬂ"
o e T;q..::: Tolr 3 et ;
=t o o
Soscies [ | 3 g Road o = Road
14 A 4 Norwood N, Enhancements ar Enhancements
. ™ z Manor M ) |
| e b 57 <22 d Shurlant™, ool \
& 1 5 - = P
> e facl s 2B0 )] 5 - I h i Rln'rum‘ ) = _ﬁ o,
- Wl beryd Developer funde b & Aegene i Robus L “ Musterds\, Vi el ,';3{;,.
1 s2783m ; track (possible) " t Pas =1 71 R g |'} %
shared path i : Developer funded |~ iy H:;v » i i 2k ‘{Q‘ o
; 5 : iy o == |
beingbuitt |40 (2% 93 Shared Path (needs work) | | ack (possible) 2O "}é‘fﬁ?ﬁs . | 00/ el L P\ S ?.:stown 02-5&3
: y Al ol . 2 A ey ._ ) e AN y -
WD | N WK Thme— S | iy | Ao noes | NI 02 T \NOF L RIBAS
= - : : : -5/ New Rades — | “we, ol B el
v o +—%d Cowstead Corner Cycle Track A.l‘though.l the o!d‘ran'u-fay al‘rgnnrrentgwesa ol 70 . vl . . i _% | IS
- ey much easier gradient, its course is completely =/ M r Crossing Crossing | prory *
w eS| . . . 3 = LU
Al . : lost to agriculture . Following behind the y J— s 2 Remoue S o h
e ' H /
\ L /\, : hedges to Eastchurch does involve more of a r P,i, P E Y ror : : . 9 :
e 4 ::"Qs';:"‘ . ¥ /\ climb but it serves that community - N\ : Leysdown Marshes - o0k M/ " b
g ’ wﬂ;/ﬂ/“‘ik . - I & E‘ = - o 69 canl , 1 \-—- F \.'\:’




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Environmental Services and Climate
Change Committee

Meeting Date 10 July 2025

Report Title Revocation of Air Quality Management Areas in East
Street (AQMA 3) and Teynham (AQMA 5) due to air quality
improvements and recommendations from Defra

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resource
Head of Service Duncan Haynes, Mid Kent Environmental Health Manager
Lead Officer Clare Lydon, Team Leader (Environmental Protection -

Swale) MidKent Environmental Health Shared Service

Classification Open

Recommendations 1. That the Environmental Services and Climate Change
Committee approves the revocation of AQMA 3 and
AQMA 5.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1. This report reviews the Councils air quality data and advice provided by
Defra in the last three Annual Status Reports (2022, 2023 and 2024) and
data prepared for the 2025 ASR relating to Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAS) 3 (East Street) and 5 (Teynham). Consideration is given to
statutory guidance provided in Defra’s Local Air Quality Management,
Technical and Policy Guidance (2022).

1.2.  Annual mean concentrations of nitrogen dioxide (NO32) at these two Air
Quality Management Areas (AQMA) have been consistently below the
government Air Quality Objective (AQO). The Annual Status Report (ASR)
2024 showed East Street (AQMA 3) was compliant for five consecutive
years and Teynham (AQMA 5) has been compliant for the past six
consecutive years. Defra have expressly indicated to Swale that both
AQMAs should begin the process of revocation in feedback of the 2022,
2023 and 2024 Annual Status Reports (ASRS).

1.3. Additional data collected and prepared for the ASR 2025 also show:

e East Street (AQMA 3) has now been compliant for six consecutive
years with one of those years within 10% of the annual mean NO2
concentration objective.

e Teynham (AQMA 5) has now been compliant the last seven
consecutive years, with one of the years being within 10% of the
annual mean NO2 concentration objective.

Page 247



1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

1.9.

A report was taken to committee on the 13th of March 2024 where
members voted against the revocation of both AQMAs. Since then, we
have monitored NO2 concentrations for another year in addition to having
additional data from the 2024 ASR (2023 data). Both sets of results
strengthen the decision to revoke both AQMAs, as concentrations have
continued to decrease (see background papers).

Swale’s Air Quality Management document is attached to this report
(appendix 1) which explains what the Council should do when levels of air
quality are shown to have become compliant with the National Air Quality
Objective and it outlines the risks associated with not revoking AQMASs.

As outlined in the Air Quality Management document (paragraph 7.2.1),
the revocation of an AQMA should be considered following three
consecutive years of compliance with the relevant objective, as evidenced
through monitoring. There should not be any declared AQMAs for which
compliance with the relevant objective has been achieved for a
consecutive five-year period. Defra will not appraise Air Quality Action
Plan’s (AQAPSs) that have AQMAs compliant for five years unless a likely
exceedance has been identified in the area (paragraph: 7.2.3).

Swale Borough Council currently has one Strategic Air Quality Action Plan
(2023 -2028) covering all AQMAs in the district. Therefore, keeping an
AQMA in place when it should be revoked risks Defra not accepting the
AQAP in the future or if another AQMA is declared. For example, if any
monitoring results identify new areas where the Air Quality Objectives
(target levels) are not being met, we would not be able to create an action
plan or update the current one for these areas, due to not revoking the
AQMAs that are now in compliance. Subsequently we would be in breach
of the legislation because we do not have an action plan for areas that
should have one.

To ensure that any decisions are made on robust evidence, Swale
Borough Council commissioned Ricardo, a company with worldwide
reputation and expertise in air quality, to carry out a Detailed Assessment
of NOz concentrations in these AQMAs (appendix 2). They were asked to
consider the future committed developments that could impact air quality in
these areas. As the declaration of the AQMAs relates to NOz2 this was the
pollutant considered in the report.

The Detailed Assessment quantified the public exposure to concentrations
of NO2 across East Street, Sittingbourne and Teynham. The study
assessed the years 2022 and 2028 and considered the impact of future
committed developments, that could adversely impact concentrations of
NO:2 in the AQMAS. A sensitivity test was also completed, to address
possible fleet renewal delays in Swale relative to national projections. The
assessment was robust in determining future compliance.

Page 248



1.10.

1.11.

The Detailed Assessment demonstrates that Air Quality Objectives are
being met and will continue to do so. The modelling results in the Detailed
Assessment indicate the AQMASs in Teynham and East Street
Sittingbourne can be revoked without risk of future exceedances for NOz2.
The final conclusions of the assessment, provides confidence that the
improvements will be sustained.

Any revoked AQMAs will still be considered an air quality sensitive area
and will be monitored, remaining under scrutiny within the Councils Annual
Status Reports to ensure deterioration in condition does not occur. If the
two AQMAs are revoked the AQAP will be amended to this affect.

2. Background

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

Swale Borough Council has a statutory duty under Part IV, Section 83 (1) of
the Environment Act 1995, as amended by the Environment Act 2021, to
review and assess air quality and take the necessary actions to improve
areas of poor air quality. If the UK government Air Quality Objective for key
pollutants are exceeded where people are likely to be regularly present, an
AQMA must be declared.

Previous monitoring identified six locations that exceeded the annual Air
Quality Objective for NO2 with six AQMAs having been declared. These are
AQMA 1 (Newington), 2/6 (Ospringe), 3 (East Street), 4 (St Paul’s Street), 5
(Teynham) and 7 located along Keycol Hill.

The Council has an extensive air quality monitoring network providing data
on NO2 and particulate matter (PMio and PMz5) pollutant concentrations.
The data is recorded, collated, and reported annually in the Council’s Air
Quality Annual Status Report submitted to the Department for Environment
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) for approval prior to publication.

The Annual Status Report (ASR) provides an opportunity to analyse bias
adjusted and ratified data collected over the year and compare with the
previous five years of data. The ASR 2024 (see background papers)
reported on five years of data from 2023 (2023, 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019).
The over-all five-year trend is one of improving air quality across all AQMAs,
with an overall decrease in NO2 concentrations since 2018 for AQMA 3 and
5 (see background papers).

Figures 1 and 2 below shows the annual mean NO:2 concentration for both
East Street and Teynham from data collected from the ASR 2024 and data
prepared for the ASR 2025 and the results show:

o East Street (AQMA 3) shown in figure 1 has been compliant for six
consecutive years with one of those years within 10% of the annual
mean NO2 concentration objective.

Page 249



e Teynham (AQMA 5) in figure 2 has been compliant the last seven
consecutive years, with one of the years being within 10% of the
annual mean NO2 concentration objective.

2.6. Figure 1 presents NO2 annual mean concentrations for sites SW56, SW151
and SW152 in East Street (AQMA 3) between years 2019 to 2024. There
are no exceedances of the annual mean objective and there is a general
trend of reduction experienced across the sites.

45

0 2019

35 = 2020

30 2021
— 2022
2023

2024

— Target
value

Annual Mean NO, Concentration

SW56 SW151 Sw152

Site ID East Street)

2.8. Figure 2 presents the NO2 annual mean concentrations for sites SW80, SW91,
SW92 and new 2024 sites SW153, SW184, SW182, SW183, SW186 and SW187
in Teynham and AQMA 5 between years 2019 to 2024. There are no exceedances
of the annual mean objective and there is a general trend of reduction experienced
across sites from previous years.

Page 250



45

40

2019

35
2020

2021
2022
e 2023
2024
—Target
value

swao SWo1 SW92 Sw153 Sw184 §Sw182 SW183 SW186 SW187

30

25

20

15

10

Annual Mean NO, Concentration ug/ms3)
(4]

Site ID (Teynham)

2.9. Figures 3 and 4 below shows the long-term trend the annual mean NO2
concentration for both East Street and Teynham from 2014 to 2024. Figures 3 and
4 show a continuous decreasing trend from 2018 to 2024.

Page 251



2.10. Figure 3 below shows the long-term trend in Nitrogen Dioxide concentrations in
Teynham at two tube locations (SW80 and SW91) between the years 2014 and
2024.

50

-

: J

o I S NS A

30
25 ® . ------- .

20 [ ]
15
10

Annual Mean NO, Concentration p/g/m?

2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026

Year

e SWs0 SWOT oo Linear (SW80) Linear (SW91)

Page 252



2.10.

Figure 4 above shows the long-term trend in Nitrogen Dioxide concentrations in
East Street at three tube locations SW56, SW9 and SW152 (2020 to 2024)
between the years 2014 and 2024.

Annual Mean NO; Concentration pg/m

2.7.

2.8.

50
45

.. T, °
: O T..e
ol BRI S |
30 " @ .. AL Y ®
25
20
15
10

5

0

- 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026

Year
® SW56 SW90 o

Several factors have combined to bring about a reduction in NO: levels,
both nationally and locally, in recent years. Perhaps the most important of
these was the introduction of the Euro VI engine class in 2014. The Euro VI
class represented a very significant improvement in NOx emissions
compared to the previous classes, and every year the proportion of Euro VI
vehicles in the vehicle fleet increases. Other factors responsible for the
reduction include a decrease in the proportion of new diesel vehicle sales,
an increase in the proportion of electric vehicles and hybrid vehicles and
most recently, changes in working practices originally introduced because of
the COVID pandemic.

Defra advises the revocation of an AQMA should be considered following
three consecutive years of compliance with the relevant objective as
evidenced through monitoring.

In our most recent ASR 2024 appraisal Defra advised:

“‘“AQMA No. 5 has been compliant for the past six years and, therefore, must
be revoked”.

“‘AQMA No. 3 has been compliant for five years with one of those years

(2019) being within 10% of the annual mean NO2 objective. AQMA No. 3
can be considered to be revoked’.

Page 253



2.9.

2.10.

2.11.

2.12.

The ASR appraisal stated where there have been no exceedances for the
past five years, local authorities must proceed with plans to revoke the
AQMA. The Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance 2022 is
clear in this respect:

"There should not be any declared AQMAs for which compliance with the
relevant objective has been achieved for a consecutive five-year period."
(Point 3.57, page 50)”. Defra further advised that “we recognise the public
perception of an AQMA being revoked might be that air pollution is no
longer a problem in the area, however, keeping AQMASs in place longer than
required risks diluting their meaning and impacting public trust in local air
quality management.”

In 2023, the Council commissioned Ricardo to carry out a Detailed
Assessment of NO2 concentrations in the AQMAs, and to consider the
future committed developments that could impact air quality in these areas
(Appendix 2).

The Detailed Assessment (Appendix 2) provides a review of the monitored
data presented in the ASR 2023 (see background papers) and a modelled
prediction of future NO2 concentrations. The assessment sets out in detail
the approach used to assess if AQMAs 3 (East Street) and 5 (Teynham)
should be revoked. The assessment quantified the public exposure to
concentrations of NO2 across East Street, Sittingbourne and Teynham. The
modelling reviews the baseline year of 2022, using traffic data provided by
the Council, from consultants SWECO (traffic management specialists) used
by Swale Planning, plus national forecasts for the vehicle fleet composition.
The assessment includes a future scenario to predict traffic impacts during
the year of 2028, and considers whether future committed developments
may adversely impact pollutant concentrations in the AQMAs. This scenario
was modelled assuming that all traffic generated by each development
would run through the two AQMAs. A sensitivity test was also factored
should there be a delay to fleet renewal in Swale relative to national
projections for 2028.

The Detailed Assessment provided the following final conclusions:

¢ No relevant individuals within AQMA 3 and 5 are predicted to be
exposed to an annual mean NO:2 concentration above or within 10%
of the Air Quality Objective for annual mean NOz2.

e The Sittingbourne, East Street and Teynham AQMAs will continue
to be below 10% of the Air Quality Objective for annual mean NO2
at all locations of relevant exposure in the modelled 2028 scenario.

e The model results therefore indicate the AQMASs can be revoked
without risk of future exceedances.

Page 254



2.13. The next steps include updating the Air Quality Action Plan to reflect the
status of the AQMAs and outline the continued air quality monitoring
relevant to these sensitive locations. There is a continuing commitment to
ensure Swale can respond quickly should there be any deterioration in air
quality across a range of pollutants. Monitoring results will continue to be
published and reported to Defra in the usual way.

3. Proposals

3.1. To revoke both AQMAs 3 (East Street) and 5 (Teynham) in line with
recommendations made by Defra and Statutory Guidance (Local Air Quality
Management, Technical and Policy Guidance 2022).

4.  Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

4.1. Do not revoke and retain AQMAs 3 (East Street) and 5 (Teynham). This
would be contrary to Statutory Guidance outlined in Defra’s Local Air Quality
Management Technical Guidance 2022. Keeping the AQMAs in place when
they should be revoked risks Defra not accepting the AQAP in the future if
another AQMA is declared. Subsequently the Council could be in breach of
the legislation because we do not have an action plan for areas that should
have one.

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1. No public consultation is required.

6. Implications

Issue Implications

Corporate Plan Priorities:
Investing in our environment and responding positively to
global challenges: Aligns with Swale’s climate change goal and
result of reduced pollution emissions

Financial, There are no significant costs associated with the revocation of

Resource and the AQMA

Property

Legal, Statutory The revocation of the AQMAs is required for Swale Borough

and Procurement Council to comply with section 83(1) of Part IV of the Environment
Act 1995, as amended by the Environment Act 2021. This
legislation requires Local Authorities to declare AQMAs to tackle
exceedances of any air quality objectives, but having tackled
them, the AQMAs must be revoked.

Page 255



Crime and Disorder

None identified

Environment and
Climate/Ecological

This proposal aligns with ambitions included in the Councils
Climate and Ecological Emergency declaration as it is a result of

Emergency reduced pollution emissions
Health and The revocation of the AQMAs aligns with a positive impact on
Wellbeing Public Health and Wellbeing of the population of Swale BC, as it

shows air quality is improving and that these areas are now
compliant with national air quality objectives. The revoked
AQMAs will be continually reviewed and reported on through the
Councils Annual Status Report to ensure improvements continue.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

None identified

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

Demonstrating the AQMAs are compliant Swale Borough Council
should revoke the two AQMAs in line with legislation and
statutory guidance. If they do not, then they will not only weaken
the status of the AQMA orders but will risk public confidence and
risk of criticism from Defra.

Keeping the AQMAs in place when they should be revoked risks
Defra not accepting the AQAP in the future if another AQMA is
declared. Subsequently the Council could be in breach of the
legislation because we do not have an action plan for areas that
should have one.

No Health and Safety implications identified.

Equality and
Diversity

None identified

Privacy and Data
Protection

None identified

Page 256




7. Appendices

7.1. The following documents are to be published with this report and form
part of the report:

e Appendix 1: Swale’s Air Quality Management document (attached)
e Appendix 2: Detailed Assessment completed by Ricardo 2023
(attached)
3

8. Background Papers

Swales Annual Status Report 2024 can be found at:
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf file/0006/476376/2024-Air-Quality-ASR-
_FINAL_27 06 24 PDF-AA.pdf

Swale’s Annual Status Report 2023 can be found at:
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf file/0005/457835/ASR-2023 -
Final_24 10 2023 updated-PDF-AA.pdf

Page 257


https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/476376/2024-Air-Quality-ASR-_FINAL_27_06_24_PDF-AA.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/476376/2024-Air-Quality-ASR-_FINAL_27_06_24_PDF-AA.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/457835/ASR-2023_-Final_24_10_2023_updated-PDF-AA.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/457835/ASR-2023_-Final_24_10_2023_updated-PDF-AA.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank



QSwaIe

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Swale’s Air Quality Management

In fulfilment of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995

Local Air Quality Management

Based on Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (PG22) and
Technical Guidance (TG22)

Swale Borough Council
2025

Page 259



Contents

1. Purpose of thiS dOCUMENT.......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 4
2. Scope Of thiS dOCUMENT .......uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 4
3. Current status of air quality In SWale ..........cccccoiiiiiiiiiiiie 5
4. Introduction to Local Air Quality Management (LAQM).......coovvviviiiiiiiiinnnnenn. 8
4.1. LAQM Pollutants of primary interest and Air Quality Objectives ........... 8
4.2. OVerview Of rePOItiNG ....ccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 9
5. Air Quality monitoring for review and assessment........cccccccceeeveeeeeeeeeeiinnnnnnn. 9
5.1. Location and siting of NO2 diffusion tUDeS.............ccviiiiiiiiiiiiiiines 9
5.2. Site ClasSIfiCAtIONS ........euiiiiiiiiii e 10
5.4, TUDE AUAIT ..ooiiiieeie e 12
5.4. Installing new continuous MoNItoring SiteS .........ccoevvvviiiiiiiiii e, 13
5.5. Air Quality MONITOIING ..ooeeeiiieeeie e e 15

6. Review and Assessment Process - Annual Status Report (ASR)............... 17
6.1. Corerequirements of the ASR ... 18
7. Air Quality Management AFEAS ..........uuuuuuuuuuuuriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeaeeaneeeeeeeaanees 19
7.1. Declaration of AQMAs based on the ASR findings ..., 19
7.2. Amendment and Revocation of AQMAS ......cooiiiiiiiiiii e 20
8. Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPS) ......uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 23
8. L. INtrOdUCTION ..o 23
8.2. What should be included in an AQAP ........cooeiiiiiieiiiiice e, 25
8.2 On-going assessment of AQAPS Progress ....ccceeeieeeeeiiiviiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeein 26
8.3. Swale’s AQAP and Steering group ... 27
9. Roles and Responsibilities for two tier authorities..........cccoooeeeviiiiiiiinnnn. 28
9.3. Districts (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)................. 28

9.4. County Councils (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)... 30

Page 260



9.5. Neighbouring authorities (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and

RESPONSIDIITIES). ...t 31
9.6. Public Health (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)......... 32
(€ 1SS 1 T 33
Table 1. Pollutants of Primary Interest in Swale...........cccoovvviiiiiiiii e, 8
Table 2. SBC tube audit CriteITa ....covvieeiiiiiie e 12
3

Page 261



1. Purpose of this document

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

This document outlines the approach used by Swale Borough Council to
meet its statutory duties involved in Local Air Quality Management (LAQM)
to review and assess air quality, and to assist in taking action to improve

local air quality.

This documentemnt is based on Defra’s Local Air Quality Management
Policy Guidance (PG22) and Technical Guidance (TG22) to explain key
processes involved in carrying out the Councils LAQM duties under the
Environment Act 1995 as amended by the Environment Act 2021, and

subsequent regulations.

This document aims to be a reference document for new Council
Members, Managers, and Environmental Health officers. It can also be
used as a mechanism to provide updates over time in procedures,
regulations, and statutory guidance (Defra’s Local Air Quality Technical
Guidance, TG22 and Local Air Quality Policy Guidance, PG22).

2. Scope of this document

2.1.

2.2.

This document will explain the overarching processes and procedures of
how the air quality monitoring network is managed, considering but both
automatic monitoring stations and NO:2 diffusion tubes. It will also outline

how the Council processes the data collected and how it is reported on.

This document will outline what the Council must do if areas within the
district are not in compliance with the National Air Quality Objectives and
how remedial actions are taken forward to improve air quality in the form of

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA). This will include the formation of

4
Page 262



3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) where necessary actions to improve

areas of poor air quality within the district are provided.

2.3. The document will also detail what the council should do where levels of
air quality are shown to have become compliant with the national
objectives and the risks associated with not revoking AQMAs.

3. Current status of air quality in Swale

Swale Borough Council has a comprehensive monitoring network of nitrogen

dioxide (NO2) monitoring sites including measurement by automatic analysers

at three locations and extensive volume of passive diffusion tube devices
distributed around the district. We currently have one automatic analyser

station located in Ospringe monitoring NO2 and two automatic analyser

stations, with one located in Newington and one at St Paul’s Street monitoring

NO2, PM1o and PMzs (particulates less than 10 and 2.5 microns in diameter).

Each year the Council has undertaken an annual audit which removes, adds,
or relocates tubes relative to our prescribed criteria. Any new monitoring sites
are evidence-based relative to traffic congestion data outlined in Swale
Transport model with predicted congested areas and where new
developments are or where future development is planned. Each monitoring
site is also reviewed relative to local knowledge, topography, and relevant

receptors. Additonal information on the tube audit can be found in section 5.4.

Air quality monitoring has identified six locations within the district that have
exceeded the annual Air Quality Objective (AQO) level for NO2 and one of
these locations includes a PMio declaration. Subsequently this has led to the

declaration of six AQMAs within Swale Borough.

Local Air Quality Management framework an AQAP has been in place in

pursuit of in improving air quality within the AQMAs and the district. In 2023

Page 263

Since declaring the AQMAs and as part of our statutory duties required by the



3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

an updated AQAP was produced which outlines the strategic and local actions
we will undertake to improve air quality in Swale between 2023 and 2028.

This AQAP replaces the previous action plan which ran from 2018 to 2022.

The AQAP 2023 -2028 includes thirteen measures in pursuit of improving
local air quality over the next five years. The progress of these measures is
reported in the Councils Annual Status Report (ASR) which is sent to Defra

each year as part of our statutory duties for monitoring and reporting.

Environmental Health are not directly responsible for the delivery of the
majority of the actions. Each measure in the action plan has specific details of
what needs to be accomplished, who is responsible for completion, what
steps need to be taken to achieve it and funding opportunities (if applicable).
Some of these are managed by task and finish working groups which will

include relevant SBC and KCC officers.

In 2022 Defra updated their Technical (TG22) 'and Policy (PG22)? Guidance
for Local Air Quality Management. Key updates in the Policy Guidance relate
to the current action plan, which provide clearer requirements for both district
and county level councils to work together to ensure air quality is improved, as

shown below (addition information is provided in section 9 of this document):

In paragraph 3.2, chapter 3 - “There are obligations on both district and
county councils within Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. The Environment
Act 2021 ensures that responsibility for solutions to poor air quality is shared

across local government”

Paragraph 3.8 chapter 3 states “The County Council will be required to
commit to appropriate actions the county council will take to secure that air

quality objectives are achieved”.

! Technical Guidance (TG22): https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-Augqust-22-v1.0.pdf

2 Policy Guidance (PG22): https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

Page 264


https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

3.10. Paragraph 3.14, chapter 3 states “the legislation requires county councils to
bring forward measures in relation to addressing the transport impacts for

inclusion in any AQAP”.

3.11. The air quality monitoring network also helps the Council to review and report
the effectiveness of AQAP measures to reduce NO2, PM1o and PM2.s

concentrations.

3.12. As well as reporting on air pollution levels within the AQMAs, the ASR also

reports NO:2 pollutions levels from the tubes distributed around the district.

Page 265



4. Introduction to Local Air Quality Management (LAQM)

4.1. LAQM Pollutants of primary interest and Air Quality Objectives

4.1.1. Atthe core of Swale’s LAQM delivery there are two pollutant objectives;
these are, Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2z) and Particulate Matter (PM10). As outlined
in Defra’s LAQM TG22, it is a statutory requirement for local authorities to
regularly review and assess air quality in their area and take action to

improve air quality when objectives set out in regulation are not met.

4.1.2. Whilst the responsibility for meeting the PM2s targets sits with National
Government; local authorities are expected to work towards reducing
emissions and/or concentrations of PMzsin their areas. Action to tackle
PM10/NO2 can be expected to contribute towards this.

Table 1. Pollutants of Primary Interest in Swale
LAQM Pollutants of Primary Interest

Concentration
measured as

Pollutant Objective

50 pg/m2 not to be
exceeded more than 24 hour mean
35 times a year
40 pg/m3 annual mean
Particles (PM25) | 20 ug/m? 24 hour mean

Particles (PMuo)

200 pg/m? not to be
Nitrogen exceeded more than 1 hour mean
dioxide (NO2) 18 times a year

40 pg/m?3 annual mean

Page 266



4.2.

421

4.2.2.

4.2.3.

4.2.4.

5.

5.1.1.

Overview of reporting

. Swale Borough Council is required to submit an Annual Status Report (ASR)

by 30th June each year. The ASR is a public-facing summary, which local
authorities are mandated to complete. The LAQM website provides
templates for this.

Should we fail to produce a draft ASR by the end of the calendar year (6
months past ASR deadline) and in the absence of engagement with the
LAQM Helpdesk, the local authority may be issued with a ministerial

direction under section 85 (3) of the Environment Act 1995.

Local authorities are expected to make the ASR available on their website at
the earliest opportunity to help promote air quality locally.

The ASR is designed to allow sufficient understanding in the analysis of
pollutant occurrence to support the identification of new non-compliant areas

(i.e., ‘hot spots’) and to report on progress within existing AQMAs.

Air Quality monitoring for review and assessment

5.1. Location and siting of NO2z diffusion tubes

The Council has progressively adapted the air quality monitoring strategy in
accordance with air quality issues specific to our area. We have extended
the monitoring network to identify potential hot spots, whilst a number of
sites have been relocated to more relevant areas or have been discontinued
as part of our annual tube audit, in areas where data has shown that
compliance is achieved. Itis essential we undertake the tube audit to
ensure effective coverage within the district, whilst appropriately managing

financial resources we have available for air quality monitoring.

Page 267



5.1.2. The location for monitoring sites must be assessed by Swale’s

Environmental Health team, who consider the following factors such as:

Nearest receptors

Topography of the road will be assessed considering width and
steepness of the road, also buildings surrounding the road and their
height which can affect the dispersion of air and air pollution
concentration levels.

Traffic volume and traffic flow

Site classification

5.2. Site classifications

5.2.1. For LAQM reporting purposes, local authorities should use the site

classifications presented in TG22: Table 7-7. For example, most tube sites

located within the Swale Borough are ‘Roadside’ sites, these will typically be

within one to five metres of the kerb of a busy road (TG22: Table 7-7).

Site Type Description

Urban cenire An urban location representative of typical population exposure in towns or
city centres, for example, pedestrian precincts and shopping areas
An urban location distanced from sources and therefore broadly
Urban background representative of city-wide background conditions, &.g. urban residential
areas
Suburban A location type situated in a residential area on the outskirts of a town o
city
Reatside A site sampling typically within one to five metres of the kerb of a busy road
{although distance can be up to 15 m from the kerb in some cases)
Kerbside A site sampling within one metre of the kerb of a busy road
Indusial An area where industrial sources make an important contribution to the total
pollution burden
An open countryside location, in an area of low population density distanced
Rural .
as far as possible from reads, populated and industrial areas
Any special source-orientated or location category covering monitoring
Other undertaken in relation to specific emission sources such as power stations,
car-parks, airports or tunnels

5.2.2. Additional site classifications can be considered and are summarised in Table

7-8. The site classifications used for the Automatic Urban and Rural Network
(AURN) are those defined in the Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 and

Page 268

10



differ from the site classifications used for LAQM. The air information resource

called UK-Air® provides monitoring data from the AURN. The AURN is the

UK's largest automatic monitoring network and is the main network for

national monitoring. When obtaining data from UK-Air, local authorities should

use this table in order to work out how the site should be classified for LAQM

reporting purposes. For example, a site classified in UK-Air as Urban Traffic

would be either Roadside or Kerbside for LAQM reporting purposes. It is also

useful to consider both classifications when site new tubes or stations.

5.2.3. For completeness TG22: Table 7-8 — Air Quality Monitoring Site Classification

Used on UK-Air Website for Comparison with LAQM Classifications.

Air Quality
Standards
Regulations 2010
Classification

Urban Traffic

LAQM Classification

Roadside or Kerbside

AQD 2008 Description

Sites in an urban area at least 25 metres from the edge of
major junctions and no more than 10 metres from the
kerbside

Urban Background

Urban Background or Urban
Centre

Sites in an urban area away from majer roads that are
representative of exposure of the general population.
Urban background sites should not be dominated by single
sources and should be representative of a wide area

Suburban
Background

Suburban

Sites in a suburban area away from major roads that are
representative of exposure of the general population. A
suburban area is defined as a location type situated in a
residential area on the outskirts of a town or city. Suburban
background sites should not be dominated by single
sources and should be representative of a wide area

Rural Background

Rural

Sites in a rural area away from roads that are
representative of exposure of the general population. Rural
background sites should not be influenced by
agglomerations or industrial sources and should be
representative of a wide area

Urban Industrial

Industrial

Site in an urban residential area downwind of specific
industrial source

Suburban Industrial

Industrial

Site in a suburban area downwind of specific industrial
source. A suburban area is defined as a location type
situated in a residential area on the outskirts of a town or

city

3 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/network-info?view=nondefraagmon

Page 269

11


https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/networks/network-info?view=nondefraaqmon

5.4. Tube audit

5.3.2. As part of adapting our air quality monitoring strategy the Environmental
Health team undertakes an annual audit each year to identify new potential

hot spots, remove or relocate monitoring tubes to more relevant areas.

5.3.3. Table 2 shows that sites (except Isle of Sheppey) can be removed if they are

below 32 ug/ms3 for 2 years or more (2 >). The Isle of Sheppey sites are

removed if they are below 20 ug/m? for 2 years or more (2 >). This because it

is a developing area, and all sites are currently low.

Table 2. SBC tube audit criteria

Tube audit criteria

All tube sites except Isle of Sheppey

Sites will be removed if they are below 32 pg/m? for 2 years or more (2 >)

Isle of Sheppey

Sites will be removed if they are below 20 pg/m?3 for (more than) 2 years
or more (2 >). This because it is a developing area, and all sites are
currently low. Relocation for sites will be considered.

AQMAs and revoked AQMAs

If tube sites are to be closed due to the above criteria, then officers need
to review the number of tubes to ensure spatial coverage is achieved and
consider relocating the tubes to a more suitable site or leave them in situ.

Other considerations

Some old sites may not be removed as we must also consider historical
continuity and long-term trends at those sites. Other reasons a tube may
also stay sited is to study the impact of a development.

5.3.4. New sites can be added based on evidence from traffic congestion data
outlined in Swale Transport model, where new development exists or where

future development is planned, and where congestion is observed. Traffic

Page 270

12



flow, receptors near the road and topography of the area is also reviewed
prior to relocation. These tube deployments are in line with the Defra
Calendar and Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (TG22).

5.3.5. Excessive volumes of diffusion tubes come with an unnecessary cost both
financial and staff resource for the Council. Therefore, it is essential that we

manage the distribution of tube monitoring effectively through the tube audit.

5.4. Installing new continuous monitoring sites

5.4.1. Continuous monitoring stations require a permanent power supply, and
(dependent upon the equipment installed), often require air-condition units
and a housing. The power supply must be of sufficient rating to support the
equipment to be installed. In some cases, such as roadside monitoring, it is
possible to arrange to draw power from a nearby facility (such as street
lighting) without having to install significant lengths of underground or over-
ground cables. However, not all such installations offer an uninterrupted
power supply. All electrical work is undertaken by a fully qualified and industry

approved electrician.

5.4.2. Itis important that the financial and other implications of embarking on a
monitoring programme are fully understood before any action is taken.
Significant costs can come with purchasing, installing, and running continuous
monitoring analysers, including officer time in the management and
maintenance of a station. In addition, there is a large amount of time involved
in the coordination of setting up a monitoring station with considering planning
approval, the highways agency, traffic management services, instrument
suppliers, enclosure suppliers, delivery companies, air conditioning engineers,
electricity suppliers, site electricians, the company that builds the plinth and

the telecommunications suppliers.

5.4.3. Swale has three continuous monitoring stations with two stations monitoring

PM1o, PM2.5 and NO2. This is more than any other district in Kent. The Local

13
Page 271



Authority would consider installing a continuous analyser in areas where an
exceedance of the air quality objective has been identified such as an AQMA.
However, not all AQMASs can have a continuous analysis due to the significant
costs and time involved in maintaining these. The decision lies with the Local
Authority, as there is no guidance or legislation that requires a Local Authority

to have a continuous analyser.

5.4.4. Local authorities should use the site classifications as specified in Table 7-7
for LAQM reporting purposes. However, in order to aid potential future
expansion of the UK monitoring network for national compliance purposes,
local authorities are encouraged to locate monitoring stations in one of the six

classifications provided in Table 7-8.

5.4.5. Urban background monitoring is useful if there is a need to monitor long-term
trends in pollutant concentration or population exposure. Background
monitoring sites are less likely than roadside or kerbside sites to be affected

by very local factors, for example changes in traffic on a particular road.

It is necessary to consider certain micro-scale siting requirements for LAQM

purposes:

5.4.6. Sites should be in as open a setting as possible in relation to surrounding
buildings. Immediately above the site should be open to the sky, with no
overhanging trees, structures or buildings. The flow around the inlet sampling
probe shall be unrestricted without any obstructions affecting the airflow in the
vicinity of the sampler (normally some metres away from buildings, balconies,
trees and other obstacles and ideally at least 0.5m from the nearest building

in the case of sampling points representing air quality at the building line).

5.4.7. In general, the inlet sampling point should be between 1.5m (the breathing
zone) and 4m above the ground. For security reasons, the inlet should
be greater than 2m, though it is recognised that lower sampling heights

better reflect the ambient conditions encountered by members of the public.

14
Page 272



5.4.8. The inlet probe should not be positioned in the immediate vicinity of sources in

order to avoid the direct intake of emissions unmixed with ambient air.

5.4.9. The sampler’s exhaust outlet should be positioned so that recirculation of

exhaust air to the sampler inlet is avoided.

5.4.10. The site should not be close to local or point emissions sources unless these
have been specifically targeted for investigation. For industrial sites, where
specific sources are being targeted, monitoring should be carried out at the
point of maximum impact as determined by modelling; and

5.4.10. For urban background or suburban sites there should be no major sources
of pollution (for example a large multi-storey car park) within 50m. There
should be no medium sized emission sources (for example, petrol stations,

boiler vents, or ventilation outlets to catering establishments) within 20m.

5.5. Air Quality Monitoring

Below provides a summary of key aspects to be considered for monitoring:

5.5.1. Locations should be selected bearing in mind that results are likely to be used
to help demonstrate the performance of dispersion. Therefore, care should be
taken to ensure that the monitoring site is sufficiently close to the dominant

pollution source (i.e., roadside sites) and nearby receptor.

5.5.2. Monitoring should also be undertaken at a number of background sites to
obtain a representative background concentration for the area, supplementing

the information provided by Defra’s national background maps*.

4 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/lagm-background-home

15
Page 273


https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home

5.5.3.

5.5.4.

5.5.5.

5.5.6.

5.5.7.

5.5.8.

To validate NO:2 diffusion tube data (bias adjustment), additional tubes should
be exposed in triplicate at a suitable nearby automatic monitoring station,

using the same monthly exposure periods as the other sites; and

Monitoring results, provided that they comply with QA/QC procedures are
located at suitable locations relevant of worst-case public exposure and
should take precedence over modelling results. Therefore, if monitoring data
do not indicate a likely exceedance of an air quality objective, there should be

no need to declare an AQMA.

For comparison with the AQS objectives, ideally, monitoring should be
completed for a full calendar year. Should baseline monitoring be required for
construction or demolition purposes then monitoring should be undertaken for
at least three months prior to site activity to ascertain background levels (it
would also be necessary to monitor throughout the construction or demolition

phases of the work to determine impacts).

In Swale monitoring is undertaken at each diffusion tube location for one year.
This includes monthly deployment and sampling results which is averaged for

the whole year.

According to Defra Technical Guidance (TG22) tubes with less than 75% data
capture need to be annualised. Annualisation techniques can be used to
estimate an annual average from a part year average/ short-term monitoring
result. For annualisation to be completed, there must be 25% annual
monitoring data available.

Instructions and examples of annualisation are set out for continuous
monitoring in Box 7-9 and diffusion tube monitoring in Box 7-10 within Defra’s

TG22 Guidance

In order to ensure the correct functioning of the instruments, it is necessary to

attend the site periodically in order to perform local site operator duties such as

16
Page 274



changing filters or cleaning the inlet. Equipment must also be kept in calibration in

line with manufacturer specifications.

5.5.9. ltis also necessary to service the instruments every six months in order to

limit instrument breakdowns.

5.5.10. To improve the reliability and validity of the data, it is best practice that
the instruments should be periodically checked by an independent
organisation accredited to perform QA/QC checks to 1ISO17025:2017. Ideally,

this should be performed every six months.

6. Review and Assessment Process - Annual Status
Report (ASR)

The Annual Status Report should summarise local monitoring data collated by
the local authority over the past five years, and particularly focus on the last
year’s results, comparing these against the air quality objectives. The focus

should be on NO2, PMio, PM2.5 (Wwhere appropriate).
The summary results of monitoring data should answer the following questions:

e Have there been any changes in the local authority’s air pollution
monitoring network (new/closed/relocated sites, change in monitoring
methodology) over the past year — and if so, for which reason(s)?

e Are concentrations reducing in existing AQMAs?

e Are there any new exceedances of the air quality objectives outside

currently declared AQMAS?

17
Page 275



6.1.

6.1.1.

6.1.2.

6.1.3.

6.1.4.

6.1.5.

6.1.6.

Core requirements of the ASR

To report progress on the implementation of measures in the AQAP and other
measures and their impact in reducing concentrations to below air quality

objectives®.

To provide a summary of monitoring or any modelling data in order to assess
the air quality situation in our area and likelihood of air quality breaches, and

to provide the necessary evidence base for the impact of air quality measures.

To report on significant new developments that might affect local air quality.

To present information in a public-facing executive summary for the lay
reader, so that the local public can more easily engage with local air quality

issues and measures taken to improve it.

Directors of Public Health must be part of the air quality management process
in local authorities in England. Working in partnership will increase support for
measures to improve air quality, with co-benefits for all. It is recommended
that Directors of Public Health review and approve local authority ASRs in

England.

Should a local authority in England fail to produce their ASR by the end of the
calendar year (6 months past ASR deadline) and in the absence of
engagement with the LAQM helpdesk, the local authority may be issued with
a ministerial direction under section 85 (3) of the Environment Act 1995.

5 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf

18
Page 276



7. Air Quality Management Areas

7.1.

7.1.1.

7.1.2.

7.1.3.

7.1.4.

Declaration of AQMASs based on the ASR findings

Local authorities have a duty under Section 83(1) of the 1995 Act to designate
those areas where the air quality objectives are not being met or are likely to
be shown to be at risk of not meeting them, and where people are likely to be

regularly present, as AQMAs®

As advised in Defra’s Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance
(TG22) if a local authority finds any places where the objectives are not likely
to be achieved, it must declare an Air Quality Management Area there. This
area could be just one or two streets, or it could be much bigger. Then the
local authority will put together a plan to improve the air quality - a Local Air

Quiality Action Plan.

The vast majority of AQMAs in the UK are related to road traffic emissions,
where attainment of the annual mean objective for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is
considered unlikely, sometimes in association with exceedances of the 24-
hour mean PMio objective. By comparison, there are very few AQMAs
associated with domestic, industrial or other transport-related emissions,
although in Northern Ireland a number of AQMASs have been declared as a

consequence of pollution associated with the residential heating sector’.

Based on the information collated and reported in the Annual Status Report,
the local authority should identify whether there is a risk of exceeding an air
guality objective outside any pre-existing AQMAs. If this is the case, the local

authority will need to proceed to the declaration of an AQMA without delay.

6 https://lagm.defra.qgov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf

7 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

19
Page 277


https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

7.1.5.

7.1.6.

This should be possible if the monitoring data and/or screening assessment
results are deemed sufficient to conclude on the risk of exceedance and the
area likely to be affected. It should also be the case if more detailed
information collated over the past 12 months (such as detailed dispersion
modelling of road traffic or industrial emissions) is now available and can be
appended to the ASR to support the decision to declare. In England, from
2023, an AQMA must be declared within 12 months from identifying an

exceedance.

Once an AQMA has been designated, an AQAP should be prepared within 18
months following the date of designation. Progress on the AQAP should be
included in the ASR8.

Where an exceedance of Air Quality standards has been identified crossing
the boundary of two or more local authority areas, it is possible to submit a
joint AQMA through a collaborative approach between the local authorities
responsible. The process for declaring a joint AQMA is the same as for an
AQMA located entirely within a single local authority boundary but the LAQM.

7.2. Amendment and Revocation of AQMAs

7.2.1. The revocation of an AQMA should be considered following three

consecutive years of compliance with the relevant objective as evidenced
through monitoring. Where NO2 monitoring is completed using diffusion tubes,
to account for the inherent uncertainty associated with the monitoring method,
it is recommended that revocation of an AQMA should be considered
following three consecutive years of annual mean NO2 concentrations being
lower than 36ug/m? (i.e., within 10% of the annual mean NO:2 objective).
There should not be any declared AQMAs for which compliance with the

relevant objective has been achieved for a consecutive five-year period.

8 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf

20
Page 278



7.2.2. Itis not advisable for the revocation of an AQMA to be based solely upon
compliance in a year not representative of long-term trends. For example,
compliance being reached in 2020 may not be representative of long-term
trends in pollutant concentrations due to the change in activity observed
across the UK as a result of COVID-19. Where 2020 is one of many
consecutive years of compliance, this may be considered for revocation.

7.2.3. Defra will not appraise AQAPs for AQMASs that have been in compliance
for five years unless a likely exceedance has been identified in the area.
Local Authorities will instead be advised to revoke the AQMA. Keeping
AQMAs in place longer than required risks diluting their meaning and

impacting public trust in LAQM.

7.2.4. Swale Borough Council currently has one Strategic AQAP covering all
AQMAs in the district. Therefore, keeping an AQMA in place when it should
be revoked risks Defra not accepting any amendments to the current
AQAP or any new AQAPs in the future. This has been made clear by Defra.
For example, if any monitoring data identify new areas where the Air Quality
Objectives are not being met, we would not be able to create an action plan
for these areas, due to not revoking the AQMAs that should have been
revoked. Subsequently we would be in breach of the legislation because we
do not have an action plan for areas that should have one.

7.2.5. From 2023, following revocation of all AQMAs in a local authority area, local
authorities in England should put in place a local air quality strategy to
ensure air quality remains a high-profile issue and to ensure it can respond
quickly should there be any deterioration in condition. If other AQMAs in the
district are present with an accompanying strategic action plan, a section to

ensure revoked AQMAs remain high profile can be included.

7.2.6. The process for declaring or revoking an AQMA is outlined in the LAQM
Technical Guidance document (TG22): Box 3-2 — AQMA Process Diagram is

shown below.

21
Page 279



TG22: Box 3-2 — AQMA Process Diagram

Has monionng or modeling shown that an air guality objective & being excesded of thal there is a nsk of excesdancs in an
area of inlesest?

LNO

Age there any AQMAS in the local

Declans AQMA through the production of an AQMA Order
within 12 mornths of the idenlilication'risk of exceadancs.

This will allow local authorilies with cenainty to deciars

rapidty and those who wish 1o gather further monitoring /

rodeling infarmation befors declaing up to 12 months 1o
do g

It is suggested that only local suthorilies who, uniill now,
have had few air qualty problems, or have sufficient doubts,
should consider the necessity of obtaning further
suppodting information, with the methods used briefly sat
aut in thesr snnual repon

authodty Area?
[ [#] NO

(Scotland (g

and Wales) v

Continue to monitor identified
areas bo ensure complkance s

I
v

Proceed to the development of an ADAP .
ADAP to be completed within 18 months

From 2023 in England, wherne
a local authonty does nat

hawe an ACIMA declanad ey
mm:u:l will e requined to create &
: local Al Cuality Strategy.

of e AQMA declaration in England,
Wales and Maorthern Iredand and 12
manths in Scotland.

Continue monionng within the AOMA to ensure compliance is
maintained and reaulls reponed sanualy

¥
Automatic monitored concentrations fall below objedive, o §
below 36pgim? {1.e. 10% of NO, annual mean cbjective) for Modilored concentrabions exceed
passive MO, monitoring, for ree conseculive years within objective cose io the existing AQMA
the AQMA. boundary.
At all sites At some sites
within ACQMA within ACQMA
k, 4
Consider Revoking ACQMA.

Consider Amendrmeant o ADMA boundary, elfher expansion

or reduction.

;

v

I there enough evidence io justify the Revecaon or
Aamendment?

YES

Revaoke or Amend the ACKA and submit the revised
Ordar. From 2023 in England, where all ADMAS ane
revoled, Local Authonties are siill requined to have a

local Air Quality Stratesgy.

L 4

Collate additional fechnical information

the need o Fevoke or Amend the ACMA

additicnal
moniterng andler a detailed modelling assesarnent 1o juslify

Page 280

22



8.

Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPS)

8.1. Introduction

8.1.1. Every local authority that has an active AQMA is required under Part IV of the

Environment Act and Part 11l of the Environment (NI) Order 2002 to provide an
Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to address the areas of poor air quality that
have been identified within the AQMA. The emphasis within AQAPSs should be

two-fold:

To develop measures that will provide the necessary emissions reductions to
achieve the air quality objectives within specified timescales and to set out
how the local authority will exercise its functions to secure achievements of air

guality objectives; and

Act as a live document which is continually reviewed and developed, to
ensure current measures are progressing and new measures are brought
forward. From April 2023, it will be recommended, where possible, that local
authorities in England maintain an up-to-date online version of their AQAP as
a resource both for the public and for other local authorities. Local Authorities

should still, as a minimum, revise their AQAP every 5 years.

8.1.2. Defra’s Policy Guidance LAQM.PG22° states that, from 2023, an AQAP

should be prepared within 18 months of an AQMA being declared.

8.1.3. Once a draft has been prepared, the AQAP should be submitted to Defra/the

Devolved Administration for initial appraisal at the statutory consultation
stage, with the AQAP then finalised and again submitted to Defra/the
Devolved Administration for approval. The draft and final AQAP can be
submitted to Defra/the Devolved Administration via the LAQM Porta

9 https://lagm.defra.qgov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf

23
Page 281


https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/LAQM-Policy-Guidance-2022.pdf

8.1.4.

8.1.5.

8.1.6.

8.1.7.

8.1.8.

Directors of Public Health must be part of the air quality management process
in local authorities in England. Working in partnership will increase support for
measures to improve air quality, with co-benefits for all. It is recommended

that Directors of Public Health review and approve local authority AQAPS.

Where a local authority has designated multiple AQMAS in its area, particularly
if these are related to a similar emissions source, it is advised that a single

AQAP should be submitted, but this should clearly address each individual
AQMA in the area.

The Environment Act requires that AQAPs be regularly reviewed and must be
revised if a local authority considers there is a need for further or different
measures to be taken in order to achieve air quality standards; or if significant
changes to sources occur within your local area. In England, local authorities
are expected to review AQAPSs at least every five years.

It is important to focus on the effective implementation and delivery of
measures developed to address the specific local air quality issues. Defra has
published an AQAP template to assist local authorities in England with the

development of their AQAPs and ensure a consistent format for AQAP
reporting.

Furthermore, the ASR for England provides a consistent format for local
authorities to report on the progress of their AQAP and other supporting

measures developed to reduce emissions towards achieving the air quality
objectives.

24
Page 282



8.2. What should be included in an AQAP

8.2.1. It is recognised that there is not a ‘one size fits all’ approach to developing
AQAPs. They should be adapted to every local situation and most importantly
are seen as part of an integrated package of measures, particularly in relation

to linking with other key policy areas, notably:

e Land-use planning and sustainable development;

e Transport Planning, promoting sustainable transport, local transport
management, integration with local transport plans;

e Environmental noise management;

¢ Climate change policies in relation to carbon management and

reduction
8.2.2. Key common requirements for the development of an effective AQAP:

1. Develop the AQAP in stages;

2. Undertake appropriate local monitoring and assessment (source
apportionment);

3. Decide what level of actions are required,;

4. Establish links to other key policy areas / strategies;

5. Establish a Steering Group with key stakeholder groups at an early
stage;

6. Undertake measures selection and impact assessment;

7. Agree monitoring and evaluation of success; and

8. Undertake consultation.
8.2.3. As a minimum, AQAPs should include the following:

e Quantification of source contributions (e.g., HGVs, buses, taxis, other

transport, industrial or domestic sources etc.) responsible for the exceedance

25
Page 283



of the relevant objective; knowing the source of the problem will allow the
AQAP measures to be effectively targeted;

e Quantification of impacts of proposed measures including, where feasible,
expected emission and concentration reductions (either locally obtained
and/or via national monitoring/modelling statistics). It is important that the
local authority shows how it intends to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness
of the plan;

e Clear timescales, including milestones and expected outcomes, which the
authority and other delivery partners propose to implement the measures
within the AQAP; and

e Defined roles and responsibilities that detail how the local authority and
other delivery partners, including transport, planning and health departments,
will take ownership of the problem and in what capacity they will work together
to implement the AQAP.

8.2 On-going assessment of AQAPs progress

8.2.1. The success of the AQAP is dependent upon the on-going assessment and
reporting of progress in the implementation of measures and the evidence
acquired from on-going evaluation of the impacts of measures that are
reported through the annual LAQM report (ASR). The use of monitoring to
show the decline in pollutant concentrations attributed to the implementation
of measures is an obvious basis on which local authorities should provide
evidence to show progress. However, for some measures alternative
indicators, such as use of cycle schemes and passenger numbers on buses,

can be used to report progress.

8.2.2. Local authorities should ensure that the AQAP Steering Group continues to
meet on an annual basis after the adoption and implementation of measures
contained within their AQAPs in order that a review of the AQAP and its
progress is undertaken. Where, in undertaking their review, evidence shows

that unforeseen barriers to progress have arisen, or measures are no longer

26
Page 284



suitable, the AQAP should be updated to reflect the local authority’s position.
The AQAP should be maintained as a “live” strategy. Where necessary,
updates to source apportionment should be made to ensure that the

measures remain targeted and focused within the AQAP.

8.3. Swale’s AQAP and Steering group

8.3.1. Swale’s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been produced as part of our
statutory duties required by the Local Air Quality Management framework. It
outlines the strategic and local actions we will take to improve air quality in
Swale Borough Council between 2023 and 2028. The Strategic action plan
replaces the previous action plan which ran from 2018 to 2022. The measures
detailed within the updated action plan are largely district-wide with some

localised measures and are relevant to all AQMASs.

8.3.2. The AQAP Steering Group was formed in early 2022 to develop and deliver
the Strategic AQAP update for Swale. The Steering Group is responsible for
the implementation and monitoring of the delivery of the AQAP to ensure

measures are kept on-track and report progress back to Defra.

8.3.3. The AQAP Steering Group is composed of Swale and KCC officers from key
service areas that can influence and impact air quality improvements. The
Steering Group is led by senior officers within Swale Borough Council to
ensure engagement at political and senior management levels across the

Council and with external partners continues.

8.3.4. The AQAP Steering group meet quarterly every three to four months
throughout the lifetime of the action plan. Task and finish sub-groups
responsible for implementing and delivering specific measures meet more
regularly and report back to the Steering group. The task groups are to be
also responsible for providing further sub-actions and associated measurable

milestones.

27
Page 285



8.3.5. Actions undertake by the Swale AQAP Steering Group are outlined in the
AQAP 2023 -2028 document located on the Swale Borough Council website!°

9. Roles and Responsibilities for two tier authorities

9.1. In 2022 Defra updated their Technical (TG22)*! and Policy (PG22)*? Guidance
for Local Air Quality Management. Key updates in the Policy Guidance relate
to the current action plan, which provide clearer requirements for both district
and county level councils to work together to ensure air quality is improved, as
shown below:

e In paragraph 3.2, chapter 3 - “There are obligations on both district and
county councils within Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. The Environment
Act 2021 ensures that responsibility for solutions to poor air quality is shared

across local government”

e Paragraph 3.8 chapter 3 states “The County Council will be required to
commit to appropriate actions the county council will take to secure that air

quality objectives are achieved”.
9.3. Districts (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)

9.3.1. Defra advises in two-tier authorities, key functions (relating to the assessment
of local air quality, designation of an AQMA and preparation of an AQAP)
remain at the district council level. Under the changes introduced through the
Environment Act 2021, district councils will be required to coordinate action

across local government structures and public authorities. This includes

10 https://swale.gov.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0019/451432/AQAP-2023-t0-2028 -FINAL 05 09 23-
AA.pdf
11 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

12 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/air-quality/featured/england-exc-london-policy-guidance/

28
Page 286


https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/451432/AQAP-2023-to-2028_-FINAL_05_09_23-AA.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/451432/AQAP-2023-to-2028_-FINAL_05_09_23-AA.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/air-quality/featured/england-exc-london-policy-guidance/

identifying key sources of air pollution and actions that could be taken by
multiple parties where necessary, identifying authorities who will need to

partner the local authority in developing and carrying out AQAPSs.

9.3.2. Under section 82 of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 district councils
should undertake periodic review and assessment of air quality within their

area. The results of this review and assessment should be set out in the ASR.

9.3.3. Under section 83 the district council is required to designate an AQMA when
the review and assessment that it has carried out indicates that any air quality
objectives are not being, or are not likely to be, achieved. The district council
may amend or revoke an area as appropriate in the light of subsequent
reviews.

9.3.4. Under Section 83 Local authorities/district councils are required to identify
sources of emissions responsible for any failure to achieve air quality
standards or objectives and identify and inform the local or public authorities
responsible for the emissions.

9.3.5. Under section 83A, as amended by the Deregulation Act 2015 - Part 4 of
Schedule 13, once an AQMA has been designated the district council should
prepare an AQAP that sets out how it will achieve the air quality standards or
objectives for the area that it covers. The district council should provide
information on the timescales for the achievement of measures that it can
take under the powers that it has. Relevant powers and mechanisms include
environmental health functions including those concerning the Clean Air Act
(e.g. the ability to declare smoke control areas) and land use planning. The
AQAP should be in place within 18 months of the district council declaring the
AQMA.

9.3.6. Engagement with the county council should take place at the start of the
process. In reviewing and assessing air quality in a local authority area or
preparing an AQAP, the district council should consider any recommendations

made to it by the county council in respect of the areas of responsibility falling

29
Page 287



to the district council. It may not agree with these recommendations (see
PG22, paragraph 3.22). The County Council will be required to commit to
appropriate actions the county council will take to secure that air quality
objectives are achieved. The AQAP will be a collaborative plan reflecting the

need for upper and lower tiers to work together to reduce pollution.

9.3.7. The district council should consult on its AQAP (PG22, Chapter 5) and is

expected to make a copy of the Plan and ASR freely available for public
inspection on their website.

9.4. County Councils (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)

9.4.1. County councils have obligations under LAQM as set out below and in practice

they should proactively engage with the district council as soon as an air
guality issue is identified.

9.4.2. County councils were already required under the Environment Act 1995 to
collaborate with district councils on air quality. We have strengthened this

requirement through the Environment Act 2021 making the wording clearer to
avoid ambiguity.

9.4.3. If informed by a district council of its intention to prepare an AQAP, a county
council must propose specific measures it will take to help secure the
achievement and maintenance of air quality standards and objectives in the
relevant district local authority’s area, including target dates by which the
measures should be carried out. District councils should incorporate county
council proposals and dates in their AQAP.

9.4.4. Upper tier authorities have a duty to support district councils to carry out their
functions by providing details on planned action at county level that could impact air
quality (e.g. transport plans) and proposing actions they could take using powers and

levers available to them. The Environment Act 1995 requires upper tier authorities to:

30
Page 288



o Provide the lower tier authority with proposals for particular measures it will
take to contribute to the achievement and maintenance of Air Quality
Objectives, including a date by which each measure will be carried out.

o Deliver the actions they are responsible for as set out in the AQAPS, to the
timescales defined.

o Provide assistance to the district council to coordinate action across

neighbouring local authorities and with other public bodies.

9.4.5. There is very strong evidence on the significant contribution of transport
emissions to air pollution in urban areas and the legislation requires county
councils to bring forward measures in relation to addressing the transport

impacts for inclusion in any AQAP.

9.4.6. The county council is a consultee to ASRs and AQAPs. Under section 86(2)
the county council may make recommendations to the district council in
relation to any review and assessment of air quality or development or

amendment of AQAPSs in the local authority area.

9.5. Neighbouring authorities (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)

9.5.1. Given the transboundary nature of air pollution, emissions from sources in one
local authority can contribute to exceedances of Air Quality Objectives in
another. Defra advises the Environment Act 2021 amended the Environment
Act 1995 to place a new duty on local authorities to work collaboratively with
neighbouring authorities to create a cooperative framework that would enable
authorities to tackle pollution emanating from sources outside of the local
authority’s area. The changes will ensure local authorities receive support
from neighbouring authorities to deliver compliance with local air quality limits

and objectives. The duties on neighbouring authorities require them to:

e Actively support district councils to carry out their functions. This includes
providing details on planned actions that could impact air quality and

proposing actions they could take using powers and levers available to them.

31
Page 289



Provide the relevant neighbouring authorities with proposals for particular
measures it will take to contribute to the achievement and maintenance of Air
Quality Objectives, including a date by which each measure will be carried
out.

Deliver the actions they are responsible for as set out in the AQAPs, to the
timescales defined.

9.6. Public Health (PG22: Chapter 3: LAQM - Roles and Responsibilities)

9.6.1. Defra advises Directors of Public Health must be part of the air quality

management process in local authorities. Working in partnership will increase
support for measures to improve air quality, with co-benefits for all. It is
recommended that Directors of Public Health approve local authority draft
ASRs prior to submission and AQAPs and are directly involved in the

formulation and monitoring of Air Quality Strategies, where these are present.

Further examples of joined-up working include:

To ensure the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment has up to date information
on air quality impacts on the population and the impact on health disparities;
To work closely with local authority air quality officers in formulating the needs
assessment and other air quality initiatives — e.g. have regular update
meetings on key, emerging issues;

To facilitate the consideration of air quality issues at board level within the
local authority as required.

32
Page 290



Glossary

e Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)

e Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP)

e Annual Status Reports (ASRS)

e NOz2 (Nitrogen Dioxide)

e PMaio and PMzs (particulates less than 10 and 2.5 microns in diameter)
e Local Air Quality Management (LAQM)

e Defra (Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs)

e Air Quality Objective (AQO)

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



SITTINGBOURNE AND TEYNHAM AIR QUALITY
MANAGEMENT AREAS

Detailed assessment

Report for: Swale District Council

Ricardo ref. ED18432112 18/12/23

Ricardo Energy & Environment, Gemini Building, Fermi Aven}&ml,gxggmre, OX11 0QR, UK | +44(0)1235 75 3000 | ee.ricardo.com
: 64T VA

Registered company no no. GB 212 8365 24




Customer: Contact:

Swale Borough Council Mark Attree, Gemini Building, Fermi Avenue, Harwell,
Didcot, OX11 0QR, UK

Customer reference:
T: +44 (0) 1235 753 295

E: mark.attree@ricardo.com

Confidentiality, copyright and reproduction: Author:

This report is the Copyright of Swale Borough Eleri Paterson Hughes, Anton Girard-Sequeira
Council and has been prepared by Ricardo

Energy & Environment, a trading name of Approved by:

Ricardo Ltd under contract 3033410 dated Mark Attree
11/10/2023. The contents of this report may not

be reproduced, in whole or in part, nor passed Signed

to any organisation or person without the

specific prior written permission of Swale

Borough Council. Ricardo accepts no liability

whatsoever to any third party for any loss or

damage arising from any interpretation or use .

of the information contained in this report, or /
reliance on any views expressed therein, other

than the liability that is agreed in the said

contract
Ricardo reference: Date:
ED18432112 18/12/23

Ricardo is certified to ISO9001, ISO14001, 1ISO27001 and 1SO45001.

Ricardo, its affiliates and subsidiaries and their respective officers, employees or agents are, individually
and collectively, referred to as the ‘Ricardo Group’. The Ricardo Group assumes no responsibility and shall
not be liable to any person for any loss, damage or expense caused by reliance on the information or advice
in this document or howsoever provided, unless that person has signed a contract with the relevant Ricardo
Group entity for the provision of this information or advice and in that case any responsibility or liability is
exclusively on the terms and conditions set out in that contract.

Ricardo Energy & Environment, Gemini Building, Fermi Be%ggrwg,%ﬂ;rdshire, 0OX11 0QR, UK | +44(0)1235 75 3000 | ee.ricardo.com
Registered company no. 08229264 | VAT no. GB 212 8365 24


mailto:name.name@ricardo.com

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Annual mean concentrations of NO2 measured by monitors in and around two Swale Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) for Teynham (AQMA 5) and East Street Sittingbourne (AQMA 3) have been consistently below
the government Air Quality Objective for five and four years, respectively. Defra have expressly indicated to
Swale that both AQMAs should begin the process of revocation in their feedback of the 2022 and 2023 Annual
Status Reports.

To ensure that any decisions are made on robust evidence, Swale continued to monitor air quality for an
additional year (2023) and commissioned Ricardo to carry out a Detailed Assessment of NO2 concentrations
in the AQMAs, considering the future committed developments that could impact air quality in these areas.

Ricardo have therefore carried out air quality modelling to assess:
o whether citizens of Swale are likely to be impacted by exposure to concentrations of NO: at locations
in the AQMAs where monitoring is not currently undertaken.

o whether citizens of Swale within the AQMAs are likely to be exposed to elevated concentrations of
NO: in the future if traffic increases beyond current levels.

To achieve these goals, modelling was carried out for two years:
1. a 2022 baseline, using traffic data provided by the Council, SWECO and national forecasts for the
vehicle fleet composition; and

2. a 2028 future scenario considering the impact of future committed developments that could adversely
impact concentrations in the AQMAs. This scenario was modelled assuming that all traffic generated
by each development would run through the two AQMAs.

Sensitivity testing was also carried out into the potential impact of reduced fleet turnover in Swale relative to
national projections.

All modelling was carried out following appropriate LAQM technical guidance and best practice.

The conclusions of the study are summarised in Box 1.

Box 1: Key conclusions of the Detailed Assessment

e No relevant receptor is predicted to have an annual mean NO2 concentration within 10% of the Air
Quality Objective for annual mean NO: at any location of relevant exposure in 2022.

e The Sittingbourne and Teynham AQMAs continue to be below 10% of the Air Quality Objective for
annual mean NO: at all locations of relevant exposure in the modelled 2028 scenario.

e The model results therefore indicate the AQMAS can be revoked without risk of future exceedances.

Page 295 Page | 1



CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1
1. INTRODUCTION 3
2. AIR QUALITY STANDARDS 3
3. AIR QUALITY IN SWALE 4
4. AIR QUALITY MODELLING 7
4.1 OVERALL APPROACH 7
4.2 CHOICE OF MODEL 7
4.3 MODEL DOMAINS 7
4.4 SENSITIVE RECEPTORS 9
441 Sittingbourne 9

44,2 Teynham 11

4.5 METEOROLOGY 12
4.6 SURFACE ROUGHNESS 13
4.7 CHEMISTRY AND BACKGROUND CONCENTRATIONS 13

5. EMISSIONS INVENTORY 14
5.1 TRAFFIC FLOWS AND SPEEDS 14
51.1 2022 14

5.1.2 2028 15

5.2 EMISSION FACTORS 15
5.3 VEHICLE FLEET COMPOSITION 15
5.3.1 2022 15

5.4 TIME-VARYING EMISSION FACTORS 15

6. MODEL ADJUSTMENT AND VERIFICATION 17
6.1 MODEL CALIBRATION AND ADJUSTMENT 17
6.2 MODEL VERIFICATION 17

7. RESULTS 19
7.1 SITTINGBOURNE AQMA 19
7.2 TEYNHAM AQMA 21

8. SENSITIVITY TESTING 23
8.1 FLEET RENEWAL DELAY 23
8.2 EMISSION FACTOR TOOLKIT VERSION 12 24

9. CONCLUSIONS 25

Page 296 Page | 2



1. INTRODUCTION

Ricardo have been commissioned by Swale Borough Council (SBC) to carry out a Detailed Assessment to
quantify public exposure to concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) across Sittingbourne and Teynham. Defra
have expressly indicated to Swale that both AQMAs should begin the process of revocation in their feedback
of the 2022 and 2023 Annual Status Reports.

Ricardo have therefore carried out air quality modelling to assess:
e whether citizens of Swale are likely to be impacted by exposure to concentrations of NO: at locations
in the AQMAs where monitoring is not currently undertaken.

e whether citizens of Swale within the AQMAs are likely to be exposed to elevated concentrations of
NO: in the future if traffic increases beyond current levels.

To achieve these goals, modelling was carried out for two years:
1. a 2022 baseline, using traffic data provided by the Council, SWECO and national forecasts for the
vehicle fleet composition; and

2. a 2028 future scenario considering the impact of future committed developments that could adversely
impact concentrations in the AQMAs. This scenario was modelled assuming that all traffic generated
by each development would run through the two AQMAs.

This report sets out the modelling methodology and results of the assessment.

2. AIR QUALITY STANDARDS

The Air Quality Strategy (AQS) for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Defra, 2007) sets out UK
policy on air quality including a framework for reducing hazards to health from air pollution and meeting
international commitments. It sets standards and objectives for ten main air pollutants (including nitrogen
dioxide, PM1o and PMz2.) to protect health, vegetation and ecosystems. The European Union has also set limit
values for nitrogen dioxide, PM1o and PM2.s (EU Directive 2008/50/EC) and is implemented in UK law through
the Air Quality Standards Regulations (2010). The limit values for nitrogen dioxide, PM1o and PMzs are the
same numerical concentrations as the UK objectives.

The AQOs which are relevant to this air quality impact assessment are detailed in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1: National Air Quality Objectives (AQOs)

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) Annual Mean 40 ug/m?
1-hour Mean 200 pg/m? not to be exceeded more than 18 times a
year
Particles (PM1o) Annual Mean 40 pg/m3
24-hour Mean 50 pg/m?® not to be exceeded more than 35 times a
year
Particles (PM2.5) Annual Mean 20 pg/m?3

LAQM.TG (22) sets out that the annual mean AQOs for human health apply at locations where the public may
be regularly exposed, such as building facades of residential properties, schools, hospitals and care homes.
The 1-hour and 24-hour mean AQOs apply at locations where it is reasonable to expect members of the public
to spend at least these periods of time, such as busy shopping streets and school playgrounds for the 1-hour
mean, and hotels or residential gardens for the 24-hour mean.

Page 297 Page | 3



3. AIR QUALITY IN SWALE

The UK parliament passed the UK Environment Act (1995, updated 2022) which requires local authorities to
undertake routine assessment of the quality of their air. To support compliance with this objective, the UK
government also introduced the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) framework to ensure that local
authorities undertake this assessment, and that action is undertaken when measured concentrations of air
pollutant are above threshold values set in its Air Quality Standards regulation.

In accordance with this framework SBC has established an air quality monitoring network to monitor
concentrations of pollutants at locations in the borough where citizens are most likely to experience prolonged
exposure to elevated pollutant concentrations.

The data collected by this monitoring network identified that concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) along
East Street in Sittingbourne and London Road in Teynham exceeded the standard set in the regulations for
annual mean NO:2 concentrations (40ug/m3). In response, a further investigation was carried out to fully
understand the causes of these elevated concentrations and a plan was drawn up to bring NO2 concentrations
into compliance.

As a result, part of the street in each location was declared as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in
recognition of the problem in 2013 (Sittingbourne) and 2015 (Teynham). These AQMAs are illustrated in Figure
3-1 and Figure 3-2.

Figure 3-1: Sittingbourne AQMA

Legend
EXJ Sittingbourne AQMA ¢ ' /i

Can,
BT hag

0 25 50 m

Contains map data © OpenStreetMap and contributors

Page 298 Page | 4



Figure 3-2: Teynham AQMA

Legend -
G,
RXH Teynham AQMA =

4

R Garg

1%7%‘1
m%“h,d -
) ;3“
& it y
H
B
IM»% 2
0 25 50m
I
Contains map data © OpenStreetMap and contributors

Trends in monitored concentrations in Sittingbourne and Teynham are presented in Figure 3-1 and Figure 3-2,
respectively. Actions implemented by SBC to bring the AQMAs into compliance with the standard have been
successful. Measurements from monitoring sites in the AQMAs show a long-term reduction in NO:2
concentrations, with short-term increases in 2021 and 2022 due to increases in traffic relative to the

exceptionally low traffic in 2020.

As a result, annual mean concentrations of NO2 measured within both AQMAs have been compliant with the
Air Quality Standard since 2019. Annual mean concentrations have been below 90% of the Air Quality
Objective at all locations since 2019, and at all but SW56 and SW80 since 2018.

Page 299 Page | 5



Sittingbourne and Teynham Air Quality Management Areas | Report for Swale Borough Council

Figure 3-1: Sampled NO2 concentrations within the East Street Sittingbourne AQMA (2018 — 2022)

45

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

= == Qbjective
= == QObjective (36ug/m"3)
—— SW56
—e— SW76
—— SW151
—0— SW152
SW125
—0— SW126

Figure 3-2: Sampled NO2 concentrations within the Teynham AQMA (2018 — 2022)

45

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

2018

2019

2020

2021

Page 300

2022

= == QObjective

= == QObjective (36ug/m"3)

—&— SW80
—e&— SW91
—&— SW92
—@— SW153

Page | 6



4. AIR QUALITY MODELLING

4.1 OVERALL APPROACH

The modelling was carried out following best practice techniques detailed in LAQM Technical Guidance' and
model guidance published by model developers.

Air pollutant concentrations were modelled for a baseline year of 2022 to assess current public exposure to
NO:2 concentrations. Ratified measurements from diffusion tubes in and adjacent to the AQMAs were
compared to the modelled concentrations at each location; this process is called model verification and is
summarised in Section 6.

Once the model was confirmed to be performing adequately, the verified model was then used to predict
concentrations at sensitive receptors in and around the Swale AQMAs.

In order to demonstrate the robustness of compliance in future years, modelling was also carried out for a
2030 future scenario. This scenario was modelled as a ‘worst case’ scenario, including predicted traffic from
future developments up to 2030 while assuming that the local vehicle fleet is lags 2 years behind national
projections in terms of emissions technology.

4.2 CHOICE OF MODEL

The latest version of ADMS-Roads (5.1), a dispersion model developed by Cambridge Environmental
Research Consultants (CERC), was selected as the most appropriate tool for undertaking this study. This is
an internationally recognised model that is widely used in assessments for Local Authorities in the UK.

CERC have carried out extensive validation of the ADMS models by comparing modelled results with standard
field, laboratory and numerical data sets, participating in EU workshops on short range dispersion models,
comparing data between UK M4 and M25 motorway field monitoring data, carrying out comparison studies on
behalf of local authorities and Defra.

ADMS-Roads includes advanced features for treatment of street canyons and other road geometry.

4.3 MODEL DOMAINS

Figure 4-1 and Figure 4-2 show the chosen study areas of the model. These areas were selected to include
all major road sources in Sittingbourne and Teynham. The model domain for Sittingbourne extends beyond
the intersection of St Michael’'s Road with Crown Quay Lane and includes the intersection of East Street with
the High Street. The model domain for Teynham accounts for incoming traffic on London Road and Lynsted
Lane to Teynham.

" https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LAQM-TG22-August-22-v1.0.pdf

Page 301 Page | 7



Figure 4-1: Model domain for Sittingbourne

Legend
B34 Sittingbourne AQMA !
=) Model extent i
R
.,f, "

S )
£ {olfle
, a - P A
e x . t v il
e ' a 1%
= . 3
¥ " & =
i a 4 ; !
_—
”N‘"’—u. R "
¥

0 25 50m
-
Figure 4-2: Model domain for Teynham
Legend i
Teynham AQMA
n Model extent
55
o 5w
IR,
eesesesese; .
P 0.0.0.0. s
%e%e % i
95

50m

Page 302

Page | 8



4.4 SENSITIVE RECEPTORS

In each AQMA, the closest point on each building fagade to the nearest road was included in the model to
capture worst-case concentrations at sensitive receptors.

441 Sittingbourne AQMA

Figure 4-3 presents the locations of the modelled sensitive receptors in the Sittingbourne AQMA; Table 4-1
provides the exact locations of the receptors. All receptors were modelled at ground level to capture worst
case concentrations.

Figure 4-3: Location of modelled sensitive receptors in Sittingbourne

Legend
[~ sittingbourne AQMA . j
@ Sensitive Receptors ; /
X 3
. N /
£ & :
i
5 +
. %’“& d
"
. e ;
o -
£
£ (,g‘-: \
) AN s
: g Bty 28300612 o,
T 23.;2];";;25:;;‘_’“ 2 11 -‘""‘-:C-I.__._‘
260 o *26 fg'ﬂa"l?.iﬁ% ]
>~olft
{
]
b
0 25 50m Ky : j
[ — . J

Table 4-1: Sensitive receptor locations, Sittingbourne

ID | Address X coordinate Y coordinate Height (m)
1 151 East Street 591397.7 163489.7 0
2 153 East Street 591411.1 163486.9 0
3 157 East Street 591420.5 163484.9 0
4 155 East Street 591415.1 163486 0
5 159 East Street 591425.5 163483.9 0
6 161a East Street 591431.2 163482.6 0
7 163 East Street 591435.6 163481.6 0
8 165 East Street 591439.5 163480.9 0
9 167a East Street 591443.8 163479.9 0
10 169 East Street 591448.3 163478.8 0

Page 303 Page | 9



Dloges  newdee [vesdse o

171 East Street 591452.5 163477.9 0
12 Magic Wok 591458.3 163480 0
13 1 Canterbury Road 591483.9 163473.9 0
14 Adriana's Nails 591490.6 163455.9 0
15 Canterbury Court 591480.9 163458.4 0
16 7 Canterbury Road 591472.7 163460.3 0
17 132B East Street 591464 .4 163463.1 0
18 130 East Street 591459.4 163463.8 0
19 128 East Street 591454.9 163464.7 0
20 126 East Street 591451.6 163465.6 0
21 124 East Street 591444.9 163467 0
22 122 East Street 591436.9 163466.1 0
23 120A East Street 591429.8 163466.8 0
24 118, Eastleigh House, East Street 591419.8 163468.7 0
25 116 East Street 591410.5 163470.2 0
26 114 East Street 591405.2 163471.3 0
27 112 East Street 591395.8 163473.5 0
28 110 East Street 591390.9 163474 .4 0
29 108 East Street 591380.6 163476.7 0
30 106 East Street 591373.8 163478.3 0
31 104 East Street 591369.7 163479 0
32 Doves Funeral Directors 591361.1 163477.8 0

Page 304 Page | 10



442 Teynham AQMA

Figure 4-4 presents the locations of the modelled sensitive receptors in the Sittingbourne AQMA; Table 4-2
provides the exact locations of the receptors. All receptors were modelled at ground level to capture worst
case concentrations.

Figure 4-4: Location of modelled sensitive receptors in Teynham

Legend
[~7 Teynham AQMA i
® Sensitive Receptors f
:,,,o;n%q P
"’.”%ﬂ% g 1;’ 33l 0
f‘ = .311 39 &1-‘:“\
o e 'zh*-agx 44‘1_!‘1 -
. = 7 = L i L £
it 8 .q}?’q%‘45 47‘ ] .49 e $
. é'_,_ _,‘"’l Pl z 50. ® .53
it 52 ss.sg'?y
£ 66. f,6.4. .63 62 +
o {f?. .'go""‘f%"‘ Roag
5y {’-?1'1 j‘g 58 n
T &
§
0 25 50 m
[ .
Table 4-2: Sensitive receptor locations, Teynham
ID | Address X coordinate Y coordinate Height (m)
33 | LTR Supplies, London Road 595154.8 162473 0
34 Denture Centre, London Road 595161.3 162471 0
35 | 72 London Road 595150.7 162462.3 0
36 | 70 London Road 595161.6 162459.8 0
37 | FJ Williams Joinery & Carpentry 595197 162447.6 0
38 | 68 London Road 595187.1 162450.4 0
39 | Teynham C Chinese 595167.8 162469.1 0
40 | The Greenstreet Pharmacy 595177.2 162465.4 0
41 103 London Road 595184.9 162465.6 0
42 101 London Road 595188.8 162462.1 0
43 | 99 London Road 595196.5 162460.3 0
44 | 97 London Road 595204.2 162457 .4 0
45 | 95 London Road 595208.2 162455.6 0
46 | 93 London Road 595211.6 162454.8 0

Page 305 Page | 11



ID | Address X coordinate Y coordinate Height (m)
47 | 91A London Road 595217 162453.2 0
48 | 91B London Road 595223 .4 162453 0
49 | 89 London Road 595229.2 162448.7 0
50 | 87 London Road 595235.2 162446.7 0
51 85 London Road 595244 1 162444.9 0
52 | 83 London Road 595247 162444.2 0
53 | 81 London Road 595250.7 162443.3 0
55 | 79 London Road 595254.8 162441.6 0
56 | 77 London Road 595259.1 162441.7 0
57 | 75 London Road 595262.4 162440.8 0
58 | 42 London Road 595257.2 162422.4 0
59 | 44 London Road 595247.8 162428.6 0
60 | 46 London Road 595245.5 162429.3 0
61 48 London Road 595242.3 162430.2 0
62 | 50 London Road 595237.8 162431.5 0
63 | 52 London Road 595230 162434.6 0
64 | 54 London Road 595225.2 162436.9 0
65 | 54A London Road 595221.3 162438.2 0
66 56 London Road 595211.3 1624341 0

4.5 METEOROLOGY

One year of meteorological data from the Met Office Manston Airfield site was used in this study. Missing data
was filled in with information from the nearby London Gatwick and Southend met stations. A wind rose for the
filled Manston 2022 dataset is presented in Figure 4-5.

Figure 4-5: Windrose of meteorological data collected at Manston Airfield during 2022

0 15 31 51 82

Page 306

(s

Page | 12



4.6 SURFACE ROUGHNESS

In ADMS-Roads, a length scale parameter called the surface roughness length is used to characterise the
study area in terms of its effects on wind speed and turbulence. The modelling used a surface roughness
length of 0.5m in both Sittingbourne and Teynham, to represent a moderately built-up area.

The difference in land use at the meteorological site and the model domain was accounted for by using a
surface roughness of 0.2m for the meteorological site.

4.7 CHEMISTRY AND BACKGROUND CONCENTRATIONS

The interconversion of NO and NO2 emissions in the presence of ozone was calculated using the NOx:NO:2
calculator? published by Defra, following the approach outlined in LAQM.TG (22). Background concentrations
were taken from the background maps published by Defra® for use with this tool. To avoid double-counting,
contributions from local primary roads were removed from the background maps. The background
concentrations used in this study are presented in Table 4-3.

Table 4-3: Annual mean background concentrations, Sittingbourne and Teynham, 2022.

Pollutant Background concentration (ug.m-)
NOx 14.3
PMio 15.2
PMz2s 101

2 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/air-quality/air-quality-assessment/nox-to-no2-calculator/
3 https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/lagm-background-home

Page 307 Page | 13



5. EMISSIONS INVENTORY

The development of the emission inventory for Sittingbourne and Teynham was carried out through the
following process:

1. Collation of local traffic flow, speed and queuing data;
2. Collation of national fleet fuel and technology statistics;

3. The traffic and fleet data were combined with emission factors from the most recent version of the
Emissions Factors Toolkit (EFT), version 114 to provide total annual emissions of NOx and PM for
the modelled road links.

Further detail on the emissions inventory compilation is provided below.

5.1 TRAFFIC FLOWS AND SPEEDS

511 2022

A hybrid traffic volume dataset was compiled from data collected by SBC, traffic models developed by SWECO
covering both AQMA areas, and from the DfT traffic count network®. Traffic flows were provided for vehicle
categories including cars, LGVs, HGVs, buses and coaches, and motorcycles. Where detailed vehicle split
information was not available, the average vehicle split across other count points in Swale were used. Traffic
counts from years other than 2022 were projected to 2022 using national projections from the Tempro.

The traffic flows used in the assessment are summarised in Table 5-1. Traffic speeds were estimated based
on council traffic count data, the SWECO modelled data and local knowledge. Speeds were reduced within
30m of major junctions in the model domain following the approach outlined in LAQM.TG (22).

Table 5-1: Modelled traffic flows, 2022

Traffic flows
LGV HGV

QZASI;')V”Chae'S Road (Crown Quay Ln | giinghoume | 18749 | 16461 | 1526 | 761 | 18 33

High street (West of Bell Road) Sittingbourne 1338 1133 131 41 1 15

Crown Quay Road (East Stto St Sittingbourne | 3860 | 3512 | 199 | 149 4 25

Michael's Rd)

A2 St Michaels Road (Aldi to East St) Sittingbourne 17825 | 15974 | 1180 671 16 20

Bell Road (Avenue of Remembrance to | - ginonoume | 10888 | 9905 | 725 | 258 6 18

Chilton Ave)

Crown Quay Road (StMichaels Rdto | guynonoume | 8753 | 8033 | 512 | 208 5 15

Eurolink Way)

East Street (West Ln to St Michael's Rd) | Sittingbourne 1481 1010 252 219 5 25

East Street (West of west lane) Sittingbourne 1727 1499 121 66 2 15

A2 EBast Street (St Michael's Rd to Gaze | g;iin0houme | 21938 | 19626 | 1470 | 841 | 20 30

Hill Avenue)

ij)EaSt Street (Gaze Hill Ave to Rectory | giyyinanoume | 20773 | 18548 | 1392 | 833 | 20 30

London Road (Flaxfield to Lynsted

Ln/Flaxfield Rd to Frognal Lane) Teynham 16444 | 14302 | 1260 881 21 40

London Road (Lynsted Ln to Station Rd) Teynham 16067 | 13919 | 1283 864 21 40

;0”“'0)“ Road (Station Rd to Lewson Teynham | 15937 | 13577 | 1434 | 926 | 22 40
treet

4 https://lagm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html. Version 12 was published following the conclusion
of this study; a sensitivity test into the effects of using version 12 is provided in Section 8.

5 https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk

Page 308 Page | 14



51.2 2028

A review of currently committed developments in Swale which may lead to increased traffic flows along the A2
was carried out to quantify maximum potential increases in traffic across the road network.

For the 2028 scenario, 11,170 vehicles were added onto each road link, with the assumption that every
committed development within the area would be completed, with an additional 500 vehicles to represent
potential uncertainty in predictions of traffic generation from future developments.

To account for the changes in speeds with the additional traffic flows, speeds were additionally reduced by
5km.h-" along each road modelled for the future scenario.

5.2 EMISSION FACTORS

Emissions from all modelled road traffic sources were calculated using speed-dependent vehicle emission
factors for NOx, primary NO2, and particulates from the Emissions Factors Toolkit (EFT) version 11''. These
factors provide emission factors categorised by vehicle size, age, and Euro classification, taking into account
average vehicle mileage and engine degradation. Emission factors are provided for roads with uphill or
downhill gradients.

5.3 VEHICLE FLEET COMPOSITION

5.3.1 2022

National projections provided by the EFT were used as a data source for vehicle composition. Table 5-2 and
Table 5-3 present the derived fleet age split in 2022.

Table 5-2: Fleet age splits for 2022, light vehicles

Vehicle type Euro 6¢

Petrol Car - - - 1% 6% 19% 13% 62% -

Diesel Car - - - 1% 5% 28% 17% 24% 24%

Petrol LGV - - 2% 6% 18% 14% 60% -
National | po el Loy - - | - 1% | 5% | 19% | 13% | 29% | 33%
average

Full Hybrid Petrol Car - - - 0% 1% 7% 6% 86% -

Plugin Hybrid Petrol Car - - - - - 2% 6% 93% -

Full Diesel Hybrid Car - - - - - 2% 3% 24% | 1%

Table 5-3: Fleet age splits for 2022, heavy vehicles

. . Euro V Euro V
vehICIe type Emm Euro I"

Rigid HGV 0% 0% 0% 1% 2% 2% 7% 88%
:a;irznzl Artic HGV 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 3% 96%
Vi
g Buses / Coaches 0% 0% 0% 4% 3% 4% 11% 7%
5.3.2 2028

As for 2022, National projections provided with the EFT were used as a data source for vehicle composition.
Table 5-4 and Table 5-5 present the derived fleet age split in 2028 for light and heavy vehicles, respectively.

Table 5-4: Fleet age splits for 2028, light vehicles

) . Euro | Euro | Euro Euro
vehICIe type mmmmm

National | Petrol Car <1% 3% 5% 92%
average | piesel Car - - - - <1% 6% 8% 16% | 69%

Page 309 Page | 15




Vehicle type Euro 6¢

Petrol LGV - - - <1% 1% 1% 97%

Diesel LGV - - - - <1% 4% 5% 13% | 78%
Full Hybrid Petrol Car - - - - - <1% 1% 8% 92%
Plugin Hybrid Petrol Car - - - - - <1% 1% 99% -
Full Diesel Hybrid Car - - - - - <1% 1% 8% 92%

Table 5-5: Fleet age splits for 2028, heavy vehicles

Pre- Euro V Euro V

Region Vehicle type Euro | Euro | Euroll | Eurolll | Euro IV EGR SCR Euro VI
Rigid HGV - - - - <1% <1% 1% 99%
National | Artic HGV - - - - <1% | <1% | <1% | 100%
average
Buses / Coaches - - - - <1% 1% 3% 96%

5.4 TIME-VARYING EMISSION FACTORS

The variation of traffic flow during the day has been taken into account by applying national average diurnal
profiles published by the Department for Transport® to the road emissions.

8 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/road-traffic-statistics-tra

Page 310 Page | 16



6. MODEL ADJUSTMENT AND VERIFICATION

Once the base year model has been developed it is verified against monitoring data and adjusted to ensure
the best possible fit between modelled and real-world concentrations, following the approach outlined in the
LAQM Technical Guidance. Following this guidance, the adjustment process is carried out for NOx (NO and
NOz2) as NO and NOz interconvert in the atmosphere following emission from vehicle exhausts in a non-linear
fashion.

The derived adjustment factor is then applied to road emissions in all modelled scenarios. Following this
adjustment, model verification is carried out by comparing the total predicted NO2 concentrations against the
measured NO2 concentrations.

A total of 7 monitoring locations located within the study area were used for model verification.

Following an initial model verification step, iterative improvements were made to the model to improve model
performance in areas where the model was not accurately predicting real-world concentrations. These
improvements included refinements to road geometry and street canyon locations in order to more closely
reflect real-world dispersion conditions.

6.1 MODEL CALIBRATION AND ADJUSTMENT

Figure 6-1 shows model performance at locations where measurements were collected in 2022.

Figure 6-1: Measured and modelled annual mean road NOx contributions at monitoring sites, 2022, pg.m-3

40

35

™
30

- N N
(&)] o [&)]

Modelled NO, (ug m
o

Monitored NO, (ug m-3)

A model adjustment factor was derived following the approach outlined in LAQM.TG (22). Following this
approach, an adjustment factor of 1.44 was used for annual mean NOx concentrations.

6.2 MODEL VERIFICATION

Figure 6-2 presents the model performance with respect to adjusted modelled NO2 at monitoring locations in
2022. If the model perfectly predicted concentrations at every monitoring location, all concentrations would lie
on the “y=x" trendline, plotted in black in the figure. Locations where the model prediction is within 10% of the
monitored concentration lie within the blue lines, and locations where the model prediction is within 25% of the
monitored concentration lie within the red lines on the figure.

The model performs within the 25% acceptable threshold for model performance across all monitoring
locations except for SW153, where the model overpredicts concentrations and therefore provides a
conservative estimate of potential exposure to poor air quality. SW153 is not located within either of the two
AQMAs.

Page 311 Page | 17



The model performs within the ideal 10% threshold across most sites, including at the locations of maximum
predicted concentrations across the two AQMAs. This gives confidence that the model is correctly predicting
worst-case human exposure across the two areas.

Model performance was evaluated using the Root Mean Square Error, following LAQM.TG (22). The RMSE
for this study is 3.5 yg.m3, within the 4 ug.m-=ideal threshold identified in the guidance, demonstrating that the
model performs well and lending confidence to model predictions of concentrations across the model domain.

Figure 6-2: Measured and modelled annual mean road NO2 contributions at monitoring sites, 2022, ug.m-3

45
40

35

m-3)
N w
[é)] o

Modelled NO, (ug
N
o

N
o

10

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40
Monitored NO, (ug m-3)

® NO2 trendline ~ -oeeeee 10% ==--- 25%

Page 312 Page | 18



7. RESULTS

The model described above was used to predict annual mean NO:2 concentrations at buildings within and
around the AQMAs at sensitive receptors and across a grid of receptors covering the domain described in
Section 3.2.

7.1 SITTINGBOURNE AQMA

Table 7-1 presents modelled annual mean NO2 concentrations in 2022 and 2028 at the sensitive receptors in
the Sittingbourne AQMA described in Section 4.3.

No location is predicted to exceed the Air Quality Objective for annual mean NO:2 concentrations in either
modelled baseline scenario. Furthermore, concentrations are more than 10% below the objective at all
receptors. The maximum predicted concentrations occur near junctions in Sittingbourne.

No exceedances of the objective are predicted to occur at any receptors in 2028, demonstrating that there is
substantial headroom to account for potential uncertainty in traffic flows and vehicle fleet composition in future
years. The effect of the increase in traffic flows along the road network is party balanced out by the projected
improvement in average emissions from vehicles as engine technology improves and older, more polluting
vehicles fall into disuse.

As a result, compliance is highly likely to be maintained in the future.

Table 7-1: Annual average NO:2 concentrations at sensitive receptors in the Sittingbourne AQMA, ug.m-3. For
comparison with the Air Quality Objective of 40 ug.m-3.

Annual Mean NO; (ug.m3)

Receptor ID Address

2022 Baseline 2028
1 151 East Street 26.2 26.9
2 153 East Street 25.4 25.8
3 157 East Street 25.7 25.9
4 155 East Street 25.5 25.8
5 159 East Street 25.7 25.9
6 161a East Street 26.0 26.2
7 163 East Street 26.1 26.4
8 165 East Street 26.1 26.3
9 167a East Street 26.3 26.5
10 169 East Street 27.0 27.3
11 171 East Street 27.0 27.3
12 Magic Wok 25.6 25.8
13 1 Canterbury Road 25.7 25.8
14 Adriana's Nails 29.7 30.1
15 Canterbury Court 29.7 30.2
16 7 Canterbury Road 29.6 30.1
17 132B East Street 31.0 31.6
18 130 East Street 30.5 311
19 128 East Street 304 31.0
20 126 East Street 30.6 31.2
21 124 East Street 30.5 31.1
22 122 East Street 25.0 25.0
23 120A East Street 24.4 24.5
24 118, Eastleigh House, East Street 243 243
25 116 East Street 24.0 24.1

Page 313 Page | 19



Annual Mean NO; (ug.m3)

Receptor ID Address

2022 Baseline 2028
26 114 East Street 24.0 241
27 112 East Street 24.0 241
28 110 East Street 245 24.8
29 108 East Street 14.8 14.5
30 106 East Street 14.7 14.3
31 104 East Street 15.6 15.5
32 Doves Funeral Directors 13.8 13.3

Figure 7-1 presents annual mean NO2 concentrations in the Sittingbourne AQMA in the 2028 scenario. Annual
average NO:2 concentrations (ng/m?3) are predicted to be more than 10% below the UK Air Quality Objective of
40 pg/m?3 at all locations of relevant exposure in the AQMA and across the rest of the road network in
Sittingbourne.

Figure 7-1: Predicted annual mean NO:2 concentrations, Sittingbourne, 2028, ug.m-

Legend
L7 sittingbourne AQMA

e — P e .. Annual Mean NO2 concentration (pg/m~3)
S e = <=16

, e —— /(I 16-20
= B  S— . Em20-24

s : B 24- 28

= Sl g [ 28 - 32
) - ‘ [ 32-36
I 36 - 40

i

0 25 50m ; o ) ;

Page 314 Page | 20



7.2 TEYNHAM AQMA

Table 7-2 presents modelled annual mean NO2 concentrations in 2022 and 2028 at the sensitive receptors in
the Teynham AQMA described in Section 4.3. Concentrations at all relevant receptors within the AQMA are
more than 10% below the Air Quality Objective for annual mean NO:2 concentrations.

As for the Sittingbourne AQMA, no exceedances of the objective are predicted to occur at any receptors in
2028, demonstrating that there is substantial headroom to account for potential uncertainty in traffic flows and
vehicle fleet composition in future years.

As a result, compliance is highly likely to be maintained in the future.

Table 7-2: Annual average NO:2 concentrations at sensitive receptors in the Teynham AQMA, ug.m-3. For
comparison with the Air Quality Objective of 40 ug.m-3.

Annual Mean NO; (ug.m-3)

Receptor ID Address

2022 Baseline 2028
33 LTR Supplies, London Road 26.0 26.6
34 Denture Centre, London Road 25.9 26.5
35 72 London Road 26.9 27.6
36 70 London Road 28.1 29.0
37 FJ Williams Joinery & Carpentry 26.2 26.9
38 68 London Road 25.9 26.6
39 Teynham C Chinese 25.6 26.2
40 The Greenstreet Pharmacy 26.3 27.0
41 103 London Road 26.0 26.7
42 101 London Road 25.7 26.4
43 99 London Road 259 26.6
44 97 London Road 255 26.1
45 95 London Road 26.1 26.8
46 93 London Road 25.8 26.5
47 91A London Road 25.6 26.3
48 91B London Road 26.1 26.8
49 89 London Road 26.5 27.2
50 87 London Road 26.6 27.3
51 85 London Road 25.2 25.9
52 83 London Road 25.8 26.5
53 81 London Road 26.0 26.7
55 79 London Road 26.1 26.8
56 77 London Road 26.1 26.8
57 75 London Road 25.9 26.6
58 42 London Road 24.9 255
59 44 London Road 24.9 25.6
60 46 London Road 24.9 255
61 48 London Road 24.7 25.3
62 50 London Road 25.1 25.8
63 52 London Road 25.3 26.0
64 54 London Road 24.8 254
65 54A London Road 24.9 25.5
66 56 London Road 25.0 25.6

Page 315 Page | 21



Figure 7-2 presents annual mean NO2z concentrations in the Teynham AQMA in the 2028 scenario. Annual
average NO:2 concentrations (ng/m?3) are predicted to be more than 10% below the UK Air Quality Objective of
40 ug/m?d at all locations of relevant exposure in Teynham.

Figure 7-2: Predicted annual mean NO2 concentrations, Teynham, 2028, ug.m-3

Legend 7/ 4
[_J Teynham AQMA
Annual Mean NO2 concentration (ug/m~#3)

<=16 / !
Il 16 - 20 ;
Bl 20-24 L
I 24 - 28 e,
I 28 - 32 e
[32-36 7 4
B 36 - 40 A
M > 40 Y

O e

0 25  50m

Page 316 Page | 22



8. SENSITIVITY TESTING

In order to quantify and reduce uncertainty around key model inputs, sensitivity testing was carried out to
assessment impact of:

a. The impact of a 2-year delay to fleet renewal in Swale relative to national projections. This
assumption reflects potentially reduced rates of purchase of new vehicles in 2020 and 2021.

b. The use of version 12 of the Emission Factor Toolkit, which was published after completion of
the modelling presented in this report.

The results of the sensitivity testing are presented below.

8.1 FLEET RENEWAL DELAY

The impact of slower than expected replacement of older vehicles in the fleet during 2020 and 2021 was
assessed by running the 2022 baseline model using the fleet for 2020 from the national projections published
by Defra. The fleet split for 2020 is presented in Tables 8-1 and 8-2 for light and heavy vehicles respectively.

Table 8-1: Fleet age splits for 2020, light vehicles

reniee type Eﬂmﬂﬂmm

Petrol Car

Diesel Car - - 0% 1% 9% 33% 19% 27% 8%

Petrol LGV - - 1% 4% 12% 27% 17% 44% -
National | piocel LGV - - 0% | 2% | 10% | 26% | 17% | 45% | -
average 5 > 5 . -

Full Hybrid Petrol Car - - - 0% 3% 12% | 09% | 76% -

Plugin Hybrid Petrol Car - - - - - 5% 17% | 79% -

Full Diesel Hybrid Car - - - - - 3% 6% 48% | 43%

Table 8-2: Fleet age splits for 2020, heavy vehicles

Euro Euro Euro Euro
el Vehicle type |v VEGR VSCR Vi

Rigid HGV 4% 78%
National average Artic HGV - - 0% 0% 1% 2% 7% 90%
Buses / Coaches - - 1% 7% 5% 6% 17% 64%

The results of the sensitivity test are presented in Table 8-3, which shows the maximum predicted
concentration at a sensitive receptor in each AQMA in the baseline and fleet delay scenarios. A 2-year delay
to fleet renewal is not predicted to lead to maximum predicted concentrations in either AQMA exceeding the
Air Quality Objective of 40 ug.m=.

Table 8-3: Maximum predicted concentrations at sensitive receptors in each AQMA in the 2022 baseline and
2-year fleet delay sensitivity test scenarios, ug.m-=

Maximum predicted annual mean NO, concentration across all
relevant receptors, ug.m3

2022 baseline H 2022 “2-year fleet delay” test
Sittingbourne 31.0 324
Teynham 281 30.0

Page 317 Page | 23



8.2 EMISSIONS FACTORS TOOLKIT VERSION 12

Following completion of the modelling process, a new version of the Emissions Factors Toolkits, version 12
(as opposed to version 11 which was used in the original modelling), was published by Defra and the devolved
administrations. This updated tool includes use of the COPERT v5.6 NOx and PM speed-based emissions
factors, updated from COPERT v5.3, as taken form the European Environmental Agency (EEA) emission
calculation tool.

An emissions sensitivity test was carried out to assess the impact of using these new factors in the 2028
scenario. Using the updated emissions factors in the EFT v12 was found to reduce predicted emissions across
major roads in 2028; as a result, the current assessment presents a worst-case assessment of concentrations
in the AQMAs in future years.

Page 318 Page | 24



9. CONCLUSIONS

Annual mean concentrations of NO2 measured by monitors in and around two Swale Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) for Teynham (AQMA 5) and East Street Sittingbourne (AQMA 3) have been consistently below
the government Air Quality Objective for five and four years, respectively. Defra have expressly indicated to
Swale that both AQMAs should begin the process of revocation in their feedback of the 2022 and 2023 Annual
Status Reports.

To ensure that any decisions are made on robust evidence, Swale continued to monitor air quality for an
additional year (2023) and commissioned Ricardo to carry out a Detailed Assessment of NO2 concentrations
in the AQMAs, considering the future committed developments that could impact air quality in these areas.

Modelling was carried out for two years:
1. a 2022 baseline, using traffic data provided by the Council, SWECO and national forecasts for the
vehicle fleet composition; and

2. a 2028 future scenario considering the impact of future committed developments that could adversely
impact concentrations in the AQMAs. This scenario was modelled assuming that all traffic generated
by each development would run through the two AQMAs.

Sensitivity testing was also carried out into the potential impact of reduced fleet turnover in Swale relative to
national projections.

The model accurately predicts concentrations at monitoring stations in the Swale AQMAs in 2022,
demonstrating that the model correctly represents real-world conditions.

The modelling undertaken through this study shows that:
e no location is predicted to exceed the Air Quality Objective for annual mean NO2 at any location of
relevant exposure in 2022.
e no locations are predicted to exceed the Air Quality Objective in 2028.
e adelay to fleet renewal rates will not jeopardise compliance in the AQMA.

Based on the data available, this Detailed Assessment indicates that the Sittingbourne and Teynham AQMAs
can be revoked without risk of future exceedances.

Page 319 Page | 25



T: +44 (0) 1235 75 3000

E: enquiry@ricardo.com

W: ee.ricardo.com

Page 320



Agenda Iltem 8

Environment & Climate Change Committee

Meeting Date 10 July 2025

Report Title Open Spaces Strategy Update

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and
Neighbourhoods

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure

Lead Officer Graeme Tuff, Greenspaces Manager

Classification Open

Recommendations 1. To note the update report

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 Following agreement by Policy and Resource Committee, the Council started work
last year on a strategy that encapsulates all the information required to enable the
Borough Council to make informed decisions on the provision, management and
development of the Borough’s Open Spaces. The previous strategy also included
a specific section on the provision and maintenance of children’s play areas
across the Borough. This report updates on that work to date.

1.2 The objective of this is to ensure the Borough Council is furnished with an
evidence base and resulting strategy document that is compliant with the National
Planning Policy Framework.

1.3 The Strategy is being developed with the assistance of independent consultants
Knight, Kavanagh & Page (KKP) and uses the recommended guidance and
methodology to ensure it provides robust evidence to support the Local Plan
process.

1.4 This update report considers the current position regarding the Open Spaces
Strategy and the different typologies, apart from Provision for Children and Young
People (Play Provision) which is considered by the Housing, Health and
Communities Committee.

2 Background

2.1 The new strategy is planned to meet the emerging Local Plan evidence timetable.
New updated National Planning Policy Framework and the associated standard
method for calculating housing need, has been incorporated to ensure that the
strategy will be compliant with this new guidance.

2.2  KKP have completed the initial audit having gathered evidence of existing
provision and have presented the initial report. However, with the unknown
spatial allocations resulting from the Highsted enquiry, it is proposed to pause the
second stage of the strategy development pending the outcome and clarity on

Page 321



where future housing development may be located and how much will be
required.

2.3  Atotal of 416 sites are identified and included in the evidence (includes play
areas). The table below provides a breakdown of these.

e Hectares are broadly in keeping with 2017 study.

e There is a noticeable difference in the 2025 current provision level for Parks &
Gardens and Natural & Semi-Natural Greenspace provision. This is due to Milton
Creek Country Park being included as a park in 2017 but now as a natural/semi-
natural greenspace and South Swale Nature Reserve was included as a Natural
& Semi-Natural Greenspace site but has now been removed.

Typology Number of | Hectares | Number of Hectares

sites 2017 2017 sites 2025 2025

Allotments 28 25 25 25

Amenity Greenspace 88 69 89 70

Cemeteries/Churchyards 23 25 30 27

Natural & Semi Natural 17 591 20 224

Greenspace

Parks and Gardens 28 191 26 133

2.4  Quantity Evaluation — The table below shows that due to population increases
since the last study, the current provision levels (hectares per 1000 population) have
decreased slightly e.g. hectares have stayed similar, but population has increased.

Typology 2017 2025
Allotments 0.18 0.16
Amenity greenspace 0.49 0.45
Natural and semi-natural 4.20 1.45
greenspace
Parks and gardens 1.36 0.86

Page 322



2.5

assessment (where applicable) for open spaces across Swale.

Quality Evaluation - The table below summarises the results of the quality

e There is generally positive quality of open space across all typologies. This is
reflected in over half (60%) of assessed sites scoring above their set threshold for

quality.

Typology Lowest | Average | Highest | Sites below | Sites above

score |score score typology typology
threshold threshold

Amenity greenspace 34% 53% 79% 17 25

Natural & semi- 40% 53% 74% 6 14

natural greenspace

Park and gardens 37% 56% 89% 8 18

2.6

Summary Findings by Typology

Parks & Gardens:

There are 26 sites identified as parks and gardens. An equivalent to 133
hectares.

Swale has a current provision level of 0.86 ha per 1,000 population. This is above
the Fields in Trust suggested standard of 0.80 ha per 1,000 population. The
Sheppey Analysis Area (1.72) is above this, with Faversham (0.47) and
Sittingbourne (0.50) both below.

Minor gaps in catchment mapping are highlighted. It is noted that other forms of
provision exist within these areas and may help/have an important role in
ensuring access to open space.

Quality and value are generally positive with high scoring sites such as Oare
Gunpowder Works, Faversham Recreation Ground and Bartons Point Coastal
Park highlighted. No significant quality/value concerns are identified.

Natural and Semi-Natural Greenspace:

There are 20 sites identified as natural greenspace. An equivalent to 224
hectares.

South Swale Nature Reserve, at 420 hectares, is omitted from the figures due to
its significant size. Beaches are also not included in terms of quantity.

Swale has a current provision level of 1.45 ha per 1,000 population. This is below
the Fields in Trust suggested standard of 1.80 ha per 1,000 population. If South
Swale Nature Reserve is included, a current provision level of 4.16 ha per 1,000
population is noted.

There are three designated Local Nature Reserves. Consequently, LNR provision
in Swale is sufficient against the cited Natural England standard.

Gaps in catchment mapping are highlighted. It is noted that other forms of
provision exist within these areas and may help/have an important role in
ensuring access to open space.

Page 323




e Quality and value are generally positive with high scoring sites such as Milton
Creek Country Park, Minster Cliffs and Thistle hill Community Woodland
highlighted. No significant quality/value concerns are identified.

Amenity Greenspace:

e There are 89 sites identified as amenity greenspace. An equivalent to 70
hectares.

e Swale has a current provision level of 0.45 ha per 1,000 population. This is below
the Fields in Trust suggested standard of 0.80 ha per 1,000 population.

e Minor gaps in catchment mapping are highlighted. It is noted that other forms of
provision exist within these areas and may help/have an important role in
ensuring access to open space remembering that all sites under 0.2 hectares
have not been included.

e Quality of assessed sites is mixed; however, value is generally positive. Lower
scoring sites tends to reflect a lack of ancillary facilities at a site.

Allotments

e There are 25 sites classified as allotments, equating to almost 25 hectares.

e Swale based on its current population (154,619) is below the NSALG standard.
Using this suggested standard, the minimum amount of allotment provision is 38
hectares. Existing provision of 25 hectares therefore does not meet this guideline.

¢ For allotments no quality/value assessments have taken place. Allotments are
often difficult to assess due to being accessible for plot members only. However,
allotments should generally be considered as highly valued as they are often
identified by the local community as important forms of open space provision.

Cemeteries

e There are 30 sites classified as cemeteries/churchyards, equating to over 27
hectares of provision in Swale. No site size threshold has been applied and as
such all known provision is included within the audit.

e No accessibility standard is set for this typology and there is no realistic
requirement to set such standards. Provision should be based on burial demand.

e For cemeteries no quality/value assessments have taken place. The role of
cemeteries is unique in comparison to other types of open space; one which is
difficult to assess in terms of quality and value.

Page 324



2.7  The provision standards used to determine deficiencies and surpluses for open
space are set in terms of quality, accessibility, and quantity. The table below sets
out the figures for existing quantity standards, current provision levels identified
and national benchmarks.

Typology Current National Previous
provision benchmarks | standards
(2025) provision

(2017)

Parks & gardens 0.86 0.80 1.36

Natural & semi-natural 1.45 1.80 4.20

greenspace?

Amenity greenspace 0.45 0.60 0.49

Allotment 0.16 0.25 0.18

4. 4.16 hectares per 1,000 population if South Swale National Reserve were included

The difference in previous standards for parks is due to Milton Creek Country Park
previously being classified as a park, but now as natural greenspace and in the Natural &
Semi-natural greenspace typology, South Swale National Nature Reserve being
removed in this study.

In summary, the following quantity standards are recommended based on current
provision levels and trying to achieve the national benchmark.

Typology Recommended Quantity Standard

Parks & gardens 0.86
Natural & semi-natural greenspace 1.80
Amenity greenspace 0.60
Allotment 0.25

2.8  Report Recommendations - The following provides a summary of what the
Consultants feel should be seeking to achieve to help address the issues
identified on the key findings and through the application of the standards. These
need to be further developed over the next few months with input from Swale
Officers and Members, followed by public consultation.

1. Sites helping, or with the potential to help, serve areas identified as having gaps
in catchment mapping should be prioritised as opportunities for enhancement.

2. Ensure low quality/value sites helping to serve potential gaps in accessibility
catchments are prioritised for enhancement.

Page 325



2.9

2.10

2.11

3.1

4.1

4.2

5.1

Review areas with sufficient provision in open space and consider how they may
be able to meet other areas of need.

. Keep data, reports and supporting evidence base up to date to reflect changes.

Recommended standards to inform future growth requirements.

As soon as the Highsted Park Planning Enquiry is complete and a decision made
on future location of development allocations, the second stage of the process
can be developed, essentially expanding upon Recommendation 5 to produce the
actual strategy.

The strategy document will summarise some of the existing elements such as
fully setting the standards, identified shortfalls etc at the front end. It will also
explore the Open Space requirements based on housing numbers and the
allocation locations, providing what the provision requirement is for each and
exploring if there any potential options around offsite contributions/enhancements
(if for example there is an existing site/shortfall in the area).

This update report does not include anything on play areas as that function
remains the responsibility of Housing, Health and Community Committee. Given

this and the differences between play area typology and open spaces, a separate
play area strategy is being developed.

Proposals
To note the update report.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

Failure to adopt an Open Spaces Strategy is not a feasible option given the
evidence base that this robust assessment will give to the developing Local Plan.

Proceed with the next stage without considering the implications of Highsted Park
Planning Enquiry. This is not recommended as it will mean several assumptions

on location and demand for open spaces, which may in turn affect the strategies
compliance with the NPPF.

Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

Consultation will be undertaken with stakeholders and community following
approval of the initial draft of the full strategy.

Page 326



6 Implications

Issue

Implications

Corporate Plan

Community: To enable our residents to live, work and enjoy their
leisure time safely in our borough and to support community
resilience.

Environment: To provide a cleaner, healthier, more sustainable
and enjoyable environment and to prepare our Borough for the
challenges ahead.

Financial,
Resource and
Property

This Strategy will ensure that the Council is providing cost-effective
services and are making best use of the appropriate resources and

property.

By adopting a robust Open Spaces Strategy, the authority will
stand a better chance of being successful with external grants and
developer contributions to assist in delivery of the action plan.

At this stage, no additional costs to the Council have been
identified. However, there may be requests for contributory funding
for individual projects as they are developed, and which will go
through the usual budget request process.

Legal, Statutory
and Procurement

The Strategy will underpin key sections of the Local Plan relating
to Open Space. This is a required element of the Local Plan
process, providing a robust evidence base for decisions. It will
therefore assist in the Planning Inspectorate process.

By providing a robust strategy that is compliant with National
Planning Policy Framework, the Council will be better placed to
defend any challenges which may be presented by developers.

Crime and
Disorder

The provision and good management of a broad range of playing
pitches and changing rooms can make a positive contribution to
managing issues of crime and disorder by providing diversionary
activities and encouraging community cohesion.

Environment and
Climate/Ecological

The strategy will guide and influence the future provision and
management of valuable open space facilities and promote

Emergency sensitive quality management to support biodiversity. In addition, it
has a role supporting sustainable urban drainage and carbon
reduction through the provision of grassland and planting.

Health and By providing and supporting a broad range of quality open space

Wellbeing and facilities across Swale, there will be greater opportunities for

people to participate in healthy activities.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and

None identified

Page 327




Vulnerable Adults

Risk Management | Without a strategy that is compliant, the Borough will be at risk of
and Health and not having the Local Plan agreed, missing funding opportunities,
Safety losing challenges to planning applications by developers, and not
providing high quality facilities for its residents.

By maintaining and inspecting its own facilities to agreed
standards, the Council will ensure their facilities are safe and fit for

purpose.
Equality and Issues of equal opportunity will be addressed through applications
Diversity for any changes to existing or new developments, ensuring that all

open space and such facilities are compliant and fit for purpose.

Privacy and Data | None identified
Protection

7 Appendices
7.1  None.

8 Background Documents

8.1 None.

Page 328




Agenda Item 9

Environmental Services & Climate Change Committee

Meeting Date 10 July 2025

Report Title Grounds Maintenance Contract Savings

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and

Neighbourhoods

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure

Lead Officer Rob Lucas, Greenspace Technical Officer

Classification Open

Recommendations 1. That the Committee approves the proposed savings
and extension of the current Grounds Maintenance
Contract between 14 January 2027 and 14 January
2029.

1

11

1.2

1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

As part of the Council’s medium term financial planning, the Grounds
Maintenance Contract (GMC) was identified for sustained reduction to annual
costs over the remaining contract period.

To achieve the proposals outlined below, the incumbent Contractor (Contractor)
was involved in regular meetings where the costs savings and subsequent
service implications were discussed and agreed.

Whist undertaking the negotiations it became clear that to achieve the targets
within the proposal, the Council needs to activate the contract extension allowing
the GMC to run until 14™ January 2029.

Background

The GMC was previously tendered in 2021, covering the period January 2022 to
January 2027. It provides for the maintenance of public open space including
grass, facilities, hard landscape maintenance, litter/fly tip clearance, leaf
clearance, shrub/herbaceous/rose bed and hedge maintenance, football/rugby
pitch/tennis court and cemetery maintenance and management and play area
maintenance. The 2025/26 value of the GMC is £1,768,443.13.

A reduction in cost is only possible by varying the GMC and, ultimately, by
reducing the specification of works that are required. Discussions with the
Contractor have produced a set of options for Members to consider which would
deliver some of the targeted savings. These include;

Reduce the ‘amenity grass cutting’ specification from a ‘performance’ based
criteria (removing the height tolerances outlined in clause 1.3.3 of the current
contract specification) of approximately fifteen to sixteen times per year, to a
‘frequency’ based criteria with the contract crews visiting each site eight times per

Page 329




2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.7

3.1

year. There are some amenity grass areas currently within the bill of quantities
that are either high profile and/or service dependent (play areas as an example)
which will need to continue on a ‘performance’ basis — these will be added to the
‘general amenity’ route and round list. As with all the proposed changes, a
schedule will be agreed between the principal client officer and the GMC
manager.

Reduce the ‘leaf collection’ specification from a ‘performance’ based criteria
(removing the time frames outlined in clause 5.2 of the current contract
specification) of approximately five to six times per year, to a ‘frequency’ based
criteria with the contract crews visiting all currently listed areas three times per
year.

Amend the current ‘shrub/herbaceous/rose bed” maintenance specification from
categorised zones with varying visit schedules to one list with a frequency visit
rate of six times per year.

Remove all ‘annual bedding’ (including planted graves) from the GMC. This
would mean that these areas reverted to either amenity grass and/or shrub bed at
a cost to the Council. Most planted grave agreements are historical, with most
plots no longer visited or supported by family members. They hold minimal
financial value, so any claim against the change in management is unlikely to
adversely affect existing budgets.

Together, these changes will deliver an annual £75,000 saving against the
existing budget (the value reducing to £1,693,443.13 based on the 25/26 value).
Whilst a reduced level of service will undoubtedly change the aesthetic of the
Borough, the reductions are considered to be feasible when weighed against the
financial challenges facing the Council.

In order to realise the savings, there needs to be restructuring of the workforce
and greater payback periods on the equipment, therefore, it is proposed that the
Council extend the GMC by the 2 years identified within it, meaning that the
expiry date will be moved to from 14" January 2027 to 14" January 2029.
Technically this request can only be made in the final year of the contract.
However, agreement would allow the savings to continue and safeguard the
Council against current market financial pressures.

Proposals

That the Committee approves the proposed savings and extension of the current
GMC between 14 January 2027 and 14 January 2029.

Page 330



4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

6

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

To not extend the GMC or agree to the reduction in specification. This would
mean that the savings would not be possible, and alternative savings would be
needed to meet the medium-term financial plan.

An alternative option of extending the GMC for a further period of 5 years was
investigated along with additional cuts to service but this is not considered to be
possible due the timeframes for local government reorganisation,
legal/procurement implications (that length of extension was not within the
original tender) and would result in larger service reductions that would be
detrimental to the Borough.

Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

The proposal, and others considered at the time but subsequently deemed not
possible, were fully discussed and implications explained to our term contractor.

The proposal has been reviewed at EMT and informal administration meetings.

Implications

Issue Implications

Corporate Plan The current contractor has a proven track record of meeting good

quality standards and provides good value for money contributing
towards all the corporate priorities as it ensures that the grounds
maintenance activities are completed to the agreed specification
with consideration to the environmental impacts.

Financial, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 outlines
Resource and categories of information that can be considered exempt from
Property public access during local authority meetings. These exemptions

are in place to protect sensitive information, including details about
individuals, financial affairs, legal proceedings, and ongoing
investigations. The breakdown of the figures mentioned in this
open report can be found in the exempt Appendix | for this report.

Legal, Statutory As the GMC has already been awarded it meets the Council/Mid
and Procurement | Kent Legal Services and Finance current standard Terms and

Conditions. Both Mid Kent Legal Services and the Council’s
procurement leads were consulted and have confirmed the
proposals sit within the current standard Terms and Conditions.

Page 331




There are no TUPE implications within the proposal, although
there would be some redundancy costs which will be borne by the
contractor within the financial confines of the proposal.

Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 — the social values will
remain the same as per the contractor’s initial tender submission.

The National Procurement Policy Statement considerations will
remain the same as per the contractor’s initial tender submission.

Crime and
Disorder

There are no crime and disorder implications within this proposal.

Environment and
Climate/Ecological
Emergency

The use of approved and certificated chemical controls will be
increased but will be capped to no more than one hundred litres
(approximately eighty litres used in 2024 for all contract related
works) per annum. Most certificated chemical control products
have recently received renewed licenses for production and use
with many recent studies showing their use safer than other control
methods such as steam and foam applications (destroys all living
organisms, including beneficial bacteria, insects and weed seeds)
and cultural controls (recorded loss of time for injury and long-
standing physical damage to operatives involved within the
horticultural industry).

Health and
Wellbeing

The proposal would not incur any additional health and wellbeing
implications. All current Contractor health and wellbeing is
monitored via their policies and procedures which are audited
annually by both Council Officers and external awarding bodies.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

The proposal would not alter the safeguarding protocols
undertaken by the Contractor which are audited annually by both
Council Officers and external awarding bodies.

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

The proposal would not alter the risk management and H&S
protocols undertaken by the Contractor which are audited annually
by both Council Officers and external awarding bodies.

Equality and
Diversity

The proposal would not alter the equality and diversity protocols
undertaken by the Contractor which are audited annually by both
Council Officers and external awarding bodies.

Privacy and Data
Protection

The proposal would not alter the privacy and data protection
protocols undertaken by the Contractor which are audited annually
by both Council Officers and external awarding bodies.

Page 332




7.1

8.1

Appendices
Exempt Appendix 1 Implications - Financial, Resources and Property.
Background Documents

Not applicable

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 10

Environmental Services and Climate Change

Committee

Meeting Date 10t July 2025

Report Title Public Conveniences Review — Business Case and
Consultation Launch

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and
Neighbourhoods

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure (for
service provision)
Joanne Johnson, Head of Place (for property assets)

Lead Officer Andre Bowen, Service Improvement & Project Manager

Classification Open

Recommendations _ _ : : :
1. To consult with residents on matching the service with

the resources in the medium-term financial plan by:
a) The closure of 3 public conveniences

b) Exploring and then as appropriate undertaking formal
negotiations to transfer 7 public conveniences to
Town and Parish Councils or other appropriate local
organisations;

o Oare Gunpowder Works Visitors Centre

Central Car Park

Rose Street

Beachfields

Leysdown Beach Services

The Spinney

Queenborough Park

O O O O O O

c) Introducing a Community Toilet Scheme

2. Retender for 26/27 onwards for the remaining 6 public
conveniences with the ability to add additional sites
subject the scenarios in 2.7.

3. That officers consider opportunities to improve the
condition of the remaining public conveniences, while
improving energy and water efficiency where applicable.

Page 335



11

1.2

1.3

Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

On 17th January 2024 the Environment and Leisure Committee considered a
report on the Procurement of Minor Maintenance and Cleansing of Public
Conveniences Service. The purpose of the report was to award the service
contract, and a contractor was appointed on a 1 + 1 basis from 15t April 2024.

For 25/26, officers commissioned the +1 option available within the tender. The
costs were in excess of budget ¢.£196k, due to both contract inflation and to the
application of a further £100k budget reduction, as proposed by Finance Sub in
2023. This was corrected in the 25/26 budget setting but with the intention of
conducting a full review during 25/26 to achieve the savings required in future
years.

This report and the accompanying appendices set out the details of the full review
and the formulation of the recommendations.

2 Background

2.1

2.2

2.3

Swale Borough Council currently maintains 16 public conveniences for use by the
general public free of charge. The majority of public conveniences are open
between 07.00 and 19.00 Mon — Sun, with some facilities having seasonal
changes. There are two public conveniences which are currently closed due to
building structural issues and vandalism. The full list of public conveniences is as
follows (Map of locations in Appendix II):

» The Forum, Sittingbourne

* Library Car Park, Sittingbourne

* Rose Street, Sheerness

*» Central Car Park, Faversham

» Leysdown Beach Services, Leysdown

* Minster Leas, Minster

» Faversham Recreation Ground, Faversham

* Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis (temporarily closed)

* Queenborough Park, Queenborough

* Bartons Point, Minster

* The White House, Minster (temporarily closed)

» Oare Gunpowder Works Visitors Centre, Faversham

* The Spinney, Leysdown

* King George V Playing Field, Sittingbourne

* Milton Creek Country Park, Sittingbourne

» Beachfields, Sheerness

There are two additional toilet block buildings that the Council owns but have
been permanently closed for some time (Eastchurch and Rushenden). The
intention is not to reopen these and to dispose or demolish the buildings.

The Council recognises the key role that toilet facilities play in the community.
They encourage visits to the town centre, help enhance health and wellbeing and

2
Page 336



2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3

3.1.

support our vulnerable residents as we are aware that many residents consider
the availability of toilets when choosing to visit areas.

However, there has not been a major review of provision for a long time, and we
need to ensure the service remains fit for purpose. The Council has therefore
undertaken a full review of public toilet provision to determine the future of each
facility. This has involved looking at usage data, proximity to other facilities,
condition of the facilities and interest of town and parish councils in operating the
facilities.

A comparative analysis of the financial and non-financial costs and benefits
associated with each option shown in the proposal section below, has been
considered in detailed Business Case at Appendix | and Toilet Profiles at
Appendix Il.

Further work has been undertaken to look how the service should be delivered
for any sites that would remain the responsibility of the Council. This included
looking at in-house and contracted out operating models (Appendix V).

Some of the proposals are still subject to agreement such as the transfers to
town and parish councils. Note all transfers will be in line with the recently agreed
Disposals and Community Asset Transfer Policies. If transfer negotiations with
those that have initially showed interest are not successful, further toilet closures
will be required to meet the budget. These will use the same criteria for this
report’s closure recommendations.

Whilst the report makes recommendations, it is for the Committee to debate the
pros and cons of each recommendation. Furthermore, it is vital that the views of
residents are considered through a stage of public consultation once the
committee has come to an initial position. We therefore plan to undertake a
public consultation following this committee.

Considering the impact that closures may have on some residents, the review
also considered alternative provision options. Other local Councils operate
Community Toilet Schemes. Here, the Council promotes local businesses that
allow use of their toilet facilities regardless of whether you are a customer. This
has benefits both for the business and local residents. To ensure the scheme
remains active, Officers will regularly monitor participating businesses so that the
information available to the public is kept up-to-date. Appendix Il looks at this in
more detail.

Proposals

To consult with residents on matching the service with the resources in the
medium-term financial plan by:

a) The closure of 3 public conveniences

Page 337



3.2.

3.3.

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

b) Exploring and then as appropriate undertaking formal negotiations to
transfer 7 public conveniences to Town and Parish Councils or other
appropriate local organisations;

o Oare Gunpowder Works Visitors Centre,

Central Car Park,

Rose Street,

Beachfields,

Leysdown Beach Services,

The Spinney

Queenborough Park

O O O O O O

C) Introducing a Community Toilet Scheme

Retender for 26/27 onwards for the remaining 6 public conveniences with the
ability to add additional sites subject the scenarios in 2.7.

That officers consider opportunities to improve the condition of the remaining
public conveniences, while improving energy and water efficiency where
applicable.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

The least favourable option of ‘do nothing’ and continuing with the current number
of sites and method of operation was rejected due to financial constraints.
Additionally, the overall condition of the public convenience stock means that
there would be considerable capital costs for urgent and non-urgent
repairs/improvements. The maintenance costs for existing public conveniences
between 2023 and 2032 are projected to be £1.5 million.

An insourcing option has been considered in Appendix IV. This option offers the
least amount of savings. However, the risks introduced from insourcing
operations are considered to outweigh the possible savings.

A charging model was also explored in Appendix V. While charging has an
opportunity to generate a revenue, it is only suitable where there is already a high
tourist footfall and the facilities are in excellent condition.

Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

Officers from across the Council which includes representatives from the Property
Team, Contract Management and Legal have reviewed the public convenience
provision provided by the Council and proposed the recommendations.

Parish and Town Councils were contacted about the review of public

conveniences and asked to share their views including whether they would be
interested in taking over responsibility. Collectively, there are 7 public

Page 338



conveniences that Parish and Town Councils could take on management
responsibilities for, as seen in Appendix VI.

5.3  Where there were possible closures of public conveniences, local businesses
were asked if they would consider opening their facilities to the public. A total of 6
businesses expressed an interest as shown in Appendix VII.

5.4  This reports proposes consulting members of the public regarding the closure of
some public conveniences. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been
completed to show how the council has had due regard to the public sector
equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making, as seen in Appendix VIII.
This will also be updated following public consultation.

6 Implications

Issue Implications

Corporate Plan The agreed way forward will support several Corporate Plan
objectives. These include ‘Running the Council’ by working within
our resources, and delivering in a transparent and efficient way.
The ‘Environment’ objective is supported by reducing the
environmental impact on the air and treated water wastage. While
the ‘Economy’ objective is supported through working with
businesses to increase customer footfall and free facilities for local
people.

Financial, The financial impacts of each option will vary. The ‘do nothing’

Resource and option would create no savings and the costs would increase each

Property year with inflation.

For 25/26, officers commissioned the +1 option available within the
tender. The costs were in excess of budget c.£196k, due to both
contract inflation and to the application of a further £100k budget
reduction in 2023. The recommended mitigation for this is to close
some facilities on a permanent basis (including the removal of
those closed at Eastchurch and Rushenden), which would deliver
the savings proposed in the medium-term financial plan. Full
financial details are included in Appendix I: Business Case.

Town and Parish Councils are able to raise funds through a
"precept,” which is a charge levied on residents' Council Tax bills
in order to fund and improve a range of local services and
amenities, like parks, community centres, and public toilets.
Transferring the assets to Town or Parish Councils may likely
require a public convenience dowry payment to take on the assets
for a 1-year period after transfer, to cover maintenance liabilities /
consumables / legal fees.

Page 339




Research from other Boroughs, shows that Community toilet
scheme partners would require a small fee to retain interest and
protect provision for residents.

A ring-fenced allocation for toilet improvements has been made in
the UK Shared Prosperity Fund grant for 25/26 totalling £40,000.

Legal, Statutory
and Procurement

There is no statutory requirement for the Council to provide public
conveniences, however we recognise the role they play in the
community.

Transferring the assets to Town or Parish Councils and
‘Community toilet’ agreements would require Legal input. The
timescale for completing the asset transfers ahead of 315t March
2026 will prove challenging. If this is the case, we will need to use
the current tender to allow service to continue at these sites until
transfer is complete.

Crime and
Disorder

Public conveniences are partly attended where there is a higher
risk of crime / vandalism if unattended. Future investment needs to
‘design out’ problems. Evidence of this can be seen in recent new
build toilet provision.

Environment and
Climate/Ecological

The closure of several public conveniences reduces the impact of
water wastage and emissions from Council and Contractor

Emergency operations. Any investment plan should look at reducing emissions
from carbon reduction mechanisms such as LED lighting, timed
lighting, reduced water usage etc.

Health and The provision of public conveniences can bring health and

Wellbeing wellbeing benefits to members of the public. Residents with health

issues may rely on public toilets when making decisions to visit
local areas.

Safeguarding of
Children, Young
People and
Vulnerable Adults

We recognise that toilet provision is important to some vulnerable
residents. Public conveniences may be particularly beneficial for
older people, those with disabilities, pregnant women and children.

New facilities consider the implications of communal toilets and
use singular cubicles viewed directly from the outside.

Risk Management
and Health and
Safety

There are financial and legal risks associated with asset transfers
and the community toilet scheme, as outlined in the report.
However, expert advice has been sought from the Head of Finance
and the Head of Legal to address these concerns.

There is a risk of reputational damage through closure of facilities.
Residents will be consulted on the proposed changes, efforts will
be made to explain the decision clearly and in future
signage/website information to help direct residents and visitors to
our facilities.

Page 340




There is risk of reputational damage if ‘community toilet’ scheme
fails to meet commitments. Through regular inspections, legal
agreements and intensive promotion, these risks are minimised.

There are risks of vandalism from a reduced service or removed
service. Closed public toilets will be secured / declared as a
surplus / disposed of appropriately in line with the agreed
Disposals / Community Asset Transfer Policies.

Equality and
Diversity

Closure or reduced provision may impact particular groups more
than others as identified in the Equalities Impact Assessment,
which will be revised after a public consultation.

Privacy and Data
Protection

None.

Appendices

Appendix |: Business Case

Appendix II: Public Convenience Profiles

Appendix lll: Community Toilet Scheme Report

Appendix IV: Insourcing Report

Appendix V: Charging Model Report

Appendix VI: Parish Council Responses

Appendix VII: Local Businesses Interested in Community Toilet Scheme
Appendix VIII: Equality Impact Assessment

Appendix IX - Public Toilet Facilities Consultation Printable

Background Papers

None.

Page 341




This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC
CONVENIENCE
PROFILES

January 2025




CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ...t e e e e e e e e e e e 3
THE CURRENT SITUATION ...t e e 4
SUMMARY OF PROFILE STRUCTURE .......cooiiiiie e 5
PUBLIC CONVENIENCE PROFILES......cccooi i 6
Library Car Park, Sittingbourne ..............ccooiiiiii e 6
The Forum, Sittingbourne ..............ooiiiiii e, 7
Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis...........ooooiiiiiiiiii e, 8
Milton Creek Country Park, Sittingbourne .............ccccoooiiiiiii i, 9
King George V Playing Field, Sittingbourne ................cccoooiiiiiiinnnn. 10
Oare Gunpowder Works Visitors Centre, Faversham...................ccc......... 11
Central Car Park, Faversham.........coooiiiii e 12
Faversham Recreation Ground, Faversham ................cccooooiin, 13
Queenborough Park, Queenborough ...........cccooveiiiiiiiiiiii e 14
ROSE Street, SNEEINESS ... oo 15
BeachfieldS, ShEEINESS ......coeoeiieeeee e 16
Bartons Point, MINSIE........ou i 17
MiINSter Leas, MINSIEN........ou e e 18
The White HOUSE, MINSTEr.... ..o 19
Leysdown Beach Services, Leysdown ..., 20
The Spinney, LeySdOWN ... 21
T8 ] 0 4 F= T YA 1= 1 o] = 22

Page 344
Swale Borough Council



INTRODUCTION

This report outlines various public conveniences maintained by Swale
Borough Council. Each public convenience is objectively compared with each
other using a variety of pertinent factors. This facilitates the formation of a fair

and objective opinion.

oolng

High Halstow N s
)/ Stoke > Sﬁ"
Y (3R
H Stoke Oorze West Minster
Minster.
Medway (B) st \
00 St Slede Ooze SN u&
Vierburgh e OO 2 Queenborough
Pt Eastchurch Warden
ower,Upnor Bishop kit 1)
Saltin L\\ymnAon 3
o comenn >
& 8or Ham Gre
i ¢ \
“hatham < - T Hamlet o 1
S b Lower Twydall twade Hellness
e < 8 Lower 7
{ o : WigdmiltHill— Hatstow 4 e opRasty s
Gillingham f itstable—77""
Hale Rain Mo, Rraloh Howe Glee The 4
Stfftamy, ‘,/ AR Hioree Sands south'Street =9
Ve Bob::mg , A Conyer _ ip L~ ese—YY, [7]]
artip —_ ' Swale District (B)
' Smm&oume e 7
. - . . Yorkletts
R, N Danaway 2 Luddenham ;
VL ¢ Borden Radfield \
BréGhurst . A Graveniey
V4 < Stockbury A ur.Oak . -~
e nela 2 Highsted Lewson Favek o S S
oty Sole Scrageed Oak & ~, g Sor . ,-Va:{ﬂam / Tyle
. ~ Lynsted ) 9 S Hernhill Blean Hill
Bredgar. Dsprng -l
\ Sou N grodset 1 3
- — T t— t
F B 4 Hazel Street Emigttwood Painter's r s Rough i
1\ ) Boxley — A Ml ——— ey Forstal Dunkirk Common
\ Frininghat ‘ y £
e
¥ _ Détling \ I A : ~Qantqm
o JorthyS S 7
H Wormshill Torry Doddington 2
St Hill Park futl q “Rhode Chartham e
astling Sheldwich Selling Hatch ety
ETH é Lees 7 \
Aaidstone™sa, - |
"Bearsted -\ Hollingbourne Old Wives N Chartham
3 Throwley Lees N
Forstal
e S #fttenden A
= H A Chilham#®”
Maidstone District ( s o stre
Three Tees Leeds ~
Hargietsham 0 3
e . Lenhams Jpper Chilmans
Logse -3t
Lr::sl:y \ { ~ 2 Molash Dovy Petham
Kingswood — :
Chart Sutton | e Platt's Heath oy Stockers Head. _/Challacky Godmersham
i LR = -
) G = Ashford District (B) :
- :Sutton Ulcombe ~ 20NE. 3 RAiftiAn N

Figure 1. Swale Borough Council Public Conveniences

Swale Borough Council




THE CURRENT SITUATION

Swale Borough Council currently maintains 16 public conveniences for use
by the general public free of charge. The majority of public conveniences are
open between 07.00 and 19.00 Mon - Sun, with some facilities having
seasonal changes.

Compared with other neighbouring unitary and borough councils, Swale is the
second smallest in size and has the most council maintained toilets. Despite
this Swale Borough Council has the second lowest amount of toilets available
for members of the public compared with neighbouring unitary and borough
councils.

Page 346
Swale Borough Council



SUMMARY OF PROFILE STRUCTURE

The profile structures used throughout this report presents each public
convenience objectively outlining each of their merits and shortcomings to
help determine which public conveniences maximise value for money.

Each public convenience profile contains;

9 Address

A\l Picture of site

Ward
Parish / Town
Average daily visitors (based on 2018 and 2024 data collected)

Number of ASB reports (based on reports in 23/24)

Condition (based on condition survey in 2023 and recent officer
inspection)

Annual costs (adjusted for inflation)

Cost per user (adjusted for inflation)

®
/AN

Accessible / €2 Baby changing

Opening hours

It is important to note that there are also several more subjective aspects of
public conveniences relevant to respective geographic locations such as;

» Enhanced Community Well-being

» Improved Public Health-

» Boost to Local Economy

» Enhanced Visitor Experience

» Support for Outdoor Activities

» Civic Pride

Page 347
Swale Borough Council



PUBLIC CONVENIENCE PROFILES

Library Car Park, Slttlngbourne
N "3‘1 - ; '.' h

N
-

*"

9 Central Avenue, ME10 4BX m Non-Civil Parish

Address

UIJQJ Homewood E= YELLOW
Ward Condition
¥ ®
¥ 403 3
Average Number
daily of ASB
visitors reports

3

£31,562.20 £0.84
Annual Cost per
costs user
o @® Accessible 07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
& /A Baby changing ° Saturday and 09.00 - 18.00
¢ opening ON Sunday and Bank

rows Holidays

Page 348
Swale Borough Council



The Forum, Sittingbourne

¢

Address

I
Ward
W
h ¢

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

&

Page 349
Swale Borough Council

High Street, ME10 3DL

Chalkwell

97

£30,635.43

® Accessible

/A :
Q) Baby changing

m Non-Civil Parish

Parish /
Town

g
1]
[T T 1]
LT
[T T T]

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

YELLOW

W £0.86

Cost per
user

Opening
hours

07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Saturday and  closed
Sundays



9 High Street, ME10 2AN m Non-Civil Parish
Address Parish /
Town
9 --‘
m,L] Milton Regis == REB
Ward Condition
o ®
¥ 43
Average Number
daily of ASB
visitors reports
£13,438.77 /‘/'||| £2.83
Annual Cost per
costs user
% ©
_ 07.00 - 18.00 Monday -
(@ Accessible cprn Sunday

Page 350
Swale Borough Council



45 wr
< L T ' Y (A ',l o
A

" e

9 Saffron Way, ME10 2EX

Address

mi] Milton Regis
Ward

()]

Y

74*

Average
daily
visitors

£17,954.37

Annual
costs

®
& Accessible

*Assumed average daily visitors

Page 351
Swale Borough Council

m Non-Civil Parish

Parish /
Town

-

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

y::

Cost per
user

Opening
hours

0

£0.66

Milton Creek Country Park, Sittingbourne

07.00 - 16.00 Monday -
Sunday between October
and 31st March 07.00 -

19.00 1
September

April

30



Address

Average
daily
visitors

Page 352
Swale Borough Council

Park Avenue, ME10 1QX

Woodstock

109

£17,792.08

King George V Playing Field, Sittingurne

m Non-Civil Parish

Parish /
Town

2

=== YELLOW

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

W £0.45

Cost per
user

° 07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Sunday

Opening
hours



Oare Gunpowder Works Visitors Centre,
Faversham

o

30 S N

9 %%ngwood Road, ME13 m Eaversham
Address P.?g:; /
9 --‘
I S5 VELLOW
Ward Condition
v ©®
¥ 1
Average Number
daily of ASB
visitors reports
£7,504.36 W £1.47
Annual Cost per
costs user
%; Saturdays, Sundays and
L Accessible Bank Holidays 10.00 -
%once16.00

Swale Borough Council



Central Car Park, Faversham
" o’ '"'. 1‘,‘$"~. t'. .‘ :

9 Cross Lane, ME13 8PN m Faversham
Address P?gf,ﬂ !

9 --'
U] Abbey == vELLOW

Ward Condition

) ®
A\le 265 Number

dailyg of ASB

visitors reports

£58,357.74 W £0.60

Annual Cost per

costs user
g; A Accessible ° 07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
@ g9 Babychanging Saturday and 09.00 - 18.00

Opening  on Sunday and Bank Hols

hours

Page 354
Swale Borough Council



Faversham Recreatlon Ground, Faversham

¢

Address

1

<s:

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

&

Page 355
Swale Borough Council

Park Road, ME13 8ES

Abbey

26

£26,230.22

. Accessible
(, Baby changing

m Faversham

Parish /
Town

-
-——
T T 1]
== GREEN

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

W £2.76

Cost per
user

07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Sunday

Opening
hours



Que_enborough Park, Queenborough
| :

9 High Street, ME11 5AG

Address

Average
daily
visitors

‘Je -
===
N

Annual
costs

&

Page 356
Swale Borough Council

Queenborough and Halfway

28

£30,421.38

Accessible

Wyl

y 4
7 lf _‘

\‘U‘

-

B

m Queenborough

Parish /
Town

L 2

S VELLOW

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports
W £2.97
Cost per
07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Opening Sunday

hours



Rose Street, ern

¢

Address

I
Ward
()]
Y

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

&

Page 357
Swale Borough Council

€SS

i,

Wood Street, ME12 1UA m Sheerness

Parish /
Town

2

Sheerness - YELLOW

Condition

117 @

Number
of ASB
reports

£49,813.30 W £1.17

Cost per
user

07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
o Saturday and 09.00 - 18.00

opening  ON Sunday and Bank
hous Holidays

Accessible



Beachfields, Sheerness

¢

Address
I
Ward
()]
b ¢

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

&

Royal Road, ME12 1AY m Sheerness
onn
--‘

Sheerness m— -
Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

74*

£23,971.29 W £0.89

Cost per
user

° 07.00 - 19.00 Monday -

Accessible sund
Opening un ay

hours

*Assumed average daily visitors

Swale Borough Council



Bartons Point, Minster

Address

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

&

Page 359
Swale Borough Council

Marine Parade, ME12 2BX

Sheerness

25

£50,507.61

Accessible

m Minster-on-sea

Parish /
Town

4
1

Condition

© .

Number
of ASB
reports

W £5.53

Cost per
user

07.00 - 16.00 Monday -

° Sunday between October
and 31t March. 07.00 -

Opening  19:00 1 April - 30
September.



Minster Leas, Minster

9 Minster Beach Path, ME12

2NJ

Address

m)v.] Minster Cliffs

¥ 49

Average
daily
visitors

£21,986.65

®
& Accessible

Page 360
Swale Borough Council

m Minster-on-sea

Parish /
Town

Condition

O .

Number
of ASB
reports

3

£1.23

Cost per
user

07.00 - 16:30 Monday -

Sunday between October

and 31st March 07.00 -

Opening  19.00 1 April - 30
September



The White House, Minster

¢

Address

I
()]
Y

Average
daily
visitors

Annual
costs

e

Page 361
Swale Borough Council

.

&3

B Sy
»

The Broadway, ME12 2DE m

Parish /
Town
-

Minster Cliffs Tarars

Condition

" ®

Number
of ASB
reports

£26,957.45 W

Cost per
user

Accessible o

Opening
hours

Minster-on-Sea

£4.61

07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Sunday



Le

¢

Address

Average
daily
visitors

&

Page 362
Swale Borough Council

ysdown Beach Services, Leysdown

Grove Avenue, ME12 4QE

Sheppey East

161

£53,976.46

@
/AN Accessible

34 Baby changing

m Leysdown

Parish /
Town

R VELLOW

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

W £0.92

Cost per
user

General Hours: Monday to
Saturday: 07:00 - 19:00,
° Sunday and Bank
Holidays: 09:00 - 18:00.
Opening | eysdown Beach Services

hours
and Leysdown Beach
External Toilet times vary.



9 Leysdown Road, ME12 4QX m Leysdown

Address

13

Average
daily
visitors

£17,454.71

Annual
costs

®
& Accessible

Page 363
Swale Borough Council

mi] Sheppey East
Ward

1))

Y

Parish /
Town

2

St YELLOW

Condition

©

Number
of ASB
reports

W £3.68

Cost per
user

07.00 - 19.00 Monday -
Sunday

Opening
hours



Summary Table

Average | Cost Annual Number
Site Parish Condition | visits per cost ASB
perday | user reports
Library Car Park, Non-Civil Yellow | 103 | £0.82 | £3156220| 3
Sittingbourne Parish
The Forum, Non-Civil Yellow 97 | £0.85 | £3063543| 5
Sittingbourne Parish
Milton Regis High Non-Civil
Street, Milton Regis Parish - 13 £2.77 | £13,438.77 2
Milton Creek Country Non-Civil
Park, Sittingbourne Parish Green N.A. £0.65 | £17,954.37 0
King George V Playing Non-Civil
Field, Sittingbourne Parish Yellow 109 £0.44 | £17,792.08 0
Oare Gunpowder Faversham
Works Visitors Centre, . Yellow 14 £1.44 | £7,504.36 0
Town Council
Faversham
Central Car Park, Faversham | v o0 | 265 | £059 |£58357.74| 6
Faversham Town Council
Faversham Recreation Faversham
Ground, Faversham Town Council Green 26 £2.71 | £26,230.22 2
Queenborough Park, Queenboroug_h Yellow g £2.92 | £30,421.38 1
Queenborough Town Council
Rose Street, Sheerness |y 0 117 | £1.14 |£4981330| 5
Sheerness Town Council
Beachfields, Sheemess | aoen | NA. | £0.87 |£2397120| 4
Sheerness Town Council
Bartons Point, Minster | MInster-on-sea |=iq oo 25 | £542 |£50507.61| 3
Parish Council
Minster Leas, Minster | Minster-on-sea {q 0o 49 £1.20 | £21,986.65 5
Parish Council
The Wr_lite House, Mingter-on-seg 16 £4.52 | £26,957.45 >
Minster Parish Council
Leysdown Beach Leysdown | voiow | 161 | £0.90 | £53.976.46| 1
Services, Leysdown Parish Council
The Spinney, Leysdown
Leysdown Parish Council Yellow 13 £3.60 | £17,454.71 0

Swale Borough Council




Community Toilet Scheme Report
February 2025

Page | 1

Page 365



Contents

2 ol 4= {4 o 10 o Vo PPNt 3
Local Business Partnerships in KENt........ooivuiiiiiiiiee ettt e s s satee e s snre e e s sareeeesanes 4
Maidstone BOroUZHh COUNCIl.......ccuiiiiiiiiiiiciiee et e ee e s sabee e s e sabee e s e sabeee s esareeas 4
7% ol oY o =TT oo T T={ W @] U o T | HFU I 5
BENETIES ..ttt ettt e e h e sa e e sa bt s bt bt e b e e bt e beeene e eae e e e e enrean 6
DFAWDACKS ...ttt ettt e e e bt e e abe e s bt e e sabe e s beeeanteesneeenans 7
(0] o] oo T o (0] a1 n [T J OO P PP UPUPPPPPTPN 8
IMITISATION IMBASUIES ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e ettt et e e e s e aabe bt e e e e s e e asbeaaeeeeessaannbaaaeeaesesannnnnes 8
ANNUAT FEBS ..ottt ettt st s Error! Bookmark not defined.

Page | 2

Page 366



Background

The Environment and Leisure Committee approved the award of a service contract for minor

maintenance and cleansing of public conveniences. A contractor was then appointed on a 1 + 1 basis
from 1st April 2024.

The +1 option available within the tender was enacted for 25/26, the costs in excess of budget are c.
£196k, due to both contract inflation and to the application of a further £100k budget reduction, as
proposed by Finance Sub in 2023. This was corrected in the 25/26 budget setting but with the
intention of conducting a full review during 25/26 to achieve the savings required in future.

Subsequently, a range of options are being explored to bring the budget into alignment with the
costs. This includes partnership provisions with private businesses.

Many local authorities offer Community Toilet Schemes to supplement existing public toilet
provisions.

Page | 3

Page 367



Local Business Partnerships in Kent
Maidstone Borough Council

Maidstone Community Toilet Scheme

Community Toilet Scheme

Maidstone Borough Council is working with local businesses like shops, restaurants and
pubs, to help improve the provision of public toilet facilities within the Town Centre. Through
this scheme you will have more access to clean, safe and accessible toilets.

A number of organisations are participating in the scheme which means that you are able to
use their toilet facilities during normal opening hours without having to make a purchase.

H 000

Maidstone Museum
St Faith's Street « Tues to Sat 10am - 5PM,
Sun 12pm - 4pm (1 Apr - 31 Oct only)

H 00R0

McDonalds
Broadway + Sun toWed épm - 11pm
Thurs to Sat éam - 12am

H 00R0

McDonalds
Week Street s Sun toWed éam -11pm
Thurs to Sat 6am - 12am

00RO

Mall Chequers Centre
Mon to Sat 9am - 5.30pm
Sun 10.30am - 4.30pm

H OOR0

Maidstone Market
Lockmeadow « Mon 7am - 4pm,
Tues barn - 4pm,

Wed & Thurs 7am - 5pm,

Fri 7am - 1pm, Sat 6am - 3pm

www.maidstone.gov.uk

G 000

Muggleton Inn

High Street « Mon to Thurs 8am - Midnight
Fri and Sat 8am - 1am

Sun 8am - Midnight

000

Royal Albion
St Faith's Street » Mon to Sun
11am-11pm

8 000

Royal Star Arcade
Market Buildings » Mon to Sat
Q9am - 5.30pm

8 00RO

Society Rooms | Wetherspoons
Week Street « Mon to Thurs 8am - Midnight
Sun 8am - 12pm, Fri & Sat 8am - 1am

. ommunil
Need a toilet? /7 Toilet Scheme

Look for this {'@@@@I‘

sticker!

\ You're welcome to /
\ use our facilities /

MOQVIWAIVe

5
g -
s oo

RoCKt "‘*"\ N
)
&
H

MEDWAY STREET

mapstone 2
amer

CHuz G o

oo ]
:

Bl
STAT

MAID=TONE

Borough Council

Maidstone Borough Council’'s Community Toilet Scheme was first introduced in 2008, following a
review of public conveniences. The scheme currently has 9 members. Most businesses in this
scheme receive an annual payment of £300 from the Council to cover the cost of any additional
supplies, however one establishment receives £600 as this is the only toilet which opens after 11pm.

Page | 4

Page 368



Ashford Borough Council

Community Toilet Scheme

Ashford Borough Council is working with local businesses to help improve the
provision of safe and hygienic toilet facilities in the town centre. Through this @
scheme you will have access to clean, safe toilets during the normal opening hours

of each establishment listed. No purchase is required for the use of these toilets. SSEORR
s"m‘"!ntw Q)-Dﬂlﬂlputhglp-:n

Park 5

Wy,
Ealey o

East Hill

We're in the

5 | Litdle Tea Por P Com:’;:it};c}:;:e;meme
s |mhemnoenn | iy Organisations .
7 | Pizza Express f‘ Aa 'b't{l-tfrﬂ in the sch R
8 | Civic Centre "é ! "'="

S Py
? |cemare | PRAs in their wi ' Male female disabled papy
e **é ic W““"Mwmmw.
11 | Macdonalds *‘{&* 'm

www.ashford.gov.uk/community—toilet—scheme

Maidstone Borough Council’s Community Toilet Scheme was first introduced in 2016, following a
review of public conveniences. The scheme currently has 11 members. The average payment is

approximately £857 per business per year.

Page | 5

Page 369



Benefits
There are several benefits of operating a community toilet scheme, such as;

e |ncreased Availability
The more local businesses that take part in a community toilet scheme, mean there are more
public toilet options available for residents and visitors. This can make areas more attractive
to tourists, enhancing the overall visitor experience.

e Cost Savings
Local authorities that that operate community toilet schemes are able to reduce the costs of

public toilets provision. The maintenance and upkeep costs are shared between the local
business and the local authority.

e Economic Boost
Residents and visitors who use the nearest public toilets available leads to increased foot
traffic to well-placed participating businesses. This increase in foot traffic can lead to higher
sales and economic benefits for the local economy.

o  Well maintained
In addition to Council Officers inspections, local businesses regularly inspect and clean their
toilets. This often leads to high hygiene standards and are less likely to be vandalized
compared to standalone public toilets.

e Positive Publicity
Participating businesses can benefit from positive publicity and enhanced reputation for
contributing to the community. Businesses that are a part of a community toilet scheme
have a sense of pride and responsibility.

Page | 6

Page 370



Drawbacks
Similarly, community toilet scheme have several drawbacks, such as;

e Inconsistent Quality
The quality and cleanliness of facilities can differ from one business to another. Additionally,
each business may have its own standards for maintaining consistency in quality and
cleanliness

e Potential Misuse
There is a risk of misuse or overuse of facilities, which could lead to increased maintenance
needs and costs for businesses. Participating businesses may face increased operational costs
and responsibilities, which could be a burden, especially for smaller establishments.

e Limited Access
Access to facilities may be restricted based on business operating hours. Some businesses
may open and close later in the day compared with others and vice versa. Weekend hours of
operation may also be limited.

e Limited Awareness
Residents and visitors may not be aware of the participating businesses or of the scheme
itself. Likewise, where there are changes to businesses newly participating or no longer
participating, many people may not be aware of this.

e High Demand
Where there is a strong demand for free facilities, this can lead to overcrowding, impacting

the primary business operations. Businesses may also struggle to keep up with the increased
maintenance demands, leading to potential hygiene issues.

Page | 7

Page 371



Opportunities
Swale Borough Council has the opportunity to increase the number of public toilet options available
for residents and visitors, while not taking on the full financial responsibility.

There already exists private establishments that offer publicly available toilets free of charge.

Grain

ShY

Minster.

Queenb igh

£

Forry Marshes

i
50 Sobbife o

M.y Swale Disfrict (8)"

v 4
Danaway B Luddenham
/ o

Ridfield

.........

Sheldwich  Selling
Lees

\ Hollingbourne

e District (B | ' g
ath N /

Kingswood i —— Godribreham

Figure 1: Map of Non-Swale Bérough Council Maintained Toilets

These include The Barnyard, Esso Filling Station, Asda Superstore, Morrisons Supermarket x2,
Sittingbourne Station, Queenborough Service Station, Tesco Extra x2, Warden Springs Caravan Park,
Neptune’s Beach Café, The Ferry House, The Shipwright's Arms, Sainsbury's Superstore, Faversham
Railway Station, Shell Filling Station and Brogdale.

These toilets are however not inspected by Council Officers and no support is provided by the
Council.

Other publicly available toilets within the borough include community halls and leisure centres.

Mitigation Measures
Swale Borough Council can address know issues with Community Toilet Schemes through;

e Appealing to local businesses
Businesses who have been a part of Community Toilet Schemes or expressed an interest in
taking part have identified needing support with cleaning costs and supplies. Offering a
token incentive presents a willingness to work in partnership to provide public toilets for
residents and visitors. Particularly, where there are well established businesses with
extended opening hours.

e Advertise Public Toilets

Page | 8

Page 372



Page | 9

There are a number of ways publicly available toilets can be publicised, promoting
participating businesses and access to residents and visitors.
o Signs informing passers-by placed in several locations informing readers of the
community toilet scheme
o Signs at all participating business locations informing passers-by that their toilets are
available, and of the types of toilet that they provide.
o Online information can help residents and visitors plan their journeys. Additionally,
where no signs are visible an online resource can be used to locate the nearest
facility.

Vetting

The Community Toilet Scheme aims to attract businesses with well-maintained toilets that
serve families in need of baby changing facilities and individuals with disabilities, and that
are open for business a variety of hours. However, to ensure that core values of the scheme
are adhered to, only businesses that can provide facilities where they are needed will be
approved.

Monitoring
Regular inspections by Council Officers ensure that participating businesses uphold the

cleanliness quality standards expected of publicly available toilets consistently. Officers
regularly monitoring participating businesses also means that the information available to
the public is kept up-to-date.

Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank



Charging Model Public Convenience
Report
February 2025

Page | 1

Page 375



Contents
2 ol 4= {4 o 10 o Vo PPNt

ACCESS CONLIOI MECRANISIMNS .ttt ettt ettt et s e e et e e sb e e s bt e sabeesbee e s beeebeeesnseesaneeesareean
Do Yo ] g @foT a1 d o] ISV 4T o oI PP
Yo o 11T ==Y LRSS

(@ 0T T =41 a =2 [ a oo o o1 TP PP

Y0 =T o A Y o L= PP PPPPPPPPPPPRE

Y =TT gL =T 0= [ o<
Cash COIRCHON/AEIIVEIY ......ueieeeeeetee ettt ettt et e et e e e et e e te e e e abeeebaeeeareeeteeenanes
[TRE =11 =1 8 o PR

N LY B T [l 1 TR

Page | 2

Page 376



Background

The Environment and Leisure Committee approved the award of a service contract for minor
maintenance and cleansing of public conveniences. A contractor was then appointed on a 1 + 1 basis
from 1st April 2024.

The +1 option available within the tender was enacted for 25/26, the costs in excess of budget are c.
£196k, due to both contract inflation and to the application of a further £100k budget reduction, as
proposed by Finance Sub in 2023. This was corrected in the 25/26 budget setting but with the
intention of conducting a full review during 25/26 to achieve the savings required in future.

Subsequently, a range of options are being explored to bring the budget into alignment with the
costs. This includes charging members of the public a small fee for use of public conveniences.

Section 87 of the Public Health Act 1936 (as amended) gives local authorities a discretion to provide
public sanitary conveniences in proper and convenient situations and may also charge fair and
reasonable fees.

The Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) found that the councils that did charge for public
conveniences did not make a profit, based on the survey conducted in March and April 2024.

Page | 3

Page 377



Access Control Mechanisms

Generally speaking there are two types of access control used for public conveniences that charge a
fee. That is, Door Control Systems and Paddlegates.

Door Control Systems

A door control system provides a
secure, effective and simple means
of access control at the point of
entry into a public convenience or
for individual stalls. These are aften
able to be remotely opened and
closed, give timed access, and
manage utility efficiencies, through
only operating lights etc when the
toilet is operational. Door control
systems can also can be used on
their own or combined with other
systems. eg — Coin with Contactless.

© Healthmatic

Paddlegates

Although there are various types of
paddle gates, they generally provide
access to toilets, libraries and other
public spaces, whether for the
purpose of charging for entry,
managing throughput by smartcard
or simply to limit the number of
people entering an area.
Paddlegates are also compatible
with Coins set to the desired tariff,
RADAR Key, Contactless Card or RFID
reader and Keypad entry.

© Healthmatic 2025

Page | 4

Page 378



Charging Income

Payment Type
Most access control mechanisms provide options for cash and/or contactless. However each, option
has its own unique benefits and challenges.

For instance, while contactless payment is quicker it excludes those without access to contactless
payment.

On the other hand, although coin systems are generally reliable and less prone to technical issues
compared to electronic payment systems, they require manual transportation of coins and a target
for vandalism.

Fee
According to survey of councils in March and April 2024 by the Association for Public Service
Excellence (APSE), councils charge between £0.10 and £0.50.

Some councils offer residents the option of using discounted prepaid cards instead of paying directly
with cash or bank cards.

Page | 5

Page 379



Reasoned Scenario

Year 1 (£) Year 2 (£) Year 3 (£)
Sales 14,508.75 14,508.75 14,508.75
Administration fee 948.87 948.87 948.87
Rental fee 120.00 122.40 124.85
Maintenance 1,591.81 1,623.65 1,656.12
Cash collection/delivery 0 0 0
Net income 11,848.07 11,813.83 11,778.91

NB:
e Equipment and installations costs requires are estimated at 23,367.80
e Costs relating to vandalism not included here.

Sales
Research conducted by Healthmatic details the impact charging can have on footfall:

e Forresidents, the impact of imposing a charge will depend on the quality of the toilets. In
research carried out by local authorities, people say they would pay for toilets if they were
clean, tidy and safe.

o A 20p charge will halve the usage for a quality toilet. At 50p this will rise to a 75% reduction.

e Tourists are less price sensitive to toilet charging than local people for two reasons:

o Little knowledge of the alternative provision
o An acceptance of charging while away from home

e The introduction of charging will therefore have less effect in those areas that are more
tourist orientated. In addition, visitors are less price elastic meaning they are less sensitive to
the actual level of the charge.

e The combination of low impact on volumes and low sensitivity to charging in more visitor
orientated areas, means that charging will earn revenue without dramatically affecting the
number of people seeking and using the toilet.

Based on the above an estimate of 29,018 visitors annually is used here across all 3 years. This figure
is derived from the fact that the highest average daily footfall recorded in 2024 was 265 users. Over
the course of a year equates to 96,791.25 annual visitors. However, using a £0.50 charge and
accounting for a 70% reduction in footfall leave an estimated 29,018 visitors annually.

Administration fee
The cashless payment operator typically charges 2.54% + 2pm for every transaction. This equates to
a 6.54% administration fee on every sale.

Rental fee
In addition to administration costs, there is also a nominal fee of £10 per month which can be
assumed to increase every year in line with an average of 2% inflation.

Maintenance
To ensure the smooth operation of the charging mechanisms, will require regular maintenance by
skilled professionals. The increase in costs each year is in line with inflation.

Cash collection/delivery
Secure cash collection/delivery firms normally charge around £17.50 per delivery of an value up to
£5000.

Page | 6

Page 380



However, eliminating the option of paying by cash reduces the costs of involved in cash collection
and the risk of anti-social behaviour if cash was contained on site.

Equipment and Installation

A paddlegate system offers a visual barrier but instantly opens once payment is made allowing for
fast throughput. Paddlegates are better equipped at detecting tailgating compared with door control
systems. They also act as a robust alternative to their turnstiles predecessors, providing access for
wheelchairs, buggies and ambulant disabled people. A paddlegate system can also provide a secure
and effective way of controlling access with fewer individual access points to maintain compared
with individual stalls access systems.

Net income
It is important that the net income is not a profit as there are other costs associated with public
maintenance not included in these calculations.
For instance, other costs include;
o There is a hygiene service contract which is not included here as it would be required for
either insourcing or outsourcing models.
e Maintenance and repairs costs as a result of vandalism are not included here and currently
managed by the Property Team
e Maintenance, minor repairs and cleaning of the public convenience

Page | 7

Page 381



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC CONVENIENCES
Town and Parish Councils Responses

. . Would tak
Site Parish ou ? .e. on Notes
responsibility?

Oare Gunpowder

ici Also interested in
Works Visttors Faversham Yes Faversham Recreation
Centre Town Council
Ground
Central Car Park Yes

Rose Street Sheerness Yes Council tax precepts to
Beachfields Town Council Yes be recalculated

Leysdown Beach Serve the large
Services Leysdown population of seasonal

The Soi Parish Council Y visitors to Leysdown in
€ >pinney €s the summer months

!

Queenborough | Queenborough

Park Town Council Maybe Facilities well used

Page 383



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC CONVENIENCES

Local Businesses Interested In
Community Toilet Scheme

) Are you
Parish / i Y .
) interested in the .
Business Town Opening Hours
. proposed
Council
scheme?
Monday to Friday
West 08:30 — 22:00
Faversham Faversham Yes
Community Town Council Saturday, Sunday &
Centre Bank Holidays
08:30 — 15:00
McDonalds Non-Civil Parish Yes 24hrs
Bobbing Parish Monday to Saturday
McDonalds Council Yes 08:am — 18:00
Monday to Saturday
Morrisons Queenborough 07:00 - 22:00
i Yes
Supermarket Town Council
Sunday
10:00 - 16:00
. . Monday to Sunday
The Three Hats | Non-Civil Parish Yes 12:00 — 22:00
Castle Queenborough Monday to Sunday
. ; Yes .
Connections Town Council various

Page 385




This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a document that summarises how the council has had due regard
to the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making.

When to assess

An EIA should be carried out when you are changing, removing or introducing a new service, policy or
function. The assessment should be proportionate; a major financial decision will need to be assessed more
closely than a minor policy change.

Public sector equality duty

The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the council, when exercising public functions, to have due regard to

the need to:

1) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the
Equality Act 2010;

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it;

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who
do not share it.

These are known as the three aims of the general equality duty.

Protected characteristics

The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine protected characteristics that apply to the equality duty:
o Age

e Disability

o Gender reassignment

e Marriage and civil partnership*

e Pregnancy and maternity

o Ethnicity
e Religion or belief
e Sex

e Sexual orientation
*For marriage and civil partnership, only the first aim of the duty applies in relation to employment.

We also ask you to consider other socially excluded groups, which could include people who are
geographically isolated from services, with low literacy skills or living in poverty or low incomes; this may
impact on aspirations, health or other areas of their life which are not protected by the Equality Act, but should
be considered when delivering services.

Due regard

To ‘have due regard’ means that in making decisions and in its other day-to-day activities the council must
consciously consider the need to do the things set out in the general equality duty: eliminate discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.

How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the aims in
the general equality duty to the decision or function in question. The greater the relevance and potential
impact, the higher the regard required by the duty. The three aims of the duty may be more relevant to some
functions than others; or they may be more relevant to some protected characteristics than others.

Pade 387



Collecting and using equality information

The Equalities and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) states that ‘Having due regard to the aims of the
general equality duty requires public authorities to have an adequate evidence base for their decision
making’. We need to make sure that we understand the potential impact of decisions on people with
different protected characteristics. This will help us to reduce or remove unhelpful impacts. We need to
consider this information before and as decisions are being made.

There are a number of publications and websites that may be useful in understanding the profile of users of
a service, or those who may be affected.

e The Office for National Statistics Neighbourhoods website https://www.ons.qgov.uk/
Kent County Council Facts and Figures about Kent http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-
council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent

e Public health and social care data
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries exclude guery=no&queries excludefromse
arch _query=yes&queries keyword query=Swale

At this stage you may find that you need further information and will need to undertake engagement or
consultation. Identify the gaps in your knowledge and take steps to fill these.

Case law principles

A number of principles have been established by the courts in relation to the equality duty and due regard:

o Decision-makers in public authorities must be aware of their duty to have ‘due regard’ to the equality duty

o Due regard is fulfilled before and at the time a particular policy is under consideration as well as at the
time a decision is taken. Due regard involves a conscious approach and state of mind.

o A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been taken.

e The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that it
influences the final decision.

o The person completing the EIA should have knowledge and understanding of the service, policy, strategy,
practice, plan.

e The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty will always remain the responsibility of the public authority.

e A public authority is responsible for ensuring that any contracted organisations which provide services on
their behalf can comply with the duty, are required in contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice.

e The duty is a continuing one. It applies when a service, policy, strategy, practice or plan is developed or
agreed, and when it is implemented or reviewed.

e Itis good practice for those exercising public functions to keep an accurate record showing that they have
actually considered the general duty and pondered relevant questions. Proper record keeping
encourages transparency and will discipline those carrying out the relevant function to undertake the duty
conscientiously.

e The general equality duty is not a duty to achieve a result, it is a duty to have due regard to the need
achieve the aims of the duty.

e A public authority will need to consider whether it has sufficient information to assess the effects of the
policy, or the way a function is being carried out, on the aims set out in the general equality duty.

¢ A public authority cannot avoid complying with the duty by claiming that it does not have enough
resources to do so.

Lead officer: Andre Bowen, Service Improvement & Project Manager
Decision maker: Environment and Climate Change Committee
People involved: Who is involved in this EIA?
Decision: e Public Convenience Service
e Policy, project, service, e Changing Service
contract

Page 388


https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries_exclude_query=no&queries_excludefromsearch_query=yes&queries_keyword_query=Swale
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries_exclude_query=no&queries_excludefromsearch_query=yes&queries_keyword_query=Swale

Review, change, new, stop

Date of decision:

The date when the final decision
is made. The EIA must be
complete before this point and
inform the final decision.

What date is it going to SMT/Cabinet or Council?
NB. SMT will want to see a EIA attached even if the final decision lies
with Cabinet or Council

Summary of the decision:

Aims and objectives

Key actions

Expected outcomes
Who will be affected and
how?

How many people will be
affected?

A full review of the public conveniences provision to ultimately match
the service with the resources in the medium term financial plan.
Central and local government, the business community and
commercial sector, voluntary and community organisations, local
communities and interest groups: all share a common ambition to
create quality places where people can thrive. By working in
partnership, and adapting a range of approaches to the needs of
different areas, significant financial and non-financial benefits can be
achieved.

The key actions are;
1. The closure of 3 public conveniences.

2. To undertake formal negotiations to transfer 7 public
conveniences to Town and Parish Councils or other
appropriate local organisations.

3. Introduce a Community Toilet Scheme.

4. Retender for 26/27 onwards for the remaining (6 public
convenience).
a. And potentially those not transferred under
recommendation 2

5. Consider exploring opportunities to improve the condition of
the remaining public conveniences, while improving energy
and water efficiency where applicable.

The expected outcomes include;

e Support the Corporate Plan objective of ‘Running the Council’
by working within our resources, and delivering in a
transparent and efficient way.

e Support the Corporate Plan objective of ‘Community’,
enabling our residents to live, work and enjoy their leisure
time safely in our borough and to support community
resilience.

e Support more local businesses to take part in a community
toilet scheme, leading to more public toilet options available
for residents and visitors. This can make areas more attractive
to tourists, enhancing the overall visitor experience.

e To transfer public conveniences to Town and Parish Councils
who can maintain them on behalf of the people in the
respective parish/town, where they have a responsibility for
the well-being of its local community.

Any member of the public, including residents, visitors and tourists
will be affected.

The proposed closure of 3 public conveniences will predominantly
affect wards; Library Car Park — Homewood (6340), The Forum —
Chalkwell (3,990), Milton Regis High Street - Milton Regis (6,180),
The Spinney — Sheppey East (8,355) and The White House -
Minster Cliffs (7,862). Totally between 16,510 and 22,575 residents.

Pade 389




Information and research:

Outline the information and
research that has informed
the decision.

Include sources and key
findings.

Include information on how
the decision will affect people
with different protected
characteristics.

The preferred option aims to match the service with the resources in
the medium term financial plan taking into account the footfall, costs,
condition, level of antisocial behaviour and opportunities available in
the local and national context. That is;
e Determined the usage of public conveniences within the
borough
e Determine the estimated condition and estimated
maintenance costs (from wear and tear and vandalism)
e Compared public conveniences of neighbouring boroughs and
national context
Consulted with Town and Parish Councils
o Explored alternative uses and models of operation for public
conveniences
e Recommended the most advantageous solution. Ultimately to
match the service with the resources in the medium term
financial plan
e Consult with members of the public on the propose changes
(planned)
e Consulted potential businesses suitable for the proposed
Community Toilet Scheme

Consultation:

Has there been specific
consultation on this
decision?

What were the results of the
consultation?

Did the consultation analysis
reveal any difference in
views across the protected
characteristics?

Can any conclusions be
drawn from the analysis on
how the decision will affect
people with different
protected characteristics?

Of the Town and Parish Councils consulted, 4 have expressed an
interest in maintaining the public conveniences in their respective
towns/parishes.

6 businesses have expressed an interest in allowing members of the
public to use their toilets without purchasing any goods or paying a
fee.

Responses to the public consultation are likely to highlight that
closures could have an impact on the elderly, people with a disability,
pregnant women and children. There is also the possibility that it
could impact on tourism.

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty?
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s PSED Technical Guidance -
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-quidance

Aim Yes/No
1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation No
2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant Yes
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it
3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected No

characteristic and persons who do not share it

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics and assess
the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics.

When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the protected
characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young people but low
relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral impact on men.

Characteristic

Relevance to decision
High/Medium/Low/None

Impact of decision
Positive/Negative/Neutral

Age

Medium Negative

Disability

Medium

Negative

Page 390



https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance

Gender reassignment None Neutral
Marriage and civil partnership None Neutral
Pregnancy and maternity Medium Negative
Ethnicity None Neutral
Religion or belief None Neutral
Sex None Neutral
Sexual orientation None Neutral
Other socially excluded groups! None Neutral

Conclusion:

e Consider how due regard
has been had to the equality
duty, from start to finish.

e There should be no unlawful
discrimination arising from
the decision.

Advise on the overall equality

implications that should be taken

into account in the final decision,
considering relevance and
impact.

Summarise this conclusion in the body of your report

The closure of the public toilets could impact more on particular
groups, including older people, families with small children, disabled
people and pregnant women

Age - the incidence of disability and health related issues increase
with age. Older people may be disproportionately affected by
conditions that require them to use toilet facilities more frequently.

Younger people - families with young children may be affected by a
reduction in facilities generally, and in particular if there is a loss of
facilities with baby changing areas.

Disability - Availability of public toilets can impact on disabled people
taking part in everyday activities, in particular people with specific
conditions which require frequent use of facilities (eg Colitis, Crohn's
Disease, IBD, Prostate Cancer). People who require accessible
toilets could also be disproportionately impacted by the closure of
such facilities - both in the sense of availability of disabled toilet
facilities and also location for people with mobility problems.

Pregnancy - pregnant women are also more likely have frequent use
of toilet facilities.

The extent of impact would also depend on whether specific facilities
are affected (eg accessible toilets, those with baby changing facilities)
and the proximity of alternative facilities.

The Council does not have a statutory responsibility to provide public
conveniences, but in order to continue to be able to provide a service
it is proposed to close a number of facilities rather than closure of all
facilities.

There could be negative impact for service users and this may
disproportionately impact on some groups including older people and
disabled people. The decision needs to be considered in the context
of a requirement for significant savings to be found by the Council
and whether this is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate
aim, i.e. the requirement for the Council to balance its budget.

Further promotion of the Community Toilet Scheme to encourage
local businesses to make facilities available to the public, or for
communities to take responsibility for public conveniences. Also the
promotion and publicity of Community Toilet Scheme facilities.

1 Other socially excluded groups could include those with literacy issues, people living in poverty or on low incomes or people who
are geographically isolated from services

Page 391



Timing

e Having ‘due regard’ is a state of mind. It should be considered at the inception of any decision.

e Due regard should be considered throughout the development of the decision. Notes should be taken
on how due regard to the equality duty has been considered through research, meetings, project teams,
committees and consultations.

e The completion of the EIA is a way of effectively summarising the due regard shown to the equality duty
throughout the development of the decision. The completed EIA must inform the final decision-making
process. The decision-maker must be aware of the duty and the completed EIA.

Full technical guidance on the public sector equality duty can be found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-quidance/equality-act-technical-quidance

Please send the EIA in draft to Janet Dart in the Comms and Policy Team (janetdart@swale.gov.uk)
who will review it with colleagues and let you have any comments or suggested changes.

This Equality Impact Assessment should form an appendix to any EMT/SMT or committee report
relating to the decision, and a summary should be included in the ‘Equality and Diversity’ section of
the standard committee report template under ‘Section 6 — Implications’.

Page 892


https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
mailto:janetdart@swale.gov.uk

Public Toilet Facilities Consultation

BOROUGH COUNCIL

This printed survey is for Swale residents and visitors. Community groups and
businesses should use the online version at https://swale.gov.uk/your-council/consultations/toilets

&) Swale

Public Toilets

1) Which, if any, of the following public toilets have you previously used?
Library Car Park, Sittingbourne

The Forum, Sittingbourne

Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis
The Spinney, Leysdown

The White House, Minster

None of the above

oot

Don't know

2) Which, if any, of the following public toilets do you use regularly?

3) Was the toilet in acceptable condition on your last visit?

[ ] Yes
[] No
] N/A

4) If no, please explain?

Always Often Sometimes  Rarely ~ Never
Library Car Park, Sittingbourne [ ] [ ] ] [] [ ]
The Forum, Sittingbourne D D D D D
Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis D D D D D
The Spinney, Leysdown D D D D D
The White House, Minster ] [] [ ] [ ] [ ]




Public Toilets

5) I consider the following public toilets to be important?

Strongly Strongly
disagree Disagree Neutral Agree agree
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)
Library Car Park, Sittingbourne D D D D D
The Forum, Sittingbourne D D D D D
Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis D D D D D
The Spinney, Leysdown ] [] [ ] [ ] [ ]
The White House, Minster D D D D D

6) Would the closure of any of the facilities impact your daily life due to any of the following?
D A long term physical or mental ill-health / disability D Caring for children
Long standing illness or condition (such as Crohn’s

D disease, urinary incontinence, cancer, chronic heart D Problems related to ageing
disease, diabetes or epilepsy)
D Pregnancy D No impact

7) In your opinion, acknowledging closures have to happen, which of the below public toilets should
be closed?

D Library Car Park, Sittingbourne

D The Forum, Sittingbourne

D Milton Regis High Street, Milton Regis
D The Spinney, Leysdown

| | The White House, Minster

8) Please tell us why you chose those public toilet(s)?

9) Would you like to see more businesses allow the public to use their facilities free of charge during
their operating hours?

D Yes D No

10) Are there any reasons why Town or Parish Councils or other appropriate local organisations
should not manage the public toilets in their respective areas?




Public Toilets

11) Do you have any additional comments or suggestions regarding the future of public toilets?

Page 395




Demographics

12) In what role are you responding to this survey?

] Swale resident L] Swale visitor
D Representative of a VCS/ D Representative of a business D
charity/ community group or private sector organisation Other:

13) How would you describe yourself?
D Female D Male D Prefer not to say D Other:

14) Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth?
D Yes D No D Prefer not to say

15) What is your age?

[]

17 years old or | 1824 [ 1 25.34 | 1 35.04
under
D 45-54 D 55-64 D 65-74 D 75-84
D 85 or above D Prefer not to say

16) Do you consider yourself to have a disability?
D Yes D No D Prefer not to say

17) What is your ethnic group

D Asian — D Asian — D Asian —

Asian — Arab Asian — Bangladeshi Chinese Indian Pakistani
D Black — Black D Black — Black D White — D White — D Mixed —
African Caribbean White British White Irish Asian and White
D Mixed — Black D Mixed — Black D Traveller — D Traveller — Irish D Traveller —
African and White Caribbean and White Gypsy Traveller Romany
D Prefer not to say D Other:

Page 396




Demographics

18) How would you describe your sexual orientation?

D Heterosexual D D Gay man or ] Prefer not ¢ D
(straight) Bisexual Lesbian elernottosay  other:
19) How would you describe your religious beliefs?
D Christian D Buddhist D Hindu D Jewish D Muslim
D Sikh D No religion D Prefer not to say Other:

Page 397




This page is intentionally left blank



66¢ abed

Forward Decisions Plan: Environmental Services and Climate Change Committee 2025 — July 2025

Report title, background
information and
recommendation(s)

Date of meeting

Open or exempt

Lead Officer and report
author

Waste Collection and Street 12 November 2025 Open Head of Service: Martyn
Cleansing Service Update Cassell
Report Author: Alister
Andrews
Climate and Ecological 12 November 2025 Open Head of Service: Martyn
Emergency Action Plan Cassell
Annual Report
Report Author: Janet Hill
Parking Services Annual 12 November 2025 Open Head of Service: Martyn
Report Cassell
Swale Environmental Health 12 November 2025 Open Head of Service: Duncan
Enforcement Policy Haynes
Report Author: Clare Lydon
Open Spaces Strategy — TBC Open Head of Service: Martyn
public consultation and Cassell
approval
Report Author: Jay Jenkins
Stray Dog kennel contract TBC Open Head of Service: Martyn
Cassell
Report Author: Michelle
Sampson
Litter Enforcement Service TBC Open Head of Service: Martyn

Review

Cassell

¢T Wa)| epusby



00t abed

Forward Decisions Plan: Environmental Services and Climate Change Committee 2025 — July 2025

Report Author: Alister
Andrews

update and new service
approval

Impact of Local Government TBC Open Head of Service: Martyn
Reorganisation on Council Cassell

Environment Priorities and

Projects

Public Toilets consultation TBC Open Head of Service: Martyn

Cassell




Agenda ltem 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 401



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 417



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Waste and Street Cleansing Service Annual Report 2024-25
	Appendix I -Annual Performance Report for the Waste Collection  Street Cleansing Service 2024 25 x
	Appendix II SUEZ MidKent AnnualReport 2024

	6 Swale Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan
	Appendix I Swale LCWIP Exec Summary Report
	Appendix II Swale LCWIP Report
	Cover page
	Slide 1: Sheppey Towns LCWIP  
	Slide 2

	Introduction
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Introduction 

	Chapter 1: Defining the Approach
	Slide 5: LCWIP  Process 
	Slide 6: LCWIP  Process
	Slide 7: LCWIP  Process

	Chapter 2: Information Gathering and Baseline Analysis
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: Active Travel Context 
	Slide 10: Policy Review
	Slide 11: Policy Review 
	Slide 12: Policy Review
	Slide 13: Neighbouring LCWIPs & Greenway Studies
	Slide 14: Future Developments 
	Slide 15: Socio Demographics
	Slide 16: Socio Demographics 
	Slide 17: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 18: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 19: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 20: Walking and Cycling Combined Analysis 
	Slide 21: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 22: Existing Traffic Volume and Speeds 

	Chapter 3: Network Planning
	Slide 23
	Slide 24: Widen My Path
	Slide 25: Widen My Path
	Slide 26: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 27: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 28: Rapid Cycleway Prioritisation Tool 
	Slide 29: Propensity to Cycle Tool
	Slide 30: Draft Network Plan
	Slide 31: Stakeholder Consultation
	Slide 32: Active Travel Route Audit 
	Slide 33: Concept Planning

	Chapter 4: Scheme Concept Development and Definition
	Slide 34
	Slide 35: Minor Junction Improvement
	Slide 36: Major junction improvement
	Slide 37: Protected Cycle Facility
	Slide 38: Crossing Improvements
	Slide 39: Traffic Filter
	Slide 40
	Slide 41: Infrastructure Improvements
	Slide 42: Types of Improvements: Women’s Safety
	Slide 43
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52
	Slide 53
	Slide 54: Scheme Concept Development
	Slide 55

	Chapter 5: Investment Prioritisation and Cost Estimation
	Slide 56: Route Prioritisation

	Chapter 6: Integration and Application
	Slide 57: Integrating the LCWIP 

	Appendices and Back Page
	Slide 58

	Cover page
	Slide 1: Sheppey Towns LCWIP  
	Slide 2

	Introduction
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Introduction 

	Chapter 1: Defining the Approach
	Slide 5: LCWIP  Process 
	Slide 6: LCWIP  Process
	Slide 7: LCWIP  Process

	Chapter 2: Information Gathering and Baseline Analysis
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: Active Travel Context 
	Slide 10: Policy Review
	Slide 11: Policy Review 
	Slide 12: Policy Review
	Slide 13: Neighbouring LCWIPs & Greenway Studies
	Slide 14: Future Developments 
	Slide 15: Socio Demographics
	Slide 16: Socio Demographics 
	Slide 17: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 18: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 19: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 20: Walking and Cycling Combined Analysis 
	Slide 21: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 22: Existing Traffic Volume and Speeds 

	Chapter 3: Network Planning
	Slide 23
	Slide 24: Widen My Path
	Slide 25: Widen My Path
	Slide 26: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 27: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 28: Rapid Cycleway Prioritisation Tool 
	Slide 29: Propensity to Cycle Tool
	Slide 30: Draft Network Plan
	Slide 31: Stakeholder Consultation
	Slide 32: Active Travel Route Audit 
	Slide 33: Concept Planning

	Chapter 4: Scheme Concept Development and Definition
	Slide 34
	Slide 35: Minor Junction Improvement
	Slide 36: Major junction improvement
	Slide 37: Protected Cycle Facility
	Slide 38: Crossing Improvements
	Slide 39: Traffic Filter
	Slide 40
	Slide 41: Infrastructure Improvements
	Slide 42: Types of Improvements: Women’s Safety
	Slide 43
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52
	Slide 53
	Slide 54: Scheme Concept Development
	Slide 55

	Chapter 5: Investment Prioritisation and Cost Estimation
	Slide 56: Route Prioritisation

	Chapter 6: Integration and Application
	Slide 57: Integrating the LCWIP 

	Appendices and Back Page
	Slide 58

	Cover page
	Slide 1: Sheppey Towns LCWIP  
	Slide 2

	Introduction
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Introduction 

	Chapter 1: Defining the Approach
	Slide 5: LCWIP  Process 
	Slide 6: LCWIP  Process
	Slide 7: LCWIP  Process

	Chapter 2: Information Gathering and Baseline Analysis
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: Active Travel Context 
	Slide 10: Policy Review
	Slide 11: Policy Review 
	Slide 12: Policy Review
	Slide 13: Neighbouring LCWIPs & Greenway Studies
	Slide 14: Future Developments 
	Slide 15: Socio Demographics
	Slide 16: Socio Demographics 
	Slide 17: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 18: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 19: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 20: Walking and Cycling Combined Analysis 
	Slide 21: Review of Existing Network
	Slide 22: Existing Traffic Volume and Speeds 

	Chapter 3: Network Planning
	Slide 23
	Slide 24: Widen My Path
	Slide 25: Widen My Path
	Slide 26: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 27: Shortest Path Analysis
	Slide 28: Rapid Cycleway Prioritisation Tool 
	Slide 29: Propensity to Cycle Tool
	Slide 30: Draft Network Plan
	Slide 31: Stakeholder Consultation
	Slide 32: Active Travel Route Audit 
	Slide 33: Concept Planning

	Chapter 4: Scheme Concept Development and Definition
	Slide 34
	Slide 35: Minor Junction Improvement
	Slide 36: Major junction improvement
	Slide 37: Protected Cycle Facility
	Slide 38: Crossing Improvements
	Slide 39: Traffic Filter
	Slide 40
	Slide 41: Infrastructure Improvements
	Slide 42: Types of Improvements: Women’s Safety
	Slide 43
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52
	Slide 53
	Slide 54: Scheme Concept Development
	Slide 55

	Chapter 5: Investment Prioritisation and Cost Estimation
	Slide 56: Route Prioritisation

	Chapter 6: Integration and Application
	Slide 57: Integrating the LCWIP 

	Appendices and Back Page
	Slide 58



	7 Revocation of Air Quality Management Areas in East Street (AQMA 3) and Teynham (AQMA 5) due to air quality improvements and recommendations from Defra
	Appendix 1_Swale AQ Managment doc_ 2025
	Appendix 2_Appraisal_of_air_quality_in_Swale
	Executive summary
	1. Introduction
	2. Air quality standards
	3. Air quality in Swale
	4. Air quality modelling
	4.1 Overall approach
	4.2 Choice of model
	4.3 Model domains
	4.4 Sensitive receptors
	4.4.1 Sittingbourne AQMA
	4.4.2 Teynham AQMA

	4.5 Meteorology
	4.6 Surface roughness
	4.7 Chemistry and background concentrations

	5. Emissions inventory
	5.1 Traffic flows and speeds
	5.1.1 2022
	5.1.2 2028

	5.2 Emission factors
	5.3 Vehicle fleet composition
	5.3.1 2022
	5.3.2 2028

	5.4 Time-varying emission factors

	6. Model adjustment and verification
	6.1 Model calibration and adjustment
	6.2 Model verification

	7. Results
	7.1 Sittingbourne AQMA
	7.2 Teynham AQMA

	8. Sensitivity testing
	8.1 Fleet renewal delay
	8.2 Emissions factors toolkit version 12

	9. Conclusions


	8 Open Spaces Strategy Update Report
	9 Grounds Maintenance Savings Report
	10 Public Conveniences Review - Business Case and Consultation Launch
	Appendix II - Public Convenience Profiles
	Appendix III - Community Toilet Scheme Report
	Appendix V - Charging Model Report
	Appendix VI - Parish Council Responses
	Appendix VII - Local Businesses Interested in Community Toilet Scheme
	Appendix VIII - Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix IX - Public Toilet Facilities Consultation Printable

	12 Forward Decisions Plan
	14 Grounds Maintenance Contract Savings - Exempt Appendix 1 Implications - Financial, Resources and Property
	15 Public Conveniences Review - Business Case and Consultation Launch - Exempt Appendix I & Appendix IV
	Appendix IV - Insourcing Report - EXEMPT


